
           

PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA Tuesday, December 8, 2020
Planning Commission Hearings 7:00 p.m.

James McGrade, Chair                                        Gary Brattain, Vice Chair
Sara Barnes-Ramos, Commission
Member 

Dan Phu, Commission
Member

Melanie Schlotterbeck, Commission
Member

This agenda contains a brief general description of each item the Commission will consider. The Planning Division
has on file copies of written documentation relating to each item of business on this Agenda available for public
inspection. Contact the Planning Department's Office at (714) 990-7674, planning@cityofbrea.net or view the
Agenda and related materials on the City’s website at www.cityofbrea.net.

PURSUANT TO THE LOCAL EMERGENCY CONCERNING THE COVID-19 VIRUS DECLARED BY THE BREA
CITY COUNCIL ON MARCH 19, 2020 AND EXECUTIVE ORDER N-29-20 ISSUED BY GOVERNOR GAVIN
NEWSOM ON MARCH 18, 2020, THE PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED
TELEPHONICALLY VIA THE ZOOM TELECONFERENCING PLATFORM. 

To limit the spread the COVID-19 virus, the Council Chambers will not be open to the public. Public
comments will be accepted in in writing and by teleconference.  The meeting will also be broadcast live at
www.cityofbrea.net.
  
Procedures for Addressing the Commission
The Commission encourages public participation during Public Hearings and under Matters from the Audience. State
Law prohibits the Commission from responding to or acting upon matters not listed on this agenda. 

Written comments must be to the Planning Division at planning@cityofbrea.net no later than 4:00 p.m. on
Tuesday, Decmber 8, 2020.  The email subject line should state: "Brea Planning Commission Meeting”
followed by the number of the relevant agenda item and/or “Non-Agenda Item.” Summaries of all written
comments will be read during the meeting by City Staff.
To provide comments by teleconference, members of the public must contact City Staff at (714) 990-7674 or
planning@cityofbrea.net no later than 12:00 p.m. on Tuesday, December 8, 2020 to obtain the Zoom Meeting
ID number.  Teleconference participants will be muted until recognized at the appropriate time by the
Commission.
To watch the meeting via Zoom, members of the public must contact City Staff at (714) 990-7674 or
planning@cityofbrea.net no later than 4:00 p.m. on Tuesday, December 8, 2020 to obtain the Zoom Meeting ID
number. The meeting will also be broadcast live at www.cityofbrea.net.

Special Accommodations
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting,
please contact the Planning Division at (714) 990-7674. Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting will enable City
staff to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility. (28 CFR 35.102.35.104 ADA Title II)

ALL PLANNING COMMISSION DECISIONS MAY BE APPEALED TO THE CITY COUNCIL WITHIN TEN (10)
CALENDAR DAYS OF THE MEETING.  PLEASE CONTACT THE CITY CLERK AT (714) 990-7756 FOR
FURTHER INFORMATION ABOUT FILING AN APPEAL OR OBTAINING AN APPEAL APPLICATION.  



             
PLANNING COMMISSION

PUBLIC HEARINGS
7:00 p.m. - Council Chambers, Plaza Level

1. CALL TO ORDER / ROLL CALL - COMMISSION
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
3. INVOCATION - Pastor Dan Cook from Lighthouse Church
4. MATTERS FROM THE AUDIENCE

Written comments may be sent to the Planning Division at planning@cityofbrea.net no later than 12:00
p.m. on Tuesday, December 8, 2020.  Any comments received via email will be summarized aloud into
the record at the meeting. To provide comments by teleconference, members of the public must contact
City Staff at (714) 990-7674 or planning@cityofbrea.net no later than 12:00 p.m. on Tuesday, December
8, 2020 to obtain the Zoom Meeting ID number and password.  Teleconference participants will be muted
until recognized at the appropriate time by the Commission.

CONSENT ITEMS
5.   Adoption of 2021 Planning Commission Calendar 

PUBLIC HEARINGS
6.   Conditional Use Permit No. 20-10, Precise Development Plan No. 20-04, And Conditional Use Permit

No. 20-18: A Request to Amend Planning Commission Resolution No. 88-56 To Allow the Demolition of
Two Commercial Buildings to Construct A Restaurant with A Drive-Thru, and to Amend an Existing
Sign Program, at 255 East Imperial Boulevard, in the C-P (Commercial Professional) P-D (Precise
Development) Zone. 
 

7.   Conditional Use Permit No. CUP 20-11 & Plan Review No. PR 20-08, A Request to Modify the
Off-Street Parking Requirement and Allow Exterior Modifications for an Office Use Located At 735
South Brea Blvd, In the MU-III (Mixed Use) Zone. 
 

8.   Conditional Use Permit No. CUP 20-14, an Amendment to Conditional Use Permit No. CUP 00-16 To
Allow an Expansion to an Existing Restaurant with Alcoholic Beverage Sales at 330 West Birch Street,
in the MU-I (Mixed Use) Zone. 
 

9.   Zoning Text Amendment No. 20-01 (ZTA 20-01) To Amend Title 20 of The Brea Municipal Code
Regulating Accessory Dwelling Units and Junior Accessory Dwelling Units Within The City Of Brea.
 

ADMINISTRATIVE ITEMS
10. COMMITTEE REPORTS
11.   PLANNING DIVISION UPDATES
12. ADJOURNMENT



Agenda Item   5. 
City of Brea

PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION

TO: Honorable Chair and Planning Commission

DATE: 12/08/2020

SUBJECT: Adoption of 2021 Planning Commission Calendar 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED
Jason Killebrew, City Planner
 

Attachments
A. Planning Commission Meeting Calendar 2021 



 
CITY OF BREA PLANNING COMMISSION 

MEETING SCHEDULE 2021 
 

 
PC Meeting 

 

 
Please note 

January 13* 
January 26 

(If needed) 

 
February 23 

 

 
March 23 

 

 
April 27 

 

 
May 25 

 

 
June 22 

 

 
July 27 

 

 
August 24 

 

 
September 28 

 

 
October 26 

 

 
November 23 

 

December 14 
December 28** Holiday Closure 

(if needed) 

 
*Wednesday 

 
 
 
NOTE:  **Dates are subject to change due to holidays, etc. 
 
 
 
 
 



Agenda Item   6. 
City of Brea

PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION

TO: Honorable Chair and Planning Commission

DATE: 12/08/2020

SUBJECT: Conditional Use Permit No. 20-10, Precise Development Plan No. 20-04, And
Conditional Use Permit No. 20-18: A Request to Amend Planning Commission
Resolution No. 88-56 To Allow the Demolition of Two Commercial Buildings to
Construct A Restaurant with A Drive-Thru, and to Amend an Existing Sign
Program, at 255 East Imperial Boulevard, in the C-P (Commercial Professional)
P-D (Precise Development) Zone. 
 

REQUEST
The Applicant, Mr. Javier Sola, representing Raising Cane’s Restaurant, is requesting a
Conditional Use Permit (CUP) and Precise Development Plan (PD) review to amend
Planning Commission Resolution No. 88-56 (Attachment J) to allow the demolition of two
commercial buildings totaling 9,588 square-feet, to construct a new 3,267 square-foot
single-story restaurant with a drive-thru, and associated site improvements.  The Applicant is
also requesting a CUP to amend the existing Brea Gaslight Square Sign Program to allow
signage associated with the proposed project.

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission take the following actions:
  

1. Find the project exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)
pursuant to CEQA guidelines Section 15301 (Class 1, Existing Facilities) and Section
15303 (Class 3, New Construction or Conversion of Small Structures); and,
 
2. Approve CUP No. 20-10 to amend Planning Commission Resolution No. 88-56 to
allow a restaurant with a drive-thru, subject to the recommended conditions of approval
(Attachment B), and based on the findings and conclusions in the attached resolution
(Attachment A); and
 
3. Approve PD No. 20-04 to allow the demolition of two commercial buildings totaling
9,588 square-feet, and the construction of a new 3,267 square-foot single-story
restaurant, subject to the recommended conditions of approval (Attachment D), and
based on the findings and conclusions in the attached resolution (Attachment C); and
 
4. Approve CUP No. 20-18 to amend the existing sign program, based on the findings
and conclusions in the attached resolution (Attachment E).  

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION
BACKGROUND



BACKGROUND

Location
The project site, the Brea Gaslight Square, is an existing commercial shopping center
situated north of Imperial Highway, between Flower Avenue and Orange Avenue. The project
site is zoned C-P (P-D), is approximately 82,000 square-feet (1.88 acres), and presently
developed with five commercial buildings totaling approximately 26,288 square-feet. The site
currently includes an illuminated surface parking lot with 91 parking spaces and landscaping.
The shopping center is currently occupied mostly by professional offices, medical uses, and
vacant retail tenant spaces. 

The project site is surrounded by multi-family (R-3) zoned uses to the north, commercial
mixed-used (MU-1) zoned uses to the west, commercial (C-3) zoned uses to the south, and
a public facility/school (P-F) zoned use to the east. Downtown Brea is located one block
northwest of the project site. Over 20 restaurants are located within a one-third (1/3) mile
radius from the project site, three of which have a drive-thru.

 



 

The project site is located on Imperial Highway, an east-west highway with three lanes in
each direction. Uses found on Imperial Highway are predominantly commercial and consist
of retail stores, gas stations, churches, and other restaurants. Vehicular access for the
project site would be provided at existing driveways located on Flower Avenue and Orange
Avenue.

Entitlement History
On November 22, 1988, the Planning Commission approved Resolution No. 88-56
(Attachment J), which granted a CUP to allow the construction of the existing commercial
shopping center, and allow retail and commercial uses to occupy over 25% of the total
building area. Resolution No. 88-56 also granted two Variances to allow reduced driveway
widths along Orange Avenue and Flower Avenue of 23’ and 34’ wide respectively. A condition
prohibiting restaurants at the site was included, thus, any restaurant proposed would require
an amendment to this resolution (Condition Q of Attachment J).

On June 5, 2020, the Applicant filed the current request in this application to facilitate a
Raising Cane’s restaurant with drive-thru, and associated site improvements, on the subject
site.

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
Site Development
The proposed project would be located on the southeast portion of the site, and would
demolish two vacant buildings with a combined total of 9,588 square-feet, and construct a



single-story 3,267 square-foot restaurant, 780 square-foot outdoor dining area, and a double
drive-thru lane that could accommodate 20 to 22 vehicles. Existing vehicular access to the
site would be maintained from Flower Avenue and Orange Avenue. The proposed building
would have a contemporary architectural style and be comprised of various materials,
including stucco, brick, steel, and metal panels (Attachment H). In addition to business
identification signs, the project proposes public art in the form of decorative metal panels
attached to the north and south building walls. 

Other associated site improvements include modifications to the parking lot that would result
in 74 total off-street parking spaces, new signage, and new landscaping (Attachments G, H,
and I).

 

Restaurant Operations
Raising Cane’s is a fast-food restaurant chain with a menu focusing on chicken, typically
staffing 10 to 12 employees with five to six work shifts. A drive-thru is proposed at the
southeast corner of the project site, and would wrap around the building in a
counter-clockwise direction. The drive-thru would provide two side-by-side entry lanes and
two order boards, which would allow Raising Cane’s employees to take orders from two
vehicles simultaneously. After the order boards, the two lanes would merge into a single lane
at the pick-up window. There would be approximately 175’ of vehicle queuing capacity per
lane from the drive-thru entrance to the two order boards, for a total of 350’ (175’ x 2), and
approximately 90’ from the order boards to the pick-up window. This would provide a total
drive-thru queue length of 440’, which can accommodate 20 to 22 vehicles. At the southeast
corner, the drive-thru would be furthest away from other onsite buildings, which would
prevent impacts from the vehicle queue.

For patrons who choose to dine-in, Cane’s provides indoor and outdoor seating. The walk-in
and drive-thru hours proposed would be 9:00 A.M. to 1:00 A.M. Sunday through Thursday,



and 9:00 A.M. to 3:30 A.M. Friday and Saturday.

DISCUSSION
CUP: Amendment for Restaurant Use
To allow a restaurant use, the Applicant is requesting to amend Condition Q of Resolution
No. 88-56 (Attachment J), which prohibits restaurants at the site. Planning Division staff
supports the amendment for the following reasons. 1) Restaurants are permitted by-right
uses in all commercial zones of the city, including General Commercial (C-G), Major
Shopping Center (C-C), and Neighborhood Commercial (C-N). The Applicant’s request to
allow a restaurant at the site is typical of commercial zones throughout the city. 2) There are
over 20 restaurants located within a one-third (1/3) mile radius from the project site, three of
which have a drive-thru. In addition, the site is located one-block from the City’s Downtown
which supports commercial uses, including restaurants. Existing onsite uses are comprised
of professional office and medical uses, whose peak operating hours are different from those
of a restaurant. Peak operating hours for office uses are typically mid-morning and
mid-afternoon on weekdays, while peak operating hours for restaurants are typically during
the dinner hour. As proposed, the project would be consistent and compatible with
surrounding uses. Therefore, the proposed project is suitable and typical for a commercial
shopping center on Imperial Highway.

Amending Resolution No. 88-56 (Attachment J) to allow restaurants at the project site would
not result in any adverse impacts to the surrounding area, as further outlined in this report
and attached resolution (Attachment A).

CUP: Drive-Thru Restaurant
BMC Section 20.236.020(B) governs land uses in the C-G zone. Restaurants with drive-thru
are allowed subject to a CUP within all commercial zones. Therefore, the drive-thru
component of the restaurant requires the approval of a CUP. 

 



A traffic and parking study was prepared by Kimley-Horn and Associates (KHA), (Attachment
K) which included a queuing analysis for the proposed project. This study was reviewed by
the Planning Division and Public Works Department. KHA conducted a queuing analysis to
evaluate the adequacy of the proposed drive-thru operations. The analysis compared
empirical data collected at three existing Raising Cane’s restaurants (cities of Orange,
Laguna Hills, and Riverside) during peak hours of 11:00 A.M. to 2:30 P.M. and 4:00 P.M. to
9:30 P.M. It is important to note that the Raising Cane’s locations used in this analysis only
have a single-lane drive-thru. KHA also analyzed the queuing capacity of the proposed
project using formulas published in the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Handbook
3 rd Edition.

The maximum queue observed at the studied locations during A.M. and P.M. peak hours
were 15 and 17 vehicles respectively. In addition, the queuing analysis found that the typical
service time in the drive-thru is two-and-a-half minutes from the order board to the pick-up
window, with a vehicle being processed from the order board to pick-up window every 35 to
40 seconds during peak times. The proposed side-by-side ordering lanes would increase the
number of customers served at once, and would have a queuing capacity of 20 to 22
vehicles which could adequately support the anticipated vehicle demand as observed. 

Planning Division staff is recommending a condition to Draft Resolution CUP 20-10 requiring
a Parking Management Plan (PMP) (Condition E of Attachment B). Among other
requirements, the PMP would require Raising Cane’s employees to direct vehicles, take
orders ahead of the menu boards, and ensure no conflicts between cars parking and queuing
for the drive-thru. As proposed and conditioned, the drive-thru operations would not result in
any adverse impacts to surrounded uses.

Parking
The BMC Section 20.08.040(D) outlines the minimum number of parking spaces required for
each land use. The site improvements would provide a total of 74 off-street parking spaces
to be shared among all onsite uses. When considering all existing onsite uses with the
proposed restaurant, the BMC requires a total of 88 off-street parking spaces. However,
uses with non-concurrent peak operating times can share all or a portion of the same parking
supply if determined to be non-detrimental to other uses. The traffic and parking study
prepared by KHA provides a shared parking analysis to determine if the 74 parking spaces
would be sufficient for the proposed use, considering the parking peak times for the office,
medical, and restaurant uses in the shopping center. 

Due to the current events of COVID-19, the theoretical parking demand at the project site
was evaluated using aerial imagery from July 2018 to January 2020 which established typical
use of parking spaces at the site during non-COVID-19 times. Based on this evaluation in the
traffic and parking study, the highest observed peak parking utilization for the existing
parking lot was approximately 49%, with an average of 45 parking spaces of the existing 91
parking spaces being utilized.

The parking requirement, as described in BMC Section 20.08.040(D), for the onsite uses that
would remain (without the proposed restaurant) is 44 off-street parking spaces. However,
based on the observed 49% utilization rate, the KHA traffic and parking study determined
that the actual parking demand for these uses is 22 parking spaces. KHA also applied the
BMC parking requirement for the proposed restaurant as a worst-case scenario, which
requires 44 off-street parking spaces. This results in a total peak parking demand of 66
parking spaces for the proposed project.



BMC Section 20.08.040(D) allows a stacking credit for drive-thru lanes of one car for every
23 lineal feet of stacking lanes. The customers of Raising Cane’s predominantly utilize the
drive-thru for service. Planning Division staff has applied this credit to the proposed project,
adding 19 additional theoretical parking spaces, increasing the number of off-street parking
spaces to a total of 93. Table 1 below provides a summary of this parking analysis.

Table 1: BMC Development Standards 

Use Code Required
Parking

Observed
Utilization Rate Parking Provided

Proposed Drive-Thru
Restaurant 44 44 (no credit) 35 + 19 (stacking) = 54

All Other Uses
(Office & Medical) 44 44 x .49 = 22 39

Total 88 66 74 + 19 = 93
93 spaces provided - 66 spaces required = 27

Based on the actual observed utilization rate of the existing parking, and taking into account
the drive-thru stacking credit, the proposed project results in a parking surplus of 27 off-street
parking spaces. The proposed project is in compliance with the BMC Section 20.08.040(D)
as it relates to parking.

Traffic and Circulation
Vehicular access for the project site would be provided at existing driveways located on
Flower Avenue and Orange Avenue. Vehicles exiting the project site may exit on Orange
Avenue or Flower Avenue and proceed north or south onto Imperial Highway or Birch Street. 

The KHA traffic and parking study evaluated the project related traffic effects associated with
the proposed project. This study evaluated the project during the evening peak hour under
“existing conditions” and “existing conditions with the proposed project”. The study focused
on determining whether a signalized intersection is warranted based on the effects of the
proposed project at Imperial Highway / Orange Avenue, Imperial Highway / Flower Avenue,
Birch Street / Orange Avenue intersections. Intersection analysis for all signalized
intersections was conducted using the Intersection Capacity Utilization (ICU) methodology,
which is the method utilized by the Orange County Congestion Management Program (CMP).
Intersection analysis for unsignalized intersections was conducted using the Highway
Capacity Manual (HCM) methodology, which returns a delay value, expressed in terms of the
average seconds of delay per vehicle. Operating conditions for both ICU and HCM
methodologies are expressed in terms of Level of Service (LOS), that ranges from LOS A,
representing uncongested, free-flowing conditions; to LOS F, representing congested,
over-capacity conditions. If a project causes traffic operations at an intersection to worsen,
the project would have a significant effect on that intersection and satisfy a signal warrant.

KHA found the studied intersections currently operate at an unacceptable level of service
(LOS) as follows:

Imperial Highway at Orange Avenue: LOS E
Imperial Highway at Flower Avenue: LOS F
Birch Street at Orange Avenue: LOS F



With the proposed project, these intersections would operate at the following LOS levels:

Imperial Highway at Orange Avenue: LOS F
Imperial Highway at Flower Avenue: LOS F
Birch Street at Orange Avenue: LOS F

Since conditions at the intersection of Imperial / Orange would shift from E to F, the results of
the traffic study indicate that the current unsignalized intersection satisfies a signal warrant.
As a result, staff is recommending a condition of approval that requires the Applicant to pay a
fair share contribution amount based on the alternative improvements required to improve
the intersection LOS to pre-development conditions (Condition V of Attachment B).

Staff is also recommending a condition that requires the Applicant to prepare public
improvement plans for a raised median at the southbound approach to the intersection of
Imperial Highway and Flower Avenue with signage and the re-striping to create a right-turn
only movement (Condition T of Attachment B). Until this improvement is complete, the
Applicant shall prepare plans for temporary closure of the southbound left-turn lane at the
intersection of Imperial Highway and Flower Avenue to create a right-turn only movement
(Condition R of Attachment R).

Therefore, the project as proposed and conditioned would not result in any traffic related
adverse impacts on surrounding uses.

Zoning Analysis
To allow the proposed physical improvements, the Applicant is requesting to modify the site
plan approved under Resolution No. 88-56. The project would demolish two existing
commercial buildings with a combined total of 9,588 square-feet, and replace them with a
single 3,267 square-foot building. Therefore, the project would reduce the total onsite
building area by 6,321 square-feet. 

Development in the C-P zone is governed by the Brea Municipal Code (BMC) Section
20.224.040. Accordingly, the proposed project complies with applicable development
standards for commercial shopping centers, including: building height, setbacks, floor area
ratio (FAR), and landscape.

Table 2: BMC Development Standards 
Required Proposed

Building Height Maximum: 30’ 19’-10”

Setbacks Imperial Hwy: 15’
Orange Ave: 15’

Imperial Hwy: 33’
Orange Ave: 33’

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) Maximum: 50% of lot area 24% (approximately)

Landscape Buffer Imperial Hwy: 8’
Orange Ave: 8’

Imperial Hwy: 8’
Orange Ave: 8’



In addition to complying with all applicable development standards for the C-P zone, the
proposed project would enhance the overall aesthetics of the center.

Sign Program
The proposed sign program consists of business identification signs, public visible art in the
form of decorative metal panels, a monument sign, and way finding signs. The existing
approved sign program that governs the type, location, size, and number of signs allowed for
uses at the project site did not contemplate a restaurant. To add signage needed for a
restaurant with a drive-thru, the Applicant is requesting a CUP to amend the current sign
program.

Pursuant to BMC Section 20.28.340(C.4), sign programs as subject to Planning Commission
approval of a CUP. Sign programs are required to describe the proposed type, number, size,
location, design, colors and materials for each sign. In addition, sign programs shall enhance
the overall aesthetics of a site and allow for a combination of various types of sings. The
proposed sign program is consistent with the sign development standards of BMC Section
20.28.340(C.4). Therefore, Planning Division staff is in support of the Applicant’s request for
a CUP to approve the submitted sign program.

PUBLIC NOTICE AND COMMENTS

 This project was noticed in accordance with the City’s public noticing requirements, which
involved mailed notices and publication in the local paper. The public hearing notice for this
project is provided as Attachment M. As of the writing of this report, staff has received five
public correspondences (Attachment N).

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
This project has been assessed in accordance with the CEQA guidelines, and the
environmental regulations of the City. Upon review, the proposed project qualifies for the
following exemptions:
  

Class 1 Categorical Exemption (Existing Facilities) in accordance with the requirements
of Section 15301 of the state CEQA guidelines. This exemption is applicable to the
operation, repair, maintenance, permitting, leasing, licensing, or minor alteration of
existing public or private structures, facilities, involving negligible or no expansion of
existing or former use.  The project would demolish two existing commercial buildings
with a combined total of 9,588 square-feet, and replace them with a single 3,267
square-foot building.  Therefore, the project will reduce the total onsite building area by
6,321 square-feet.

  

Class 3 Categorical Exemption (New Construction or Conversion of Small Structures),
in accordance with the requirements of Section 15303 of the state CEQA guidelines.
This exemption is applicable to the construction of commercial buildings under 10,000
square feet.  The project would construct a new 3,267 square-foot building that is under
the 10,000 square-foot threshold.



RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED
Jason Killebrew, City Planner
Prepared by: Juan, Arauz, AICP, Senior Planner
 

Attachments
A. Draft Resolution, CUP 20-10 
B. B. Draft Conditions of Approval, CUP 20-10 
C. Draft Resolution, PD 20-04 
D. Draft Conditions of Approval, PD 20-04 
E. Draft Resolution, CUP 20-18 
F. Project Application 
G. Project Architectural Plans 
H. Sign Program & Elevations 
I. Landscape Plans 
J. Planning Commission Resolution No. 88-56 
K. Kimley-Horn and Associates Traffic and Parking Study, December 2020 
L. Technical Background 
M. Public Hearing Notice 
N. Public Comment Letters 



RESOLUTION NO. 2020-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF BREA 
APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 20-10 TO AMEND 
RESOLUTION NO. 88-56 TO ALLOW A RESTAURANT WITH A DRIVE-THRU, 
AT 255 EAST IMPERIAL HIGHWAY, IN THE C-P (COMMERCIAL 
PROFESSIONAL) P-D (PRECISE DEVELOPMENT) ZONE. 

A. RECITALS:

(i) The Planning Commission of the City of Brea has heretofore held a duly

noticed public hearing, as required by law, on Conditional Use Permit No. 20-10 (CUP 

20-10).  This resolution amends Planning Commission Resolution No. 88-56

(Resolution No. 88-56) to allow a restaurant with a drive-thru (Project) at 255 East 

Imperial Highway (Project Site), in the C-P (P-D) zone.  

(ii) The subject property is located at 255 East Imperial Highway, and further

legally described as Assessor Parcel No. 319-292-35, as shown in the latest records of 

the County of Orange Assessor’s Office.  

(iii) The Project Applicant is Mr. Javier Sola, on behalf of Raising Cane’s

Restaurants, 6767 Perkins Road, Suite 200, Baton Rouge, LA 70808. 

(iv) The property is zoned C-P (P-D), and designated as Office/Financial

Commercial in the General Plan Land Use Element. 

(v) All legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Resolution have occurred.

B. RESOLUTION:

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FOUND, DETERMINED AND RESOLVED by 

the Planning Commission of the City of Brea, as follows: 

1. In all respects as set forth in Recitals, Part A, of this Resolution.

ATTACHMENT A



Resolution No. 2020-XX  
Page 2 
Applicant:  Mr. Javier Sola 
CUP 20-10 
 
 

2. The Project identified above in this Resolution has been assessed in 

accordance with the CEQA guidelines, and the environmental regulations of the City. 

Upon review, the Project qualifies for a Class 1 Categorical Exemption (Existing 

Facilities) in accordance with the requirements of Section 15301 of the state CEQA 

guidelines. This exemption is applicable to the operation, repair, maintenance, 

permitting, leasing, licensing, or minor alteration of existing public or private structures, 

facilities, involving negligible or no expansion of existing or former use.  The Project will 

demolish two existing commercial buildings with a combined total of 9,588 square-feet, 

and replace them with a single 3,267 square-foot building.  Therefore, the Project will 

reduce the total onsite building area by 6,321 square-feet.  The Project also qualifies for 

a Class 3 Categorical Exemption (New Construction or Conversion of Small Structures), 

in accordance with the requirements of Section 15303 of the state CEQA guidelines. 

This exemption is applicable to the construction of commercial buildings under 10,000 

square feet.  The Project will construct a new 3,267 square-foot building that is under 

the 10,000 square-foot threshold. 

3. The Commission further finds in consideration of CUP No. 20-10 as 

follows:   

a.      Finding: That the use applied for at the location set forth in the 

application is one for which a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) is authorized by this 

title. 

Fact:     The Project Site has a C-P zoning designation.  

Condition “Q” of Resolution No. 88-56 prohibits restaurants at the Project Site.  A 

CUP is required to amend this resolution to allow restaurants at the Project Site.  

ATTACHMENT A



Resolution No. 2020-XX  
Page 3 
Applicant:  Mr. Javier Sola 
CUP 20-10 
 
 

Per BMC Section 20.236.020(B), which governs the C-G zone, restaurants with 

drive-thru are allowed subject to a CUP.  This provision is applied to other 

commercial zones of the city, such as the C-P zone.  Therefore, the use applied 

for at the Project Site is one for which a CUP is authorized.   

b. Finding:   The proposed Project, with conditions as imposed, is 

desirable for the development of the community, in harmony with the various 

elements or objectives of the General Plan, and not detrimental to existing uses 

or uses permitted in the zone.  

Fact:     Restaurants are permitted by-right uses in all 

commercial zones of the city, including General Commercial (C-G), Major 

Shopping Center (C-C), and Neighborhood Commercial (C-N).  The Applicant’s 

request to allow a restaurant at the site is typical of commercial zones throughout 

the city.  There are over 20 restaurants located within a one-third (1/3) mile 

radius from the project site, three of which have a drive-thru.  In addition, the site 

is located one-block from the City’s Downtown which supports commercial uses, 

including restaurants.  Existing onsite uses are comprised of professional office 

and medical uses, whose peak operating hours are different from those of a 

restaurant.  Peak operating hours for office uses are typically mid-morning and 

mid-afternoon on weekday, while peak operating hours for restaurants are 

typically during the dinner hour.   

The drive-thru will be located at the southeast corner of the Project 

Site, furthest away from other onsite buildings, which would prevent any impacts 

from the vehicle queue.  The drive-thru is comprised of two side-by-side entry 

ATTACHMENT A



Resolution No. 2020-XX  
Page 4 
Applicant:  Mr. Javier Sola 
CUP 20-10 
 
 

lanes with two order boards, which would allow for quicker and more efficient 

drive-thru operations.  The Project is also conditioned to implement a Parking 

Management Plan (PMP) that requires restaurant employees to direct vehicles, 

take orders ahead of the menu boards, and ensure no conflicts between cars 

parking and queuing for the drive-thru.  Further, a traffic and parking study 

prepared by Kimley-Horn and Associated (KHA) analyzed operations of the 

drive-thru, and determined that with a total queue length of 440’, the drive-thru 

can accommodate 20 to 22 vehicles.  The KHA parking and traffic study 

determined that at its peak, the maximum number of vehicles in the drive-thru 

queue is approximately 17 vehicles.  Therefore, in combination with the PMP, the 

drive-thru as designed and approved is adequate to support peak demand 

without causing spill over. 

The Project Site has a General Plan Land Use designation of 

Office/Financial Commercial, which provides for single-tenant and multi-tenant 

offices that support small convenience or service commercial activities intended 

to meet the needs of the on-site employee population.  The Project is consistent 

with the General Plan as a restaurant use that will meet the needs of the 

employee population in the vicinity. 

Therefore, the Project, as designed and with conditions as 

imposed, will not be detrimental to existing uses or uses permitted in the zone. 

 c. Finding:   The site is adequate in size and shape to 

accommodate the proposed development and to accommodate the proposed 

use.   

ATTACHMENT A



Resolution No. 2020-XX  
Page 5 
Applicant:  Mr. Javier Sola 
CUP 20-10 
 
 

Fact:     The Project Site is approximately 82,000 square-feet 

(1.88 acres) and located within an existing commercial zone.  The Project will 

demolish two existing commercial buildings with a combined total of 9,588 

square-feet, and replace them with a single 3,267 square-foot restaurant.  The 

Project will reduce the total onsite building area by 6,321 square-feet and reduce 

the onsite lot coverage to approximately 24%, below the maximum permitted lot 

coverage of 50%. 

With the reduction of the overall onsite building footprint, the Project 

can accommodate a drive-thru with two lanes and two order boards. The drive-

thru would be located at the southwestern corner of the Project site and wrap 

around the building in a counter-clockwise direction, providing for sufficient 

vehicle circulation.  Therefore, the site is adequate in size and shape to 

accommodate the restaurant with drive-thru. 

           d.     Finding:    The proposed site relates to streets and highways 

which are properly designed and improved to carry the type of quantity of traffic 

generated. 

           Fact:           Direct vehicular access to the Project Site is provided 

at existing driveways located on Flower Avenue and Orange Avenue.   Vehicles 

leaving the Project Site may exit on either Flower Avenue or Orange Avenue, 

and proceed north or south onto Imperial Highway or Birch Street, both of which 

are arterial streets designed to support high volumes of vehicular traffic.  In 

addition, to minimize any potential traffic related issues from vehicles exiting the 

Project Site, the Project is conditioned to install a raised median at the north leg 

ATTACHMENT A



Resolution No. 2020-XX  
Page 6 
Applicant:  Mr. Javier Sola 
CUP 20-10 
 
 

of the intersection of Imperial Highway and Flower Avenue.  The raised median 

shall restrict southbound left-turn movements.  The raised median shall extend to 

the projection of the northerly curb line of Imperial Highway and include an 

accessible path of travel crossing Flower Avenue.  Therefore, the streets and 

highways surrounding the Project Site are properly designed and improved to 

carry the type of quantity of traffic generated.  

           e.    Finding:    That with the conditions stated in the permit, the use 

will not adversely affect the public, health, safety, or general welfare. 

                  Fact:            The Project is conditioned to implement a PMP that 

includes the following traffic control measures: enforcement of parking 

management, designated employee parking areas, demonstration that queuing 

of vehicles onsite will not impact surrounding uses, and require restaurant staff to 

direct vehicles, take orders ahead of the menu boards, and ensure no conflicts 

between cars parking and queuing for the drive-thru.  In addition, to minimize any 

potential traffic related issues from vehicles exiting the Project Site, the Project is 

conditioned to install a raised median at the north leg of the intersection of 

Imperial Highway and Flower Avenue.  The raised median shall restrict 

southbound left-turn movements.  The raised median shall extend to the 

projection of the northerly curb line of Imperial Highway and include an 

accessible path of travel crossing Flower Avenue.  During building plan check, 

the Project will be required to meet all Building codes and standards, thereby 

assuring the public health, safety, and welfare.    

ATTACHMENT A



Resolution No. 2020-XX  
Page 7 
Applicant:  Mr. Javier Sola 
CUP 20-10 
 
 

4. CUP No. 20-14 is hereby approved, subject to conditions as set forth in 

Attachment 1 of this resolution. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT A



Resolution No. 2020-XX  
Page 8 
Applicant:  Mr. Javier Sola 
CUP 20-10 
 
 

5. The Secretary of this Commission shall certify to the adoption of this 

Resolution. 
 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 8th day of December 2020. 
 
 
 

Chairman, Planning Commission 
 
 

I, Jason Killebrew, Secretary to the Planning Commission of the City of Brea, do hereby 

certify that the foregoing Resolution was introduced at a regular meeting of the Planning 

Commission of the City of Brea held on the 8th day of December 2020 and was finally 

passed at a regular meeting of the Planning Commission of the City of Brea, held on the 

8th day of December 2020, by the following votes: 

 
AYES:  COMMISSIONERS:  
   
NOES: COMMISSIONERS:  
  
ABSENT: COMMISSIONERS:  
  
ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS:   
 

       ATTEST:     ___________________________ 
                 Secretary, Planning Commission 

ATTACHMENT A



Attachment 1 

Page 1 of 7 

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. CUP 20-10 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

PLANNING DIVISION 
Conditional Use Permit No. 20-10 (CUP 20-10) is hereby approved, subject to conditions as set 

forth herein: 

A. Business operations shall occur in substantial conformance with the plans and project

description as approved by the Planning Commission on December 8, 2020, on-file in the

Planning Division.

B. The Project shall comply with the conditions contained herein and all applicable Federal,

State and City regulations

C. The Applicant shall comply with the City’s Noise Ordinance.

D. There shall be no entertainment, amplified music or dancing permitted on the premise at

any time unless the proper permits have been obtained from the City of Brea.

E. Prior to the issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a PMP to the Planning

Division. The PMP shall confirm that the operation will be consistent with the Parking Study

approved as part of this Conditional Use Permit. The PMP shall detail management

strategies to ensure a balance between parking and drive-thru queuing on site. The PMP

shall go into effect at any point where vehicles extend beyond the designated drive-thru

lanes. The PMP, at a minimum, shall include traffic control measures that include drive-

thru. Additional strategies shall include but are not limited to:

1. Enforcement of parking management.

2. Designated employee parking areas.

3. Designated bicycle parking areas.

4. Demonstration that queueing of cars on-site will not impact surrounding streets.

i. Require restaurant staff to direct vehicles, take orders ahead of the menu

boards, and ensure no conflicts between cars parking and queuing for

the drive-thru

ATTACHMENT B



Attachment 1 

Page 2 of 7 

5. Truck delivery times, loading, and unloading. 

6. Breakdown of land uses related to parking provisions. 

   

The plan shall be modified and implemented as necessary to ensure adequate on-site 

parking. Any modifications to the PMP shall be reviewed and approved by the City Planner. 

The PMP shall be reviewed in conjunction with the annual reviews of the drive-thru. 

 

F. Operation of the drive-through shall not result in stacking of vehicles in such a manner that 

would result in obstruction to any access aisle or parking spaces for other tenants in the 

retail center, the main drive aisles for the retail center, or public streets. If the drive-through 

operation affects traffic for other tenants, the main drive aisles of the retail center, or the 

public street, design alternatives to remedy the issue, such as modifying the parking lot, or 

other alternatives, shall be presented to the City Engineer and City Planner for review and 

approval. 

 

G. One year following the issuance of the Certificates of Occupancy, the Planning Division will 

report back to the Planning Commission on the drive-thru operations. This report would 

include a review of the Parking Management Plan (PMP), operations, and include any 

complaints or code enforcement actions, to allow the Planning Commission the opportunity 

to assess the approved operation. 

 

H. Two years following the issuance of the Certificates of Occupancy, the Planning Division 

will report back to the Planning Commission on the drive-thru operations. This report would 

include a review of the Parking Management Plan, operations, and include any complaints 

or code enforcement actions, to allow the Planning Commission the opportunity to assess 

the approved operation. If at this time, the drive-thru operation has not had significant issues, 

no additional report and review by the Planning Commission would be required. 

 

I. To cover the cost associated with the one- and two-year reviews, monitoring, and other post-

approval work by staff, the applicant must maintain a balance of $10,000 in the associated 

CUP account. The City reserves the right to request additional deposits to cover post-

approval staff time and to halt work if the deposit account is exhausted. If determined, no 

additional report and review by the Planning Commission is required, any remaining monies 

ATTACHMENT B



Attachment 1 

Page 3 of 7 

would be refunded to the applicant on record. Make check payable to the City of Brea and 

include PLN-2020-00010 on the check. 

 

J. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Applicant shall indemnify, defend and hold the 

City, its elected officials, officers, contractors serving as City officers, agents, and employees 

(“Indemnitees”) free and harmless from: (i) any and all claims, liabilities and losses 

whatsoever occurring or resulting to any and all persons, firms, entities, or corporations 

furnishing or supplying work, services, materials, or supplies in connection with, or related 

to, the performance of work or the exercise of rights authorized by approval of this permit; 

and (ii) any and all claims, lawsuits, liabilities, and/or actions arising out of, or related to the 

approval of this permit and/or the granting or exercise of the rights authorized by said 

approval; and (iii) from any and all claims, liabilities and losses occurring or resulting to any 

person, firm, entity, corporation for property damage, personal injury, or death, arising out 

of or related to the approval of, or exercise of rights granted by, this permit.  Applicant's 

obligation to indemnify, defend, and hold the Indemnitees free and harmless as required 

hereinabove shall include, but is not limited to, paying all fees and costs incurred by legal 

counsel of the Indemnitees’ choice in representing the Indemnitees in connection with any 

such claims, losses, lawsuits, or actions, and any award of damages, judgments, verdicts, 

court costs or attorneys' fees in any such lawsuit or action. 

 

PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 
Prior to the issuance of any grading permits: 
 

K. Prior to the issuance of any building permits, the applicant shall submit a final drainage study 

for review and approval of the City Engineer.  Said study shall be prepared by a registered 

Civil Engineer to reflect if the proposed development impacts the existing public storm drain 

system.  

 

L. Prior to the issuance of any building permits, the applicant shall submit a final sewer capacity 

analysis to verify if the proposed development impacts the existing public sewer system within 

the existing utility easement within the on-site area.  The analysis shall include the sewer 

discharge rates from the existing use (General Office) and the proposed use (Restaurant).  

 

M. Prior to the issuance of any building permits, the applicant shall submit a final Water Quality 

ATTACHMENT B



Attachment 1 

Page 4 of 7 

Management Plan (WQMP) for review and approval. 

 

N. All proposed water and fire services shall be per the latest City of Brea Public Works 

Standards. All proposed water and fire services connections shall be made to the water main 

in Flower Avenue.    

   

O. All proposed sewer laterals shall be per City Building and Plumbing Codes and shall 

connected to the on-site public sewer main located within the existing utility easement. 

 

P. Prior to the issuance of any building permits, the property owner shall enter into a Site 

Maintenance and Restoration Agreement with the City.  The agreement shall state that the 

property owner(s) shall be responsible to replace any improvements disturbed during the 

maintenance and/or replacement of the utility lines owned by the City.  Furthermore, the 

agreement shall stipulate that the City is not liable for loss of income due to closure of the 

drive-thru, or any other business operations, in the case of repair or maintenance to the sewer 

line within the existing on-site utility easement.   

 

Q. Prior to the issuance of any occupancy release, the applicant shall close the existing alley 

between Orange Avenue and Flower Avenue, on private property, at the northerly property 

line of the proposed development.  The proposed alley closure shall be improved to the 

satisfaction of the City Engineer.      

 

R. Prior to the issuance of any grading permits, the applicant shall prepare public improvement 

plans for the review and approval of the City Engineer, for interim closure of the southbound 

left-turn lane at the intersection of Imperial Highway and Flower Avenue to create a right-turn 

only movement.  The public improvement plans shall be prepared by a registered Civil 

Engineer and be in accordance with City of Brea and CAMUTCD standards.  Improvements 

shall be constructed to the approval of the City Engineer prior to the issuance of any 

occupancy release.  The interim closure shall be in place through the construction of the final 

raised median improvements at the north leg of the intersection of Imperial Highway and 

Flower Avenue.        

 

S. Prior to the issuance of any grading permits, the applicant shall submit public improvement 

plans prepared by a registered Civil Engineer in accordance with City of Brea Standard Plans 

ATTACHMENT B



Attachment 1 

Page 5 of 7 

and specifications for the City Engineer’s review and approval.  All improvements shall be 

constructed, including any field punch list items, prior to the issuance of any occupancy 

release.  The public improvements, include but are not limited to the following:   

 

1. Removal and replacement of the existing driveways on Orange Avenue and Flower 

Avenue in accordance with current Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and latest City 

of Brea Public Works standards.  The radius of the proposed driveway approaches shall 

be 15-foot minimum.  No water meter and/or utility vaults are to be located within the 

driveway approaches.   

 

2. Re-striping of Flower Avenue to extend from the southerly projection of the project 

driveway on Flower Avenue to Imperial Highway.   

 

3. Striping improvements installing “KEEP CLEAR” wording and limit line pavement markings 

from the southerly projection of the project driveway on Flower Avenue to the northerly 

projection of the driveway across Flower Avenue (the Laurel Elementary School southern 

driveway).      

 

T. The applicant shall prepare public improvement plans for the installation of a raised median 

at the southbound approach to the intersection of Imperial Highway and Flower Avenue to 

replace the interim lane closure condition.  The raised median improvements shall include 

signage and the re-striping of the southbound approach to the intersection to match the 

proposed final lane configuration, creating a southbound right-turn only movement.  The 

raised median shall extend to the projection of the northerly curb line of Imperial Highway and 

include an accessible path of travel crossing Flower Avenue.  Requirements to this condition 

are as follows:   

 

1. Prior to Caltrans submittal, the applicant shall submit the public improvement plans to the 

City Engineer for conformance review and approval.   

 

2. Prior to the issuance of any grading permit, the applicant shall submit to Caltrans and the 

City of Brea an Encroachment Permit Application, including the public improvement plans 

and any required supplemental information for the review and approval by Caltrans.  The 

applicant shall make consistent progress towards both attaining Caltrans Encroachment 

ATTACHMENT B



Attachment 1 

Page 6 of 7 

Permit approval and the construction of the raised median improvements.      

 

3. Prior to the issuance of any grading permit, the applicant shall submit a bond equivalent 

to the cost of construction of the raised median improvements, to the satisfaction of the 

City Engineer.  All improvements shall be constructed, including any field punch list items, 

prior to the issuance of any bond release.   

 

U. Prior to the issuance of any occupancy release, the applicant shall submit a deposit of $10,000 

to the City of Brea to cover the cost of review of a traffic monitoring report.  The applicant shall 

submit a traffic monitoring report, prepared by a registered traffic engineer, to the City Traffic 

Engineer for review and approval.  The City Traffic Engineer shall review and approve the 

scope of work of the traffic monitoring report prior to commencement of the final report.  Upon 

approval of the final traffic monitoring report by the City Traffic Engineer, the applicant shall 

present the findings of the traffic monitoring report to the Planning Commission at both 1-year 

after and 2-years after 100% certificate of occupancy.  The traffic monitoring report shall be 

updated with current monitoring data and information, and be submitted to the City Traffic 

Engineer for review and approval, prior to presenting the findings to the Planning Commission 

2-years after 100% certificate of occupancy.  The applicant shall make necessary off-site 

improvements as demonstrated within the traffic monitoring report and determined by the City 

Traffic Engineer to ensure that the roadway network operates at an optimal level of service.     

 

V. The Transportation Assessment provided for review within the entitlement phase identified 

that the implementation of the proposed development will result in a degraded level of service 

at the intersection of Orange Avenue and Imperial Highway.  No feasible improvements have 

been identified or recommended as part of the Transportation Assessment.  In-lieu of physical 

improvements, the applicant shall make a fair-share contribution to the City of Brea at the time 

of presentation to Planning Commission at 1-year after 100% certificate of occupancy.  The 

contribution amount shall be based on the alternative improvements required to improve the 

intersection level of service to pre-development conditions, determined by the findings of the 

traffic monitoring report.  The fair-share contribution shall be based on the percentage of 

project related vehicular turning movements at the intersection of Orange Avenue and 

Imperial Highway, and shall be to the satisfaction of the City Traffic Engineer.    

 

 

ATTACHMENT B



Attachment 1 

Page 7 of 7 

FIRE DEPARTMENT 

W. The emergency ingress/egress recorded, as shown, on Parcel Map No. 88-324 was for an 

approximate 75-foot area on the Southside of the property as far I can determine.  An 

updated easement for reciprocal emergency ingress/egress shall be provided to the City of 

Brea for the new configuration of the drive aisles.  Emergency ingress/egress shall maintain 

reciprocity between the properties and no changes shall be made without prior approval 

from the Brea Fire Department.  See redlined plans for additional clarification. 

 

X. Additional requirements may be imposed when the project is submitted for fire department 

plan check review and approval. 

 
 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B



         
RESOLUTION NO. 2020-XX 

 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF BREA 
APPROVING PRECISE DEVELOPMENT PLAN NO. 20-04 TO ALLOW THE 
DEMOLITION OF TWO COMMERCIAL BUILDINGS TO CONSTRUCT A 
RESTAURANT WITH DRIVE-THRU, AT 255 EAST IMPERIAL HIGHWAY, IN 
THE C-P (COMMERCIAL PROFESSIONAL) P-D (PRECISE DEVELOPMENT) 
ZONE. 

 

A.    RECITALS:  

(i) The Planning Commission of the City of Brea has heretofore held a duly 

noticed public hearing, as required by law, on Precise Development Plan No. 20-04 (PD 

20-04).  This resolution amends Planning Commission Resolution No. 88-56, and allows 

the demolition of two commercial buildings with a combined floor area of 9,588 square-

feet, the construction of a 3,267 square-foot restaurant, the reconfiguration of the 

surface parking lot, and new landscape (Project) at 255 East Imperial Highway (Project 

Site). 

(ii) The subject property is located at 255 East Imperial Highway, and further 

legally described as Assessor Parcel No. 319-292-35, as shown in the latest records of 

the County of Orange Assessor’s Office.  

(iii) The Project Applicant is Mr. Javier Sola, on behalf of Raising Cane’s 

Restaurants, 6767 Perkins Road, Suite 200, Baton Rouge, LA 70808. 

(iv) The property is zoned C-P (P-D), and designated as Office/Financial 

Commercial in the General Plan Land Use Element.  

(v) All legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Resolution have occurred. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT C



B.  RESOLUTION: 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FOUND, DETERMINED AND RESOLVED by 

the Planning Commission of the City of Brea, as follows: 

1. In all respects as set forth in Recitals, Part A, of this Resolution. 

2. The Project identified above in this Resolution has been assessed in 

accordance with the CEQA guidelines, and the environmental regulations of the City. 

Upon review, the Project qualifies for a Class 1 Categorical Exemption (Existing 

Facilities) in accordance with the requirements of Section 15301 of the state CEQA 

guidelines. This exemption is applicable to the operation, repair, maintenance, 

permitting, leasing, licensing, or minor alteration of existing public or private structures, 

facilities, involving negligible or no expansion of existing or former use.  The Project will 

demolish two existing commercial buildings with a combined total of 9,588 square-feet, 

and replace them with a single 3,267 square-foot restaurant.  Therefore, the Project will 

reduce the total onsite building area by 6,321 square-feet.  The Project also qualifies for 

a Class 3 Categorical Exemption (New Construction or Conversion of Small Structures), 

in accordance with the requirements of Section 15303 of the state CEQA guidelines. 

This exemption is applicable to the construction of commercial buildings under 10,000 

square feet.  The Project will construct a new 3,267 square-foot restaurant that is under 

the 10,000 square-foot threshold. 

3. The Commission further finds in consideration of PD No. 20-04 as follows:   

a.      Finding: That the use applied for at the location set forth in the 

application is one for which a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) is authorized by this 

title. 

ATTACHMENT C



Fact:     The Project Site has a P-D zoning designation.  Per 

the Brea Municipal Code (BMC) Section 20.260.050, development in a P-D zone 

is subject to issuance of a certificate of use, which is governed by provisions 

establishing procedures related to a CUP.  Therefore, a certificate of use is 

authorized subject to a CUP.   

b. Finding:   The proposed Project, with conditions as imposed, is 

desirable for the development of the community, in harmony with the various 

elements or objectives of the General Plan, and not detrimental to existing uses 

or uses permitted in the zone.  

Fact:     The Project involves commercial improvements on a 

site with a C-P commercial zoning designation.  Existing onsite uses are 

comprised of professional office and medical uses which are commercial in 

nature and compatible with the Project.  In addition, the Project Site is located 

one-block from the City’s Downtown which supports various commercial uses.  

Development in the C-P zone is governed by the Brea Municipal Code (BMC) 

Section 20.224.040.  Accordingly, the proposed project complies with applicable 

development standards for commercial shopping centers, including: building 

height, setbacks, floor area ratio (FAR), and landscape. 

The Project Site has a General Plan Land Use designation of 

Office/Financial Commercial, which provides for single-tenant and multi-tenant 

offices that support small convenience or service commercial activities intended 

to meet the needs of the on-site employee population.  The Project is consistent 

with the General Plan as a restaurant use that will support the needs of the 

ATTACHMENT C



employee population in the vicinity. Therefore, the Project, with conditions as 

imposed, will not be detrimental to existing uses or uses permitted in the zone. 

 c. Finding:   The site is adequate in size and shape to 

accommodate the proposed development and to accommodate the proposed 

use.   

Fact:     The Project Site is approximately 82,000 square-feet 

(1.88 acres) and located within an existing commercial zone.  The Project will 

demolish two existing commercial buildings with a combined total of 9,588 

square-feet, and replace them with a single 3,267 square-foot restaurant.  The 

Project will reduce the total onsite building area by 6,321 square-feet and reduce 

the onsite lot coverage to approximately 24%, below the maximum permitted lot 

coverage of 50%.  Therefore, the site is adequate in size and shape to 

accommodate the restaurant with drive-thru. 

           d.     Finding:    The proposed site relates to streets and highways 

which are properly designed and improved to carry the type of quantity of traffic 

generated. 

           Fact:           Direct vehicular access to the Project Site is provided 

at existing driveways located on Flower Avenue and Orange Avenue.   Vehicles 

leaving the Project Site may exit on either Flower Avenue or Orange Avenue, 

and proceed north or south onto Imperial Highway or Birch Street, both of which 

are arterial streets designed to support high volumes of vehicular traffic.  In 

addition, to minimize any potential traffic related issues from vehicles exiting the 

Project Site, the Project is conditioned to install a raised median at the north leg 

ATTACHMENT C



of the intersection of Imperial Highway and Flower Avenue.  The raised median 

shall restrict southbound left-turn movements.  The raised median shall extend to 

the projection of the northerly curb line of Imperial Highway and include an 

accessible path of travel crossing Flower Avenue.  Therefore, the streets and 

highways surrounding the Project Site are properly designed and improved to 

carry the type of quantity of traffic generated.  

           e.    Finding:    That with the conditions stated in the permit, the use 

will not adversely affect the public, health, safety, or general welfare. 

                  Fact:            The Project is conditioned to implement a Parking 

Management Plan (PMP) that includes the following traffic control measures: 

enforcement of parking management, designated employee parking areas, 

demonstration that queuing of vehicles onsite will not impact surrounding uses, 

and require restaurant staff to direct vehicles, take orders ahead of the menu 

boards, and ensure no conflicts between cars parking and queuing for the drive-

thru.  In addition, to minimize any potential traffic related issues from vehicles 

exiting the Project Site, the Project is conditioned to install a raised median at the 

north leg of the intersection of Imperial Highway and Flower Avenue.  The raised 

median shall restrict southbound left-turn movements.  The raised median shall 

extend to the projection of the northerly curb line of Imperial Highway and include 

an accessible path of travel crossing Flower Avenue.  During building plan check, 

the Project will be required to meet all Building codes and standards, thereby 

assuring the public health, safety, and welfare.   

ATTACHMENT C



4. PD No. 20-04 is hereby approved, subject to conditions as set forth in 

Attachment 1 of this resolution. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT C



 
 

5. The Secretary of this Commission shall certify to the adoption of this 

Resolution. 
 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 8th day of December 2020. 
 
 
 

Chairman, Planning Commission 
 
 

I, Jason Killebrew, Secretary to the Planning Commission of the City of Brea, do hereby 

certify that the foregoing Resolution was introduced at a regular meeting of the Planning 

Commission of the City of Brea held on the 8th day of December 2020 and was finally 

passed at a regular meeting of the Planning Commission of the City of Brea, held on the 

8th day of December 2020, by the following votes: 

 
AYES:  COMMISSIONERS:  
   
NOES: COMMISSIONERS:  
  
ABSENT: COMMISSIONERS:  
  
ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS:   
 

       ATTEST:     ___________________________ 
                 Secretary, Planning Commission 

ATTACHMENT C



Attachment 1 

Page 1 of 7 

PLAN DEVELOPMENT NO. PD 20-04 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

PLANNING DIVISION 
Plan Development No. 20-04 (PD No. 20-04) is hereby approved, subject to conditions as set 

forth herein: 

A. Business operations shall occur in substantial conformance with the plans and project

description as approved by the Planning Commission on December 8, 2020, on-file in the

Planning Division.

B. The Project shall comply with the conditions contained herein and all applicable Federal,

State and City regulations

C. The Applicant shall comply with the City’s Noise Ordinance.

D. There shall be no entertainment, amplified music or dancing permitted on the premise at

any time unless the proper permits have been obtained from the City of Brea.

E. Prior to the issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a PMP to the Planning

Division. The PMP shall confirm that the operation will be consistent with the Parking Study

approved as part of this Conditional Use Permit. The PMP shall detail management

strategies to ensure a balance between parking and drive-thru queuing on site. The PMP

shall go into effect at any point where vehicles extend beyond the designated drive-thru

lanes. The PMP, at a minimum, shall include traffic control measures that include drive-

thru. Additional strategies shall include but are not limited to:

1. Enforcement of parking management.

2. Designated employee parking areas.

3. Designated bicycle parking areas.

4. Demonstration that queueing of cars on-site will not impact surrounding streets.

i. Require restaurant staff to direct vehicles, take orders ahead of the menu

boards, and ensure no conflicts between cars parking and queuing for

the drive-thru

ATTACHMENT D



Attachment 1 

Page 2 of 7 

5. Truck delivery times, loading, and unloading. 

6. Breakdown of land uses related to parking provisions. 

   

The plan shall be modified and implemented as necessary to ensure adequate on-site 

parking. Any modifications to the PMP shall be reviewed and approved by the City Planner. 

The PMP shall be reviewed in conjunction with the annual reviews of the drive-thru. 

 

F. Operation of the drive-through shall not result in stacking of vehicles in such a manner that 

would result in obstruction to any access aisle or parking spaces for other tenants in the 

retail center, the main drive aisles for the retail center, or public streets. If the drive-through 

operation affects traffic for other tenants, the main drive aisles of the retail center, or the 

public street, design alternatives to remedy the issue, such as modifying the parking lot, or 

other alternatives, shall be presented to the City Engineer and City Planner for review and 

approval. 

 

G. One year following the issuance of the Certificates of Occupancy, the Planning Division will 

report back to the Planning Commission on the drive-thru operations. This report would 

include a review of the Parking Management Plan (PMP), operations, and include any 

complaints or code enforcement actions, to allow the Planning Commission the opportunity 

to assess the approved operation. 

 

H. Two years following the issuance of the Certificates of Occupancy, the Planning Division 

will report back to the Planning Commission on the drive-thru operations. This report would 

include a review of the Parking Management Plan, operations, and include any complaints 

or code enforcement actions, to allow the Planning Commission the opportunity to assess 

the approved operation. If at this time, the drive-thru operation has not had significant issues, 

no additional report and review by the Planning Commission would be required. 

 

I. To cover the cost associated with the one- and two-year reviews, monitoring, and other post-

approval work by staff, the applicant must maintain a balance of $10,000 in the associated 

CUP account. The City reserves the right to request additional deposits to cover post-

approval staff time and to halt work if the deposit account is exhausted. If determined, no 

additional report and review by the Planning Commission is required, any remaining monies 

ATTACHMENT D



Attachment 1 

Page 3 of 7 

would be refunded to the applicant on record. Make check payable to the City of Brea and 

include PLN-2020-00010 on the check. 

 

J. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Applicant shall indemnify, defend and hold the 

City, its elected officials, officers, contractors serving as City officers, agents, and employees 

(“Indemnitees”) free and harmless from: (i) any and all claims, liabilities and losses 

whatsoever occurring or resulting to any and all persons, firms, entities, or corporations 

furnishing or supplying work, services, materials, or supplies in connection with, or related 

to, the performance of work or the exercise of rights authorized by approval of this permit; 

and (ii) any and all claims, lawsuits, liabilities, and/or actions arising out of, or related to the 

approval of this permit and/or the granting or exercise of the rights authorized by said 

approval; and (iii) from any and all claims, liabilities and losses occurring or resulting to any 

person, firm, entity, corporation for property damage, personal injury, or death, arising out 

of or related to the approval of, or exercise of rights granted by, this permit.  Applicant's 

obligation to indemnify, defend, and hold the Indemnitees free and harmless as required 

hereinabove shall include, but is not limited to, paying all fees and costs incurred by legal 

counsel of the Indemnitees’ choice in representing the Indemnitees in connection with any 

such claims, losses, lawsuits, or actions, and any award of damages, judgments, verdicts, 

court costs or attorneys' fees in any such lawsuit or action. 

 

PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 
Prior to the issuance of any grading permits: 
 

K. Prior to the issuance of any building permits, the applicant shall submit a final drainage study 

for review and approval of the City Engineer.  Said study shall be prepared by a registered 

Civil Engineer to reflect if the proposed development impacts the existing public storm drain 

system.  

 

L. Prior to the issuance of any building permits, the applicant shall submit a final sewer capacity 

analysis to verify if the proposed development impacts the existing public sewer system within 

the existing utility easement within the on-site area.  The analysis shall include the sewer 

discharge rates from the existing use (General Office) and the proposed use (Restaurant).  

 

M. Prior to the issuance of any building permits, the applicant shall submit a final Water Quality 

ATTACHMENT D



Attachment 1 

Page 4 of 7 

Management Plan (WQMP) for review and approval. 

 

N. All proposed water and fire services shall be per the latest City of Brea Public Works 

Standards. All proposed water and fire services connections shall be made to the water main 

in Flower Avenue.    

   

O. All proposed sewer laterals shall be per City Building and Plumbing Codes and shall 

connected to the on-site public sewer main located within the existing utility easement. 

 

P. Prior to the issuance of any building permits, the property owner shall enter into a Site 

Maintenance and Restoration Agreement with the City.  The agreement shall state that the 

property owner(s) shall be responsible to replace any improvements disturbed during the 

maintenance and/or replacement of the utility lines owned by the City.  Furthermore, the 

agreement shall stipulate that the City is not liable for loss of income due to closure of the 

drive-thru, or any other business operations, in the case of repair or maintenance to the sewer 

line within the existing on-site utility easement.   

 

Q. Prior to the issuance of any occupancy release, the applicant shall close the existing alley 

between Orange Avenue and Flower Avenue, on private property, at the northerly property 

line of the proposed development.  The proposed alley closure shall be improved to the 

satisfaction of the City Engineer.      

 

R. Prior to the issuance of any grading permits, the applicant shall prepare public improvement 

plans for the review and approval of the City Engineer, for interim closure of the southbound 

left-turn lane at the intersection of Imperial Highway and Flower Avenue to create a right-turn 

only movement.  The public improvement plans shall be prepared by a registered Civil 

Engineer and be in accordance with City of Brea and CAMUTCD standards.  Improvements 

shall be constructed to the approval of the City Engineer prior to the issuance of any 

occupancy release.  The interim closure shall be in place through the construction of the final 

raised median improvements at the north leg of the intersection of Imperial Highway and 

Flower Avenue.        

 

S. Prior to the issuance of any grading permits, the applicant shall submit public improvement 

plans prepared by a registered Civil Engineer in accordance with City of Brea Standard Plans 

ATTACHMENT D



Attachment 1 

Page 5 of 7 

and specifications for the City Engineer’s review and approval.  All improvements shall be 

constructed, including any field punch list items, prior to the issuance of any occupancy 

release.  The public improvements, include but are not limited to the following:   

 

1. Removal and replacement of the existing driveways on Orange Avenue and Flower 

Avenue in accordance with current Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and latest City 

of Brea Public Works standards.  The radius of the proposed driveway approaches shall 

be 15-foot minimum.  No water meter and/or utility vaults are to be located within the 

driveway approaches.   

 

2. Re-striping of Flower Avenue to extend from the southerly projection of the project 

driveway on Flower Avenue to Imperial Highway.   

 

3. Striping improvements installing “KEEP CLEAR” wording and limit line pavement markings 

from the southerly projection of the project driveway on Flower Avenue to the northerly 

projection of the driveway across Flower Avenue (the Laurel Elementary School southern 

driveway).      

 

T. The applicant shall prepare public improvement plans for the installation of a raised median 

at the southbound approach to the intersection of Imperial Highway and Flower Avenue to 

replace the interim lane closure condition.  The raised median improvements shall include 

signage and the re-striping of the southbound approach to the intersection to match the 

proposed final lane configuration, creating a southbound right-turn only movement.  The 

raised median shall extend to the projection of the northerly curb line of Imperial Highway and 

include an accessible path of travel crossing Flower Avenue.  Requirements to this condition 

are as follows:   

 

1. Prior to Caltrans submittal, the applicant shall submit the public improvement plans to the 

City Engineer for conformance review and approval.   

 

2. Prior to the issuance of any grading permit, the applicant shall submit to Caltrans and the 

City of Brea an Encroachment Permit Application, including the public improvement plans 

and any required supplemental information for the review and approval by Caltrans.  The 

applicant shall make consistent progress towards both attaining Caltrans Encroachment 

ATTACHMENT D



Attachment 1 

Page 6 of 7 

Permit approval and the construction of the raised median improvements.      

 

3. Prior to the issuance of any grading permit, the applicant shall submit a bond equivalent 

to the cost of construction of the raised median improvements, to the satisfaction of the 

City Engineer.  All improvements shall be constructed, including any field punch list items, 

prior to the issuance of any bond release.   

 

U. Prior to the issuance of any occupancy release, the applicant shall submit a deposit of $10,000 

to the City of Brea to cover the cost of review of a traffic monitoring report.  The applicant shall 

submit a traffic monitoring report, prepared by a registered traffic engineer, to the City Traffic 

Engineer for review and approval.  The City Traffic Engineer shall review and approve the 

scope of work of the traffic monitoring report prior to commencement of the final report.  Upon 

approval of the final traffic monitoring report by the City Traffic Engineer, the applicant shall 

present the findings of the traffic monitoring report to the Planning Commission at both 1-year 

after and 2-years after 100% certificate of occupancy.  The traffic monitoring report shall be 

updated with current monitoring data and information, and be submitted to the City Traffic 

Engineer for review and approval, prior to presenting the findings to the Planning Commission 

2-years after 100% certificate of occupancy.  The applicant shall make necessary off-site 

improvements as demonstrated within the traffic monitoring report and determined by the City 

Traffic Engineer to ensure that the roadway network operates at an optimal level of service.     

 

V. The Transportation Assessment provided for review within the entitlement phase identified 

that the implementation of the proposed development will result in a degraded level of service 

at the intersection of Orange Avenue and Imperial Highway.  No feasible improvements have 

been identified or recommended as part of the Transportation Assessment.  In-lieu of physical 

improvements, the applicant shall make a fair-share contribution to the City of Brea at the time 

of presentation to Planning Commission at 1-year after 100% certificate of occupancy.  The 

contribution amount shall be based on the alternative improvements required to improve the 

intersection level of service to pre-development conditions, determined by the findings of the 

traffic monitoring report.  The fair-share contribution shall be based on the percentage of 

project related vehicular turning movements at the intersection of Orange Avenue and 

Imperial Highway, and shall be to the satisfaction of the City Traffic Engineer.    

 

 

ATTACHMENT D



Attachment 1 

Page 7 of 7 

FIRE DEPARTMENT 

W. The emergency ingress/egress recorded, as shown, on Parcel Map No. 88-324 was for an 

approximate 75-foot area on the Southside of the property as far I can determine.  An 

updated easement for reciprocal emergency ingress/egress shall be provided to the City of 

Brea for the new configuration of the drive aisles.  Emergency ingress/egress shall maintain 

reciprocity between the properties and no changes shall be made without prior approval 

from the Brea Fire Department.  See redlined plans for additional clarification. 

 

X. Additional requirements may be imposed when the project is submitted for fire department 

plan check review and approval. 

 
 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT D



RESOLUTION NO. 2020-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF BREA 
APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 20-18 TO AMEND THE 
EXISTING SIGN PROGRAM FOR THE BREA GASLIGHT SQUARE PLAZA 
LOCATED AT 255 EAST IMPERIAL HIGHWAY, IN THE C-P (COMMERCIAL 
PROFESSIONAL) P-D (PRECISE DEVELOPMENT) ZONE. 

A. RECITALS:

(i) The Planning Commission of the City of Brea has heretofore held a duly

noticed public hearing, as required by law, on Conditional Use Permit No. 20-18 (CUP 

20-18).  This resolution amends the existing Brea Gaslight Square Sign Program

(Project) at 255 East Imperial Highway (Project Site), in the C-P (P-D) zone.  The 

Project consist of business identification signs, public visible art in the form of decorative 

metal panels, a monument sign, and way finding signs. 

(ii) The subject property is located at 255 East Imperial Highway, and further

legally described as Assessor Parcel No. 319-292-35, as shown in the latest records of 

the County of Orange Assessor’s Office.  

(iii) The Project Applicant is Mr. Javier Sola, on behalf of Raising Cane’s

Restaurants (Cane’s), 6767 Perkins Road, Suite 200, Baton Rouge, LA 70808. 

(iv) The property is zoned C-P (P-D), and designated as Office/Financial

Commercial in the General Plan Land Use element. 

(v) All legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Resolution have occurred.

B. RESOLUTION:

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FOUND, DETERMINED AND RESOLVED by 

the Planning Commission of the City of Brea, as follows: 

1. In all respects as set forth in Recitals, Part A, of this Resolution.

ATTACHMENT E



Resolution No. 2020-XX 
Page 2 
Applicant:  Mr. Javier Sola 
CUP 20-18 
 
 

2. The Project identified above in this Resolution has been assessed in 

accordance with the CEQA guidelines, and the environmental regulations of the City. 

Upon review, the project qualifies for a Class 1 Categorical Exemption (Existing 

Facilities) in accordance with the requirements of Section 15301 of the state CEQA 

guidelines. This exemption is applicable to the operation, repair, maintenance, 

permitting, leasing, licensing, or minor alteration of existing public or private structures, 

facilities, involving negligible or no expansion of existing or former use.  The Project 

involves an amendment to an existing sign program, which consist of minor alteration to 

private structures, and no expansion is proposed. 

3. The Commission further finds in consideration of CUP No. 20-18 as 

follows:   

a.      Finding: That the use applied for at the location set forth in the 

application is one for which a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) is authorized by this 

title.  

Fact:     Pursuant to Brea Municipal Code (BMC) Section 

20.28.340(C.4), sign programs as subject to Planning Commission approval of a 

CUP.  Therefore, the use of a sign program at the Project Site is one for which a 

CUP is authorized.   

b. Finding:   The proposed Project, with conditions as imposed, is 

desirable for the development of the community, in harmony with the various 

elements or objectives of the General Plan, and not detrimental to existing uses 

or uses permitted in the zone.  

ATTACHMENT E



Resolution No. 2020-XX 
Page 3 
Applicant:  Mr. Javier Sola 
CUP 20-18 
 
 

Fact:     Pursuant to BMC Section 20.28.340(C.4), sign 

programs as subject to Planning Commission approval of a CUP.  Sign programs 

are required to describe the proposed type, number, size, location, design, colors 

and materials for each sign.  In addition, sign programs shall enhance the overall 

aesthetics of a site and allow for a combination of various types of sings.   The 

proposed sign program is consistent with the sign development standards of 

BMC Section 20.28.340(C.4).  Therefore, the Project, with conditions as 

imposed, will not be detrimental to existing uses or uses permitted in the zone.   

 c. Finding:   The site is adequate in size and shape to 

accommodate the proposed development and to accommodate the proposed 

use.   

Fact:     The Project Site is approximately 82,000 square-feet 

(1.88 acres) and located within an existing commercial zone.  The Project 

consists of business identification signs, public visible art in the form of 

decorative metal panels, a monument sign, and way finding signs for a 

commercial use.  No new buildings or additions are proposed as part of the 

Project. Therefore, the site is adequate in size and shape to accommodate the 

Project. 

           d.     Finding:    The proposed site relates to streets and highways 

which are properly designed and improved to carry the type of quantity of traffic 

generated. 

           Fact:           The Project Site is located off of Imperial Highway, an 

east-west highway with three lanes in each direction.  The Project involves 

ATTACHMENT E



Resolution No. 2020-XX 
Page 4 
Applicant:  Mr. Javier Sola 
CUP 20-18 
 
 

business identification signs, a monument sign and way finding signs; all of which 

are intended to assist motorist locate the business and maneuver in and out of 

the Project Site.  

           e.    Finding:    That with the conditions stated in the permit, the use 

will not adversely affect the public, health, safety, or general welfare. 

                  Fact:            Prior to installation of any sign, a building permit must 

be obtained.  During building plan check, the Project will be required to meet all 

Building codes and standards, thereby assuring the public health, safety, and 

welfare.    

4. CUP No. CUP 20-18 is hereby approved. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT E



Resolution No. 2020-XX 
Page 5 
Applicant:  Mr. Javier Sola 
CUP 20-18 
 
 
 
 
 

5. The Secretary of this Commission shall certify to the adoption of this 

Resolution. 
 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 8th day of December 2020. 
 
 
 

Chairman, Planning Commission 
 
 

I, Jason Killebrew, Secretary to the Planning Commission of the City of Brea, do hereby 

certify that the foregoing Resolution was introduced at a regular meeting of the Planning 

Commission of the City of Brea held on the 8th day of December 2020 and was finally 

passed at a regular meeting of the Planning Commission of the City of Brea, held on the 

8th day of December 2020, by the following votes: 

 
AYES:  COMMISSIONERS:  
   
NOES: COMMISSIONERS:  
  
ABSENT: COMMISSIONERS:  
  
ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS:   
 

       ATTEST:     ___________________________ 
                 Secretary, Planning Commission 

ATTACHMENT E



ATTACHMENT F



T

PROPOSED RAISING CANE'S

EXISTING SEWER MANHOLE

NO

PARKING

CLEAN

AIR/

VANPOOL/EV

NO

PARKING

CLEAN

AIR/

VANPOOL/EV

CLEAN

AIR/

VANPOOL/EV

I
M

P
E

R
I
A

L
 
H

I
G

H
W

A
Y

R
A

I
S

I
N

G
 
C

A
N

E
'
S

P
R

O
T

O
T

Y
P

E
 
4

E
-
H

V

3
,
1

9
8

 
G

R
O

S
S

 
S

.
F

.

F
F

=
3

6
6

.
7

5

FLOWER AVENUE

N ORANGE AVENUE

NO

PARKING

SOUTH FLOWER AVENUE

I
M

P
E

R
I
A

L
 
H

I
G

H
W

A
Y

SOUTH ORANGE AVENUE

SENIOR

APARTMENTS

R-3 RESIDENTIAL

 SENIOR

APARTMENTS

R-3 RESIDENTIAL

HOUSES

R-3 RESIDENTIAL

R-3 RESIDENTIAL

HOUSES

R-3 RESIDENTIAL

HOUSES

R-3 RESIDENTIAL

R-3 RESIDENTIAL

ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

PF PUBLIC FACILITY

C-P ADMINISTRATIVE AND

PROFESSIONAL OFFICE

DOWNTOWN

PARKING LOT

MU-1

AT&T BUILDING

MU-1

 PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH

PF PUBLIC FACILITY

CHURCH

USA GASOLINE

DENTAL GROUP

GARDEN GREETERS

TAPS FISH HOUSE

AND BREWERY

MU-1

255 E. IMPERIAL HIGHWAY

BREA, CA 92821

765 THE CITY DRIVE, SUITE 200

ORANGE, CA 92868

(714) 939-1030

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

6/17/2020

C1.1

SITE UTILIZATION MAP

N

O

R

T

H

LEGEND:

ATTACHMENT G



T

D
O

 
N

O
T

 
E

N
T

E
R

O
N

E
 
W

A
Y

DRIVE

THRU

DRIVE

THRU

NO

PARKING

CLEAN

AIR/

VANPOOL/EV

NO

PARKING

CLEAN

AIR/

VANPOOL/EV

CLEAN

AIR/

VANPOOL/EV

DO NOT ENTER

ONE WAY

I
M

P
E

R
I
A

L
 
H

I
G

H
W

A
Y

R
A

I
S

I
N

G
 
C

A
N

E
'
S

P
R

O
T

O
T

Y
P

E
 
4
E

-
H

V

3
,
1
9
8
 
G

R
O

S
S

 
S

.
F

.

F
F

=
3
6
6
.
7
5

FLOWER AVENUE

N ORANGE AVENUE

NO

PARKING

255 E. IMPERIAL HIGHWAY

BREA, CA 92821

765 THE CITY DRIVE, SUITE 200

ORANGE, CA 92868

(714) 939-1030

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

6/17/2020

C1.0

PRELIMINARY SITE

PLAN

N

O

R

T

H

SCALE

LEGEND:

CONSTRUCTION NOTES:

SITE DATA

·

·

·

TITLE REPORT EXCEPTIONS

SIGN INFORMATION

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

VICINITY MAP

N
O
 
S
C
A
L
E

Site

“

” 

ATTACHMENT G



T

F
L
O

W
E

R
 
A

V
E

N
U

E

A
L
L
E

Y

N
O

P
A

R
K

I
N

G

6/18/2020
255 E. IMPERIAL HIGHWAY

BREA, CA 92821

765 THE CITY DRIVE, SUITE 200

ORANGE, CA 92868

(714) 939-1030

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

N

O

R

T

H

SCALE

LEGEND

GRADING AND DRAINAGE

NOTES

ESTIMATED EARTHWORK

QUANTITIES

PRELIMINARY

GRADING PLAN

C2.0

DETAIL 1 - SHEET C2.1

SHEET C2.1

ATTACHMENT G



D

D

N
O

P
A

R
K

I
N

G

C
L
E

A
N

A
I
R

/

V
A

N
P

O
O

L
/
E

V

N
O

P
A

R
K

I
N

G

C
L
E

A
N

A
I
R

/

V
A

N
P

O
O

L
/
E

V

C
L
E

A
N

A
I
R

/

V
A

N
P

O
O

L
/
E

V

IMPERIAL HIGHWAY

RAISING CANE'S

PROTOTYPE 4E-HV

3,198 GROSS S.F.

FF=366.75

F
L
O

W
E

R
 
A

V
E

N
U

E

N
O

P
A

R
K

I
N

G

6/18/2020
255 E. IMPERIAL HIGHWAY

BREA, CA 92821

765 THE CITY DRIVE, SUITE 200

ORANGE, CA 92868

(714) 939-1030

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

N

O

R

T

H

SCALE

PRELIMINARY

GRADING PLAN

C2.1

SHEET C2.0

ATTACHMENT G



6/18/2020
255 E. IMPERIAL HIGHWAY

BREA, CA 92821

765 THE CITY DRIVE, SUITE 200

ORANGE, CA 92868

(714) 939-1030

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

PRELIMINARY

GRADING DETAILS

C2.2

2" OVERFLOW CURB DETAIL

1

ATTACHMENT G



ATTACHMENT H



Conceptual

T. Slininger

L0.1

P
ro

je
c

t 
N

o
.

Sheet Number:

19-32

Revisions:

DATE NAME

Drawn By:

# DATENAME

Landscape Plan

© 2018 Kiesel Landscape Architecture Inc: The design ideas 
and plans represented by these documents are the property 
of Kiesel Design. Use or copy is permitted by contract only.  
The use or revisions of these ideas or plans is prohibited 
without the written permission of Kiesel Design.

Type: Entitlement 
Resubmittal

Title:

Initial Setup Date:

June 8, 2020

K I E S E L • D E S I G N

Kiesel Landscape

Architecture Inc.

422 E Main Street

Ventura, CA 93001

(p) 805.947.0730

Jack@kieseldesign.com

CL# 5206

RC #550

Raising Cane's

Brea

Imperial Hwy & Flower Ave.

Brea, CA 92821

12.31.20

 

09.25.20 Entitlement

Resubmittal

#

08/2020

9.25.20

Existing Notes
A.

B.

C.

D.

(E) Transformer and electrical 
boxes to remain

(E) Palm to remain

(E) public sewer and water lines 
and easements. No trees are to be 
planted within this easement

(E) Cinnamomum camphora 
remain

Proposed Notes
1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

(P) main entrance

(P) pre-order board per architect

(P) order board per architect

(P) trash enclosure per architect

(P) headache bar per architect

(P) patio furniture per architect

(P) 8' W landscape buffer

(P) transformer per civil

(P) hand washing station per architect

1. A MIN. of (1) tree for every (25) linear feet of street frontage shall be           
planting in setback adjacent to street.
# of (P) trees required = 14
# of (P) trees provided = 14

2. In parking areas (1) tree for every (5) parking spaces.
# of (P) trees required = 6
# of trees provided: 8 (P) + 2 (E)

Tree Requirement Calculations 
per Predevelopment Findings

All existing plant material to remain and be 
protected unless otherwise noted. 

         (E) tree symbol

        (E) palm to remain symbol

Existing Tree Protection 
& Removal Notes

C C C
CC

C C C C C C C
CCCCC

C C C

15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15

15
15

15

C C C C
C C C

C C
C

C

C

C

C C C C C C

15
15
15
15
15
15
15

15
15
15
15
15

C

C

C

C

C

C

C

C

C

C

C

C

C

C

C

15 15

15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15

15
15
15
15
15

5

5

5

5
5

5
5

5
5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5

5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
5 5 5 5 5 5

5 5 5 5 5 5 5

5 5 5 5 5 5 5

5 5 5 5 5

5 5 5 5 5 5 5

5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5
5

5
5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
5

5
5

5
5

5
5

5
5

5
5

5

5 5 5 5 5 5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

C

C

C

C

C

C

C

C

C

C

C

C
C

C
C

C
C

C

CCCC

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

ORTHODONTIST
OFFICE
2,556 SF

DENTIST
OFFICE
2,716 SF

IMPERIAL HIGHWAY
(CALTRANS ROW)

RAISING CANE'S
PROTOTYPE 4E-HV
3,267 GROSS S.F.

FL
O

W
E

R
 A

VE
N

U
E

SD
SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

D

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W W W W W W W W

T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T

SS

SS

SS
SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T
T

T
T

E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T

T

T

T

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E E E E

E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E
E

E

E
E

E

T

T

T

T

T
T

T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T
T T T T T T T T T T T T T

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

SS

SS

SS

SS

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

D
R

IV
E

TH
R

U
D

R
IV

E
TH

R
U

DO NOT
ENTER

ONE WAY

N
O

PAR
KIN

G
C

LE
A

N
 AIR

/
VAN

PO
O

L/EV
C

LE
A

N
 AIR

/
VAN

PO
O

L/EV
C

LE
A

N
 AIR

/
VAN

PO
O

L/EV
N

O
PAR

KIN
G

N
O

PA
R

KI
N

G

D
O

 N
O

T
E

N
TE

R

O
N

E
 W

AY

 
Scale: 1/16" = 1'-0"

0 8 18 28 38 FT

L.O.W.

L.O.W.

L.O.W.

L.O.W.

L.
O

.W
.

L.
O

.W
.

L.
O

.W
.

2

2

3

3

4

1

A

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

5

6

8'
-0

"

7

7

8'-0"

C

8

D

9

Plant List Mature Size
Symbols Botanical Name Common Name Size Qty Height Width WUCOLS

Trees

Arbutus x 'Marina' (Standard) Marina Strawberry Tree 36" Box 6 15 - 35 ft 20 - 35 ft Low

Lagerstroemia indica 'Catawba' (Standard) Catawba Crape Myrtle 24" Box 17 10 - 15 ft 12 - 20 ft Med

Shrubs
Grevillea lanigera 'Prostrate' Prostrate Woolly Grevillea 5 gal 116 12 - 18 in 3 - 4 ft Low
Rhaphiolepis umbellata 'Minor' Dwarf Yedda Hawthorn 15 gal 49 3 - 5 ft. 36 in. - 4 ft. Low
Rhaphiolepis umbellata 'Minor' 5 gal Dwarf Yedda Hawthorn 5 gal 135 3 - 5 ft. 3 - 4 ft. Low

Perennials
Dianella revoluta 'Little Rev' Little Rev Flax Lily 5 gal 71 2 -3 ft 1 - 2 ft Low
Libertia 'Goldfinger' New Zealand Iris 1 gal 29 1 to 2 ft 2 to 3 ft Med

Succulents
Agave desmetiana 'Variegata' Variegated Smooth Agave 15 gal 20 3-4 ft 2-3 ft Low
Agave weberi 'Arizona Star' Variegated Weber Agave 15 gal 8 4 - 5 ft. 6 - 8 ft. Low

Grasses
Lomandra 'Platinum Beauty' Variegated Dwarf Mat Rush 5 gal 36 2-3 ft 2-3 ft Low
Muhlenbergia capillaris Pink Muhly 5 gal 76 3 ft 3 ft. Med
Pennisetum orientale Chinese Fountain Grass 1 gal 51 2' 2' Low

Groundcovers 
Total 614
Achillea 'Red Velvet' LowYarrow 1 gal 24" spacing 741 SF

5

15

C

Materials Legend
Material Size Area

2-3" DIA 1,806 SFLocal river cobble 

Finish Legend
Finish Size Area

332 SFN/A

1,506 SFN/A

*Integral Colored Concrete Supplier: Direct Colors https://www.directcolors.com/

Natural colored concrete W/ double bladed saw cut joints.  Finish: 
TOPCAST ® #05

Direct Colors® integral colored concrete W/ double bladed saw cut joints. 
Finish:  Kahlua or equal

* All trees standard unless otherwise noted

ATTACHMENT I



Conceptual

T. Slininger

L0.2

P
ro

je
c

t 
N

o
.

Sheet Number:

19-32

Revisions:

DATE NAME

Drawn By:

# DATENAME

Planting Images

© 2018 Kiesel Landscape Architecture Inc: The design ideas 
and plans represented by these documents are the property 
of Kiesel Design. Use or copy is permitted by contract only.  
The use or revisions of these ideas or plans is prohibited 
without the written permission of Kiesel Design.

Type: Entitlement 
Resubmittal

Title:

Initial Setup Date:

June 8, 2020

K I E S E L • D E S I G N

Kiesel Landscape

Architecture Inc.

422 E Main Street

Ventura, CA 93001

(p) 805.947.0730

Jack@kieseldesign.com

CL# 5206

RC #550

Raising Cane's

Brea

Imperial Hwy & Flower Ave.

Brea, CA 92821

12.31.20

 

09.25.20 Entitlement

Resubmittal

#

08/2020

9.25.20

Shrubs

Rhaphiolepis umbellata 'Minor'Grevillea lanigera 'Costal Gem"

Trees

Lagerstroemia indica 'Catawba'Arbutus 'Marina' 

Succulents

Agave desmettiana variegata

Grasses

Pennisetum spathiolatumMuhlenbergia capillaris

Perennials

Dianella 'Little Rev'Achillea 'Red Velevet' Libertia p. 'Goldfinger'

Lomandra 'Platinum Beauty'

Agave weberi 'Arizona Star'

ATTACHMENT I



Conceptual

T. Slininger

L0.3

P
ro

je
c

t 
N

o
.

Sheet Number:

19-32

Revisions:

DATE NAME

Drawn By:

# DATENAME

Irrigation Plan

© 2018 Kiesel Landscape Architecture Inc: The design ideas 
and plans represented by these documents are the property 
of Kiesel Design. Use or copy is permitted by contract only.  
The use or revisions of these ideas or plans is prohibited 
without the written permission of Kiesel Design.

Type: Entitlement 
Resubmittal

Title:

Initial Setup Date:

June 8, 2020

K I E S E L • D E S I G N

Kiesel Landscape

Architecture Inc.

422 E Main Street

Ventura, CA 93001

(p) 805.947.0730

Jack@kieseldesign.com

CL# 5206

RC #550

Raising Cane's

Brea

Imperial Hwy & Flower Ave.

Brea, CA 92821

12.31.20

 

09.25.20 Entitlement

Resubmittal

#

08/2020

9.25.20

ORTHODONTIST
OFFICE
2,556 SF

DENTIST
OFFICE
2,716 SF

IMPERIAL HIGHWAY
(CALTRANS ROW)

RAISING CANE'S
PROTOTYPE 4E-HV
3,267 GROSS S.F.

FL
O

W
E

R
 A

VE
N

U
E

SD
SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

D

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W W W W W W W W

T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T

SS

SS

SS
SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T
T

T
T

E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T

T

T

T

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E E E E

E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E
E

E

E
E

E

T

T

T

T

T
T

T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T
T T T T T T T T T T T T T

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

SS

SS

SS

SS

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

T
T

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

D
R

IV
E

TH
R

U
D

R
IV

E
TH

R
U

DO NOT
ENTER

ONE WAY

N
O

PA
R

KI
N

G

C
LE

A
N

 A
IR

/
VA

N
PO

O
L/

EV
C

LE
A

N
 A

IR
/

VA
N

PO
O

L/
EV

C
LE

A
N

 A
IR

/
VA

N
PO

O
L/

EV

N
O

PA
R

KI
N

G

N
O

PA
R

KI
N

G

D
O

 N
O

T
E

N
TE

R

O
N

E
 W

AY

 
Scale: 1/16" = 1'-0"

0 8 18 28 38 FT

A

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

L.O.W.

L.O.W.

L.O.W.

L.
O

.W
.

L.
O

.W
.

L.
O

.W
.

C

IRRIGATION NOTES
1. The design of the irrigarion system shall conform to the hydrozones of the landscape design plan.

2. In mulched planting areas, the use of low volume water irrigation is required to maximize water 
infiltration into the roots.

3. Sprinkler heads and other emission devices shall have matched precipitation rates, unless otherwise 
directed by the manufacturer specifications.

4. Head to head coverage is recommended. However, sprinker spacing shall be set to achieve 
distribution uniformity using the manufacturer's specifications.

5. Areas less than ten (10) feet in width in any direction shall be irrigated with subsurface irrigation or 
other means that produces no runoff or overspray.

6. A dedicated water meter shall be provided for common landscape area.

7. A weather base "smart controller": shall be utilized.

8. Controller shall be programmed to water in early morning or night.

9. A rain sensor shall be installed at each controller

10. Water use calculation shall certify conformance with the current requirements.

11. Contractor shall obtain soils agronomy test after grading is complete. Landscape architect shall 
review soils test prior to planting.

12. Trees are to be irrigated by bubbler. Refer to Hydrozone number 2 in MAWA/ETWU Calculation.

Irrigation Hydrozone Legend

Low water hydrozone
Plant Factor = 0.1-0.3
Landscape Area = 5,317 SF

Moderate water hydrozone
Plant Factor = 0.4-0.6
Landscape Area - 1,050 SF

Existing Notes
A.

B.

C.

(E) Transformer and electrical 
boxes to remain

(E) Palm to remain

(E) public sewer and water lines 
and easements

All existing plant material to remain and be 
protected unless otherwise noted. 

         (E) tree symbol

        (E) palm to remain symbol

Existing Tree Protection 
& Removal Notes

ATTACHMENT I



ATTACHMENT J



ATTACHMENT J



ATTACHMENT J



ATTACHMENT J



ATTACHMENT J



ATTACHMENT J



ATTACHMENT J



ATTACHMENT J



Focused Transportation Assessment

for the:

Raising Cane’s Project

In the City of Brea

December 2020

ATTACHMENT K

trevor.briggs
TBB_Civil_Signed



	
	
	
	

FOCUSED	TRANSPORTATION	ASSESSMENT	
FOR	THE	PROPOSED	

RAISING	CANE’S	PROJECT	
IN	THE	CITY	OF	BREA

Prepared	by:	

Kimley-Horn	and	Associates,	Inc.	
765 The City Drive, Suite 200

Orange, California 92868

December	2020	
	 	

ATTACHMENT K

trevor.briggs
TBB_Civil_Signed



	 	 	 	 	 TABLE	OF	CONTENTS		 	 	 	 				Page	
	
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ...................................................................................................................................................................1
INTRODUCTION..................................................................................................................................................................................3
PROJECT DESCRIPTION .................................................................................................................................................................3
LEVEL OF SERVICE (LOS) ANALYSIS.......................................................................................................................................6

Analysis Scenarios .......................................................................................................................................................................6
Study Locations .............................................................................................................................................................................6
Analysis Methodology ................................................................................................................................................................6
Performance Criteria ..................................................................................................................................................................7

AREA CONDITIONS ...........................................................................................................................................................................7
Existing Street System ...............................................................................................................................................................7
Transit Service ...............................................................................................................................................................................8

EXISTING OPERATING CONDITIONS ......................................................................................................................................9
Existing Traffic Volumes ...........................................................................................................................................................9
Peak Hour Intersection Operations ....................................................................................................................................9

PROJECT TRAFFIC .......................................................................................................................................................................... 12
Project Trip Generation .................................................................................................................................................... 12
Trip Distribution and Assignment .............................................................................................................................. 12

EXISTING PLUS PROJECT CONDITION ................................................................................................................................ 16
Peak Hour Intersection Operations ................................................................................................................................. 16

SIGNAL WARRANT ANALYSIS ................................................................................................................................................. 18
#2 – Imperial Highway at Flower Avenue .................................................................................................................... 18

RECOMMENDED IMPROVEMENTS ....................................................................................................................................... 23
DRIVE-THROUGH QUEUING ANALYSIS .............................................................................................................................. 23

Queuing Data Collection ........................................................................................................................................................ 24
Laguna Hills Site......................................................................................................................................................................... 25
Orange Site .................................................................................................................................................................................... 25
Riverside Site ............................................................................................................................................................................... 25
General Observations .............................................................................................................................................................. 26
Drive-through Queue Length Calculation ..................................................................................................................... 26
Side-by-Side Operational Features .................................................................................................................................. 27

ON-SITE PARKING ASSESSMENT ........................................................................................................................................... 28
Required Parking – Proposed  Conditions ................................................................................................................... 28
Drive-Through Lane Parking Credit ................................................................................................................................ 28
Existing Parking Utilization ................................................................................................................................................. 31

SITE ACCESS AND CIRCULATION ........................................................................................................................................... 32
	
	
	 	

ATTACHMENT K



	 	 	 	 	 LIST	OF	FIGURES	 	 	 	 	 				Page	
	
Figure 1 – Vicinity Map ...................................................................................................................................................................4
Figure 2 – Project Site Plan ...........................................................................................................................................................5
Figure 3 – Existing Lane Configuration and Traffic Control ..................................................................................... 10
Figure 4 – Existing Peak Hour Traffic Volumes............................................................................................................... 11
Figure 5A – Project Trip Distribution ................................................................................................................................... 14
Figure 5B – Project-Related Traffic Volumes ................................................................................................................... 15
Figure 6 – Existing Plus Project Traffic Volumes ........................................................................................................... 17
Figure 7 – MUTCD Warrant 2, Four-Hour Vehicular Volume .................................................................................. 20
Figure 8 – MUTCD Warrant 2, Four-Hour Vehicular Volume (70% Factor) .................................................... 20
Figure 9 – MUTCD Warrant 3, Peak Hour .......................................................................................................................... 21
Figure 10 – MUTCD Warrant 3, Peak Hour (70% Factor) ......................................................................................... 22
	
	 	 	 	 	 LIST	OF	TABLES	 	 	 	 	 				Page	
	
Table 1 – Summary of Intersection Operations – Existing Conditions ............................................................... 12
Table 2 – Summary of Project Trip Generation............................................................................................................... 13
Table 3 – Summary of Intersection Operations – Existing Plus Project Conditions .................................... 16
Table 4 – MUTCD Warrant 1, Eight-Hour Vehicular Volume ................................................................................... 19
Table 5 – Summary of Intersection Operations – Existing Plus Project With Improvements ................ 23
Table 6 – Parking Summary – Proposed Conditions .................................................................................................... 28
Table 7 – Parking Summary – Proposed Conditions with Drive-Through Lane Credit ............................. 29
Table 8 – Parking Summary – Proposed Conditions with Drive-Through Lane Credit and Shared
Parking Reduction .......................................................................................................................................................................... 30
Table 9 – Existing Parking Utilization .................................................................................................................................. 31
	

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: APPROVED SCOPING AGREEMENT
APPENDIX B: TRAFFIC COUNT DATA WORKSHEETS
APPENDIX C: INTERSECTION ANALYSIS WORKSHEETS
APPENDIX D: SIGNAL WARRANT WORKSHEETS
APPENDIX E: QUEUING DATA COLLECTION WORKSHEETS
APPENDIX F:  QUEUING ANALYSIS SUMMARY TABLES
APPENDIX G: PARKING ANALYSIS RESOURCES
	

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 1 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

FOCUSED	TRANSPORTATION	ASSESSMENT	
FOR	THE	PROPOSED	

RAISING	CANE’S	PROJECT	
IN	THE	CITY	OF	BREA	

	
EXECUTIVE	SUMMARY	

This focused traffic impact study has been prepared to evaluate the project-related traffic effects
associated with the proposed Raising Cane’s project in the City of Brea. This focused traffic study
has been conducted in coordination with the City of Brea and in accordance with the Orange
County Congestion Management Plan (CMP).

The project has been evaluated during the evening peak hour for the following conditions:

· Existing Conditions
· Existing Conditions Plus Project

Under Existing Conditions, the following study intersections currently operate at an unacceptable
Level of Service (LOS):

· #1 – Imperial Highway at Orange Avenue: PM – LOS E
· #2 – Imperial Highway at Flower Avenue: PM – LOS F
· #3 – Birch Street at Orange Avenue: PM – LOS F

The project is estimated to generate approximately 1,727 net new vehicle trips on a daily basis,
with a net loss of 18 trips in the AM peak hour and 109 net new trips in the PM peak hour.

Project-related traffic volumes were added to Existing Conditions to establish the conditions for
the Existing Plus Project scenario. With the addition of project traffic to Existing Conditions, the
following study intersections would continue to operate at an unacceptable Level of Service:

· #1 – Imperial Highway at Orange Avenue: PM – LOS F
· #2 – Imperial Highway at Flower Avenue: PM – LOS F
· #3 – Birch Street at Orange Avenue: PM – LOS F

A traffic signal warrant analysis, based on the 2014 California Manual on Uniform Traffic Control
Devices (CA MUTCD), was conducted for the deficient unsignalized study intersections. The
results of the analysis indicate that the deficient unsignalized intersections do not satisfy CA
MUTCD signal warrants.

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project - 2 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

Based on discussion with City staff, the following improvement was evaluated:

#2  –  Imperial  Highway  at  Flower  Avenue:   Modify  the  southbound  approach  to  restrict  
southbound left-turn movement. Although the intersection would continue to operate at LOS F 
on the minor street approach, this improvement would more than offset the project-related 
incremental increase in delay. Since the project is not causing the deficiency, the project’s fair 
share would be approximately 42.1%, based on the project’s proportion of southbound approach 
volumes under Existing Plus Project conditions at Intersection #2.

Direct vehicular access to the project site would be provided via one existing shared driveway on 
Flower Avenue and one existing shared driveway on Orange Avenue. Both existing driveways 
will continue to be full-movement driveways and remain unsignalized.

The proposed project would provide a drive-through lane with two order boards. The drive-
through would provide two side-by-side entry lanes until the dual order boards, and then merge 
into a single drive-through lane prior to the pay and pick-up window. The proposed project 
would provide a total drive-through queue length of approximately 440 feet, for a drive-through 
queueing capacity of 20-22 vehicles, assuming 20-22 feet per vehicle, from the beginning of the 
drive-through lanes to the pay and pick-up window.

Per the City of Brea Municipal code, the proposed parking requirement for the Brea Gaslight 
Square with the proposed Raising Cane’s drive-through restaurant is 98 parking spaces.  The site 
provides 74 parking spaces, for a deficit of 24 parking spaces, compared to City code.

Based on City code, a stacking credit for drive-through lanes is allowed for banks. Based on 
discussion with City staff, this credit was also applied to the proposed drive-through restaurant, 
resulting in a drive-through lane parking credit of 16 additional parking spaces. This increases 
the total proposed parking supply to 90 parking spaces, resulting in a deficit of 8 parking spaces, 
compared to City code.

Based on the ULI Shared Parking (3rd Edition) methodology, the Brea Gaslight Square with the 
proposed drive-through restaurant would result in a parking reduction of 9% during a typical 
weekday. After applying the shared parking reduction to the City’s parking requirement for the 
proposed Brea Gaslight Square of 98 parking spaces, the adjusted peak parking demand for the 
proposed project would be 89 parking spaces. The Brea Gaslight Square would provide 90 
parking spaces, resulting in a surplus of 1 parking space, based on the shared parking analysis.

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 3 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

FOCUSED	TRANSPORTATION	ASSESSMENT	
FOR	THE	PROPOSED	

RAISING	CANE’S	PROJECT		
IN	THE	CITY	OF	BREA	

	
INTRODUCTION	

This focused traffic impact study has been prepared to evaluate the project-related traffic effects
associated with the proposed Raising Cane’s fast-food restaurant located within an existing
shopping center (Brea Gaslight Square) at 255 Imperial Highway in the City of Brea.

This study has been conducted in coordination with the City of Brea and accordance with the
Orange County Congestion Management Plan (CMP). This study includes an evaluation of project-
related effects on the surrounding roadway system, a parking analysis, a drive-through queuing
analysis, and a traffic control assessment.  Where necessary, circulation system improvements
have been identified to improve the project’s effects at the study locations.
	
PROJECT	DESCRIPTION	

The project site is located on the northwest corner of the intersection of Flower Avenue at
Imperial Highway in the City of Brea and is shown in its regional setting in Figure	1. As shown
on Figure 1, the street system in the project vicinity is oriented on a diagonal. For ease of
reference, throughout this report, Orange Avenue and Flower Avenue are referred to as the
north-south streets, and Imperial Highway and Birch Street are referred to as the east-west
streets.

The project site is located within the existing Brea Gaslight Square. The project site is currently
occupied by two office buildings with an approximate combined total of 9,588 square feet. The
project will involve demolition of the two existing office buildings and the construction of a 3,267-
square-foot Raising Cane’s restaurant building with a drive-through and approximately 780
square feet of patio area. The operating hours for walk-in and drive-through service will be from
9:00 am to 1:00 am Sunday through Thursday and 9:00 am to 3:30 am Friday through Saturday.
The project site plan is provided in Figure	2.

Vehicular access provisions for the project site would be provided via the one existing shared
driveway on Flower Avenue and one existing shared driveway on Orange Avenue. Both existing
driveways will continue to be full-movement driveways and remain unsignalized.

The proposed project would provide a drive-through lane with two order boards. The drive-
through would provide two side-by-side entry lanes and two order boards, and then merge into
a single drive-through lane prior to the pay and pick-up window. 	

ATTACHMENT K



57
CAL

IFORNIA

ATTACHMENT K



ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 6 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

LEVEL	OF	SERVICE	(LOS)	ANALYSIS	

This focused Level of Service analysis has been prepared in coordination with the City of Brea
and in accordance with the Orange County Congestion Management Plan (CMP).

Analysis	Scenarios	

The project will be evaluated for the following conditions:

· Existing Conditions
· Existing Conditions Plus Project

Since Raising Cane’s is not open during the morning peak hour, the intersection analysis will be
conducted for the evening peak hour only.

Study	Locations	

The LOS analysis will be conducted at the following study intersections:

1. Imperial Highway at Orange Avenue
2. Imperial Highway at Flower Avenue
3. Birch Street at Orange Avenue
4. Birch Street at Flower Avenue
5. Orange Avenue at Project Driveway
6. Flower Avenue at Project Driveway

The study locations were established in consultation with City staff through the Scoping
Agreement process. A copy of the approved Scoping Agreement is provided in Appendix	A.

Analysis	Methodology		

Intersection analysis for all signalized intersections has been conducted using the Intersection
Capacity Utilization (ICU) methodology, which is the methodology utilized by the Orange County
Congestion Management Program (CMP).

The ICU methodology provides a comparison of the theoretical hourly vehicular capacity of an
intersection to the number of vehicles actually passing through that intersection during any given
hour.  The  ICU  calculation  assumes  an  hourly  per-lane  capacity  for  each  lane  through  the
intersection, and a clearance factor to account for the effect of yellow and red signal phases.

Intersection analysis for unsignalized intersections has been conducted using the Highway
Capacity Manual (HCM) methodology, which returns a delay value, expressed in terms of the
average seconds of delay per vehicle.

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 7 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

Operating conditions for both ICU and HCM methodologies are expressed in terms of “Level of
Service” which is also referred to by its acronym, LOS. The ICU calculation returns a volume-to-
capacity (V/C) ratio that translates into a corresponding Level of Service, ranging from LOS A,
representing uncongested, free-flowing conditions; to LOS F, representing congested, over-
capacity conditions.

A summary description of each Level of Service and the corresponding V/C ratio or delay is
provided below.

LEVEL	OF	SERVICE	DESCRIPTIONS	

Level	of	
Service	

Signalized:	
ICU	

Unsignalized:	
HCM	1	

Description	V/C	Ratio	 Delay	(sec)	

A 0.00 - 0.60 ≤10 EXCELLENT – No vehicle waits longer than one red light, and
no approach phase is fully used.

B 0.61 - 0.70 > 10 and ≤ 15
VERY GOOD – An occasional approach phase is fully utilized;
drivers begin to feel somewhat restricted within groups of
vehicles.

C 0.71 - 0.80 > 15 and ≤ 25
GOOD – Occasionally, drivers may have to wait through more
than one red light; back-ups may develop behind turning
vehicles.

D 0.81 - 0.90 > 25 and ≤ 35
FAIR – Delays may be substantial during portions of the rush
hours, but enough lower volume periods occur to permit
clearing of developing lines, preventing excessive back-ups.

E 0.91 - 1.00 > 35 and ≤ 50
POOR – Represents the most vehicles that the intersection
approaches can accommodate; may be long lines of waiting
vehicles through several signal cycles.

F > 1.00 > 50

FAILURE – Back-ups from nearby locations or on cross streets
may restrict or prevent movement of vehicles out of the
intersection approaches. Tremendous delays with
continuously increasing queue lengths.

LOS = Level of Service; ICU = Intersection Capacity Utilization; HCM = Highway Capacity Manual; V/C = volume-to-capacity
1Source: Source: Highway Capacity Manual, 6th Edition

Performance	Criteria	

The City of Brea Level of Service standard for intersection operation is Level of Service D or
better. If the project traffic causes operations at an intersection to go from acceptable to
unacceptable, the project would have a significant effect at the intersection.

AREA	CONDITIONS		

Existing	Street	System	

Regional access to the site is provided by Imperial Highway (SR-90) adjacent to the project site,
and State Route 57 (SR-57), located nearly one mile east of the project site. The following
provides a description of the roadways providing access to the project area.

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 8 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

Imperial	Highway	 (SR-90) is  an  east-west  highway  with  three  lanes  in  each  direction  and  a
raised center median in the project vicinity. The posted speed limit is typically 40 miles per hour
(mph) along SR-90, but the project is located within a 25 mph school zone which is applicable
when children are present. On-street parking is prohibited on both sides.
	
Birch	Street is an east-west roadway with two lanes in each direction and a two-way center left-
turn lane in the project vicinity. The posted speed limit is typically 35 mph along Birch Street, but
the project is located within a 25 mph school zone which is applicable when children are present.
On-street parking is prohibited on both sides. Birch Street is designated as a secondary arterial
in the City’s General Plan from Brea Boulevard to Randolph Avenue.

Orange	Avenue is a north-south roadway with one lane in each direction. Orange Avenue is a
local road and the speed limit can be considered to be 25 mph. On-street parking is allowed on
both sides of Orange Avenue.

Flower	Avenue is north-south roadway with one lane in each direction. Flower Avenue is a local
road and the speed limit can be considered to be 25 mph. On-street parking is allowed on both
sides of Flower Avenue.

Transit	Service	

Transit service to the project area is provided by the Orange County Transportation Authority
(OCTA), which serves the City of Brea and surrounding area.  The OCTA bus stops closest to the
project site are located at the intersection of Birch Street and Flower Avenue. A description of the
bus routes serving the project area is provided below.

OCTA	 Route	 57	 (Brea	 to	 Newport	 Beach) operates between the Brea Mall Area and the
Newport Transportation Center in Newport Beach along State College Boulevard and Bristol
Street. Route 57 operates on weekdays from approximately 4:00 AM to 2:00 AM with
approximately 15-minute headways, and on weekends from approximately 4:00 AM to 3:00 PM
with approximately 30-minute headways.

OCTA	Route	129	 (La	Habra	 to	Anaheim)	operates between La Habra Square and Kraemer
Boulevard and La Palma Avenue in Anaheim. Route 129 travels along La Habra Boulevard, Brea
Boulevard, Birch Street, and Kraemer Boulevard. Route 129 operates every day from
approximately 6:00 AM to 9:15 PM with approximately 1-hour headways.

OCTA	Route	143	(La	Habra	to	Brea)	operates between La Habra Square and the Brea Mall Area
through the Fullerton Transportation Center along Whittier Boulevard, Harbor Boulevard, Brea
Boulevard, and Birch Street. Route 143 operates on weekdays from approximately 6:15 AM to
9:20 PM with approximately 1-hour headways, and on weekends from approximately 6:20 AM
to 8:15 PM with approximately 1-hour headways.

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 9 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

OCTA	Route	153	(Brea	to	Anaheim) operates between the Brea Mall Area and Angel Stadium
of Anaheim along Birch Street, Associated Road, Yorba Linda Boulevard, Placentia Avenue, and
Batavia Street.  Route 153 operates every day from approximately 7:00 AM to 8:45 PM with
approximately 1-hour headways.
	
OCTA	Route	 213	 (Brea	 to	 Irvine	 Express) operates between the Brea Park-and-Ride and
University Research Park in Irvine along State College Boulevard, Brea Boulevard, I-91, and I-55.
Route 213 operates on weekdays only between approximately 5:30 AM and 7:00 PM with
approximately 30-minute headways. No bus service is provided on the weekends. Route 213
service was suspended on March 23, 2020 due to COVID-19 service modifications.

EXISTING	OPERATING	CONDITIONS	

Existing	Traffic	Volumes	

Existing lane configurations and traffic control at the study intersections are shown on Figure	3.
Per direction from City staff, existing PM peak hour turning movement volumes were collected
in September 2020. Due to the current disruptions amid the COVID-19 pandemic, an adjustment
factor was applied to existing volumes, based on a comparison of existing volumes and historical
counts at the intersection of Birch Street and Flower Avenue. Based on the volume comparison,
an adjustment factor of 37% was applied to the new counts at study intersections. The resulting
existing baseline traffic volumes are presented on Figure	4.  Peak hour intersection traffic count
worksheets are provided in Appendix	B.

Peak	Hour	Intersection	Operations	

Intersection Level of Service analysis was conducted for the PM peak hour using the analysis
procedures and assumptions described previously in this report.  The results of the intersection
analysis for Existing Conditions are shown on Table	 1. Review of this table indicates the
following study intersections currently operate at an unacceptable Level of Service:

· #1 – Imperial Highway at Orange Avenue: PM – LOS E
· #2 – Imperial Highway at Flower Avenue: PM – LOS F
· #3 – Birch Street at Orange Avenue: PM – LOS F

The Level of Service for an unsignalized intersection is reported based on the single approach
movement with the highest delay, which in this case, would be the southbound approach for
intersections #1 and #2, and the northbound approach for Intersection #3.  The traffic on these
approaches would experience delay during the evening peak hour while waiting for an acceptable
gap in traffic on Imperial Highway or Birch Street.  While the side street approach operates at a
deficient Level of Service based on the highest delay approach, the overall intersection delay
would be acceptable.  Any queuing that occurs on the side street is contained on the minor
intersection approach, would occur for only a limited period of time during the working week,
and would not impact the progression of traffic on the main arterial. Intersection analysis
worksheets are provided in Appendix	C.

ATTACHMENT K



- 10 -

LEGEND:
= Study Intersection

= Turn or Through Lane

= Signal

= Stop Sign 

X

3. Orange Ave
at Birch St

1. Orange Ave
at Imperial Hwy

2. Flower Ave
at Imperial Hwy

4. Flower Ave
at Birch St

D2. Flower Ave
at Project Dwy

D1. Orange Ave
at Project Dwy

ATTACHMENT K



- 11 -

LEGEND:

= Study Intersection

3. Orange Ave
at Birch St

1. Orange Ave
at Imperial Hwy

2. Flower Ave
at Imperial Hwy

4. Flower Ave
at Birch St

D2. Flower Ave
at Project Dwy

D1. Orange Ave
at Project Dwy

= PM Peak Hour     
Turning Movement 
Volumes 

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 12 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

Table	1	–	Summary	of	Intersection	Operations	–	Existing	Conditions	

#	 Intersection	 Traffic	
Control	

Peak	
Hour	

Existing	
Conditions	

Delay
/ICU	 LOS	

1 Imperial Highway at Orange Avenue Unsignalized PM 47.3 E	

2 Imperial Highway at Flower Avenue Unsignalized	 PM >180 F	

3 Birch Street at Orange Avenue Unsignalized PM 78.0 F	

4 Birch Street at Flower Avenue Signal PM 0.364 A
Bold = LOS does not meet the applicable jurisdiction requirements (i.e. unacceptable LOS)

PROJECT	TRAFFIC		
	
Project	Trip	Generation	

Trip generation estimates for the existing office building is based on the Institute of
Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition average rates for Small
Office Building (ITE Land Use 712). For the proposed Raising Cane’s, the City has expressed that
ITE average rates for Fast-food Restaurant with Drive-through (ITE Land Use 934) are likely to
underestimate project trips; therefore, the ITE trip generation average rates were factored up by
one standard deviation. Also, per request from City staff, the square footage for the proposed use
includes the occupiable patio area, for a total square footage of 4,047 SF. Based on City’s guidance,
a pass-by reduction factor of 35% was applied for the proposed Raising Cane’s project.

The trip generation rates and the resulting trip generation estimates for the proposed Raising
Cane’s project are summarized on Table	2.  After applying existing trip credits and pass-by
reduction factors, the project is estimated to generate approximately 1,727 net new vehicle trips
on a daily basis, with 109 net new trips in the evening peak hour.

Trip	Distribution	and	Assignment	

Trip distribution assumptions for the project were based on proximity to regional and local
roadways and existing travel patterns. Trip distribution percentages at each study intersection
were applied to the project trip generation to determine the project trips through each
intersection.  The project trip distribution and resulting project-related peak hour trips to be
added to the surrounding street system are shown on Figure	5A	and Figure	5B,	respectively.
	
	

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 13 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

Table	2	–	Summary	of	Project	Trip	Generation	

Trip	Generation	Rates1	

Land	Use	 Unit	 Daily	
Rate	

AM	Peak	Hour2	 PM	Peak	Hour	

In	 Out	 Total	 In	 Out	 Total	

Small Office Building ksf3 16.190 1.594 0.326 1.920 0,784 1.666 2.450
Fast Food Restaurant
(w/ drive-through)2 ksf3 715.390 N/A4 N/A4 N/A4 26.281 24.259 50.540

Trip	Generation	Estimates	

Land	Use	 Units	 Daily	
Trips	

Midday	Peak	Hour	 PM	Peak	Hour	
In	 Out	 Total	 In	 Out	 Total	

Existing Use

Small Office Building 9.588 ksf 155 15 3 18 8 16 24

Proposed Use
Raising Cane’s

Brea 4.047 ksf 2,895 0 0 0 106 98 204

Pass-by	Trips		
(35%	Daily,	35%	PM)5	 -1,013	 0	 0	 0	 -37	 -34	 -71	

Total	Net	Trips	for	Proposed	
Conditions	 1,882 0 0 0 69 64 133

Net	Difference	(Proposed	Minus	
Existing)	 1,727	 -15	 -3	 -18	 61	 48	 109	

Notes:
1. Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition, Volume 2

(September 2017)
2. Trip Generation rates is equal to average rate plus standard deviation to account for higher trip

generation than typical land use.
3. ksf = 1,000 square feet
4. Raising Cane’s (proposed use) is not open during the morning peak hour.
5. Per City’s guidance, a maximum pass-by reduction of 35% was assumed for the proposed project.

	 	

ATTACHMENT K



- 14 -

LEGEND:

= Study Intersection

3. Orange Ave
at Birch St

1. Orange Ave
at Imperial Hwy

2. Flower Ave
at Imperial Hwy

4. Flower Ave
at Birch St

D2. Flower Ave
at Project Dwy

D1. Orange Ave
at Project Dwy

= Trip Distribution
Inbound(Outbound)

ATTACHMENT K



- 15 -

LEGEND:
= Study Intersection

3. Orange Ave
at Birch St

1. Orange Ave
at Imperial Hwy

2. Flower Ave
at Imperial Hwy

4. Flower Ave
at Birch St

D2. Flower Ave
at Project Dwy

D1. Orange Ave
at Project Dwy

= PM Peak Hour     
Turning Movement 
Volumes 

= PM Peak Hour     
Pass-by Trips

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 16 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

EXISTING	PLUS	PROJECT	CONDITION	

This section addresses the potential effects associated with adding project-related trips to
Existing Conditions traffic volumes.  The Existing Plus Project scenario is a hypothetical scenario
which assumes that the Project would be fully implemented at the present time, with no other
changes to area traffic volumes or to the street network serving the site.  This analysis assumes
full development of the Project and full absorption of Project traffic on the circulation system at
the present time

Peak	Hour	Intersection	Operations		

Project-related trips were added to existing traffic volumes to develop forecasts for the Existing
Plus Project scenario. The resulting PM peak hour traffic volumes are shown on Figure	6. The
results of the intersection analysis for Existing Plus Project conditions are shown on Table	3.
Review of this table indicates the following study intersections are projected to operate at an
unacceptable Level of Service with the addition of project traffic:

· #1 – Imperial Highway at Orange Avenue: PM – LOS F
· #2 – Imperial Highway at Flower Avenue: PM – LOS F
· #3 – Birch Street at Orange Avenue: PM – LOS F

Signal warrant analyses for the above mentioned deficient unsignalized intersections are
discussed in a subsequent section of this report. Intersection analysis worksheets are provided
in Appendix	C.

Table	3	–	Summary	of	Intersection	Operations	–	Existing	Plus	Project	Conditions	

#	 Intersection	 Traffic	
Control	

Peak	
Hour	

Existing	Conditions	 Existing	Plus	Project	
Conditions	

Delay	
/ICU	 LOS	 Delay	

/ICU	 LOS	
Change	
in	Delay	

/ICU	
1 Imperial Highway at Orange Avenue Unsignalized PM 47.3 E	 60.1 F	 12.8

2 Imperial Highway at Flower Avenue Unsignalized	 PM >180 F	 >180 F	 N/A1

3 Birch Street at Orange Avenue Unsignalized PM 78.0 F	 87.1 F	 9.1

4 Birch Street at Flower Avenue Signal PM 0.364 A 0.369 A 0.005

5 Orange Avenue at Project Driveway Unsignalized PM - - 9.5 A -

6 Flower Avenue at Project Driveway Unsignalized PM - - 11.0 B -

Bold	=	LOS	does	not	meet	the	applicable	jurisdiction	requirements	(i.e.	unacceptable	LOS)		
1 Oversaturated conditions. Under these conditions, changes in the minor street volumes result in
disproportionate changes in delay.
	

	

ATTACHMENT K



- 17 -

LEGEND:

= Study Intersection

= PM Peak Hour     
Turning Movement 
Volumes 

3. Orange Ave
at Birch St

1. Orange Ave
at Imperial Hwy

2. Flower Ave
at Imperial Hwy

4. Flower Ave
at Birch St

D2. Flower Ave
at Project Dwy

D1. Orange Ave
at Project Dwy

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 18 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

SIGNAL	WARRANT	ANALYSIS	

A traffic signal warrant analysis was conducted for the following unsignalized intersections:

· #1 – Imperial Highway at Orange Avenue
· #2 – Imperial Highway at Flower Avenue
· #3 – Birch Street at Orange Avenue

The warrants were conducted using Warrant 3 (Peak Hour Warrant) for Existing Plus Project
conditions.  The signal warrant analysis methodology is based on the 2014 California Manual on
Uniform Traffic Control Devices (CA MUTCD).  Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis worksheets are
provided in Appendix	D. Based on Existing Plus Project volumes, Warrant 3 was not met for any
of the unsignalized intersections.

#2	–	Imperial	Highway	at	Flower	Avenue	

Per request from City staff, a traffic signalization assessment was conducted for the intersection
of Imperial Highway at Flower Avenue. The assessment for this intersection is based on review
of the following three volume warrants found in section 4C.01 of the CA MUTCD:

· Warrant 1 - Eight Hour Vehicular Volume
· Warrant 2 – Four-Hour Vehicular Volume
· Warrant 3 – Peak Hour

Daily roadway counts at each approach of the intersection were collected on a typical weekday.
An adjustment factor of 37% was applied to the 24-hour counts to account for the current traffic
disruptions amid the COVID-19 pandemic. Each warrant is described in detail and the results of
the warrant analysis for the study intersection are provided in the subsequent discussion.

Warrant	1,	Eight-Hour	Vehicular	Volume	
	

Warrant	Criteria	
The criteria for Warrant 1, Eight-Hour Vehicular Volume, are contained in Table 4C-1 of
the MUTCD, and are shown on Table	4 of this report.  Warrant 1 is satisfied when one of
two conditions is met during any 8 hours of an average day: The Minimum Vehicular
Volume, Condition A, and the Interruption of Continuous Traffic, Condition B.  Condition
A may be satisfied due to a significant volume on the minor street approach, while
Condition B may be satisfied due to a significant volume of traffic on the major street. The
details of Condition A and Condition B are listed below:

A. The vehicles per hour given in both of the 100 percent columns of Table 4 (see
Page 19) exist on the major-street and the higher-volume minor street
approaches, respectively, to the intersection; or

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 19 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

B. The vehicles per hour given in both of the 100 percent columns of Condition B in
Table 4 (see Page 19) exist on the major-street and the higher-volume minor-
street approaches, respectively, to the intersection.

	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	

Warrant	Findings	

The results for the Warrant 1 analysis for the intersection of Imperial Highway and
Flower Avenue are shown in Appendix	D. The traffic counts collected at the intersection
indicate that neither Condition A nor Condition B is met based on the thresholds shown
on Table 4.	

Warrant	2,	Four-Hour	Vehicular	Volume	
	 	

Warrant	Criteria	
The criteria for Warrant 2, Four-Hour Vehicular Volume, are contained in Figure 4C-1 and
Figure 4C-2 of the MUTCD, and are shown on Figure	7 and Figure	8 of this report.  The
Four-Hour Vehicular Volume Warrant is met when, for each of any four hours of an
average day, the plotted points representing the vehicles per hour on the major street
(total of both approaches) and the corresponding vehicles per hour on the minor-street
approach (one direction only) fall above the applicable curve in Figure 7 for the
applicable combination of approach lanes.
If the posted speed limit on the major street exceeds 40 miles per hour, or if the
intersection lies within the built-up area of an isolated community having a population of
less than 10,000, then Figure 8 may be used in place of Figure 7.

Table	4	–	MUTCD	Warrant	1,	Eight-Hour	Vehicular	Volume

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 20 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	

Warrant	Findings	
For the intersection of Imperial Highway and Flower Avenue, the criteria shown on
Figure 7 apply. The results indicate that Warrant 2 is not satisfied based on the thresholds
shown on Figure 7.

	 	

Figure	7	–	MUTCD	Warrant	2,	Four-Hour	Vehicular	Volume

Figure	8	–	MUTCD	Warrant	2,	Four-Hour	Vehicular	Volume	(70%	Factor)

Applicable Threshold

Study intersection plotted value for the 4 highest hours of the day

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 21 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

Warrant	3,	Peak	Hour	
	

Warrant	Criteria	
The criteria for Warrant 3, Peak Hour Vehicular Volume, are contained in Figure 4C-3
and Figure 4C-4 of the MUTCD, and are shown on Figure	9 and Figure	10 of this report.
The Peak Hour Warrant is met when either of the following two parts is met:

A. If all three of the following conditions exist for the same 1 hour (any four consecutive
15-minute periods) of an average day:

1. The total stopped time delay experienced by the traffic on one minor-street approach
(one direction only) controlled by a STOP sign equals or exceeds: 4 vehicle-hours for a
one-lane approach; or 5 vehicle-hours for a two-lane approach, and

2. The volume on the same minor-street approach (one direction only) equals or exceeds
100 vehicles per hour for one moving lane of traffic or 150 vehicles per hour for two
moving lanes, and

3. The total entering volume serviced during the hour equals or exceeds 800 vehicles per
hour for intersections with four or more approaches.

B. The plotted point representing the vehicles per hour on the major street (total of both
approaches) and the corresponding vehicles per hour on the higher-volume minor-
street approach (one direction only) for 1 hour (any four consecutive 15-minute
periods) of an average day falls above the applicable curve in Figure 10 for the applicable
combination of approach lanes.
If the posted speed on the major street exceeds 40 miles per hour, or if the intersection
lies within the built-up area of an isolated community having a population less than
10,000, Figure 10 may be used in place of Figure 9.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

Figure	9	–	MUTCD	Warrant	3,	Peak	Hour

Applicable Threshold
Study intersection plotted value for the peak hour of the day

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 22 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

	
	
	
	

	
	
	

	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Warrant	Findings	
Part  A.2  of  Warrant  3  is  not  met  since  the  minor  street  approach  peak  volume  (one
direction only) is less than 100 volumes; therefore, Part A is not met. For Part B, the
criteria shown on Figure 9 apply.  The results indicate that Part B of Warrant 3 is not met
based on the thresholds shown on Figure 9. As result, Warrant 3 is not satisfied based on
the criteria for Parts A and B. 	

Conclusions	

The existing unsignalized intersection of Imperial Highway and Flower Avenue is shown to
operate at an unacceptable Level of Service under Existing Conditions.  Traffic signal warrants 1,
2, and 3, based on the 2014 California Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD), were
assessed.  These warrants take into consideration vehicular volumes and other criteria.

All traffic signal warrant calculations and worksheets are provided in Appendix	D.  The results of
the analysis indicate that the unsignalized intersection of Imperial Highway and Flower Avenue
does not satisfy CA MUTCD signal warrants 1, 2, and 3.

Figure	10	–	MUTCD	Warrant	3,	Peak	Hour	(70%	Factor)

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project - 23 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

RECOMMENDED	IMPROVEMENTS		

Based on discussion with City staff, the following improvement was evaluated:

#2  –  Imperial  Highway  at  Flower  Avenue:   Modify  the  southbound  approach  to  restrict
southbound left-turn movements. As a result of this improvement, it was assumed that 50% of
the trips previously turning left from Flower Avenue onto Imperial Highway would instead head
north on Flower Avenue and turn right onto Birch Street. The other 50% would use the turn right
from Flower Avenue onto Imperial Highway and make a U-turn at the intersection of Imperial
Highway at Brea Boulevard. A summary of the intersection operation at the study intersections
before and after implementation of this improvement is provided on	Table	5.

Although the intersection would continue to operate at LOS F on the minor street approach, this
improvement would more than offset the project-related incremental increase in delay. Since the
project is not causing the deficiency, the project’s fair share was calculated based on the project’s
proportion of southbound approach volumes under Existing Plus Project conditions at
Intersection #2, which is  approximately 42.1%.

Table	5	–	Summary	of	Intersection	Operations	–	Existing	Plus	Project	With	Improvements	

#	 Intersection	 Traffic	
Control	

Peak	
Hour	

Existing	
Conditions	 Plus	Project	 Plus	Project	with	

Improvement1	

Delay	
/ICU	 LOS	 Delay	

/ICU	 LOS	 Delay	
/ICU	 LOS	

Change	
in	Delay	

/ICU2	
1 Imperial Highway at Orange Avenue Unsignalized PM 47.3 E 60.1 F	 61.5 F	 14.2

2 Imperial Highway at Flower Avenue Unsignalized	 PM >180 F >180 F	 78.1 F	 Reduced3

3 Birch Street at Orange Avenue Unsignalized PM 78.0 F 87.1 F	 87.1 F	 9.1

4 Birch Street at Flower Avenue Signal PM 0.364 A 0.369 A 0.376 A 0.012

5 Orange Avenue at Project Driveway Unsignalized PM - - 9.5 A 9.5 A -

6 Flower Avenue at Project Driveway Unsignalized PM - - 11.0 B 11.1 B -

Bold	=	LOS	does	not	meet	the	applicable	jurisdiction	requirements	(i.e.	unacceptable	LOS)		
1 Intersection Improvement: Modify Intersection #2 to restrict southbound left-turn movements
2 Change in Delay/ICU is the difference between Existing and With Project with Improvement conditions
3 Average motorist wait times to enter Imperial Highway are anticipated to be significantly less than existing 
conditions

DRIVE-THROUGH	QUEUING	ANALYSIS	

The City has requested that a drive-through (DT) queuing analysis be conducted for the proposed
project, to evaluate the adequacy of the drive-through lane queuing capacity.

The opening to the drive-through lane would be located at the southwestern corner of the project 
site, and the drive-through lane would wrap around the building in a counter-clockwise direction.
The drive-through would provide two side-by-side entry lanes and two order boards, which 
would allow Raising Cane’s to take orders from two customers at the same time. After the order
boards, the two lanes would merge into a single drive-through lane prior to the pay and pick-up 
window.

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project - 24 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

There will be approximately 350 feet (approximately 175 feet per lane) of total queuing capacity
from the drive-through entrance to the two order boards and approximately 90 feet from the
order boards to the pick-up window. This would provide a total drive-through queue length of
approximately 440 feet, for a drive-through queueing capacity of 20-22 vehicles, assuming 20-22
feet per vehicle, from the beginning of the drive-through lanes to the pay and pick-up window.

Queuing	Data	Collection	

Drive-through queuing observations and counts were conducted at the following existing drive-
through Raising Cane’s sites:

· City of Laguna Hills: 23971 El Toro Road (~2,800 SF; DT Lane Capacity: 8 vehicles)
· City of Orange: 2249 North Tustin Street (~4,600 SF; DT Lane Capacity: 8 vehicles)
· City of Riverside: 11066 Magnolia Avenue (~4,700 SF; DT Lane Capacity: 11 vehicles)

These sites do not have dual side-by-side drive-through lanes or dual order boards. Compared to
the proposed site, the majority of the existing sites are larger in square footage and provide less
drive-through queuing capacity.

These sites were selected for queuing data collection because of the following site characteristics
that are similar to the proposed project:

· A Raising Cane’s restaurant with a drive-through lane
· Located in Southern California
· Located adjacent to or within a larger commercial center

The drive-through activity was observed during the following times for the Raising Cane’s sites
on a typical weekday and Saturday:

· Laguna Hills Site:
o 11:00 AM – 2:00 PM (lunch-time)
o 4:00 PM – 7:00 PM (commute peak hour/dinner-time)

· Orange Site:
o 12:00 PM – 2:30 PM (lunch-time)
o 7:00 PM – 9:30 PM (dinner-time)

· Riverside Site:
o 11:00 AM – 2:00 PM (lunch-time)
o 4:00 PM – 7:00 PM (commute peak hour/dinner-time)

A copy of the queuing data collection worksheets is provided in Appendix	E.

The results of the observations are summarized in Appendix	 F for a typical weekday and
Saturday.  The data summaries in Appendix F present the number of vehicles in the drive-through
lane, broken down into 15-minute periods, based on the observed average queue, 85th percentile
queue, and the peak queue for each of the data collection periods.

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 25 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

Queuing	Observations	

The queuing activity was observed to vary with an ebb and flow pattern throughout the data
collection periods. The following vehicle movement and queuing observations of the drive-
through operations at the study locations were made:

Laguna	Hills	Site	

· The peak 15 minutes during the weekday lunch-time peak was from 12:15 PM to 12:30
PM, with an average queue of 9 vehicles and a peak queue of 15 vehicles.

· The peak 15 minutes during the weekday dinner-time peak was from 6:45 PM to 7:00 PM,
with an average queue of 13 vehicles and a peak queue of 14 vehicles.

· The peak 15 minutes during the Saturday lunch-time peak was from 1:00 PM to 1:15 PM,
with an average queue of 8 vehicles and a peak queue of 14 vehicles.

· The peak 15 minutes during the Saturday dinner-time peak was from 6:15 PM to 6:30
PM, with an average queue of 9 vehicles and a peak queue of 13 vehicles.

Orange	Site	

· The peak 15 minutes during the weekday lunch-time peak was from 12:45 PM to 1:00
PM, with an average queue of 10 vehicles and a peak queue of 16 vehicles.

· The peak 15 minutes during the weekday dinner-time peak was from 7:15 PM to 7:30 PM,
with an average queue of 12 vehicles and a peak queue of 14 vehicles.

· The peak 15 minutes during the Saturday lunch-time peak was from 1:00 PM to 1:15 PM,
with an average queue of 11 vehicles and a peak queue of 13 vehicles.

· The peak 15 minutes during the Saturday dinner-time peak was from 8:45 PM to 9:00
PM, with an average queue of 15 vehicles and a peak queue of 17 vehicles.

Riverside	Site	

· The peak 15 minutes during the weekday lunch-time peak was from 12:30 PM to 12:45
PM, with an average queue of 8 vehicles and a peak queue of 12 vehicles.

· The peak 15 minutes during the weekday dinner-time peak was from 6:00 PM to 6:15 PM,
with an average queue of 7 vehicles and a peak queue of 11 vehicles.

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 26 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

· The peak 15 minutes during the Saturday lunch-time peak was from 1:30 PM to 1:45 PM,
with an average queue of 10 vehicles and a peak queue of 12 vehicles.

· The peak 15 minutes during the Saturday dinner-time peak was from 6:45 PM to 7:00
PM, with an average queue of 8 vehicles and a peak queue of 11 vehicles.

General	Observations	

· At the Raising Cane’s sites, spillovers outside the drive-through lane opening were
observed to occur occasionally and to last briefly.

· On occasion, the spillover outside the drive-through lane was due to a delay at the order
board, rather than a lack of capacity in the drive-through lane itself.  A more-than-average
delay at the order board (i.e., due to a large order, or indecisiveness on the part of the
customer) would briefly hold up the movement of the queue, sometimes causing the
remainder of the queue to extend beyond the drive-through lane opening.  When the
vehicle at the order board finished the ordering process and pulled forward, the
remaining  cars  in  the  queue  would  once  again  move  through  the  order  and  pick-up
process at the normal pace, and the gap between the order board and the pick-up window
would fill in.

· Some customers were observed to pull into the site; evaluate the wait time, based on the
vehicle queue; and choose to park and go into the building, rather than join the existing
queue.

· Based on the drive-through queuing data, the peak observed queue was 17 vehicles. The
proposed site would have a drive-through queuing capacity of 20 vehicles; therefore, the
proposed capacity would be able to accommodate the expected peak demand.

	
Drive-through	Queue	Length	Calculation	

To supplement the empirical data collected at the existing Raising Cane’s restaurants in Laguna
Hills, Orange, and Riverside, the drive-through queuing capacity was also analyzed using queuing
analysis formulas published in the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Transportation
Planning Handbook, 3rd Edition.

Raising Cane’s typical service time in the drive-through is 2-1/2 minutes from the order board to
the pick-up window, with subsequent vehicles being processed at the pick-up window every 35
to 40 seconds during the peak drive-through periods.

Assuming the more conservative processing time of 40 seconds, and applying the ITE queuing
formulas, the analysis indicates that the average queue length is estimated to be 9 vehicles, and
the probability that the queue would be exactly 20 vehicles would be 1.34%. The probability of
the queue exceeding 20 vehicles is estimated to be 13.19%. The queuing calculation worksheet
and formulas are provided as Appendix	F of this report.

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 27 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

The ITE queuing analysis assumes a single-lane drive-through. The occurrence of the drive-
through queue extending beyond the opening of the drive-through lane is expected to be an
infrequent occurrence, and of short duration. The use of dual side-by-side drive-through lanes
with dual order boards would improve the service rate, which would lower the number of
vehicles queuing in the drive-through, as described in the following section.

Side-by-Side	Operational	Features	

The proposed side-by-side configuration would begin with a two drive-through lanes at the
southwestern corner of the building. Each drive-through lane would have its own order board.
After the order boards, the two lanes would merge back into one lane for the pay and pick-up
window.

While regular customers who are familiar with the menu choices typically would complete the
order part of the process in less than the average time, infrequent or new customers are more
likely to dwell at the menu board before making their choices, slowing down the process for
everyone behind them.  As a result, the order board is considered to be the most significant
bottleneck in the drive-through process.

The side-by-side ordering configuration, as proposed by Raising Cane’s, would provide two lanes
with a separate order board for each lane.  This will increase the number of customers processed
through the order board portion of the drive-through, and “keep the line moving” even if one
customer takes a longer-than-average time to make their menu selections, allowing the
restaurant to continue to take and complete orders from the other order lane.  The newest
customer to arrive at the drive-through entrance will naturally choose the empty lane or the
shorter line, so that one customer who takes a longer time to order at one order board can be by-
passed, thereby not holding up the entire drive-through line.

With the added efficiency of having two order boards and the ability to by-pass customers taking
a longer-than-average time to order at the other order board, the service rate would increase,
compared to a single order board, as more orders can be processed. The cooks would receive the
orders at a more efficient rate, which allows them to continue cooking the food, rather than
waiting for the slower customer to finish ordering.

As a result of added efficiency in the cooking area, the efficiency at the pick-up window would
increase, compared to a single order board, because the food would be processed by the cooking
area at a more efficient rate. It should be noted that the proposed drive-through lane has a single
service point at the pick-up window. The efficiencies cited are due to multiple order boards
feeding the single service point.

	

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 28 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

ON-SITE	PARKING	ASSESSMENT	

The City of Brea’s Municipal Zoning Code Section 20.08.040 “Off-Street Parking and Loading”
outlines the minimum number of parking spaces per square foot by land use. This section of the
Municipal Zoning Code can be found in Appendix	G. These requirements were used to determine
the adequacy of the number of parking spaces within the project site. For “drive-through
restaurants”, one parking space is required for each 75 SF of gross floor area under 6,000 square
feet. For a site of 4,047 SF (includes occupiable outside patio area), the required number of spaces
is 54 spaces. The Project proposes to provide 31 parking spaces, 4 of which will be ADA accessible
spaces, resulting in a deficit of 23 parking spaces.

Required	Parking	–	Proposed		Conditions	

The minimum parking requirements for the Brea Gaslight Square with the proposed drive-
through restaurant, based on Section 20.08.040 of the Brea Municipal Code, are shown in Table	
6. Per the City code, the proposed parking requirement for the Brea Gaslight Square with the
proposed Raising Cane’s drive-through restaurant is 98 parking spaces.  The proposed parking
supply would provide 74 parking spaces, for a deficit of 24 parking spaces, compared to City code.

Table	6	–	Parking	Summary	–	Proposed	Conditions	

Building	/	Use	 Unit	 Quantity	/	
Capacity	

Parking	
Code	

Parking	
Required	

Parking	
Provided	

Drive-Through Restaurant KSF 4.047 13.30 54 31

Medical (Dentistry) KSF 2.917 5.50 16

43Medical (Orthodontist) KSF 2.510 5.50 14

Office KSF 3.448 4.00 14

TOTAL Parking 98 74

Parking Surplus (Deficit) (24)

Drive-Through	Lane	Parking	Credit	

The City of Brea Municipal Code specifically allows a stacking credit for drive-through lanes at
banks on the basis of one car for every 23 lineal feet of stacking lanes but cannot exceed 30% of
the required parking for the use. Although a fast food restaurant is a different land use, the drive-
through provides similar relief on the number of parking spaces that are needed to serve the land
use. The proposed Raising Cane’s restaurant would provide a drive-through lane queuing
capacity for 20 vehicles as discussed in the queuing analysis section of this report. However, since
30% of the required 54 parking spaces for the proposed Raising Cane’s amounts to 16 parking
spaces,  a  drive-through  lane  parking  credit  of  16  additional  parking  spaces  was  used  for  the
proposed project.

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 29 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

After including the additional drive-through lane parking credit to the proposed parking supply,
the Brea Gaslight Square would have a proposed parking supply of 90 parking spaces. Based on
a parking requirement of 98 parking spaces, this would result in a parking deficit of 8 parking
spaces.

Table	7	–	Parking	Summary	–	Proposed	Conditions	with	Drive-Through	Lane	Credit	

Building	/	Use	 Unit	 Quantity	/	
Capacity	

Parking	
Code	

Parking	
Required	

Parking	
Provided	

Drive-Through Restaurant KSF 4.047 13.30 54 47

Medical (Dentistry) KSF 2.917 5.50 16

43Medical (Orthodontist) KSF 2.510 5.50 14

Office KSF 3.448 4.00 14

TOTAL Parking 98 90

Parking Surplus (Deficit) (8)

Urban	Land	Institute	(ULI)	Shared	Parking	Assessment		

The Urban Land Institute (ULI) documents shared parking characteristics in their Shared	Parking,
3rd Edition Publication.  Furthermore, the ULI parking rates reflect the distribution between
customer and employee parking demand, and adjusts the overall demand based on monthly and
hourly peak demands. Generally, shared land uses within a single development can experience
peak parking demands at various times throughout the day and would therefore not require the
full parking for all land uses involved.

The ULI Shared Parking methodology is a multi-step process that, first, establishes the stand-
alone peak parking requirements for individual uses, such as office and restaurant uses. The
methodology then applies a percentage to the peak requirement for each use, for each hour of the
day between the hours of 6:00 AM and midnight, reflecting the fact that the parking demand for
each use varies throughout the course of the day.

Beneficial shared parking synergies exist between different uses whose peak operating times
occur at different times of the day. An example of complementary uses for shared parking
purposes are office and theatre. When the office parking demand is at 100% (at 10:00 and 11:00
in the morning on a weekday), the theatre parking demand is at 0%, according to the ULI Shared
Parking document, Table 2-5. Conversely, when the theatre parking demand is at 100% (from
8:00 to 10:00 on a weekend night, the office has virtually no parking demand. These two uses,
then, can share all or a portion of the same parking supply without detriment to the other, rather
than each providing their own distinct and complete parking supply.

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 30 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

The ULI study also identifies monthly variations in parking demand for each use for each month
of the year. Parking demand for retail peaks in the month of December, during the holiday season,
and is at less than 75% from January through October. A health club, on the other hand, is at its
peak during January.

Each of these factors is applied to the existing condition and incorporated into spreadsheets,
which are summarized and provided in Appendix	G. Applying these factors to a particular mix of
integrated land uses yields a projected peak parking requirement, at a particular time of day
(weekday and weekend) and season. In theory, the actual parking needs for that mix of uses will
not exceed the projected peak, due to the interrelationships and benefits of shared parking
synergies.

Based on ULI’s shared parking methodology, the proposed Brea Gaslight Square parking demand
by use equates to a shared parking reduction of approximately 9% on a typical weekday and 3%
on a typical weekend when compared to the maximum parking demand based on ULI-provided
parking ratios and assuming each land use as a stand-alone project. It should be noted that the
shared parking methodology and reduction factors are based on ULI parking demand, not the
City’s parking rates, since ULI provides parking demands for customers and employees during a
typical weekday and weekend. Based on ULI parking demand, the medical/dental office uses do
not have a parking demand during the weekend. As such, while the shared parking reduction is
only 3% during the weekend, the weekend parking demand is underestimated. Therefore, a
shared parking reduction of 9% was applied for the shared parking analysis.

The City’s Municipal Code parking requirements are assumed to represent the maximum parking
demand for each land use as a stand-alone project. Therefore, the maximum parking demand for
the proposed project is assumed to be 98 parking spaces. After applying the shared parking
reduction of 9% to the City’s parking requirement for the proposed Brea Gaslight Square of 98
parking spaces, the adjusted peak parking demand for the proposed project would be 89 parking
spaces.  The Brea Gaslight Square would provide 90 parking spaces,  resulting in a surplus of 1
parking space, based on the shared parking analysis. Based on the shared parking synergies and
fluctuations in peak parking patterns on a monthly, daily, and hourly basis, the parking demand
for the combination of land uses would be accommodated with the proposed parking supply.

Table	8	–	Parking	Summary	–	Proposed	Conditions	with	Drive-Through	Lane	Credit	and	
Shared	Parking	Reduction	

Building	/	Use	 Unit	 Quantity	/	
Capacity	

Parking	
Code	

Parking	
Required	

Parking	
Provided	

Drive-Through Restaurant KSF 4.047 13.30 54 47

Medical (Dentistry) KSF 2.917 5.50 16

43Medical (Orthodontist) KSF 2.510 5.50 14

Office KSF 3.448 4.00 14

TOTAL Parking 98 90

TOTAL Parking After Shared Parking Reduction (9%) 89 90

Parking Surplus (Deficit) 1

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 31 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

Existing	Parking	Utilization	

As supplemental information, existing parking utilization was evaluated for the existing Brea
Gaslight Square. Due to the current disruption of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19), the
pandemic has affected traffic patterns. Therefore, in concurrence with City staff, the existing
parking utilization for Brea Gaslight Square was evaluated using aerial imagery at the following
times to reflect typical weekday and weekend operations:

· 3:11	PM	Monday,	July	2,	2018	
· 12:27	PM	Saturday,	February	23,	2019	
· 10:35	AM	Tuesday,	February	26,	2019	
· 11:46	AM	Sunday,	June	9,	2019	
· 9:55	AM	Wednesday,	October	2,	2019	
· 11:13	AM	Friday,	January	24,	2020	

A summary of the existing parking utilization data collection is shown on Table	9. The Nearmap
aerial images are provided in Appendix	G. Based on the aerial images, the average occupancy on
a weekday was 39 occupied spaces, or 42%. The average parking occupancy on a weekend was 9
occupied spaces, or 9% occupancy. The maximum observed occupancy in the parking lot was
49% on Wednesday at  9:55 AM,  with  45 occupied parking  spaces  of  the  available  91 parking
spaces.
	

Table	9	–	Existing	Parking	Utilization	

Date	 Time	 Occupied	
Stalls	

Total	
Stalls	

Percent	
Occupied	

Monday, July 2, 2018 3:11 PM 38 91 42%

Saturday, February 23, 2019 12:27 PM 13 91 14%

Tuesday, February 26,2019 10:35 AM 42 91 46%

Sunday, June 09, 2019 11:46 AM 4 91 4%

Wednesday, October 02, 2019 9:55 AM 45 91 49%

Friday, January 24, 2020 11:13 AM 29 91 32%
Source:	Nearmap	aerial imagery

	

ATTACHMENT K



Brea Raising Cane’s Project  - 32 -           Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
Traffic Impact Study       December 2020

SITE	ACCESS	AND	CIRCULATION	

Direct vehicular access provisions for the project site would be provided via one unsignalized
full-access driveway on Flower Avenue and one unsignalized full-access driveway on Orange
Avenue. Parking is accessed from the internal drive aisles. Maximizing drive-through operations
was achieved by a segmented parking layout. There is one internal intersection of drive aisles
and a dead-end access on the south side of the north-south parking aisle. Vehicles have room to
maneuver  in  and  out  of  parking  stalls  and  circulate  internally  to  the  site  parking.  The  drive-
through entrance and exit are separated from the parking aisle to eliminate potential drive-
through queue impacts from blocking parking.

Sidewalks are present along all study area roadways and an accessible walkway is provided from
Imperial Highway to the building entrance and patio area for pedestrian access to the site.	

ATTACHMENT K



APPENDIX A

APPROVED SCOPING AGREEMENT

ATTACHMENT K



	 	
	

kimley-horn.com 765 The City Drive, Suite 200, Orange, CA 92868 714 939 1030

September 14, 2020

Ms. Paige Montojo
Associate Planner, City of Brea
1 Civic Center Circle
Brea, California 92821

RE: Scoping	Letter	Agreement	for	Focused	Traffic	Analysis	for	the	Proposed	Raising	
Cane’s	Project	in	the	City	of	Brea	

Dear Ms. Montojo:

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. is submitting this Scoping Letter Agreement to the City of
Brea to provide a Focused Traffic Analysis for the proposed Raising Cane’s Project in the City
of Brea. The proposed Focused Traffic Analysis scope for the project is presented below.

PROJECT	DESCRIPTION	

The project site is located on the northwest corner of Flower Avenue at Imperial Highway in
the  City  of  Brea.  The  project  site  is  located  within  the  existing  Brea  Gaslight  Square.  The
project site is currently occupied by two office buildings with an approximate combined total
of 9,588 square feet. The project will involve demolition of the two existing office buildings
and the construction of a 3,267-square-foot Raising Cane’s restaurant building with a drive-
through and approximately 780 SF of occupiable patio area. The operating hours for walk-in
and drive-through service will  be from 9:00 am to 1:00 am Sunday through Thursday and
9:00 am to 3:30 am Friday through Saturday. A copy of the project site plan, dated August 4,
2020, is provided on	Attachment	1.

Vehicular access provisions for the project site would be provided via the one existing shared
driveway on Flower Avenue and one shared driveway on Orange Avenue. Both existing
driveways will continue to be full-movement driveways. All project driveways would be
unsignalized.

SCOPE	OF	FOCUSED	TRAFFIC	ANALYSIS	

This scope is based on comments from City staff on Plan Review No. PR-20-07, as well as
additional input from the City.
	
Parking	Study	
The parking requirements and inventory for the site is based on information from the Brea
Gaslight Square Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions (CC&R), dated January 17, 1991. The
proposed use will require 95 parking spaces and will provide 88 spaces, resulting in 7 spaces,

ATTACHMENT K



	 	
	 	Ms. Paige Montojo,  September 14, 2020, Page
2

kimley-horn.com 765 The City Drive, Suite 200, Orange, CA 92868 714 939 1030

or 7% short of code. The parking analysis will determine if stacking in the drive-through
along  with  shared  parking  may  address  the  parking  deficiency,  as  well  as  handle  the
additional parking demand for the proposed site.

The shared parking analysis will use methodologies and assumptions from the Urban Land
Institute (ULI) Shared Parking, 3rd Edition. The study will also assume credit for the drive-
through lane based on the City’s Municipal Code credit for bank drive-through lanes at a rate
of 1 parking space per 23 lineal feet. The shared parking analysis will also take into account
existing demand at the site. Due to the current disruption of the novel coronavirus (COVID-
19), the pandemic has affected traffic patterns; therefore, collecting new data is discouraged.
It is proposed that the existing demand be estimated based on timestamped aerials images
from Nearmaps. The aerial images used for the analysis have the following timestamps:

	
· 9:55	AM	Wednesday,	October	2,	2019	
· 10:35	AM	Tuesday	February	26,	2019	
· 1:33	PM	Wednesday,	June	9,	2019	
· 3:06	PM	Monday,	July	2,	2018	
· 12:08	PM	Saturday,	January	24,	2020	
· 12:27	PM	Saturday	February	23,	2019	

	
Drive-Through	Queuing	Analysis	
A drive-through queuing analysis will be conducted for the proposed project, to evaluate the
adequacy of the drive-through lane queuing capacity.  The opening to the drive-through lane
would be located at the southern edge of the project site and wraps along the east and north
sides of the building. The drive-through would provide two side-by-side entry lanes and two
order boards, which would allow Raising Cane’s to take orders from two customers at the
same time. After the order boards, the two lanes would merge back into a single drive-
through lane prior to the pay and pick-up window. There will be approximately 350 feet of
total queuing lane capacity (approximately 175 feet per lane) from the opening of the two
drive-through lanes to the two order boards and approximately 90 feet from the order boards
to the pick-up window. This would provide a total drive-through queue length of
approximately 440 feet, for a drive-through queuing capacity of 20-22 vehicles, assuming 20-
22 feet per vehicle, from the beginning of the drive-through lanes to the pick-up window.

Drive-through queuing will be compared to empirical data collected at three existing Raising
Cane’s restaurants during the weekday lunch (11am-2pm) and dinner periods (4pm-7pm).
Based on correspondence with City staff, empirical drive-through queuing data collected
prior to March 2020 will be provided from the following Raising Cane’s sites:

- City of Orange: 2249 North Tustin Street
- City of Laguna Hills: 23971 El Toro Rd
- City of Riverside: 11066 Magnolia Ave

ATTACHMENT K



	 	
	 	Ms. Paige Montojo,  September 14, 2020, Page
3

kimley-horn.com 765 The City Drive, Suite 200, Orange, CA 92868 714 939 1030

Additionally, the drive-through queuing capacity of the project site will also be analyzed using
queuing analysis formulas published in the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE)
Transportation Planning Handbook, 3rd Edition.
	
Trip	Generation	
Trip generation estimate for the existing office building is based on the Institute of
Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition average rates for Small
Office Building (ITE Land Use 712). For the proposed Raising Cane’s, the City has expressed
that ITE average rates for Fast-food Restaurant with Drive-through (ITE Land Use 934) are
likely to underestimate project trips; therefore, the ITE trip generation average rates were
factored up by one standard deviation. Also, per request from City staff, the square footage
for the proposed use includes the occupiable patio area, for a total square footage of 4,047
SF. Based on City’s guidance, a pass-by reduction factor of 35% was applied to the proposed
Raising Cane’s.

Trip generation rates and the resulting trip generation estimates for the proposed Raising
Cane’s project are summarized on Attachment	2. Based on the trip generation estimates, the
Project is expected to generate 1,727 net new daily and 109 net new trips during the evening
peak hour.

Traffic	Operation	Analysis	
City staff has requested the following traffic analyses be conducted to evaluate potential
traffic operational impacts at selected intersections:

· Level of Service
· Traffic Control Assessment
· Site Circulation and Access Evaluation

Level of Service
The Level of Service (LOS) analysis will be conducted at the following study intersections:

1. Imperial Highway & Flower Avenue
2. Imperial Highway & Orange Avenue
3. Birch Street & Flower Avenue
4. Birch Street & Orange Avenue
5. Flower Avenue & Project Driveway
6. Birch Street & Project Driveway

Traffic counts will be collected during the evening(4-6PM) peak period. An adjustment factor
will be applied to the new counts to account the current disruptions of the COVID-19
pandemic. This adjustment factor will be based on the percentage difference between
historical and new turning movement data at the intersection of Birch Street & Flower
Avenue, as well as OCTAM growth forecast. The City will provide the historical counts at Birch
Street & Flower Avenue.

ATTACHMENT K



	 	
	 	Ms. Paige Montojo,  September 14, 2020, Page
4

kimley-horn.com 765 The City Drive, Suite 200, Orange, CA 92868 714 939 1030

Level of Service will be conducted for Existing and Existing Plus Project Conditions.
Intersections operating at an unacceptable LOS will be identified based on the City’s LOS
standard of LOS D.

Traffic Control Assessment
A traffic control assessment will be conducted to assess traffic controls at unsignalized study
intersections. Traffic volumes at unsignalized intersections will be compared against Traffic
Signal Warrant #3 – Peak Hour Volume Warrant in the 2014 California Manual on Uniform
Traffic Control Devices (CA MUTCD).

Per request from City staff, a traffic signalization assessment will be conducted for the
intersection of Imperial Highway & Flower Avenue intersection based on section 4C.01 of the
CA  MUTCD.  Kimley-Horn  will  collect  24-hour  roadway  counts  at  each  approach  and  will
factor collected volumes based on the same adjustment factor used for the turning movement
counts.

Site Circulation and Access Evaluation
In addition to the queuing analysis, Kimley-Horn will evaluate other on-site operations such
as vehicle, pedestrian, and bicycle access and circulation.

Please contact me if you have any questions or comments.

Sincerely,

KIMLEY-HORN	AND	ASSOCIATES,	INC.	

Trevor Briggs, P.E.
Project Engineer 	
	
	
APPROVED:	

By:

                                                                     _____	.
Paige Montojo
Associate Planner, City of Brea

ATTACHMENT K



ATTACHMENT 1 
ATTACHMENT K



ATTACHMENT	2
SUMMARY	OF	PROJECT	TRIP	GENERATION

BREA	RAISING	CANE'S

Trip	Generation	Rates	1

ITE AM	Peak	Hour PM	Peak	Hour
Land	Use Code Unit Daily In Out Total In Out Total

Small Office Building 712 KSF 16.190 1.594 0.326 1.920 0.784 1.666 2.450

Fast-Food Restaurant w/ Drive-Through2 934 KSF 715.390 N/A 3 N/A 3 N/A 3 26.281 24.259 50.540

Trip	Generation	Estimates

AM	Peak	Hour	3 PM	Peak	Hour

Land	Use Quantity Unit Daily In Out Total In Out Total

Small Office Building 9.588 KSF 155 15 3 18 8 16 24

Fast-Food Restaurant w/ Drive-Through 4.047 KSF 2,895 0 0 0 106 98 204

-1,013 0 0 0 -37 -34 -71

1,882 0 0 0 69 64 133

1,727 -15 -3 -18 61 48 109

EXISTING	USE

PROPOSED	USE

Pass-by Trips (35% Daily,35% PM)4

1  Source:  Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition, Volume 2 (September 2017)
2 Trip Generation rates is equal to average rate plus standard deviation to account for higher trip generation than typical land use.
3  Raising Cane's (proposed use) is not open during the morning peak hour.
4  Per City's guidance, a maximum pass-by reduction of 35% was assumed for the proposed project

Total	Net	Trips	for	Proposed	Conditions

Net	Difference	(Proposed	Minus	Existing)

Brea Raising Cane's Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

ATTACHMENT K



APPENDIX B

TRAFFIC COUNT DATA WORKSHEETS	

ATTACHMENT K



National Data & Surveying Services

Intersection Turning Movement Count
Location: S. Flower Ave & Birch St

City: Brea Project ID: Historical
Control: Signalized Date:

NS/EW Streets:

0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2 0 0 1 2 0 0
NL NT NR NU SL ST SR SU EL ET ER EU WL WT WR WU TOTAL

7:00 AM 0 0 14 0 7 0 3 0 2 84 0 0 7 77 1 0 195
7:15 AM 5 5 8 0 6 0 5 0 3 88 5 0 8 70 4 0 207
7:30 AM 16 11 2 0 14 1 6 0 7 124 4 0 4 126 1 0 316
7:45 AM 56 34 2 0 14 2 7 0 18 135 6 0 10 126 8 0 418
8:00 AM 13 10 3 0 14 5 16 0 9 135 8 0 7 125 5 0 350
8:15 AM 3 3 7 0 8 4 8 0 5 107 6 0 4 101 1 0 257
8:30 AM 1 3 1 0 2 3 1 0 1 98 1 0 5 98 1 0 215
8:45 AM 0 0 13 0 7 3 2 0 3 90 1 0 4 100 4 0 227

NL NT NR NU SL ST SR SU EL ET ER EU WL WT WR WU TOTAL
TOTAL VOLUMES : 94 66 50 0 72 18 48 0 48 861 31 0 49 823 25 0 2185
APPROACH %'s : 44.76% 31.43% 23.81% 0.00% 52.17% 13.04% 34.78% 0.00% 5.11% 91.60% 3.30% 0.00% 5.46% 91.75% 2.79% 0.00%

PEAK HR : 07:30 AM 39 37 44 07:45 AM TOTAL
PEAK HR VOL : 88 58 14 0 50 12 37 0 39 501 24 0 25 478 15 0 1341

PEAK HR FACTOR : 0.393 0.426 0.500 0.000 0.893 0.600 0.578 0.000 0.542 0.928 0.750 0.000 0.625 0.948 0.469 0.000

Headers NBL NBT NBR NBU SBL SBT SBR SBU EBL EBT EBR EBU WBL WBT WBR WBU

0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2 0 0 1 2 0 0
NL NT NR NU SL ST SR SU EL ET ER EU WL WT WR WU TOTAL

4:00 PM 3 3 12 0 5 2 3 0 5 144 0 0 10 208 4 0 399
4:15 PM 6 2 8 0 6 0 2 0 7 159 2 0 5 224 5 0 426
4:30 PM 11 2 8 0 7 1 4 0 5 175 0 1 9 227 4 0 454
4:45 PM 6 1 16 0 9 1 6 0 5 151 2 0 6 245 3 0 451
5:00 PM 7 3 11 0 6 0 3 0 7 184 4 0 13 276 5 0 519
5:15 PM 8 6 10 0 5 0 3 0 11 171 6 1 9 267 3 0 500
5:30 PM 10 2 10 0 5 1 6 0 13 168 0 1 9 272 4 0 501
5:45 PM 4 3 9 0 4 0 10 0 8 175 1 2 7 276 6 0 505

NL NT NR NU SL ST SR SU EL ET ER EU WL WT WR WU TOTAL
TOTAL VOLUMES : 55 22 84 0 47 5 37 0 61 1327 15 5 68 1995 34 0 3755
APPROACH %'s : 34.16% 13.66% 52.17% 0.00% 52.81% 5.62% 41.57% 0.00% 4.33% 94.25% 1.07% 0.36% 3.24% 95.14% 1.62% 0.00%

PEAK HR : 05:00 PM 293 289 296 05:00 PM TOTAL
PEAK HR VOL : 29 14 40 0 20 1 22 0 39 698 11 4 38 1091 18 0 2025

PEAK HR FACTOR : 0.725 0.583 0.909 0.000 0.833 0.250 0.550 0.000 0.750 0.948 0.458 0.500 0.731 0.988 0.750 0.000

  EASTBOUND

9/21/2017

Birch St

  NORTHBOUND

Birch St

0.899

  WESTBOUND

S. Flower Ave S. Flower Ave

0.707 0.887

  EASTBOUND

PM

AM

07:30 AM - 08:30 AM

  NORTHBOUND

0.435 0.802

Total

0.9750.964

  WESTBOUND

0.975

  SOUTHBOUND

0.865 0.768

05:00 PM - 06:00 PM

  SOUTHBOUND

ATTACHMENT K



Prepared by National Data & Surveying Services

ID: Historical Day:
City: Brea Date:

AM 37 12 50 0 AM

NOON 0 0 0 0 NOON

PM 22 1 20 0 PM

AM NOON PM PM NOON AM

0 1 0 0 0 18 0 15

2 1091 0 478

0 0 4 0 1 38 0 25

39 0 39 1 TEV 1341 0 2025 0 0 0 0

501 0 698 2 PHF 0.80 0.98

24 0 11 0 0 0 1 0
AM NOON PM PM NOON AM

PM 0 29 14 40 PM

NOON 0 0 0 0 NOON

AM 0 88 58 14 AM

B
irch

St

07:00 AM - 09:00 AM

NONE

603 0 1146

S. Flower Ave

61

0

S. Flower Ave

SOUTHBOUND

04:00 PM - 06:00 PM

NORTHBOUND

758

0

PE
A

K
H

O
U

R
S

Cars (AM)

NONE

05:00 PM - 06:00 PM

112

71

0

Signalized

B
irc

h
St

EA
ST

B
O

U
N

D

Peak Hour Turning Movement Count

50

Cars (PM) HT (PM)

S. Flower Ave & Birch St

Thursday
09/21/2017

CONTROL

W
ESTB

O
U

N
D

07:30 AM - 08:30 AM

Cars (NOON)

Pedestrians (Crosswalks)

HT (NOON)

565

C
O

U
N

T
PER

IO
D

S

HT (AM)

NOONAM PM

3

79

1

4 20 7 02

02303

0
178

0
2

3
0
0
4
0
5

PM

AM
AM
NOON
PM

PM
NOON

AM
AM

NOON
PM

NOON

0
1
0

0
0
0

0 0 0

0 0 1

N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

25
477
15

24
501

39

37 12 50

88 58 13

N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

38
1091
18

11
698

39

22 1 20

29 14 40

0
0
0

0
0
0

0 0 0

0 0 0

N
O

O
N

PM AM N
O

O
N

AM PM

N
O

O
N

AM PMN
O

O
N

PM AM

ATTACHMENT K



National Data & Surveying Services

Intersection Turning Movement CountLocation: S Orange Ave & Imperial Hwy
City: Brea Project ID: 20-010012-001

Control: 2-Way Stop(NB/SB) Date:

NS/EW Streets:

0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 3 0 0
NL NT NR NU SL ST SR SU EL ET ER EU WL WT WR WU TOTAL

4:00 PM 0 0 6 0 0 0 7 0 0 434 3 0 0 430 9 0 889
4:15 PM 0 0 5 0 0 0 1 0 0 415 4 0 0 435 7 0 867
4:30 PM 0 0 7 0 0 0 9 0 0 467 4 0 0 406 1 0 894
4:45 PM 0 0 10 0 0 0 11 0 0 402 4 0 0 466 10 0 903
5:00 PM 0 0 7 0 0 0 8 0 0 450 3 0 0 412 7 0 887
5:15 PM 0 0 6 0 0 0 10 0 0 432 3 0 0 458 5 0 914
5:30 PM 0 0 7 0 0 0 11 0 0 425 3 0 0 442 11 0 899
5:45 PM 0 0 7 0 0 0 10 0 0 372 3 0 0 388 11 0 791

NL NT NR NU SL ST SR SU EL ET ER EU WL WT WR WU TOTAL
TOTAL VOLUMES : 0 0 55 0 0 0 67 0 0 3397 27 0 0 3437 61 0 7044
APPROACH %'s : 0.00% 0.00% 100.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 100.00% 0.00% 0.00% 99.21% 0.79% 0.00% 0.00% 98.26% 1.74% 0.00%

PEAK HR : 04:45 PM 292 289 296 05:15 PM TOTAL
PEAK HR VOL : 0 0 30 0 0 0 40 0 0 1709 13 0 0 1778 33 0 3603

PEAK HR FACTOR : 0.000 0.000 0.750 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.909 0.000 0.000 0.949 0.813 0.000 0.000 0.954 0.750 0.000

  EASTBOUND

9/17/2020

Imperial HwyImperial HwyS Orange Ave S Orange Ave

PM
  NORTHBOUND

Total

0.9860.950

  WESTBOUND

0.9510.750 0.909

04:45 PM - 05:45 PM

  SOUTHBOUND

ATTACHMENT K



Prepared by National Data & Surveying Services

ID: 20-010012-001 Day:
City: Brea Date:

AM 0 0 0 0 AM

NOON 0 0 0 0 NOON

PM 40 0 0 0 PM

AM NOON PM PM NOON AM

0 1 0 0 0 33 0 0

3 1778 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 TEV 0 0 3603 0 0 0 0

0 0 1709 3 PHF 0.99

0 0 13 0 0 0 0 1
AM NOON PM PM NOON AM

PM 0 0 0 30 PM

NOON 0 0 0 0 NOON

AM 0 0 0 0 AM

Im
perialH

w
y

NONE

NONE

0 0 1818

S Orange Ave

0

0

S Orange Ave

SOUTHBOUND

04:00 PM - 06:00 PM

NORTHBOUND

1739

0

PE
A

K
H

O
U

R
S

Total Vehicles (AM)

NONE

04:45 PM - 05:45 PM

0

33

0

2-Way Stop(NB/SB)

Im
pe

ria
lH

w
y

EA
ST

B
O

U
N

D

Peak Hour Turning Movement Count

13

Total Vehicles (PM) Total Vehicles (PM)

S Orange Ave & Imperial Hwy

Thursday
09/17/2020

CONTROL

W
ESTB

O
U

N
D

NONE

Total Vehicles (NOON)

Pedestrians (Crosswalks)

Total Vehicles (NOON)

0

C
O

U
N

T
PER

IO
D

S

Total Vehicles (AM)

NOONAM PM

0

0

0

0 00 0 00

00000

0
0

0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

PM

AM
AM
NOON
PM

PM
NOON

AM
AM

NOON
PM

NOON

`

N
O

O
N

PM AM N
O

O
N

AM PM

N
O

O
N

AM PMN
O

O
N

PM AM

ATTACHMENT K



National Data & Surveying Services

Intersection Turning Movement CountLocation: S Flower Ave & Imperial Hwy
City: Brea Project ID: 20-010012-002

Control: 2-Way Stop(NB/SB) Date:

NS/EW Streets:

0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 3 0 0 0 3 0 0
NL NT NR NU SL ST SR SU EL ET ER EU WL WT WR WU TOTAL

4:00 PM 1 0 0 0 6 0 11 0 18 390 9 1 0 441 10 0 887
4:15 PM 0 0 1 0 2 0 13 0 10 427 2 1 0 416 4 0 876
4:30 PM 0 0 2 0 4 0 14 0 9 466 2 3 0 378 4 0 882
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 10 382 2 2 0 479 3 0 883
5:00 PM 0 0 2 0 5 0 7 0 8 449 4 2 0 423 2 0 902
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 2 0 17 0 14 442 1 0 0 438 5 0 919
5:30 PM 0 0 3 0 3 0 6 0 8 407 4 1 0 453 6 0 891
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 6 385 1 0 0 383 3 0 784

NL NT NR NU SL ST SR SU EL ET ER EU WL WT WR WU TOTAL
TOTAL VOLUMES : 1 0 8 0 22 0 79 0 83 3348 25 10 0 3411 37 0 7024
APPROACH %'s : 11.11% 0.00% 88.89% 0.00% 21.78% 0.00% 78.22% 0.00% 2.39% 96.60% 0.72% 0.29% 0.00% 98.93% 1.07% 0.00%

PEAK HR : 04:45 PM 292 289 296 05:15 PM TOTAL
PEAK HR VOL : 0 0 5 0 10 0 35 0 40 1680 11 5 0 1793 16 0 3595

PEAK HR FACTOR : 0.000 0.000 0.417 0.000 0.500 0.000 0.515 0.000 0.714 0.935 0.688 0.625 0.000 0.936 0.667 0.000

  EASTBOUND

9/17/2020

Imperial HwyImperial HwyS Flower Ave S Flower Ave

PM
  NORTHBOUND

Total

0.9780.937

  WESTBOUND

0.9380.417 0.592

04:45 PM - 05:45 PM

  SOUTHBOUND

ATTACHMENT K



Prepared by National Data & Surveying Services

ID: 20-010012-002 Day:
City: Brea Date:

AM 0 0 0 0 AM

NOON 0 0 0 0 NOON

PM 35 0 10 0 PM

AM NOON PM PM NOON AM

1 0 1 0 0 16 0 0

3 1793 0 0

0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 40 1 TEV 0 0 3595 0 0 0 0

0 0 1680 3 PHF 0.98

0 0 11 0 0 0 0 1
AM NOON PM PM NOON AM

PM 0 0 0 5 PM

NOON 0 0 0 0 NOON

AM 0 0 0 0 AM

Im
perialH

w
y

NONE

NONE

0 0 1833

S Flower Ave

0

0

S Flower Ave

SOUTHBOUND

04:00 PM - 06:00 PM

NORTHBOUND

1695

0

PE
A

K
H

O
U

R
S

Total Vehicles (AM)

NONE

04:45 PM - 05:45 PM

0

56

0

2-Way Stop(NB/SB)

Im
pe

ria
lH

w
y

EA
ST

B
O

U
N

D

Peak Hour Turning Movement Count

11

Total Vehicles (PM) Total Vehicles (PM)

S Flower Ave & Imperial Hwy

Thursday
09/17/2020

CONTROL

W
ESTB

O
U

N
D

NONE

Total Vehicles (NOON)

Pedestrians (Crosswalks)

Total Vehicles (NOON)

0

C
O

U
N

T
PER

IO
D

S

Total Vehicles (AM)

NOONAM PM

0

0

0

0 00 0 00

00000

0
0

0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

PM

AM
AM
NOON
PM

PM
NOON

AM
AM

NOON
PM

NOON

`

N
O

O
N

PM AM N
O

O
N

AM PM

N
O

O
N

AM PMN
O

O
N

PM AM

ATTACHMENT K



National Data & Surveying Services

Intersection Turning Movement CountLocation: S Orange Ave & E Birch St/W Birch St
City: Brea Project ID: 20-010012-003

Control: 2-Way Stop(NB/SB) Date:

NS/EW Streets:

0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2 1 0 1 2 0 0
NL NT NR NU SL ST SR SU EL ET ER EU WL WT WR WU TOTAL

4:00 PM 2 0 5 0 0 1 6 0 2 139 3 0 1 163 6 0 328
4:15 PM 1 1 6 0 0 0 5 0 0 142 7 0 2 157 1 0 322
4:30 PM 1 0 3 0 0 0 3 0 1 139 4 0 7 145 3 0 306
4:45 PM 2 1 7 0 0 0 3 0 2 146 5 0 6 156 0 0 328
5:00 PM 5 0 6 0 0 0 7 0 0 170 4 0 6 186 6 0 390
5:15 PM 1 0 5 0 0 0 4 0 2 151 10 0 4 192 3 0 372
5:30 PM 2 0 6 1 0 1 5 0 2 153 14 0 3 148 10 0 345
5:45 PM 5 1 4 0 0 0 2 0 0 144 7 0 2 131 3 0 299

NL NT NR NU SL ST SR SU EL ET ER EU WL WT WR WU TOTAL
TOTAL VOLUMES : 19 3 42 1 0 2 35 0 9 1184 54 0 31 1278 32 0 2690
APPROACH %'s : 29.23% 4.62% 64.62% 1.54% 0.00% 5.41% 94.59% 0.00% 0.72% 94.95% 4.33% 0.00% 2.31% 95.30% 2.39% 0.00%

PEAK HR : 04:45 PM 292 289 296 05:00 PM TOTAL
PEAK HR VOL : 10 1 24 1 0 1 19 0 6 620 33 0 19 682 19 0 1435

PEAK HR FACTOR : 0.500 0.250 0.857 0.250 0.000 0.250 0.679 0.000 0.750 0.912 0.589 0.000 0.792 0.888 0.475 0.000

  EASTBOUND

9/17/2020

E Birch St/W Birch StE Birch St/W Birch StS Orange Ave S Orange Ave

PM
  NORTHBOUND

Total

0.9200.947

  WESTBOUND

0.9050.818 0.714

04:45 PM - 05:45 PM

  SOUTHBOUND

ATTACHMENT K



Prepared by National Data & Surveying Services

ID: 20-010012-003 Day:
City: Brea Date:

AM 0 0 0 0 AM

NOON 0 0 0 0 NOON

PM 19 1 0 0 PM

AM NOON PM PM NOON AM

1 0 0 0 0 19 0 0

2 682 0 0

0 0 0 0 1 19 0 0

0 0 6 0 TEV 0 0 1435 0 0 0 0

0 0 620 2 PHF 0.92

0 0 33 1 0 0 1 0
AM NOON PM PM NOON AM

PM 1 10 1 24 PM

NOON 0 0 0 0 NOON

AM 0 0 0 0 AM

E
B

irch
St/W

B
irch

St

NONE

NONE

0 0 711

S Orange Ave

0

0

S Orange Ave

SOUTHBOUND

04:00 PM - 06:00 PM

NORTHBOUND

644

0

PE
A

K
H

O
U

R
S

Total Vehicles (AM)

NONE

04:45 PM - 05:45 PM

0

26

0

2-Way Stop(NB/SB)

E
B

irc
h

St
/W

B
irc

h
St

EA
ST

B
O

U
N

D

Peak Hour Turning Movement Count

54

Total Vehicles (PM) Total Vehicles (PM)

S Orange Ave & E Birch St/W Birch St

Thursday
09/17/2020

CONTROL

W
ESTB

O
U

N
D

NONE

Total Vehicles (NOON)

Pedestrians (Crosswalks)

Total Vehicles (NOON)

0

C
O

U
N

T
PER

IO
D

S

Total Vehicles (AM)

NOONAM PM

0

0

0

0 00 0 00

00000

0
0

0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

PM

AM
AM
NOON
PM

PM
NOON

AM
AM

NOON
PM

NOON

`

N
O

O
N

PM AM N
O

O
N

AM PM

N
O

O
N

AM PMN
O

O
N

PM AM

ATTACHMENT K



National Data & Surveying Services

Intersection Turning Movement CountLocation: S Flower Ave & E Birch St/W Birch St
City: Brea Project ID: 20-010012-004

Control: Signalized Date:

NS/EW Streets:

0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2 0 0 1 2 0 0
NL NT NR NU SL ST SR SU EL ET ER EU WL WT WR WU TOTAL

4:00 PM 6 1 15 0 4 1 1 0 2 144 1 0 7 172 2 0 356
4:15 PM 1 1 13 0 4 1 0 0 4 143 0 0 15 155 7 0 344
4:30 PM 2 4 9 0 1 1 2 0 2 141 1 0 13 146 3 0 325
4:45 PM 2 3 8 0 3 0 2 0 2 147 2 0 5 157 4 0 335
5:00 PM 3 0 8 0 2 1 3 0 4 166 3 1 7 192 4 0 394
5:15 PM 1 5 14 0 10 1 1 0 3 152 3 0 11 194 4 0 399
5:30 PM 3 1 12 0 2 1 4 0 5 146 1 3 13 156 3 0 350
5:45 PM 2 3 8 0 2 0 3 0 10 144 0 1 7 137 2 0 319

NL NT NR NU SL ST SR SU EL ET ER EU WL WT WR WU TOTAL
TOTAL VOLUMES : 20 18 87 0 28 6 16 0 32 1183 11 5 78 1309 29 0 2822
APPROACH %'s : 16.00% 14.40% 69.60% 0.00% 56.00% 12.00% 32.00% 0.00% 2.60% 96.10% 0.89% 0.41% 5.51% 92.44% 2.05% 0.00%

PEAK HR : 04:45 PM 292 289 296 05:15 PM TOTAL
PEAK HR VOL : 9 9 42 0 17 3 10 0 14 611 9 4 36 699 15 0 1478

PEAK HR FACTOR : 0.750 0.450 0.750 0.000 0.425 0.750 0.625 0.000 0.700 0.920 0.750 0.333 0.692 0.901 0.938 0.000

  EASTBOUND

9/17/2020

E Birch St/W Birch StE Birch St/W Birch StS Flower Ave S Flower Ave

PM
  NORTHBOUND

Total

0.9260.917

  WESTBOUND

0.8970.750 0.625

04:45 PM - 05:45 PM

  SOUTHBOUND

ATTACHMENT K



Prepared by National Data & Surveying Services

ID: 20-010012-004 Day:
City: Brea Date:

AM 0 0 0 0 AM

NOON 0 0 0 0 NOON

PM 10 3 17 0 PM

AM NOON PM PM NOON AM

0 1 0 0 0 15 0 0

2 699 0 0

0 0 4 0 1 36 0 0

0 0 14 1 TEV 0 0 1478 0 0 0 0

0 0 611 2 PHF 0.93

0 0 9 0 0 0 1 0
AM NOON PM PM NOON AM

PM 0 9 9 42 PM

NOON 0 0 0 0 NOON

AM 0 0 0 0 AM

E
B

irch
St/W

B
irch

St

NONE

NONE

0 0 722

S Flower Ave

0

0

S Flower Ave

SOUTHBOUND

04:00 PM - 06:00 PM

NORTHBOUND

670

0

PE
A

K
H

O
U

R
S

Total Vehicles (AM)

NONE

04:45 PM - 05:45 PM

0

38

0

Signalized

E
B

irc
h

St
/W

B
irc

h
St

EA
ST

B
O

U
N

D

Peak Hour Turning Movement Count

48

Total Vehicles (PM) Total Vehicles (PM)

S Flower Ave & E Birch St/W Birch St

Thursday
09/17/2020

CONTROL

W
ESTB

O
U

N
D

NONE

Total Vehicles (NOON)

Pedestrians (Crosswalks)

Total Vehicles (NOON)

0

C
O

U
N

T
PER

IO
D

S

Total Vehicles (AM)

NOONAM PM

0

0

0

0 00 0 00

00000

0
0

0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

PM

AM
AM
NOON
PM

PM
NOON

AM
AM

NOON
PM

NOON

`

N
O

O
N

PM AM N
O

O
N

AM PM

N
O

O
N

AM PMN
O

O
N

PM AM

ATTACHMENT K



Day: City: Brea
Date: Project #: CA20_10013_001

NB SB EB WB
69 95 0 0

AM Period NB SB EB  WB NB SB EB  WB
00:00 0 0 0 1 2 3
00:15 0 1 1 1 1 2
00:30 0 0 0 1 2 3
00:45 0 0 1 0 1 #VALUE! 4 7 2 7 6 14 9
01:00 0 0 0 0 0 0
01:15 1 0 1 0 1 1
01:30 0 0 0 2 1 3
01:45 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 2 1 3 1 5 2
02:00 0 0 0 2 0 2
02:15 0 0 0 1 1 2
02:30 0 0 0 0 1 1
02:45 0 0 0 #VALUE! 1 4 2 4 3 8 5
03:00 0 0 0 2 3 5
03:15 0 0 0 0 3 3
03:30 0 0 0 0 1 1
03:45 0 0 0 #VALUE! 3 5 6 13 9 18 6
04:00 0 0 0 0 7 7
04:15 1 1 2 0 4 4
04:30 0 0 0 2 2 4
04:45 0 1 0 1 0 2 1 1 3 2 15 3 18 4
05:00 0 1 1 2 4 6
05:15 0 0 0 0 1 1
05:30 1 1 2 3 5 8
05:45 0 1 1 3 1 4 1 0 5 1 11 1 16 6
06:00 0 0 0 1 3 4
06:15 1 1 2 0 0 0
06:30 1 1 2 0 1 1
06:45 0 2 0 2 0 4 2 1 2 1 5 2 7 2
07:00 0 3 3 5 1 6
07:15 1 0 1 0 0 0
07:30 0 2 2 0 2 2
07:45 0 1 0 5 0 6 1 2 7 0 3 2 10 9
08:00 1 0 1 1 0 1
08:15 1 1 2 0 2 2
08:30 2 2 4 1 0 1
08:45 1 5 0 3 1 8 6 1 3 0 2 1 5 4
09:00 1 2 3 0 1 1
09:15 1 0 1 0 0 0
09:30 2 1 3 1 1 2
09:45 2 6 1 4 3 10 7 1 2 2 4 3 6 2
10:00 1 0 1 0 2 2
10:15 1 0 1 1 0 1
10:30 0 2 2 1 0 1
10:45 1 3 1 3 2 6 4 2 4 0 2 2 6 5
11:00 2 0 2 0 0 0
11:15 0 0 0 0 0 0
11:30 2 2 4 0 0 0
11:45 1 5 2 4 3 9 6 0 0 0 #VALUE!

TOTALS 25 26 51 44 69 113

SPLIT % 49.0% 51.0% 31.1% 38.9% 61.1% 68.9%

NB SB EB WB
69 95 0 0

AM Peak Hour 09:00 11:30 11:30 12:00 15:45 15:45
AM Pk Volume 6 7 12 7 19 24

Pk Hr Factor 0.750 0.875 0.750 0.438 0.679 0.667
7 - 9 Volume 6 8 0 0 14 8 26 0 0 34

7 - 9 Peak Hour 08:00 07:00 08:00 16:45 16:00 16:00
7 - 9 Pk Volume 5 5 0 0 8 6 15 0 0 18

Pk Hr Factor 0.625 0.417 0.000 0.000 0.500 0.500 0.536 0.000 0.000 0.643

VOLUME
Prepared by National Data & Surveying Services

13:15
13:30
13:45

12:00
12:15
12:30
12:45
13:00

16:15
16:30

14:00
14:15
14:30

9/17/2020

14:45
15:00

DAILY TOTALS

PM Period

16:45
17:00
17:15

Thursday

17:30
17:45

15:15
15:30
15:45
16:00

18:00
18:15
18:30
18:45
19:00
19:15

S Flower Ave S/O Imperial Hwy

21:30
21:45
22:00

Total
164

19:30
19:45
20:00
20:15

DAILY TOTALS

22:15
22:30
22:45
23:00
23:15
23:30

TOTAL

23:45
TOTALS

Total
164

DAILY TOTALS

21:00
21:15

20:30

4 - 6 Peak Hour
4 - 6 Pk

SPLIT %

TOTAL

Pk Hr Factor

PM Peak Hour
PM Pk Volume

Pk Hr Factor
4 - 6 Volume

20:45

ATTACHMENT K



Day: City: Brea
Date: Project #: CA20_10013_002

NB SB EB WB
0 0 23,302 23,179

AM Period NB SB EB  WB NB SB EB  WB
00:00 40 34 74 410 390 800
00:15 63 43 106 417 359 776
00:30 39 36 75 399 348 747
00:45 49 191 35 148 84 339 237 400 1626 418 1515 818 3141 2016
01:00 30 32 62 351 431 782
01:15 25 31 56 373 487 860
01:30 26 24 50 342 502 844
01:45 27 108 17 104 44 212 134 412 1478 501 1921 913 3399 1833
02:00 25 22 47 369 364 733
02:15 29 15 44 366 403 769
02:30 29 22 51 409 361 770
02:45 35 118 35 94 70 212 146 491 1635 426 1554 917 3189 2027
03:00 29 15 44 378 375 753
03:15 30 38 68 426 411 837
03:30 44 52 96 447 418 865
03:45 45 148 71 176 116 324 184 469 1720 382 1586 851 3306 2133
04:00 44 63 107 418 454 872
04:15 55 56 111 440 430 870
04:30 100 68 168 480 395 875
04:45 112 311 111 298 223 609 386 396 1734 486 1765 882 3499 2150
05:00 83 76 159 463 432 895
05:15 137 92 229 457 455 912
05:30 160 115 275 420 460 880
05:45 176 556 197 480 373 1036 689 392 1732 389 1736 781 3468 2148
06:00 165 145 310 386 417 803
06:15 212 148 360 379 403 782
06:30 241 187 428 346 411 757
06:45 268 886 230 710 498 1596 1099 330 1441 362 1593 692 3034 1787
07:00 270 274 544 309 349 658
07:15 280 290 570 286 338 624
07:30 356 328 684 288 297 585
07:45 355 1261 360 1252 715 2513 1564 268 1151 255 1239 523 2390 1427
08:00 325 368 693 259 228 487
08:15 322 289 611 214 257 471
08:30 303 337 640 191 203 394
08:45 279 1229 340 1334 619 2563 1524 158 822 193 881 351 1703 1019
09:00 265 296 561 191 160 351
09:15 253 283 536 159 157 316
09:30 295 271 566 154 138 292
09:45 302 1115 305 1155 607 2270 1383 113 617 135 590 248 1207 765
10:00 294 270 564 113 109 222
10:15 335 286 621 104 108 212
10:30 326 296 622 89 89 178
10:45 349 1304 297 1149 646 2453 1617 73 379 65 371 138 750 470
11:00 355 302 657 86 68 154
11:15 332 332 664 56 53 109
11:30 412 328 740 57 54 111
11:45 386 1485 348 1310 734 2795 1841 56 255 43 218 99 473 316

TOTALS 8712 8210 16922 14590 14969 29559

SPLIT % 51.5% 48.5% 36.4% 49.4% 50.6% 63.6%

NB SB EB WB
0 0 23,302 23,179

AM Peak Hour 11:30 11:45 11:45 15:45 13:00 16:45
AM Pk Volume 1625 1445 3057 1807 1921 3569

Pk Hr Factor 0.974 0.926 0.955 0.941 0.957 0.978
7 - 9 Volume 0 0 2490 2586 5076 0 0 3466 3501 6967

7 - 9 Peak Hour 07:30 07:45 07:30 16:30 16:45 16:45
7 - 9 Pk Volume 0 0 1358 1354 2703 0 0 1796 1833 3569

Pk Hr Factor 0.000 0.000 0.954 0.920 0.945 0.000 0.000 0.935 0.943 0.978

4 - 6 Peak Hour
4 - 6 Pk

SPLIT %

TOTAL

Pk Hr Factor

PM Peak Hour
PM Pk Volume

Pk Hr Factor
4 - 6 Volume

20:45

TOTAL

23:45
TOTALS

Total
46,481

DAILY TOTALS

21:00
21:15

20:30

DAILY TOTALS

22:15
22:30
22:45
23:00
23:15
23:30

Imperial Hwy W/O S Flower Ave

21:30
21:45
22:00

Total
46,481

19:30
19:45
20:00
20:15

18:00
18:15
18:30
18:45
19:00
19:15

16:45
17:00
17:15

Thursday

17:30
17:45

15:15
15:30
15:45
16:00
16:15
16:30

14:00
14:15
14:30

9/17/2020

14:45
15:00

DAILY TOTALS

PM Period

VOLUME
Prepared by National Data & Surveying Services

13:15
13:30
13:45

12:00
12:15
12:30
12:45
13:00

ATTACHMENT K



Day: City: Brea
Date: Project #: CA20_10013_003

NB SB EB WB
783 708 0 0

AM Period NB SB EB  WB NB SB EB  WB
00:00 2 0 2 14 7 21
00:15 0 1 1 21 7 28
00:30 0 1 1 20 11 31
00:45 0 2 1 3 1 5 4 16 71 14 39 30 110 48
01:00 0 2 2 17 17 34
01:15 1 1 2 17 16 33
01:30 1 1 2 17 11 28
01:45 1 3 0 4 1 7 5 17 68 15 59 32 127 73
02:00 1 2 3 13 19 32
02:15 1 1 2 14 7 21
02:30 1 0 1 13 12 25
02:45 1 4 0 3 1 7 4 17 57 17 55 34 112 68
03:00 1 1 2 13 15 28
03:15 3 0 3 10 7 17
03:30 0 0 0 15 10 25
03:45 2 6 0 1 2 7 1 15 53 14 46 29 99 57
04:00 0 0 0 26 15 41
04:15 2 1 3 15 17 32
04:30 3 2 5 12 17 29
04:45 3 8 0 3 3 11 4 13 66 7 56 20 122 69
05:00 0 1 1 11 11 22
05:15 3 2 5 20 19 39
05:30 3 1 4 14 9 23
05:45 6 12 4 8 10 20 10 9 54 7 46 16 100 57
06:00 6 6 12 15 7 22
06:15 7 4 11 18 11 29
06:30 4 6 10 9 14 23
06:45 8 25 6 22 14 47 27 10 52 8 40 18 92 50
07:00 6 7 13 14 10 24
07:15 2 7 9 12 10 22
07:30 11 7 18 10 8 18
07:45 12 31 12 33 24 64 41 9 45 4 32 13 77 40
08:00 9 7 16 11 14 25
08:15 9 12 21 5 11 16
08:30 12 14 26 6 13 19
08:45 11 41 12 45 23 86 56 4 26 10 48 14 74 60
09:00 12 13 25 2 8 10
09:15 7 3 10 2 3 5
09:30 9 9 18 10 4 14
09:45 11 39 11 36 22 75 45 8 22 3 18 11 40 22
10:00 10 16 26 1 5 6
10:15 14 8 22 3 5 8
10:30 4 10 14 3 4 7
10:45 10 38 3 37 13 75 46 3 10 0 14 3 24 17
11:00 10 12 22 3 2 5
11:15 12 9 21 3 1 4
11:30 8 16 24 2 4 6
11:45 11 41 13 50 24 91 62 1 9 3 10 4 19 12

TOTALS 250 245 495 533 463 996

SPLIT % 50.5% 49.5% 33.2% 53.5% 46.5% 66.8%

NB SB EB WB
783 708 0 0

AM Peak Hour 11:45 08:15 11:45 12:15 15:45 15:45
AM Pk Volume 66 51 104 74 63 131

Pk Hr Factor 0.786 0.911 0.839 0.881 0.926 0.799
7 - 9 Volume 72 78 0 0 150 120 102 0 0 222

7 - 9 Peak Hour 07:45 07:45 07:45 16:00 16:00 16:00
7 - 9 Pk Volume 42 45 0 0 87 66 56 0 0 122

Pk Hr Factor 0.875 0.804 0.000 0.000 0.837 0.635 0.824 0.000 0.000 0.744

4 - 6 Peak Hour
4 - 6 Pk

SPLIT %

TOTAL

Pk Hr Factor

PM Peak Hour
PM Pk Volume

Pk Hr Factor
4 - 6 Volume

20:45

TOTAL

23:45
TOTALS

Total
1,491

DAILY TOTALS

21:00
21:15

20:30

DAILY TOTALS

22:15
22:30
22:45
23:00
23:15
23:30

S Flower Ave N/O Imperial Hwy

21:30
21:45
22:00

Total
1,491

19:30
19:45
20:00
20:15

18:00
18:15
18:30
18:45
19:00
19:15

16:45
17:00
17:15

Thursday

17:30
17:45

15:15
15:30
15:45
16:00
16:15
16:30

14:00
14:15
14:30

9/17/2020

14:45
15:00

DAILY TOTALS

PM Period

VOLUME
Prepared by National Data & Surveying Services

13:15
13:30
13:45

12:00
12:15
12:30
12:45
13:00

ATTACHMENT K



Day: City: Brea
Date: Project #: CA20_10013_004

NB SB EB WB
0 0 22,823 22,805

AM Period NB SB EB  WB NB SB EB  WB
00:00 38 34 72 402 388 790
00:15 64 45 109 408 348 756
00:30 37 35 72 391 338 729
00:45 48 187 36 150 84 337 186 384 1585 406 1480 790 3065 1835
01:00 27 32 59 340 429 769
01:15 23 29 52 362 475 837
01:30 25 24 49 331 485 816
01:45 26 101 17 102 43 203 126 407 1440 498 1887 905 3327 2340
02:00 25 23 48 359 366 725
02:15 28 17 45 353 390 743
02:30 30 22 52 402 354 756
02:45 34 117 34 96 68 213 119 479 1593 421 1531 900 3124 1898
03:00 28 15 43 373 372 745
03:15 29 36 65 414 410 824
03:30 43 52 95 439 409 848
03:45 43 143 69 172 112 315 213 455 1681 377 1568 832 3249 1944
04:00 43 63 106 396 451 847
04:15 56 58 114 430 420 850
04:30 99 67 166 472 382 854
04:45 106 304 109 297 215 601 368 382 1680 482 1735 864 3415 2151
05:00 84 76 160 456 425 881
05:15 136 91 227 444 443 887
05:30 158 116 274 413 459 872
05:45 173 551 195 478 368 1029 593 385 1698 386 1713 771 3411 2124
06:00 162 141 303 372 412 784
06:15 211 148 359 370 404 774
06:30 236 181 417 339 396 735
06:45 260 869 229 699 489 1568 867 322 1403 356 1568 678 2971 1944
07:00 269 266 535 302 345 647
07:15 274 283 557 275 345 620
07:30 353 323 676 285 289 574
07:45 351 1247 357 1229 708 2476 1524 269 1131 243 1222 512 2353 1515
08:00 320 363 683 255 219 474
08:15 319 281 600 210 249 459
08:30 296 332 628 184 193 377
08:45 272 1207 334 1310 606 2517 1624 157 806 192 853 349 1659 1058
09:00 261 293 554 188 160 348
09:15 251 273 524 150 152 302
09:30 292 272 564 149 139 288
09:45 297 1101 294 1132 591 2233 1404 115 602 133 584 248 1186 724
10:00 285 261 546 111 109 220
10:15 327 280 607 104 109 213
10:30 320 292 612 88 92 180
10:45 343 1275 294 1127 637 2402 1397 74 377 65 375 139 752 465
11:00 349 302 651 86 68 154
11:15 331 322 653 58 53 111
11:30 404 315 719 54 52 106
11:45 385 1469 342 1281 727 2750 1588 58 256 43 216 101 472 268

TOTALS 8571 8073 16644 14252 14732 28984

SPLIT % 51.5% 48.5% 36.5% 49.2% 50.8% 63.5%

NB SB EB WB
0 0 22,823 22,805

AM Peak Hour 11:30 11:45 11:45 16:30 13:00 16:45
AM Pk Volume 1599 1416 3002 1754 1887 3504

Pk Hr Factor 0.980 0.912 0.950 0.929 0.947 0.988
7 - 9 Volume 0 0 2454 2539 4993 0 0 3378 3448 6826

7 - 9 Peak Hour 07:30 07:45 07:30 16:30 16:45 16:45
7 - 9 Pk Volume 0 0 1343 1333 2667 0 0 1754 1809 3504

Pk Hr Factor 0.000 0.000 0.951 0.918 0.942 0.000 0.000 0.929 0.938 0.988

4 - 6 Peak Hour
4 - 6 Pk

SPLIT %

TOTAL

Pk Hr Factor

PM Peak Hour
PM Pk Volume

Pk Hr Factor
4 - 6 Volume

20:45

TOTAL

23:45
TOTALS

Total
45,628

DAILY TOTALS

21:00
21:15

20:30

DAILY TOTALS

22:15
22:30
22:45
23:00
23:15
23:30

Imperial Hwy E/O S Flower Ave

21:30
21:45
22:00

Total
45,628

19:30
19:45
20:00
20:15

18:00
18:15
18:30
18:45
19:00
19:15

16:45
17:00
17:15

Thursday

17:30
17:45

15:15
15:30
15:45
16:00
16:15
16:30

14:00
14:15
14:30

9/17/2020

14:45
15:00

DAILY TOTALS

PM Period

VOLUME
Prepared by National Data & Surveying Services

13:15
13:30
13:45

12:00
12:15
12:30
12:45
13:00

ATTACHMENT K



APPENDIX C

INTERSECTION ANALYSIS WORKSHEETS

ATTACHMENT K



Intersection Analysis Summary

12/2/2020Report File: \...\1 EX PM.pdf

Scenario 1 EX PMVistro File: \...\Brea RC.vistro

RC Brea

V/C, Delay, LOS: For two-way stop, these values are taken from the movement with the worst (highest) delay value. For
all other control types, they are taken for the whole intersection.

A-0.364WB ThruICU 1SignalizedFlower Avenue at Birch Street4

F78.00.018NB Thru
HCM 6th
Edition

Two-way stop
Orange Avenue at Birch

Street
3

F10,000.016.117SB Left
HCM 6th
Edition

Two-way stop
Flower Avenue at Imperial

Highway
2

E47.30.403SB Right
HCM 6th
Edition

Two-way stop
Orange Avenue at Imperial

Highway
1

LOSDelay (s/veh)V/CWorst MvmtMethodControl TypeIntersection NameID

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 1: 1 EX PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



0.403Volume to Capacity (v/c):

ELevel Of Service:

47.3Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

Two-way stopControl Type:

Intersection 1: Orange Avenue at Imperial Highway

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00Pocket Length [ft]

000000000000No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

Imperial HighwayImperial HwyOrange AveOrange AveName

Intersection Setup

0000Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

4624710182374056004200Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

1161805594014001000Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

0.98600.98601.00000.98600.98601.00000.98601.00001.00000.98601.00001.0000Peak Hour Factor

4524360182341055004100Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

4524360182341055004100Base Volume Input [veh/h]

Imperial HighwayImperial HwyOrange AveOrange AveName

Volumes

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 1: 1 EX PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



EIntersection LOS

0.84d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh]

AAEEApproach LOS

0.000.0047.3537.13d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh]

0.000.000.000.000.000.0043.340.000.0026.320.000.0095th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

0.000.000.000.000.000.001.730.000.001.050.000.0095th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

AAAAEEMovement LOS

0.000.000.000.000.000.0047.350.000.0037.130.000.00d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh]

0.000.020.000.000.020.000.400.000.000.270.000.00V/C, Movement V/C Ratio

Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

0000Number of Storage Spaces in Median

NoNoTwo-Stage Gap Acceptance

0000Storage Area [veh]

Flared Lane

FreeFreeStopStopPriority Scheme

Intersection Settings

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 1: 1 EX PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



16.117Volume to Capacity (v/c):

FLevel Of Service:

10,000.0Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

Two-way stopControl Type:

Intersection 2: Flower Avenue at Imperial Highway

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00Pocket Length [ft]

000001100000No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

Imperial HighwayImperial HighwayFlower AveFlower AveName

Intersection Setup

0000Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

22251101523546349014700Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

662804588161204200Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

0.97800.97801.00000.97800.97800.97800.97801.00000.97800.97801.00001.0000Peak Hour Factor

22245601523026248014700Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

22245601523026248014700Base Volume Input [veh/h]

Imperial HighwayImperial HighwayFlower AveFlower AveName

Volumes

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 1: 1 EX PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



FIntersection LOS

30.78d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh]

AAFDApproach LOS

0.005.172257.3029.16d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh]

0.000.000.000.000.00116.1036.730.0081.363.500.000.0095th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

0.000.000.000.000.004.641.470.003.250.140.000.0095th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

AAAAFEFDMovement LOS

0.000.000.000.000.00199.3945.100.0010000.029.160.000.00d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh]

0.000.030.000.000.020.950.360.0016.120.040.000.00V/C, Movement V/C Ratio

Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

0000Number of Storage Spaces in Median

NoNoTwo-Stage Gap Acceptance

0000Storage Area [veh]

Flared Lane

FreeFreeStopStopPriority Scheme

Intersection Settings

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 1: 1 EX PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



0.018Volume to Capacity (v/c):

FLevel Of Service:

78.0Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

Two-way stopControl Type:

Intersection 3: Orange Avenue at Birch Street

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00Pocket Length [ft]

001100000000No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

Birch StBirch StOrange AveOrange AveName

Intersection Setup

0000Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

28101528499230280036116Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

72547122310700904Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

0.92000.92000.92000.92000.92001.00000.92001.00001.00000.92000.92000.9200Peak Hour Factor

2693426458490260033115Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

2693426458490260033115Base Volume Input [veh/h]

Birch StBirch StOrange AveOrange AveName

Volumes

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 1: 1 EX PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



FIntersection LOS

1.10d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh]

AABDApproach LOS

0.270.0012.6332.12d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh]

0.000.003.100.000.000.004.440.000.0028.2128.2128.2195th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

0.000.000.120.000.000.000.180.000.001.131.131.1395th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

AABAABCFFMovement LOS

0.000.0010.320.000.000.0012.630.000.0019.2378.0358.25d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh]

0.000.010.040.000.010.000.060.000.000.070.020.20V/C, Movement V/C Ratio

Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

0000Number of Storage Spaces in Median

NoNoTwo-Stage Gap Acceptance

0000Storage Area [veh]

NoFlared Lane

FreeFreeStopStopPriority Scheme

Intersection Settings

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 1: 1 EX PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



0.364Volume to Capacity (v/c):

ALevel Of Service:

-Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

ICU 1Analysis Method:

SignalizedControl Type:

Intersection 4: Flower Avenue at Birch Street

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00Pocket Length [ft]

001001000000No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

Birch StBirch StFlower AveFlower AveName

Intersection Setup

0000Bicycle Volume [bicycles/h]

0000Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

2195849128372514423581212Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

524012320964161533Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Peak Hour Factor

2195849128372514423581212Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

2195849128372514423581212Base Volume Input [veh/h]

Birch StBirch StFlower AveFlower AveName

Volumes

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 1: 1 EX PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



0.364Intersection V/C

AIntersection LOS

0.290.290.030.250.250.010.020.020.010.050.050.01V/C, Movement V/C Ratio

Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

------------Lead / Lag

Auxiliary Signal Groups

060020040080Signal Group

PermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissControl Type

Phasing & Timing

0.00Lost time [s]

90Cycle Length [s]

Intersection Settings

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 1: 1 EX PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



Intersection Analysis Summary

12/3/2020Report File: \...\2 EX WP PM.pdf

Scenario 2 EX WP PMVistro File: \...\Brea RC.vistro

RC Brea

V/C, Delay, LOS: For two-way stop, these values are taken from the movement with the worst (highest) delay value. For
all other control types, they are taken for the whole intersection.

A9.50.026WB Left
HCM 6th
Edition

Two-way stop
Orange Avenue at Project

Driveway
102

B11.00.011EB Left
HCM 6th
Edition

Two-way stop
Flower Avenue at Project

Driveway
101

A-0.369WB ThruICU 1SignalizedFlower Avenue at Birch Street4

F87.10.018NB Thru
HCM 6th
Edition

Two-way stop
Orange Avenue at Birch

Street
3

F10,000.00.000SB Left
HCM 6th
Edition

Two-way stop
Flower Avenue at Imperial

Highway
2

F60.10.559SB Right
HCM 6th
Edition

Two-way stop
Orange Avenue at Imperial

Highway
1

LOSDelay (s/veh)V/CWorst MvmtMethodControl TypeIntersection NameID

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



0.559Volume to Capacity (v/c):

FLevel Of Service:

60.1Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

Two-way stopControl Type:

Intersection 1: Orange Avenue at Imperial Highway

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00Pocket Length [ft]

000000000000No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

Imperial HighwayImperial HwyOrange AveOrange AveName

Intersection Setup

0000Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

4624830182405077004200Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

1162105601019001000Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

0.98600.98601.00000.98600.98601.00000.98601.00001.00000.98601.00001.0000Peak Hour Factor

4524480182371076004100Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

000000900000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

012003001200000Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

4524360182341055004100Base Volume Input [veh/h]

Imperial HighwayImperial HwyOrange AveOrange AveName

Volumes

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



FIntersection LOS

1.23d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh]

AAFEApproach LOS

0.000.0060.0638.20d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh]

0.000.000.000.000.000.0069.580.000.0027.090.000.0095th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

0.000.000.000.000.000.002.780.000.001.080.000.0095th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

AAAAFEMovement LOS

0.000.000.000.000.000.0060.060.000.0038.200.000.00d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh]

0.000.020.000.000.020.000.560.000.000.280.000.00V/C, Movement V/C Ratio

Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

0000Number of Storage Spaces in Median

NoNoTwo-Stage Gap Acceptance

0000Storage Area [veh]

Flared Lane

FreeFreeStopStopPriority Scheme

Intersection Settings

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



0.000Volume to Capacity (v/c):

FLevel Of Service:

10,000.0Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

Two-way stopControl Type:

Intersection 2: Flower Avenue at Imperial Highway

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00Pocket Length [ft]

000001100000No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

Imperial HighwayImperial HighwayFlower AveFlower AveName

Intersection Setup

0000Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

512492015233511271039700Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

13623045842818010200Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

0.97800.97801.00000.97800.97800.97800.97801.00000.97800.97801.00001.0000Peak Hour Factor

502437015228411069038700Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

19-1900-18189017000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

90000301207000Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

22245601523026248014700Base Volume Input [veh/h]

Imperial HighwayImperial HighwayFlower AveFlower AveName

Volumes

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



FIntersection LOS

87.40d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh]

ACFDApproach LOS

0.0021.693582.3228.79d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh]

0.000.000.000.000.00249.6662.480.00174.313.440.000.0095th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

0.000.000.000.000.009.992.500.006.970.140.000.0095th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

AAAAFFFDMovement LOS

0.000.000.000.000.00476.8557.120.0010000.028.790.000.00d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh]

0.000.020.000.000.021.700.520.000.000.040.000.00V/C, Movement V/C Ratio

Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

0000Number of Storage Spaces in Median

NoNoTwo-Stage Gap Acceptance

0000Storage Area [veh]

Flared Lane

FreeFreeStopStopPriority Scheme

Intersection Settings

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



0.018Volume to Capacity (v/c):

FLevel Of Service:

87.1Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

Two-way stopControl Type:

Intersection 3: Orange Avenue at Birch Street

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00Pocket Length [ft]

001100000000No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

Birch StBirch StOrange AveOrange AveName

Intersection Setup

0000Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

28101528629230280036127Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

72547152310700907Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

0.92000.92000.92000.92000.92001.00000.92001.00001.00000.92000.92000.9200Peak Hour Factor

2693426578490260033125Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

00012000000010Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

2693426458490260033115Base Volume Input [veh/h]

Birch StBirch StOrange AveOrange AveName

Volumes

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



FIntersection LOS

1.66d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh]

AABEApproach LOS

0.270.0012.6345.69d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh]

0.000.003.130.000.000.004.440.000.0047.3747.3747.3795th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

0.000.000.130.000.000.000.180.000.001.891.891.8995th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

AABAABDFFMovement LOS

0.000.0010.380.000.000.0012.630.000.0028.3087.1367.35d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh]

0.000.010.040.000.010.000.060.000.000.070.020.34V/C, Movement V/C Ratio

Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

0000Number of Storage Spaces in Median

NoNoTwo-Stage Gap Acceptance

0000Storage Area [veh]

NoFlared Lane

FreeFreeStopStopPriority Scheme

Intersection Settings

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



0.369Volume to Capacity (v/c):

ALevel Of Service:

-Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

ICU 1Analysis Method:

SignalizedControl Type:

Intersection 4: Flower Avenue at Birch Street

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00Pocket Length [ft]

001001000000No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

Birch StBirch StFlower AveFlower AveName

Intersection Setup

0000Bicycle Volume [bicycles/h]

0000Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

2195858128372514423651212Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

524015320964161633Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Peak Hour Factor

2195858128372514423651212Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

009000000700Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

2195849128372514423581212Base Volume Input [veh/h]

Birch StBirch StFlower AveFlower AveName

Volumes

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



0.369Intersection V/C

AIntersection LOS

0.290.290.030.250.250.010.020.020.010.050.050.01V/C, Movement V/C Ratio

Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

------------Lead / Lag

Auxiliary Signal Groups

060020040080Signal Group

PermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissControl Type

Phasing & Timing

0.00Lost time [s]

90Cycle Length [s]

Intersection Settings

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



0.011Volume to Capacity (v/c):

BLevel Of Service:

11.0Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

Two-way stopControl Type:

Intersection 101: Flower Avenue at Project Driveway

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00Pocket Length [ft]

000000000000No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

Flower AveFlower AveName

Intersection Setup

0000Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

0004507965008476Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

0001102216002119Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Peak Hour Factor

0004507965008476Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

00026000000037Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

00019079000039Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

00000006500840Base Volume Input [veh/h]

Flower AveFlower AveName

Volumes

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



BIntersection LOS

3.65d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh]

BAAAApproach LOS

10.429.150.003.55d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh]

0.000.000.004.494.494.490.000.000.003.933.933.9395th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

0.000.000.000.180.180.180.000.000.000.160.160.1695th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

ABBABBAAAAAAMovement LOS

8.6911.2811.288.8611.4811.030.000.007.380.000.007.48d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh]

0.000.000.000.050.000.010.000.000.000.000.000.05V/C, Movement V/C Ratio

Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

0000Number of Storage Spaces in Median

NoNoTwo-Stage Gap Acceptance

0000Storage Area [veh]

NoNoFlared Lane

StopStopFreeFreePriority Scheme

Intersection Settings

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



0.026Volume to Capacity (v/c):

ALevel Of Service:

9.5Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

Two-way stopControl Type:

Intersection 102: Orange Avenue at Project Driveway

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00Pocket Length [ft]

000000000000No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

Orange AveOrange AveName

Intersection Setup

0000Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

10021000071120490Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

30500001830120Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Peak Hour Factor

10021000071120490Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

009000000000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

100120000012000Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

00000007100490Base Volume Input [veh/h]

Orange AveOrange AveName

Volumes

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



AIntersection LOS

2.30d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh]

AAAAApproach LOS

9.269.321.060.00d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh]

2.752.752.750.000.000.000.580.580.580.000.000.0095th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

0.110.110.110.000.000.000.020.020.020.000.000.0095th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

ABAAAAAAAAAAMovement LOS

8.6810.019.548.639.869.470.000.007.330.000.007.35d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh]

0.010.000.030.000.000.000.000.000.010.000.000.00V/C, Movement V/C Ratio

Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

0000Number of Storage Spaces in Median

NoNoTwo-Stage Gap Acceptance

0000Storage Area [veh]

NoNoFlared Lane

StopStopFreeFreePriority Scheme

Intersection Settings

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



Intersection Analysis Summary

12/2/2020Report File: \...\3 EX WP PM w Improvements.pdf

Scenario 2 EX WP PMVistro File: \...\Brea RC_w Improvements_LCS.vistro

RC Brea

V/C, Delay, LOS: For two-way stop, these values are taken from the movement with the worst (highest) delay value. For
all other control types, they are taken for the whole intersection.

A9.50.026WB Left
HCM 6th
Edition

Two-way stop
Orange Avenue at Project

Driveway
102

B11.10.031EB Left
HCM 6th
Edition

Two-way stop
Flower Avenue at Project

Driveway
101

A-0.376WB ThruICU 1SignalizedFlower Avenue at Birch Street4

F87.10.018NB Thru
HCM 6th
Edition

Two-way stop
Orange Avenue at Birch

Street
3

F476.81.703EB Left
HCM 6th
Edition

Two-way stop
Flower Avenue at Imperial

Highway
2

F61.50.567SB Right
HCM 6th
Edition

Two-way stop
Orange Avenue at Imperial

Highway
1

LOSDelay (s/veh)V/CWorst MvmtMethodControl TypeIntersection NameID

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



0.567Volume to Capacity (v/c):

FLevel Of Service:

61.5Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

Two-way stopControl Type:

Intersection 1: Orange Avenue at Imperial Highway

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00Pocket Length [ft]

000000000000No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

Imperial HighwayImperial HwyOrange AveOrange AveName

Intersection Setup

0000Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

4625000182408077004200Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

1162505602019001000Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

0.98600.98601.00000.98600.98601.00000.98601.00001.00000.98601.00001.0000Peak Hour Factor

4524650182374076004100Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

000000900000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

015003301200000Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

4524500182341055004100Base Volume Input [veh/h]

Imperial HighwayImperial HwyOrange AveOrange AveName

Volumes

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



FIntersection LOS

1.25d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh]

AAFEApproach LOS

0.000.0061.4838.31d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh]

0.000.000.000.000.000.0070.790.000.0027.170.000.0095th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

0.000.000.000.000.000.002.830.000.001.090.000.0095th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

AAAAFEMovement LOS

0.000.000.000.000.000.0061.480.000.0038.310.000.00d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh]

0.000.030.000.000.020.000.570.000.000.280.000.00V/C, Movement V/C Ratio

Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

0000Number of Storage Spaces in Median

NoNoTwo-Stage Gap Acceptance

0000Storage Area [veh]

Flared Lane

FreeFreeStopStopPriority Scheme

Intersection Settings

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



1.703Volume to Capacity (v/c):

FLevel Of Service:

476.8Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

Two-way stopControl Type:

Intersection 2: Flower Avenue at Imperial Highway

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00Pocket Length [ft]

000001000000No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

Imperial HighwayImperial HighwayFlower AveFlower AveName

Intersection Setup

0000Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

51249201523381129600700Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

1362304585282400200Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

0.97800.97801.00000.97800.97800.97800.97801.00000.97800.97801.00001.0000Peak Hour Factor

50243701522871109400700Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

19-1900-18181700000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

90003301500000Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

2224560152302626200700Base Volume Input [veh/h]

Imperial HighwayImperial HighwayFlower AveFlower AveName

Volumes

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



FIntersection LOS

11.96d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh]

ACFDApproach LOS

0.0021.6778.0828.85d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh]

0.000.000.000.000.00249.6699.770.000.003.450.000.0095th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

0.000.000.000.000.009.993.990.000.000.140.000.0095th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

AAAAFFDMovement LOS

0.000.000.000.000.00476.8578.080.000.0028.850.000.00d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh]

0.000.020.000.000.021.700.700.000.000.040.000.00V/C, Movement V/C Ratio

Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

0000Number of Storage Spaces in Median

NoNoTwo-Stage Gap Acceptance

0000Storage Area [veh]

Flared Lane

FreeFreeStopStopPriority Scheme

Intersection Settings

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



0.018Volume to Capacity (v/c):

FLevel Of Service:

87.1Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

Two-way stopControl Type:

Intersection 3: Orange Avenue at Birch Street

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00Pocket Length [ft]

001100000000No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

Birch StBirch StOrange AveOrange AveName

Intersection Setup

0000Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

28101528629230280036127Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

72547152310700907Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

0.92000.92000.92000.92000.92001.00000.92001.00001.00000.92000.92000.9200Peak Hour Factor

2693426578490260033125Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

00012000000010Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

2693426458490260033115Base Volume Input [veh/h]

Birch StBirch StOrange AveOrange AveName

Volumes

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



FIntersection LOS

1.66d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh]

AABEApproach LOS

0.270.0012.6345.69d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh]

0.000.003.130.000.000.004.440.000.0047.3747.3747.3795th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

0.000.000.130.000.000.000.180.000.001.891.891.8995th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

AABAABDFFMovement LOS

0.000.0010.380.000.000.0012.630.000.0028.3087.1367.35d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh]

0.000.010.040.000.010.000.060.000.000.070.020.34V/C, Movement V/C Ratio

Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

0000Number of Storage Spaces in Median

NoNoTwo-Stage Gap Acceptance

0000Storage Area [veh]

NoFlared Lane

FreeFreeStopStopPriority Scheme

Intersection Settings

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



0.376Volume to Capacity (v/c):

ALevel Of Service:

-Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

ICU 1Analysis Method:

SignalizedControl Type:

Intersection 4: Flower Avenue at Birch Street

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00Pocket Length [ft]

001001000000No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

Birch StBirch StFlower AveFlower AveName

Intersection Setup

0000Bicycle Volume [bicycles/h]

0000Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

2195858128372514423771212Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

524015320964161933Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Peak Hour Factor

2195858128372514423771212Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

000000000800Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

0090000001100Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

2195849128372514423581212Base Volume Input [veh/h]

Birch StBirch StFlower AveFlower AveName

Volumes

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



0.376Intersection V/C

AIntersection LOS

0.290.290.030.250.250.010.020.020.010.060.060.01V/C, Movement V/C Ratio

Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

------------Lead / Lag

Auxiliary Signal Groups

060020040080Signal Group

PermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissControl Type

Phasing & Timing

0.00Lost time [s]

90Cycle Length [s]

Intersection Settings

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



0.031Volume to Capacity (v/c):

BLevel Of Service:

11.1Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

Two-way stopControl Type:

Intersection 101: Flower Avenue at Project Driveway

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00Pocket Length [ft]

000000000000No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

Flower AveFlower AveName

Intersection Setup

0000Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

00032019965008476Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

000805216002119Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Peak Hour Factor

00032019965008476Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

00017080000037Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

000150119000039Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

00000006500840Base Volume Input [veh/h]

Flower AveFlower AveName

Volumes

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



BIntersection LOS

3.74d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh]

BAAAApproach LOS

10.379.730.003.55d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh]

0.000.000.005.025.025.020.000.000.003.933.933.9395th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

0.000.000.000.200.200.200.000.000.000.160.160.1695th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

ABBABBAAAAAAMovement LOS

8.6911.2811.148.9211.5411.090.000.007.380.000.007.48d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh]

0.000.000.000.030.000.030.000.000.000.000.000.05V/C, Movement V/C Ratio

Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

0000Number of Storage Spaces in Median

NoNoTwo-Stage Gap Acceptance

0000Storage Area [veh]

NoNoFlared Lane

StopStopFreeFreePriority Scheme

Intersection Settings

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



0.026Volume to Capacity (v/c):

ALevel Of Service:

9.5Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

Two-way stopControl Type:

Intersection 102: Orange Avenue at Project Driveway

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00Pocket Length [ft]

000000000000No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

Orange AveOrange AveName

Intersection Setup

0000Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

10021000071120490Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

30500001830120Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Peak Hour Factor

10021000071120490Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

009000000000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

100120000012000Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

00000007100490Base Volume Input [veh/h]

Orange AveOrange AveName

Volumes

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



AIntersection LOS

2.30d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh]

AAAAApproach LOS

9.269.321.060.00d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh]

2.752.752.750.000.000.000.580.580.580.000.000.0095th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

0.110.110.110.000.000.000.020.020.020.000.000.0095th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

ABAAAAAAAAAAMovement LOS

8.6810.019.548.639.869.470.000.007.330.000.007.35d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh]

0.010.000.030.000.000.000.000.000.010.000.000.00V/C, Movement V/C Ratio

Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

0000Number of Storage Spaces in Median

NoNoTwo-Stage Gap Acceptance

0000Storage Area [veh]

NoNoFlared Lane

StopStopFreeFreePriority Scheme

Intersection Settings

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

RC Brea

Scenario 2: 2 EX WP PM

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

ATTACHMENT K



APPENDIX D

SIGNAL WARRANT WORKSHEETS	

	 	

ATTACHMENT K



TRAFFIC SIGNAL VOLUME WARRANT ANALYSIS (2000 MUTCD)

MAJOR STREET: Imperial Highway EB WB # OF APPROACH LANES: 3

MINOR STREET: Orange Avenue NB SB # OF APPROACH LANES: 1

CITY, STATE: Brea, CA

COMMENTS: Signal Warrant Study, Existing without Project

ISOLATED COMMUNITY WITH POPULATION LESS THAN 10,000 (Y OR N): N
85TH PERCENTILE SPEED GREATER THAN 40 MPH ON MAJOR STREET (Y OR N): N

MAJOR ST MINOR ST WARRANT 2 WARRANT 3
  TWO-WAY

TRAFFIC
 TRAFFIC

HEAVY LEG
MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

Four-Hour Peak Hour

   THRESHOLD VALUES 600 150 900 75 480 120 720 60
06:00 AM TO 07:00 AM 0 0
07:00 AM TO 08:00 AM 0 0
08:00 AM TO 09:00 AM 0 0
09:00 AM TO 10:00 AM 0 0
10:00 AM TO 11:00 AM 0 0
11:00 AM TO 12:00 PM 0 0
12:00 PM TO 01:00 PM 0 0
01:00 PM TO 02:00 PM 0 0
02:00 PM TO 03:00 PM 0 0
03:00 PM TO 04:00 PM 0 0
04:00 PM TO 05:00 PM 0 0
05:00 PM TO 06:00 PM 4,840 55 Y Y Y Y
06:00 PM TO 07:00 PM 0 0
07:00 PM TO 08:00 PM 0 0
08:00 PM TO 09:00 PM 0 0
09:00 PM TO 10:00 PM 0 0

4,840 55 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

4 HRS NEEDED 1 HR NEEDED

NOT
SATISFIED

NOT
SATISFIED

11/13/20
Kimley-Horn and Associates

8 HOURS NEEDED for both Condition A & B

WARRANT 1 - Condition A, Part 1 WARRANT 1 - Condition A, Part 2WARRANT 1 - Condition B, Part 1

NOT SATISFIED

8 HOURS NEEDED 8 HOURS NEEDED

NOT SATISFIED NOT SATISFIED

WARRANT 1 - Condition B, Part 2

ATTACHMENT K



TRAFFIC SIGNAL VOLUME WARRANT ANALYSIS (2000 MUTCD)

MAJOR STREET: Imperial Highway EB WB # OF APPROACH LANES: 3

MINOR STREET: Orange Avenue NB SB # OF APPROACH LANES: 1

CITY, STATE: Brea, CA

COMMENTS: Signal Warrant Study, Existing With Project

ISOLATED COMMUNITY WITH POPULATION LESS THAN 10,000 (Y OR N): N
85TH PERCENTILE SPEED GREATER THAN 40 MPH ON MAJOR STREET (Y OR N): N

MAJOR ST MINOR ST WARRANT 2 WARRANT 3
  TWO-WAY

TRAFFIC
 TRAFFIC

HEAVY LEG
MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

Four-Hour Peak Hour

   THRESHOLD VALUES 600 150 900 75 480 120 720 60
06:00 AM TO 07:00 AM 0 0
07:00 AM TO 08:00 AM 0 0
08:00 AM TO 09:00 AM 0 0
09:00 AM TO 10:00 AM 0 0
10:00 AM TO 11:00 AM 0 0
11:00 AM TO 12:00 PM 0 0
12:00 PM TO 01:00 PM 0 0
01:00 PM TO 02:00 PM 0 0
02:00 PM TO 03:00 PM 0 0
03:00 PM TO 04:00 PM 0 0
04:00 PM TO 05:00 PM 0 0
05:00 PM TO 06:00 PM 4,870 76 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
06:00 PM TO 07:00 PM 0 0
07:00 PM TO 08:00 PM 0 0
08:00 PM TO 09:00 PM 0 0
09:00 PM TO 10:00 PM 0 0

4,870 76 1 0 0 1 1 1 1 0 0 1 1 1 0 0

4 HRS NEEDED 1 HR NEEDED

NOT
SATISFIED

NOT
SATISFIED

12/02/20
Kimley-Horn and Associates

NOT SATISFIED

8 HOURS NEEDED 8 HOURS NEEDED

NOT SATISFIED NOT SATISFIED

WARRANT 1 - Condition B, Part 2

8 HOURS NEEDED for both Condition A & B

WARRANT 1 - Condition A, Part 1 WARRANT 1 - Condition A, Part 2WARRANT 1 - Condition B, Part 1

ATTACHMENT K



TRAFFIC SIGNAL VOLUME WARRANT ANALYSIS (2000 MUTCD)

MAJOR STREET: Imperial Highway EB WB # OF APPROACH LANES: 3

MINOR STREET: Flower Street NB SB # OF APPROACH LANES: 2

CITY, STATE: Brea, CA

COMMENTS: 24 Hour - Signal Warrant Study, Existing

ISOLATED COMMUNITY WITH POPULATION LESS THAN 10,000 (Y OR N): N
85TH PERCENTILE SPEED GREATER THAN 40 MPH ON MAJOR STREET (Y OR N): N

MAJOR ST MINOR ST WARRANT 2 WARRANT 3
  TWO-WAY

TRAFFIC
 TRAFFIC

HEAVY LEG
MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

Four-Hour Peak Hour

   THRESHOLD VALUES 600 200 900 100 480 160 720 80
06:00 AM TO 07:00 AM 2,172 30 Y Y Y Y
07:00 AM TO 08:00 AM 3,412 45 Y Y Y Y
08:00 AM TO 09:00 AM 3,449 62 Y Y Y Y
09:00 AM TO 10:00 AM 3,079 49 Y Y Y Y
10:00 AM TO 11:00 AM 3,330 51 Y Y Y Y
11:00 AM TO 12:00 PM 3,789 69 Y Y Y Y
12:00 PM TO 01:00 PM 4,256 53 Y Y Y Y
01:00 PM TO 02:00 PM 4,610 81 Y Y Y Y Y Y
02:00 PM TO 03:00 PM 4,337 75 Y Y Y Y
03:00 PM TO 04:00 PM 4,504 63 Y Y Y Y
04:00 PM TO 05:00 PM 4,753 77 Y Y Y Y
05:00 PM TO 06:00 PM 4,720 63 Y Y Y Y
06:00 PM TO 07:00 PM 4,122 55 Y Y Y Y
07:00 PM TO 08:00 PM 3,251 44 Y Y Y Y
08:00 PM TO 09:00 PM 2,295 66 Y Y Y Y
09:00 PM TO 10:00 PM 1,645 25 Y Y Y Y

57,724 908 16 0 0 16 0 0 16 0 0 16 1 1 0 0

4 HRS NEEDED 1 HR NEEDED

NOT
SATISFIED

NOT
SATISFIED

11/13/20
Kimley-Horn and Associates

NOT SATISFIED

8 HOURS NEEDED 8 HOURS NEEDED

NOT SATISFIED NOT SATISFIED

WARRANT 1 - Condition B, Part 2

8 HOURS NEEDED for both Condition A & B

WARRANT 1 - Condition A, Part 1 WARRANT 1 - Condition A, Part 2WARRANT 1 - Condition B, Part 1

ATTACHMENT K



TRAFFIC SIGNAL VOLUME WARRANT ANALYSIS (2000 MUTCD)

MAJOR STREET: Imperial Highway EB WB # OF APPROACH LANES: 3

MINOR STREET: Flower Street NB SB # OF APPROACH LANES: 2

CITY, STATE: Brea, CA

COMMENTS: 24 Hour - Signal Warrant Study, Existing with Project

ISOLATED COMMUNITY WITH POPULATION LESS THAN 10,000 (Y OR N): N
85TH PERCENTILE SPEED GREATER THAN 40 MPH ON MAJOR STREET (Y OR N): N

MAJOR ST MINOR ST WARRANT 2 WARRANT 3
  TWO-WAY

TRAFFIC
 TRAFFIC

HEAVY LEG
MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

Four-Hour Peak Hour

   THRESHOLD VALUES 600 200 900 100 480 160 720 80
06:00 AM TO 07:00 AM 2,172 30 Y Y Y Y
07:00 AM TO 08:00 AM 3,412 45 Y Y Y Y
08:00 AM TO 09:00 AM 3,449 62 Y Y Y Y
09:00 AM TO 10:00 AM 3,079 57 Y Y Y Y
10:00 AM TO 11:00 AM 3,330 66 Y Y Y Y
11:00 AM TO 12:00 PM 3,789 94 Y Y Y Y Y Y
12:00 PM TO 01:00 PM 4,256 78 Y Y Y Y
01:00 PM TO 02:00 PM 4,610 99 Y Y Y Y Y Y
02:00 PM TO 03:00 PM 4,337 88 Y Y Y Y Y Y
03:00 PM TO 04:00 PM 4,504 75 Y Y Y Y
04:00 PM TO 05:00 PM 4,753 107 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
05:00 PM TO 06:00 PM 4,720 79 Y Y Y Y
06:00 PM TO 07:00 PM 4,122 71 Y Y Y Y
07:00 PM TO 08:00 PM 3,251 58 Y Y Y Y
08:00 PM TO 09:00 PM 2,295 79 Y Y Y Y
09:00 PM TO 10:00 PM 1,645 35 Y Y Y Y

57,724 1,123 16 0 0 16 1 1 16 0 0 16 4 4 0 0

4 HRS NEEDED 1 HR NEEDED

NOT
SATISFIED

NOT
SATISFIED

12/03/20
Kimley-Horn and Associates

NOT SATISFIED

8 HOURS NEEDED 8 HOURS NEEDED

NOT SATISFIED NOT SATISFIED

WARRANT 1 - Condition B, Part 2

8 HOURS NEEDED for both Condition A & B

WARRANT 1 - Condition A, Part 1 WARRANT 1 - Condition A, Part 2WARRANT 1 - Condition B, Part 1

ATTACHMENT K



TRAFFIC SIGNAL VOLUME WARRANT ANALYSIS (2000 MUTCD)

MAJOR STREET: Birch Street EB WB # OF APPROACH LANES: 3

MINOR STREET: Orange Avenue NB SB # OF APPROACH LANES: 1

CITY, STATE: Brea, CA

COMMENTS: Signal Warrant Study, Existing Without Project

ISOLATED COMMUNITY WITH POPULATION LESS THAN 10,000 (Y OR N): N
85TH PERCENTILE SPEED GREATER THAN 40 MPH ON MAJOR STREET (Y OR N): N

MAJOR ST MINOR ST WARRANT 2 WARRANT 3
  TWO-WAY

TRAFFIC
 TRAFFIC

HEAVY LEG
MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

Four-Hour Peak Hour

   THRESHOLD VALUES 600 150 900 75 480 120 720 60
06:00 AM TO 07:00 AM 0 0
07:00 AM TO 08:00 AM 0 0
08:00 AM TO 09:00 AM 0 0
09:00 AM TO 10:00 AM 0 0
10:00 AM TO 11:00 AM 0 0
11:00 AM TO 12:00 PM 0 0
12:00 PM TO 01:00 PM 0 0
01:00 PM TO 02:00 PM 0 0
02:00 PM TO 03:00 PM 0 0
03:00 PM TO 04:00 PM 0 0
04:00 PM TO 05:00 PM 0 0
05:00 PM TO 06:00 PM 1,880 49 Y Y Y Y
06:00 PM TO 07:00 PM 0 0
07:00 PM TO 08:00 PM 0 0
08:00 PM TO 09:00 PM 0 0
09:00 PM TO 10:00 PM 0 0

1,880 49 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

4 HRS NEEDED 1 HR NEEDED

NOT
SATISFIED

NOT
SATISFIED

11/13/20
Kimley-Horn and Associates

NOT SATISFIED

8 HOURS NEEDED 8 HOURS NEEDED

NOT SATISFIED NOT SATISFIED

WARRANT 1 - Condition B, Part 2

8 HOURS NEEDED for both Condition A & B

WARRANT 1 - Condition A, Part 1 WARRANT 1 - Condition A, Part 2WARRANT 1 - Condition B, Part 1

ATTACHMENT K



TRAFFIC SIGNAL VOLUME WARRANT ANALYSIS (2000 MUTCD)

MAJOR STREET: Birch Street EB WB # OF APPROACH LANES: 3

MINOR STREET: Orange Avenue NB SB # OF APPROACH LANES: 1

CITY, STATE: Brea, CA

COMMENTS: Signal Warrant Study, Existing With Project

ISOLATED COMMUNITY WITH POPULATION LESS THAN 10,000 (Y OR N): N
85TH PERCENTILE SPEED GREATER THAN 40 MPH ON MAJOR STREET (Y OR N): N

MAJOR ST MINOR ST WARRANT 2 WARRANT 3
  TWO-WAY

TRAFFIC
 TRAFFIC

HEAVY LEG
MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

MAIN
LINE

SIDE
STREET

BOTH
MET

Four-Hour Peak Hour

   THRESHOLD VALUES 600 150 900 75 480 120 720 60
06:00 AM TO 07:00 AM 0 0
07:00 AM TO 08:00 AM 0 0
08:00 AM TO 09:00 AM 0 0
09:00 AM TO 10:00 AM 0 0
10:00 AM TO 11:00 AM 0 0
11:00 AM TO 12:00 PM 0 0
12:00 PM TO 01:00 PM 0 0
01:00 PM TO 02:00 PM 0 0
02:00 PM TO 03:00 PM 0 0
03:00 PM TO 04:00 PM 0 0
04:00 PM TO 05:00 PM 0 0
05:00 PM TO 06:00 PM 1,892 59 Y Y Y Y
06:00 PM TO 07:00 PM 0 0
07:00 PM TO 08:00 PM 0 0
08:00 PM TO 09:00 PM 0 0
09:00 PM TO 10:00 PM 0 0

1,892 59 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

4 HRS NEEDED 1 HR NEEDED

NOT
SATISFIED

NOT
SATISFIED

11/13/20
Kimley-Horn and Associates

NOT SATISFIED

8 HOURS NEEDED 8 HOURS NEEDED

NOT SATISFIED NOT SATISFIED

WARRANT 1 - Condition B, Part 2

8 HOURS NEEDED for both Condition A & B

WARRANT 1 - Condition A, Part 1 WARRANT 1 - Condition A, Part 2WARRANT 1 - Condition B, Part 1

ATTACHMENT K



APPENDIX E

QUEUING DATA COLLECTION WORKSHEETS

ATTACHMENT K



Locations: 17-1215-001 Day: Thursday
City: Laguna Hills,CA Date:

11:00:40 AM 1 1 2 4:00:00 PM 3 0 3
11:01:23 AM 2 0 2 4:00:59 PM 3 1 4
11:02:01 AM 2 1 3 4:01:32 PM 3 2 5
11:02:40 AM 3 0 3 4:01:41 PM 4 2 6
11:03:24 AM 2 0 2 4:02:23 PM 4 3 7
11:04:38 AM 1 0 1 4:02:43 PM 3 3 6
11:05:26 AM 0 0 0 4:03:01 PM 4 2 6
11:07:48 AM 0 1 1 4:03:17 PM 4 3 7
11:08:22 AM 1 0 1 4:03:26 PM 5 3 8
11:09:33 AM 0 0 0 4:03:40 PM 4 3 7
11:17:15 AM 0 1 1 4:03:59 PM 5 2 7
11:17:26 AM 0 2 2 4:05:50 PM 4 2 6
11:17:51 AM 1 1 2 4:06:01 PM 5 1 6
11:19:12 AM 2 0 2 4:06:11 PM 5 2 7
11:19:27 AM 1 0 1 4:06:32 PM 5 3 8
11:20:08 AM 1 1 2 4:06:41 PM 4 3 7
11:20:36 AM 2 0 2 4:07:16 PM 5 2 7
11:21:05 AM 1 0 1 4:07:48 PM 4 2 6
11:23:05 AM 1 1 2 4:08:16 PM 5 1 6
11:23:17 AM 1 2 3 4:08:25 PM 4 2 6
11:23:21 AM 1 1 2 4:08:47 PM 4 1 5
11:24:06 AM 2 0 2 4:09:26 PM 4 2 6
11:25:45 AM 2 0 2 4:09:37 PM 3 2 5
11:26:53 AM 1 0 1 4:10:01 PM 4 2 6
11:28:15 AM 0 1 1 4:10:17 PM 3 2 5
11:28:45 AM 0 2 2 4:10:38 PM 4 1 5
11:29:01 AM 1 1 2 4:11:02 PM 4 0 4
11:29:47 AM 2 0 2 4:12:24 PM 4 1 5
11:29:59 AM 1 0 1 4:13:11 PM 4 0 4
11:30:19 AM 1 1 2 4:13:31 PM 4 1 5
11:31:01 AM 1 0 1 4:13:40 PM 3 1 4
11:31:55 AM 1 1 2 4:13:57 PM 3 2 5
11:32:18 AM 2 0 2 4:14:15 PM 3 1 4
11:32:25 AM 2 1 3 4:14:44 PM 3 0 3
11:32:54 AM 2 2 4 4:15:06 PM 3 1 4
11:33:07 AM 3 1 4 4:16:13 PM 4 0 4
11:33:23 AM 2 2 4 4:16:39 PM 3 0 3
11:33:59 AM 3 1 4 4:17:21 PM 3 1 4
11:34:07 AM 2 1 3 4:17:28 PM 3 2 5
11:34:49 AM 3 0 3 4:17:36 PM 2 2 4
11:35:22 AM 3 1 4 4:17:59 PM 3 1 4
11:36:02 AM 3 2 5 4:18:06 PM 3 2 5
11:36:34 AM 3 1 4 4:18:12 PM 3 3 6
11:36:51 AM 3 2 5 4:18:18 PM 3 4 7
11:37:00 AM 3 1 4 4:18:34 PM 4 4 8
11:37:27 AM 4 0 4 4:19:02 PM 4 5 9
11:38:07 AM 3 0 3 4:19:11 PM 3 5 8
11:38:39 AM 2 0 2 4:19:35 PM 4 4 8
11:38:58 AM 1 0 1 4:19:45 PM 3 4 7
11:39:19 AM 0 1 1 4:20:24 PM 4 3 7
11:40:16 AM 1 0 1 4:20:31 PM 3 3 6
11:41:34 AM 0 0 0 4:20:53 PM 4 2 6
11:42:11 AM 0 1 1 4:21:12 PM 4 1 5
11:42:50 AM 1 0 1 4:21:27 PM 4 2 6
11:43:15 AM 1 1 2 4:22:17 PM 5 1 6
11:43:43 AM 0 1 1 4:24:00 PM 4 1 5
11:44:10 AM 1 0 1 4:25:15 PM 5 0 5
11:44:26 AM 1 1 2 4:25:22 PM 5 1 6
11:44:36 AM 1 2 3 4:26:43 PM 4 1 5
11:44:56 AM 2 1 3 4:26:52 PM 4 2 6
11:45:33 AM 3 1 4 4:27:01 PM 4 3 7

Total
Behind Order

Board
Behind Order

Board

10/19/2017

Prepared by National Data & Surveying Services

Queue Study

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Total Arrival Time

Pick-up to
Order Board

Thursday	Queue

ATTACHMENT K



Locations: 17-1215-001 Day: Thursday
City: Laguna Hills,CA Date:

Total
Behind Order

Board
Behind Order

Board

10/19/2017

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Total Arrival Time

Pick-up to
Order Board

11:45:36 AM 2 2 4 4:27:06 PM 4 4 8
11:45:50 AM 3 1 4 4:27:29 PM 3 4 7
11:46:20 AM 2 1 3 4:27:35 PM 3 5 8
11:46:38 AM 3 0 3 4:27:49 PM 4 4 8
11:46:47 AM 2 1 3 4:27:58 PM 3 4 7
11:47:02 AM 2 2 4 4:28:27 PM 3 5 8
11:47:22 AM 2 1 3 4:28:34 PM 4 4 8
11:47:51 AM 3 0 3 4:29:14 PM 4 3 7
11:48:00 AM 2 0 2 4:29:44 PM 4 2 6
11:48:46 AM 1 0 1 4:30:25 PM 5 1 6
11:50:58 AM 1 1 2 4:32:00 PM 4 2 6
11:51:31 AM 2 0 2 4:32:25 PM 5 1 6
11:51:40 AM 1 1 2 4:32:39 PM 4 1 5
11:52:13 AM 2 0 2 4:33:19 PM 5 0 5
11:52:42 AM 1 0 1 4:33:28 PM 4 0 4
11:53:19 AM 1 1 2 4:33:38 PM 4 1 5
11:53:40 AM 1 2 3 4:33:44 PM 4 2 6
11:53:51 AM 2 1 3 4:33:58 PM 4 3 7
11:54:32 AM 3 0 3 4:34:13 PM 5 2 7
11:55:01 AM 2 1 3 4:34:29 PM 4 2 6
11:55:17 AM 2 2 4 4:35:01 PM 4 3 7
11:55:34 AM 1 2 3 4:35:19 PM 4 2 6
11:56:04 AM 0 3 3 4:35:33 PM 4 3 7
11:56:10 AM 0 4 4 4:35:53 PM 4 3 7
11:56:42 AM 0 5 5 4:37:11 PM 3 3 6
11:57:30 AM 0 6 6 4:37:21 PM 4 2 6
11:57:42 AM 0 7 7 4:37:57 PM 4 1 5
11:58:03 AM 1 7 8 4:38:25 PM 5 0 5
11:58:39 AM 2 6 8 4:39:12 PM 4 0 4
11:59:08 AM 2 7 9 4:39:36 PM 4 1 5
11:59:17 AM 3 8 11 4:40:06 PM 4 0 4
11:59:40 AM 4 7 11 4:40:19 PM 4 1 5
12:00:00 PM 4 5 9 4:40:45 PM 3 2 5
12:00:18 PM 3 5 8 4:40:58 PM 3 3 6
12:00:29 PM 4 4 8 4:41:05 PM 4 2 6
12:00:48 PM 3 4 7 4:41:16 PM 4 3 7
12:00:58 PM 3 5 8 4:43:22 PM 4 3 7
12:02:07 PM 4 4 8 4:43:47 PM 4 4 8
12:02:12 PM 3 4 7 4:44:24 PM 4 5 9
12:02:32 PM 3 3 6 4:45:06 PM 4 5 9
12:03:07 PM 4 2 6 4:45:51 PM 3 4 7
12:03:55 PM 4 1 5 4:46:16 PM 4 3 7
12:04:05 PM 3 1 4 4:46:50 PM 3 3 6
12:04:37 PM 4 0 4 4:47:52 PM 3 4 7
12:04:56 PM 3 0 3 4:48:20 PM 2 4 6
12:05:18 PM 2 1 3 4:48:32 PM 3 3 6
12:05:56 PM 2 0 2 4:49:00 PM 3 2 5
12:06:03 PM 1 0 1 4:49:31 PM 3 3 6
12:06:23 PM 1 1 2 4:49:36 PM 3 4 7
12:07:03 PM 2 0 2 4:49:50 PM 4 3 7
12:07:11 PM 1 0 1 4:50:05 PM 3 3 6
12:08:24 PM 0 1 1 4:50:23 PM 2 3 5
12:08:51 PM 0 2 2 4:50:39 PM 3 2 5
12:09:00 PM 1 2 3 4:50:51 PM 2 2 4
12:09:43 PM 0 3 3 4:51:35 PM 3 2 5
12:10:08 PM 1 2 3 4:52:04 PM 3 3 6
12:10:41 PM 2 1 3 4:52:15 PM 3 4 7
12:11:14 PM 3 0 3 4:52:26 PM 4 4 8
12:11:29 PM 3 1 4 4:52:58 PM 4 3 7
12:12:12 PM 3 2 5 4:53:21 PM 3 3 6
12:12:29 PM 3 1 4 4:53:31 PM 4 2 6
12:12:44 PM 2 1 3 4:53:47 PM 3 2 5
12:12:58 PM 1 1 2 4:53:59 PM 3 3 6
12:13:06 PM 2 0 2 4:54:05 PM 4 2 6
12:13:14 PM 2 1 3 4:54:26 PM 3 2 5
12:13:29 PM 1 1 2 4:54:39 PM 2 3 5
12:14:11 PM 2 0 2 4:55:01 PM 3 2 5

Thursday	Queue

ATTACHMENT K



Locations: 17-1215-001 Day: Thursday
City: Laguna Hills,CA Date:

Total
Behind Order

Board
Behind Order

Board

10/19/2017

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Total Arrival Time

Pick-up to
Order Board

12:14:18 PM 1 0 1 4:55:43 PM 3 1 4
12:16:09 PM 0 0 0 4:56:23 PM 3 0 3
12:16:29 PM 0 1 1 4:56:41 PM 3 1 4
12:16:36 PM 0 2 2 4:56:46 PM 3 2 5
12:16:43 PM 0 3 3 4:56:59 PM 2 2 4
12:17:12 PM 0 4 4 4:57:27 PM 3 2 5
12:17:36 PM 1 3 4 4:57:52 PM 2 2 4
12:17:49 PM 1 4 5 4:58:04 PM 3 2 5
12:18:00 PM 1 5 6 4:58:44 PM 2 2 4
12:18:07 PM 2 5 7 4:58:52 PM 3 1 4
12:18:30 PM 2 6 8 4:59:18 PM 3 0 3
12:18:43 PM 2 7 9 4:59:34 PM 3 1 4
12:19:05 PM 2 7 9 4:59:40 PM 3 2 5
12:19:16 PM 2 6 8 4:59:42 PM 3 3 6
12:19:49 PM 3 5 8 5:00:01 PM 3 2 5
12:20:20 PM 4 4 8 5:01:05 PM 4 1 5
12:20:37 PM 3 5 8 5:01:20 PM 3 1 4
12:21:10 PM 3 6 9 5:01:49 PM 4 0 4
12:21:31 PM 4 6 10 5:03:00 PM 3 1 4
12:21:52 PM 4 6 10 5:03:32 PM 4 0 4
12:22:30 PM 4 7 11 5:03:49 PM 3 0 3
12:22:42 PM 5 7 12 5:04:30 PM 3 1 4
12:23:31 PM 5 8 13 5:04:40 PM 3 2 5
12:24:12 PM 5 7 12 5:05:16 PM 3 1 4
12:24:33 PM 4 7 11 5:05:18 PM 3 2 5
12:25:01 PM 4 6 10 5:05:49 PM 4 2 6
12:25:19 PM 4 7 11 5:07:07 PM 4 2 6
12:26:09 PM 5 7 12 5:07:31 PM 5 1 6
12:26:35 PM 5 8 13 5:07:40 PM 4 2 6
12:27:00 PM 5 9 14 5:08:02 PM 3 2 5
12:27:08 PM 5 10 15 5:08:10 PM 4 1 5
12:28:02 PM 4 10 14 5:08:16 PM 4 2 6
12:28:23 PM 3 10 13 5:08:33 PM 4 3 7
12:28:34 PM 4 9 13 5:08:44 PM 5 2 7
12:29:14 PM 3 9 12 5:09:15 PM 4 2 6
12:30:22 PM 4 8 12 5:09:26 PM 4 3 7
12:30:43 PM 3 9 12 5:09:38 PM 4 2 6
12:30:51 PM 4 9 13 5:10:09 PM 4 1 5
12:30:59 PM 3 10 13 5:10:38 PM 5 0 5
12:31:33 PM 4 9 13 5:10:43 PM 5 1 6
12:31:47 PM 4 8 12 5:10:49 PM 5 2 7
12:32:13 PM 4 9 13 5:10:55 PM 4 2 6
12:32:42 PM 3 9 12 5:11:06 PM 4 3 7
12:33:38 PM 4 8 12 5:11:17 PM 5 3 8
12:33:43 PM 3 8 11 5:11:36 PM 5 2 7
12:34:02 PM 2 8 10 5:12:04 PM 4 2 6
12:34:36 PM 1 9 10 5:12:28 PM 3 2 5
12:35:03 PM 1 10 11 5:12:47 PM 4 2 6
12:35:26 PM 0 10 10 5:13:07 PM 4 1 5
12:35:52 PM 1 9 10 5:13:19 PM 3 1 4
12:36:31 PM 2 9 11 5:13:44 PM 4 1 5
12:37:06 PM 3 8 11 5:13:53 PM 3 1 4
12:37:38 PM 4 9 13 5:14:59 PM 4 0 4
12:37:52 PM 4 9 13 5:15:29 PM 4 1 5
12:38:02 PM 3 9 12 5:16:03 PM 3 2 5
12:38:32 PM 2 9 11 5:16:14 PM 3 1 4
12:38:44 PM 3 8 11 5:17:06 PM 4 1 5
12:39:23 PM 3 7 10 5:17:39 PM 3 1 4
12:39:50 PM 2 8 10 5:18:00 PM 4 1 5
12:40:19 PM 1 8 9 5:18:17 PM 3 1 4
12:40:35 PM 1 7 8 5:18:39 PM 3 2 5
12:41:09 PM 2 8 10 5:18:41 PM 2 2 4
12:41:16 PM 3 7 10 5:19:24 PM 3 1 4
12:41:42 PM 3 6 9 5:19:40 PM 3 2 5
12:42:46 PM 3 7 10 5:20:27 PM 4 1 5
12:43:08 PM 2 7 9 5:20:35 PM 3 2 5
12:43:26 PM 2 6 8 5:20:47 PM 2 3 5

Thursday	Queue

ATTACHMENT K



Locations: 17-1215-001 Day: Thursday
City: Laguna Hills,CA Date:

Total
Behind Order

Board
Behind Order

Board

10/19/2017

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Total Arrival Time

Pick-up to
Order Board

12:43:53 PM 3 5 8 5:21:21 PM 2 4 6
12:44:39 PM 3 6 9 5:21:30 PM 2 5 7
12:44:43 PM 2 6 8 5:21:40 PM 3 4 7
12:44:57 PM 1 6 7 5:22:02 PM 4 3 7
12:45:15 PM 2 5 7 5:22:19 PM 3 3 6
12:45:29 PM 1 5 6 5:23:17 PM 4 2 6
12:45:46 PM 2 5 7 5:23:19 PM 3 2 5
12:46:04 PM 3 5 8 5:23:30 PM 3 3 6
12:46:18 PM 2 6 8 5:24:02 PM 4 2 6
12:46:42 PM 1 6 7 5:24:25 PM 3 2 5
12:46:56 PM 2 6 8 5:24:40 PM 2 3 5
12:47:09 PM 2 7 9 5:24:57 PM 3 2 5
12:47:37 PM 1 8 9 5:25:38 PM 3 3 6
12:48:10 PM 0 8 8 5:25:47 PM 3 3 6
12:48:44 PM 1 7 8 5:26:18 PM 3 4 7
12:49:18 PM 1 8 9 5:26:31 PM 4 5 9
12:49:30 PM 2 7 9 5:27:19 PM 4 4 8
12:50:06 PM 2 6 8 5:28:00 PM 3 4 7
12:50:25 PM 2 7 9 5:28:16 PM 4 3 7
12:50:36 PM 3 6 9 5:28:57 PM 4 2 6
12:50:45 PM 2 6 8 5:29:08 PM 4 3 7
12:51:09 PM 3 5 8 5:29:17 PM 4 4 8
12:51:21 PM 2 5 7 5:29:28 PM 5 3 8
12:51:41 PM 2 6 8 5:31:01 PM 5 4 9
12:51:48 PM 3 5 8 5:31:20 PM 5 5 10
12:52:22 PM 3 6 9 5:32:26 PM 5 4 9
12:52:29 PM 3 6 9 5:33:20 PM 4 4 8
12:52:43 PM 2 6 8 5:33:32 PM 5 3 8
12:52:50 PM 3 5 8 5:33:47 PM 5 2 7
12:53:13 PM 2 5 7 5:34:05 PM 4 3 7
12:53:23 PM 3 4 7 5:34:30 PM 3 3 6
12:54:08 PM 3 3 6 5:35:17 PM 4 2 6
12:54:28 PM 4 2 6 5:36:02 PM 5 1 6
12:54:52 PM 3 2 5 5:36:54 PM 5 2 7
12:55:06 PM 2 2 4 5:37:20 PM 5 3 8
12:55:21 PM 1 3 4 5:38:15 PM 4 2 6
12:55:46 PM 2 2 4 5:39:39 PM 4 1 5
12:56:12 PM 3 1 4 5:39:58 PM 4 2 6
12:57:32 PM 3 2 5 5:40:33 PM 5 1 6
12:57:42 PM 4 3 7 5:40:55 PM 4 1 5
12:58:11 PM 3 3 6 5:42:02 PM 4 2 6
12:58:27 PM 2 3 5 5:42:10 PM 4 3 7
12:58:36 PM 3 2 5 5:42:13 PM 4 4 8
12:58:47 PM 3 3 6 5:42:31 PM 4 3 7
12:59:08 PM 4 2 6 5:42:51 PM 4 4 8
12:59:16 PM 3 2 5 5:43:39 PM 4 3 7
1:00:07 PM 4 1 5 5:43:57 PM 3 4 7
1:00:15 PM 3 2 5 5:44:08 PM 3 5 8
1:00:33 PM 4 1 5 5:44:39 PM 4 4 8
1:00:52 PM 3 1 4 5:44:49 PM 3 4 7
1:01:03 PM 4 0 4 5:45:01 PM 3 5 8
1:01:10 PM 4 1 5 5:45:17 PM 3 6 9
1:01:43 PM 5 0 5 5:47:23 PM 4 6 10
1:02:21 PM 4 0 4 5:47:49 PM 3 7 10
1:02:42 PM 3 0 3 5:48:09 PM 4 6 10
1:03:24 PM 2 1 3 5:48:56 PM 3 7 10
1:03:51 PM 3 0 3 5:50:01 PM 4 8 12
1:04:34 PM 3 1 4 5:51:02 PM 5 8 13
1:04:39 PM 3 2 5 5:51:32 PM 5 8 13
1:05:09 PM 3 3 6 5:52:01 PM 5 7 12
1:05:18 PM 3 4 7 5:53:08 PM 5 6 11
1:05:30 PM 4 3 7 5:53:54 PM 5 6 11
1:05:39 PM 4 4 8 5:54:40 PM 5 6 11
1:05:51 PM 3 4 7 5:55:46 PM 5 6 11
1:06:06 PM 4 3 7 5:56:11 PM 4 7 11
1:06:28 PM 3 3 6 5:56:44 PM 5 6 11
1:07:41 PM 2 3 5 5:56:57 PM 5 6 11

Thursday	Queue

ATTACHMENT K



Locations: 17-1215-001 Day: Thursday
City: Laguna Hills,CA Date:

Total
Behind Order

Board
Behind Order

Board

10/19/2017

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Total Arrival Time

Pick-up to
Order Board

1:08:02 PM 3 2 5 5:57:48 PM 5 7 12
1:08:23 PM 4 2 6 5:58:06 PM 5 6 11
1:08:36 PM 4 3 7 5:58:22 PM 4 6 10
1:09:07 PM 4 2 6 5:59:14 PM 5 6 11
1:09:40 PM 4 3 7 6:00:00 PM 4 7 11
1:10:25 PM 5 2 7 6:00:09 PM 5 6 11
1:10:41 PM 4 1 5 6:01:23 PM 5 6 11
1:10:49 PM 3 1 4 6:02:01 PM 5 6 11
1:11:19 PM 4 0 4 6:02:33 PM 5 5 10
1:12:40 PM 4 1 5 6:03:40 PM 5 4 9
1:12:51 PM 3 1 4 6:04:39 PM 4 5 9
1:12:57 PM 3 2 5 6:05:14 PM 3 6 9
1:13:33 PM 4 1 5 6:05:30 PM 3 5 8
1:13:59 PM 3 1 4 6:06:44 PM 2 5 7
1:14:16 PM 4 1 5 6:06:55 PM 3 5 8
1:14:28 PM 3 1 4 6:07:39 PM 2 6 8
1:14:34 PM 3 2 5 6:07:56 PM 2 7 9
1:14:41 PM 3 3 6 6:08:39 PM 3 6 9
1:14:56 PM 3 4 7 6:08:51 PM 3 5 8
1:15:40 PM 4 3 7 6:09:31 PM 4 4 8
1:15:47 PM 4 4 8 6:09:42 PM 4 5 9
1:16:06 PM 5 3 8 6:10:38 PM 4 6 10
1:16:18 PM 5 4 9 6:11:19 PM 4 5 9
1:16:23 PM 5 5 10 6:12:09 PM 3 5 8
1:16:43 PM 5 5 10 6:12:44 PM 3 4 7
1:17:19 PM 5 5 10 6:13:15 PM 3 3 6
1:17:34 PM 4 5 9 6:13:54 PM 4 3 7
1:17:49 PM 4 4 8 6:14:28 PM 3 3 6
1:18:25 PM 5 3 8 6:14:52 PM 4 3 7
1:18:37 PM 5 2 7 6:15:09 PM 4 4 8
1:18:58 PM 5 1 6 6:15:35 PM 4 5 9
1:19:33 PM 5 0 5 6:15:42 PM 4 6 10
1:19:53 PM 5 1 6 6:15:59 PM 4 6 10
1:20:07 PM 4 1 5 6:16:28 PM 3 7 10
1:20:28 PM 5 0 5 6:16:51 PM 2 8 10
1:20:48 PM 4 0 4 6:17:03 PM 3 7 10
1:21:03 PM 4 1 5 6:17:49 PM 2 7 9
1:21:09 PM 3 2 5 6:18:40 PM 3 6 9
1:21:42 PM 4 1 5 6:19:02 PM 3 5 8
1:21:54 PM 3 2 5 6:19:10 PM 3 6 9
1:22:37 PM 2 3 5 6:19:38 PM 3 7 10
1:22:51 PM 3 2 5 6:19:46 PM 4 6 10
1:22:58 PM 2 2 4 6:20:15 PM 5 5 10
1:23:34 PM 3 1 4 6:20:31 PM 5 6 11
1:23:53 PM 3 2 5 6:20:40 PM 5 7 12
1:24:01 PM 2 2 4 6:21:23 PM 5 7 12
1:24:23 PM 3 1 4 6:21:32 PM 4 7 11
1:24:54 PM 4 0 4 6:22:18 PM 4 7 11
1:25:17 PM 4 1 5 6:22:58 PM 5 7 12
1:25:50 PM 3 1 4 6:23:35 PM 4 8 12
1:26:13 PM 2 1 3 6:24:13 PM 3 8 11
1:26:21 PM 3 0 3 6:24:38 PM 4 8 12
1:27:14 PM 3 1 4 6:25:17 PM 5 8 13
1:27:23 PM 3 2 5 6:26:30 PM 4 7 11
1:28:29 PM 3 3 6 6:26:49 PM 4 8 12
1:28:30 PM 4 2 6 6:27:22 PM 3 9 12
1:28:38 PM 5 1 6 6:28:28 PM 3 10 13
1:29:53 PM 5 0 5 6:29:01 PM 4 9 13
1:30:22 PM 5 1 6 6:29:10 PM 5 8 13
1:30:46 PM 5 0 5 6:29:23 PM 5 7 12
1:32:09 PM 4 0 4 6:30:26 PM 5 6 11
1:32:11 PM 3 0 3 6:31:09 PM 5 6 11
1:32:27 PM 2 0 2 6:32:38 PM 5 6 11
1:32:40 PM 1 0 1 6:33:17 PM 5 7 12
1:32:45 PM 0 1 1 6:33:27 PM 5 6 11
1:33:00 PM 0 2 2 6:33:43 PM 4 6 10
1:33:11 PM 1 1 2 6:34:05 PM 5 6 11

Thursday	Queue

ATTACHMENT K



Locations: 17-1215-001 Day: Thursday
City: Laguna Hills,CA Date:

Total
Behind Order

Board
Behind Order

Board

10/19/2017

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Total Arrival Time

Pick-up to
Order Board

1:34:14 PM 2 0 2 6:34:22 PM 5 7 12
1:34:36 PM 1 0 1 6:35:23 PM 5 6 11
1:35:49 PM 1 1 2 6:35:51 PM 5 7 12
1:36:10 PM 1 2 3 6:36:25 PM 5 7 12
1:36:32 PM 2 1 3 6:36:35 PM 5 8 13
1:37:29 PM 2 0 2 6:36:49 PM 4 8 12
1:38:26 PM 2 1 3 6:37:17 PM 5 8 13
1:39:04 PM 1 1 2 6:37:38 PM 5 9 14
1:39:38 PM 0 1 1 6:38:25 PM 4 9 13
1:39:56 PM 1 0 1 6:39:15 PM 5 8 13
1:41:11 PM 0 1 1 6:39:51 PM 4 8 12
1:42:01 PM 1 0 1 6:40:14 PM 4 7 11
1:42:14 PM 1 1 2 6:40:27 PM 4 6 10
1:42:20 PM 1 2 3 6:40:41 PM 3 6 9
1:43:10 PM 2 1 3 6:41:36 PM 4 5 9
1:43:24 PM 2 2 4 6:41:59 PM 4 6 10
1:43:33 PM 3 1 4 6:42:10 PM 5 5 10
1:43:41 PM 3 2 5 6:42:21 PM 4 5 9
1:43:49 PM 3 3 6 6:42:35 PM 4 6 10
1:44:43 PM 2 3 5 6:42:54 PM 4 5 9
1:44:46 PM 2 3 5 6:43:10 PM 4 6 10
1:45:07 PM 1 3 4 6:43:41 PM 5 6 11
1:46:33 PM 2 2 4 6:44:04 PM 5 7 12
1:47:15 PM 2 1 3 6:44:44 PM 5 6 11
1:47:49 PM 3 0 3 6:45:11 PM 4 7 11
1:48:26 PM 3 1 4 6:45:42 PM 4 6 10
1:49:08 PM 4 0 4 6:46:00 PM 5 7 12
1:49:24 PM 3 0 3 6:46:52 PM 4 8 12
1:49:35 PM 2 0 2 6:47:01 PM 5 8 13
1:49:44 PM 2 1 3 6:48:12 PM 4 7 11
1:49:55 PM 2 2 4 6:48:48 PM 4 7 11
1:50:26 PM 2 1 3 6:49:10 PM 5 8 13
1:50:45 PM 1 1 2 6:49:51 PM 5 8 13
1:50:59 PM 2 0 2 6:50:23 PM 5 8 13
1:51:18 PM 2 1 3 6:51:03 PM 5 9 14
1:51:35 PM 3 1 4 6:51:53 PM 5 9 14
1:52:12 PM 2 2 4 6:52:45 PM 5 9 14
1:52:47 PM 1 2 3 6:53:19 PM 4 10 14
1:53:02 PM 1 3 4 6:54:04 PM 4 9 13
1:53:23 PM 2 2 4 6:54:11 PM 3 10 13
1:53:33 PM 1 2 3 6:55:15 PM 4 10 14
1:53:47 PM 2 1 3 6:55:55 PM 5 9 14
1:54:39 PM 3 0 3 6:56:16 PM 4 9 13
1:54:48 PM 3 1 4 6:57:50 PM 4 9 13
1:54:52 PM 2 2 4 6:58:39 PM 5 9 14
1:55:37 PM 2 1 3 6:59:01 PM 5 9 14
1:55:54 PM 3 0 3 6:59:33 PM 4 9 13
1:56:17 PM 3 1 4 7:00:30 PM 3 9 12
1:56:45 PM 4 1 5
1:56:59 PM 5 0 5
1:57:53 PM 5 1 6
1:58:21 PM 4 1 5
1:58:30 PM 4 2 6
1:58:38 PM 3 2 5
1:58:50 PM 3 1 4
1:59:06 PM 2 1 3
1:59:15 PM 1 1 2
1:59:19 PM 2 0 2
1:59:59 PM 1 0 1

Thursday	Queue

ATTACHMENT K



Locations: 17-1215-001 Day: Saturday
City: Laguna Hills,CA Date:

11:00:00 AM 1 0 1 4:00:00 PM 3 6 9
11:00:27 AM 0 0 0 4:00:28 PM 2 6 8
11:00:45 AM 0 1 1 4:00:52 PM 3 6 9
11:01:10 AM 1 2 3 4:01:09 PM 4 7 11
11:01:47 AM 2 1 3 4:01:43 PM 3 7 10
11:02:30 AM 2 2 4 4:02:24 PM 4 6 10
11:02:50 AM 2 3 5 4:02:34 PM 3 6 9
11:02:55 AM 2 2 4 4:02:54 PM 3 5 8
11:03:34 AM 3 1 4 4:03:19 PM 2 4 6
11:04:10 AM 2 1 3 4:03:57 PM 3 3 6
11:04:57 AM 2 2 4 4:04:10 PM 2 4 6
11:05:12 AM 3 1 4 4:04:42 PM 3 3 6
11:05:30 AM 3 2 5 4:04:56 PM 2 4 6
11:06:08 AM 2 1 3 4:05:26 PM 3 3 6
11:06:27 AM 3 1 4 4:05:43 PM 2 3 5
11:06:38 AM 4 0 4 4:06:10 PM 1 3 4
11:07:19 AM 4 1 5 4:06:15 PM 2 2 4
11:08:13 AM 5 0 5 4:06:49 PM 3 1 4
11:09:33 AM 4 0 4 4:07:23 PM 4 0 4
11:10:11 AM 3 0 3 4:07:35 PM 4 1 5
11:10:56 AM 2 0 2 4:07:49 PM 4 2 6
11:11:19 AM 1 0 1 4:08:20 PM 5 1 6
11:11:51 AM 1 1 2 4:08:40 PM 5 2 7
11:12:54 AM 2 0 2 4:09:03 PM 4 2 6
11:12:59 AM 1 0 1 4:09:22 PM 5 3 8
11:14:55 AM 1 1 2 4:09:44 PM 4 3 7
11:15:26 AM 0 1 1 4:09:58 PM 3 3 6
11:15:55 AM 1 0 1 4:10:35 PM 2 3 5
11:17:49 AM 0 1 1 4:10:45 PM 3 3 6
11:17:52 AM 1 0 1 4:11:24 PM 2 3 5
11:17:59 AM 1 1 2 4:11:30 PM 3 2 5
11:19:18 AM 0 1 1 4:11:58 PM 2 3 5
11:20:41 AM 1 2 3 4:12:18 PM 1 3 4
11:21:15 AM 2 1 3 4:12:27 PM 2 3 5
11:21:46 AM 3 0 3 4:12:44 PM 3 2 5
11:22:10 AM 3 1 4 4:13:12 PM 4 1 5
11:22:32 AM 3 0 3 4:14:17 PM 4 0 4
11:23:06 AM 2 0 2 4:14:56 PM 3 0 3
11:23:25 AM 1 0 1 4:15:07 PM 3 1 4
11:23:41 AM 0 0 0 4:15:51 PM 2 1 3
11:27:18 AM 0 1 1 4:16:10 PM 2 2 4
11:28:47 AM 1 0 1 4:16:25 PM 2 3 5
11:29:18 AM 1 1 2 4:16:41 PM 3 2 5
11:29:34 AM 1 2 3 4:17:02 PM 4 1 5
11:29:52 AM 1 1 2 4:17:34 PM 5 0 5
11:30:27 AM 2 1 3 4:18:10 PM 5 1 6
11:30:59 AM 2 0 2 4:18:20 PM 4 1 5
11:31:40 AM 1 0 1 4:18:46 PM 4 2 6
11:31:58 AM 0 0 0 4:19:00 PM 3 2 5
11:32:35 AM 0 2 2 4:19:19 PM 4 1 5
11:34:45 AM 1 1 2 4:19:39 PM 3 1 4
11:35:00 AM 2 3 5 4:19:49 PM 3 2 5
11:35:36 AM 1 3 4 4:20:07 PM 4 1 5
11:35:55 AM 2 2 4 4:20:19 PM 3 2 5
11:36:12 AM 1 2 3 4:20:50 PM 4 1 5
11:36:28 AM 1 3 4 4:21:01 PM 3 1 4
11:36:45 AM 2 3 5 4:21:09 PM 3 2 5

Total
Behind Order

Board
Behind Order

Board

10/14/2017

Prepared by National Data & Surveying Services

Queue Study

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Total Arrival Time

Pick-up to
Order Board

Saturday	Queue

ATTACHMENT K



Locations: 17-1215-001 Day: Saturday
City: Laguna Hills,CA Date:

Total
Behind Order

Board
Behind Order

Board

10/14/2017

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Total Arrival Time

Pick-up to
Order Board

11:37:05 AM 1 3 4 4:21:25 PM 3 3 6
11:37:32 AM 1 6 7 4:22:07 PM 4 2 6
11:38:45 AM 0 6 6 4:22:19 PM 3 2 5
11:39:26 AM 1 7 8 4:22:45 PM 4 1 5
11:39:59 AM 2 7 9 4:23:04 PM 5 0 5
11:41:04 AM 1 11 12 4:23:22 PM 5 1 6
11:41:24 AM 2 8 10 4:24:17 PM 4 1 5
11:42:05 AM 3 5 8 4:24:48 PM 5 0 5
11:43:12 AM 3 5 8 4:25:28 PM 4 0 4
11:44:20 AM 2 6 8 4:26:46 PM 3 0 3
11:44:47 AM 2 5 7 4:26:58 PM 3 1 4
11:45:28 AM 3 6 9 4:27:37 PM 2 1 3
11:45:46 AM 2 6 8 4:28:33 PM 3 0 3
11:45:51 AM 3 6 9 4:28:44 PM 2 0 2
11:46:29 AM 4 7 11 4:29:43 PM 1 0 1
11:46:55 AM 3 7 10 4:30:14 PM 0 0 0
11:47:12 AM 4 8 12 4:31:46 PM 0 1 1
11:48:16 AM 5 7 12 4:31:48 PM 0 2 2
11:48:26 AM 4 7 11 4:32:31 PM 1 1 2
11:49:14 AM 5 4 9 4:33:38 PM 2 0 2
11:49:28 AM 4 4 8 4:33:51 PM 1 0 1
11:49:57 AM 5 3 8 4:34:27 PM 1 1 2
11:50:59 AM 5 4 9 4:34:58 PM 2 0 2
11:52:11 AM 5 5 10 4:35:08 PM 1 0 1
11:52:51 AM 5 4 9 4:35:58 PM 0 0 0
11:53:21 AM 4 3 7 4:36:08 PM 0 1 1
11:54:19 AM 3 4 7 4:37:40 PM 1 1 2
11:54:37 AM 3 3 6 4:38:17 PM 2 0 2
11:54:57 AM 3 2 5 4:39:21 PM 2 1 3
11:55:28 AM 3 2 5 4:40:02 PM 3 0 3
11:55:48 AM 3 3 6 4:40:12 PM 2 0 2
11:56:24 AM 2 3 5 4:40:23 PM 2 1 3
11:56:41 AM 3 3 6 4:40:34 PM 1 1 2
11:56:59 AM 2 2 4 4:40:44 PM 1 2 3
11:57:23 AM 2 4 6 4:40:57 PM 2 1 3
11:57:42 AM 1 4 5 4:41:20 PM 3 0 3
11:57:59 AM 2 3 5 4:41:32 PM 2 1 3
11:58:16 AM 2 4 6 4:41:46 PM 1 1 2
11:58:31 AM 1 4 5 4:42:15 PM 2 0 2
11:58:41 AM 2 3 5 4:42:41 PM 1 0 1
11:58:59 AM 2 5 7 4:43:02 PM 0 0 0
11:59:09 AM 1 6 7 4:43:13 PM 0 1 1
11:59:35 AM 2 5 7 4:43:28 PM 1 1 2
12:00:21 PM 2 4 6 4:44:25 PM 1 2 3
12:01:04 PM 3 3 6 4:44:40 PM 1 3 4
12:01:29 PM 4 2 6 4:44:56 PM 0 4 4
12:01:39 PM 3 2 5 4:45:25 PM 1 4 5
12:02:00 PM 4 1 5 4:45:59 PM 1 4 5
12:02:15 PM 3 1 4 4:46:20 PM 1 5 6
12:02:34 PM 3 2 5 4:46:32 PM 2 4 6
12:02:49 PM 4 1 5 4:46:52 PM 2 4 6
12:03:15 PM 3 1 4 4:47:28 PM 1 4 5
12:03:27 PM 2 3 5 4:48:26 PM 2 3 5
12:03:38 PM 3 2 5 4:48:36 PM 1 5 6
12:04:01 PM 4 1 5 4:49:44 PM 2 6 8
12:04:40 PM 3 0 3 4:50:19 PM 1 6 7
12:05:30 PM 3 2 5 4:50:46 PM 0 6 6
12:05:45 PM 2 2 4 4:51:12 PM 1 5 6
12:06:15 PM 2 1 3 4:51:56 PM 2 4 6
12:06:35 PM 1 2 3 4:52:42 PM 3 4 7
12:06:46 PM 2 1 3 4:53:21 PM 4 3 7
12:07:10 PM 2 2 4 4:53:42 PM 4 2 6

Saturday	Queue

ATTACHMENT K



Locations: 17-1215-001 Day: Saturday
City: Laguna Hills,CA Date:

Total
Behind Order

Board
Behind Order

Board

10/14/2017

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Total Arrival Time

Pick-up to
Order Board

12:07:32 PM 3 1 4 4:54:24 PM 3 2 5
12:07:50 PM 3 2 5 4:54:53 PM 3 1 4
12:08:00 PM 2 2 4 4:55:39 PM 3 0 3
12:08:15 PM 3 2 5 4:55:53 PM 3 1 4
12:08:40 PM 2 3 5 4:56:06 PM 2 1 3
12:08:50 PM 1 5 6 4:56:21 PM 3 0 3
12:09:44 PM 1 4 5 4:56:32 PM 3 1 4
12:10:09 PM 1 4 5 4:56:47 PM 3 2 5
12:11:02 PM 2 3 5 4:57:17 PM 3 3 6
12:11:21 PM 3 2 5 4:57:57 PM 3 2 5
12:11:32 PM 4 1 5 4:58:21 PM 4 1 5
12:11:47 PM 3 2 5 4:59:03 PM 3 1 4
12:12:42 PM 4 1 5 4:59:32 PM 3 2 5
12:13:22 PM 3 3 6 4:59:48 PM 2 2 4
12:13:49 PM 2 3 5 5:00:01 PM 3 1 4
12:13:57 PM 2 2 4 5:00:40 PM 2 1 3
12:14:21 PM 3 2 5 5:01:08 PM 3 0 3
12:14:30 PM 2 2 4 5:01:29 PM 2 0 2
12:14:51 PM 1 2 3 5:01:38 PM 2 1 3
12:15:08 PM 1 3 4 5:01:52 PM 2 2 4
12:15:22 PM 1 4 5 5:02:27 PM 2 3 5
12:15:42 PM 1 4 5 5:02:43 PM 1 4 5
12:15:55 PM 1 4 5 5:03:24 PM 2 4 6
12:16:37 PM 2 4 6 5:04:00 PM 1 4 5
12:16:57 PM 1 4 5 5:04:34 PM 2 3 5
12:17:18 PM 2 3 5 5:04:55 PM 2 4 6
12:17:37 PM 1 3 4 5:05:44 PM 3 4 7
12:18:04 PM 1 4 5 5:05:49 PM 3 4 7
12:18:27 PM 2 3 5 5:06:16 PM 2 4 6
12:19:07 PM 1 4 5 5:06:51 PM 2 3 5
12:19:27 PM 0 4 4 5:06:59 PM 1 4 5
12:19:40 PM 1 3 4 5:07:10 PM 2 4 6
12:20:01 PM 2 2 4 5:07:30 PM 3 3 6
12:20:43 PM 2 2 4 5:08:48 PM 3 4 7
12:21:01 PM 3 1 4 5:08:58 PM 2 4 6
12:21:36 PM 4 0 4 5:09:11 PM 3 3 6
12:21:51 PM 3 0 3 5:09:25 PM 3 4 7
12:22:10 PM 2 0 2 5:09:51 PM 3 4 7
12:22:24 PM 2 1 3 5:10:15 PM 2 4 6
12:22:33 PM 1 2 3 5:10:39 PM 3 3 6
12:22:49 PM 2 1 3 5:11:10 PM 2 3 5
12:23:12 PM 2 2 4 5:11:40 PM 1 4 5
12:23:21 PM 2 1 3 5:12:03 PM 2 3 5
12:23:41 PM 2 2 4 5:12:16 PM 3 3 6
12:23:51 PM 2 3 5 5:13:12 PM 2 5 7
12:23:59 PM 2 2 4 5:14:24 PM 2 7 9
12:24:36 PM 3 1 4 5:14:50 PM 3 6 9
12:24:52 PM 2 1 3 5:15:13 PM 3 6 9
12:25:38 PM 1 2 3 5:15:25 PM 2 5 7
12:26:13 PM 1 1 2 5:16:16 PM 3 4 7
12:26:24 PM 1 2 3 5:17:12 PM 4 5 9
12:26:39 PM 2 2 4 5:18:13 PM 3 7 10
12:27:27 PM 3 1 4 5:18:29 PM 2 7 9
12:28:11 PM 4 1 5 5:18:39 PM 3 5 8
12:28:23 PM 3 3 6 5:18:59 PM 3 7 10
12:28:37 PM 2 3 5 5:19:15 PM 4 6 10
12:29:25 PM 2 2 4 5:19:27 PM 4 8 12
12:29:39 PM 2 3 5 5:19:41 PM 4 5 9
12:29:54 PM 3 2 5 5:20:30 PM 3 7 10
12:30:14 PM 2 3 5 5:20:42 PM 4 7 11
12:30:48 PM 1 4 5 5:21:04 PM 3 8 11
12:31:15 PM 0 4 4 5:21:42 PM 4 7 11

Saturday	Queue

ATTACHMENT K



Locations: 17-1215-001 Day: Saturday
City: Laguna Hills,CA Date:

Total
Behind Order

Board
Behind Order

Board

10/14/2017

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Total Arrival Time

Pick-up to
Order Board

12:31:26 PM 1 4 5 5:21:54 PM 3 7 10
12:32:06 PM 2 3 5 5:22:08 PM 4 8 12
12:33:10 PM 1 3 4 5:22:35 PM 3 7 10
12:33:40 PM 2 3 5 5:22:46 PM 4 7 11
12:35:10 PM 2 4 6 5:23:06 PM 3 9 12
12:35:32 PM 3 4 7 5:23:18 PM 4 8 12
12:35:51 PM 2 5 7 5:24:13 PM 5 7 12
12:36:22 PM 2 5 7 5:24:28 PM 4 8 12
12:36:50 PM 2 6 8 5:24:56 PM 5 7 12
12:37:17 PM 1 6 7 5:25:11 PM 4 6 10
12:37:44 PM 2 6 8 5:25:28 PM 3 6 9
12:38:50 PM 1 7 8 5:25:46 PM 4 7 11
12:39:07 PM 2 9 11 5:26:10 PM 3 7 10
12:39:34 PM 2 7 9 5:26:35 PM 4 6 10
12:40:41 PM 3 8 11 5:26:51 PM 3 6 9
12:40:57 PM 3 9 12 5:27:02 PM 2 7 9
12:41:21 PM 2 9 11 5:27:53 PM 3 8 11
12:41:38 PM 3 10 13 5:28:25 PM 2 8 10
12:42:17 PM 2 10 12 5:28:46 PM 1 8 9
12:42:36 PM 3 9 12 5:29:17 PM 2 6 8
12:42:50 PM 2 10 12 5:29:38 PM 3 4 7
12:43:21 PM 1 9 10 5:30:00 PM 4 4 8
12:43:41 PM 2 8 10 5:30:11 PM 3 4 7
12:44:21 PM 2 5 7 5:30:38 PM 4 3 7
12:44:44 PM 3 5 8 5:31:19 PM 3 3 6
12:45:20 PM 2 5 7 5:31:43 PM 4 2 6
12:45:46 PM 3 6 9 5:31:56 PM 4 3 7
12:46:22 PM 2 6 8 5:32:24 PM 2 4 6
12:46:56 PM 2 6 8 5:32:37 PM 3 4 7
12:47:48 PM 3 5 8 5:33:09 PM 2 5 7
12:48:11 PM 4 4 8 5:34:07 PM 3 3 6
12:48:32 PM 3 9 12 5:34:29 PM 3 4 7
12:48:49 PM 4 7 11 5:35:42 PM 2 4 6
12:49:24 PM 4 4 8 5:36:06 PM 1 5 6
12:50:08 PM 4 4 8 5:36:47 PM 2 6 8
12:50:55 PM 3 4 7 5:37:35 PM 2 5 7
12:51:43 PM 4 6 10 5:38:30 PM 3 8 11
12:51:57 PM 3 7 10 5:39:02 PM 3 5 8
12:52:18 PM 3 6 9 5:39:37 PM 3 3 6
12:52:55 PM 2 6 8 5:40:01 PM 2 3 5
12:52:59 PM 3 6 9 5:40:23 PM 2 2 4
12:53:48 PM 2 6 8 5:40:38 PM 2 3 5
12:54:00 PM 3 6 9 5:41:17 PM 3 2 5
12:54:32 PM 4 5 9 5:42:03 PM 4 1 5
12:55:21 PM 5 7 12 5:42:30 PM 4 0 4
12:55:40 PM 4 7 11 5:43:07 PM 3 0 3
12:55:56 PM 3 8 11 5:43:30 PM 2 0 2
12:56:16 PM 3 6 9 5:45:15 PM 1 0 1
12:56:45 PM 2 6 8 5:45:45 PM 0 0 0
12:57:06 PM 3 6 9 5:46:42 PM 0 1 1
12:57:44 PM 2 6 8 5:47:10 PM 0 2 2
12:57:59 PM 3 7 10 5:47:24 PM 0 3 3
12:58:25 PM 4 8 12 5:47:58 PM 1 2 3
12:59:01 PM 4 8 12 5:48:14 PM 1 3 4
12:59:24 PM 3 8 11 5:48:38 PM 2 3 5
1:00:19 PM 4 10 14 5:49:08 PM 3 4 7
1:00:28 PM 3 10 13 5:49:32 PM 2 4 6
1:00:47 PM 2 7 9 5:50:04 PM 1 6 7
1:01:06 PM 3 7 10 5:50:19 PM 2 5 7
1:01:34 PM 3 4 7 5:50:38 PM 2 7 9
1:02:14 PM 4 3 7 5:50:50 PM 1 6 7
1:02:33 PM 3 3 6 5:51:18 PM 2 6 8

Saturday	Queue

ATTACHMENT K



Locations: 17-1215-001 Day: Saturday
City: Laguna Hills,CA Date:

Total
Behind Order

Board
Behind Order

Board

10/14/2017

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Total Arrival Time

Pick-up to
Order Board

1:02:59 PM 4 4 8 5:51:55 PM 3 6 9
1:03:17 PM 5 4 9 5:52:42 PM 4 8 12
1:03:58 PM 4 5 9 5:53:21 PM 5 8 13
1:04:15 PM 5 4 9 5:55:28 PM 4 6 10
1:04:34 PM 4 4 8 5:56:58 PM 5 6 11
1:04:48 PM 3 4 7 5:57:18 PM 4 6 10
1:05:07 PM 5 3 8 5:57:49 PM 5 7 12
1:05:42 PM 4 3 7 5:58:22 PM 5 6 11
1:06:08 PM 3 4 7 5:58:59 PM 4 6 10
1:06:21 PM 3 4 7 5:59:30 PM 5 7 12
1:06:59 PM 2 4 6 5:59:49 PM 4 6 10
1:07:25 PM 1 4 5 6:00:23 PM 5 6 11
1:07:47 PM 2 4 6 6:01:35 PM 4 5 9
1:08:06 PM 1 4 5 6:02:06 PM 3 5 8
1:08:21 PM 2 3 5 6:02:20 PM 4 5 9
1:08:38 PM 3 3 6 6:02:47 PM 3 6 9
1:09:13 PM 2 3 5 6:03:27 PM 4 6 10
1:09:39 PM 1 3 4 6:03:58 PM 3 5 8
1:09:59 PM 2 5 7 6:04:10 PM 2 5 7
1:10:27 PM 3 4 7 6:04:19 PM 2 4 6
1:10:40 PM 2 4 6 6:05:26 PM 3 5 8
1:10:58 PM 3 4 7 6:05:56 PM 2 5 7
1:11:11 PM 2 5 7 6:06:34 PM 3 4 7
1:11:49 PM 3 4 7 6:07:01 PM 4 3 7
1:12:21 PM 2 5 7 6:07:37 PM 5 2 7
1:12:55 PM 2 4 6 6:08:41 PM 5 3 8
1:13:40 PM 3 5 8 6:08:49 PM 5 4 9
1:14:00 PM 2 5 7 6:09:48 PM 4 7 11
1:14:10 PM 3 4 7 6:09:59 PM 5 6 11
1:14:30 PM 2 5 7 6:10:26 PM 4 5 9
1:14:37 PM 3 4 7 6:10:42 PM 5 7 12
1:14:55 PM 2 3 5 6:11:15 PM 4 7 11
1:15:29 PM 2 4 6 6:11:28 PM 4 7 11
1:15:52 PM 1 4 5 6:11:54 PM 3 7 10
1:16:06 PM 2 3 5 6:12:12 PM 4 6 10
1:16:22 PM 2 4 6 6:12:35 PM 4 6 10
1:16:35 PM 1 5 6 6:12:51 PM 3 5 8
1:17:15 PM 0 5 5 6:13:11 PM 3 5 8
1:17:39 PM 1 5 6 6:13:28 PM 2 5 7
1:18:05 PM 2 4 6 6:13:48 PM 3 3 6
1:18:30 PM 3 4 7 6:14:49 PM 4 3 7
1:18:49 PM 3 4 7 6:15:04 PM 3 2 5
1:19:42 PM 4 5 9 6:15:17 PM 3 3 6
1:20:13 PM 3 5 8 6:15:28 PM 2 2 4
1:20:37 PM 5 4 9 6:15:39 PM 3 3 6
1:20:57 PM 4 4 8 6:15:52 PM 3 5 8
1:21:12 PM 3 7 10 6:16:10 PM 3 4 7
1:22:19 PM 3 5 8 6:16:33 PM 4 4 8
1:22:45 PM 2 5 7 6:16:53 PM 5 6 11
1:22:59 PM 3 6 9 6:17:22 PM 5 6 11
1:23:37 PM 2 7 9 6:17:37 PM 5 8 13
1:23:51 PM 3 6 9 6:17:52 PM 4 8 12
1:24:11 PM 3 5 8 6:18:04 PM 5 5 10
1:24:22 PM 2 7 9 6:18:23 PM 5 6 11
1:24:58 PM 1 8 9 6:19:57 PM 5 6 11
1:25:14 PM 2 6 8 6:20:48 PM 5 5 10
1:25:41 PM 2 5 7 6:21:15 PM 4 5 9
1:25:58 PM 3 4 7 6:21:36 PM 3 5 8
1:26:13 PM 2 6 8 6:21:44 PM 4 5 9
1:27:01 PM 3 5 8 6:21:59 PM 4 5 9
1:27:13 PM 2 4 6 6:22:13 PM 4 4 8
1:27:34 PM 1 4 5 6:22:29 PM 3 4 7

Saturday	Queue

ATTACHMENT K



Locations: 17-1215-001 Day: Saturday
City: Laguna Hills,CA Date:

Total
Behind Order

Board
Behind Order

Board

10/14/2017

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Total Arrival Time

Pick-up to
Order Board

1:28:20 PM 2 4 6 6:22:46 PM 3 4 7
1:28:42 PM 2 5 7 6:23:10 PM 4 4 8
1:28:59 PM 3 4 7 6:23:27 PM 4 5 9
1:29:33 PM 4 4 8 6:23:43 PM 5 5 10
1:29:47 PM 3 4 7 6:24:01 PM 5 5 10
1:30:33 PM 4 3 7 6:24:40 PM 4 5 9
1:30:48 PM 3 3 6 6:24:48 PM 5 5 10
1:31:26 PM 3 4 7 6:25:30 PM 4 5 9
1:31:45 PM 4 3 7 6:25:46 PM 5 7 12
1:32:02 PM 3 3 6 6:25:58 PM 4 7 11
1:32:37 PM 4 2 6 6:26:10 PM 3 7 10
1:32:51 PM 3 2 5 6:26:30 PM 2 7 9
1:33:09 PM 3 1 4 6:26:41 PM 3 5 8
1:33:36 PM 3 2 5 6:27:08 PM 2 5 7
1:33:46 PM 4 2 6 6:27:50 PM 1 4 5
1:34:13 PM 4 3 7 6:28:17 PM 2 4 6
1:34:25 PM 4 4 8 6:29:19 PM 1 4 5
1:34:43 PM 5 4 9 6:30:01 PM 2 3 5
1:35:03 PM 5 5 10 6:30:10 PM 3 3 6
1:35:30 PM 4 4 8 6:30:32 PM 4 3 7
1:36:12 PM 4 3 7 6:31:00 PM 3 3 6
1:36:41 PM 3 3 6 6:31:12 PM 4 2 6
1:37:03 PM 2 3 5 6:31:44 PM 4 3 7
1:37:20 PM 3 4 7 6:31:56 PM 5 3 8
1:38:01 PM 4 3 7 6:32:13 PM 4 3 7
1:38:15 PM 5 4 9 6:32:21 PM 5 2 7
1:38:38 PM 5 5 10 6:32:43 PM 4 2 6
1:39:40 PM 4 5 9 6:32:54 PM 4 3 7
1:40:14 PM 5 4 9 6:33:16 PM 3 3 6
1:40:33 PM 4 4 8 6:33:30 PM 4 2 6
1:40:43 PM 4 5 9 6:33:38 PM 3 1 4
1:41:01 PM 5 4 9 6:33:52 PM 3 2 5
1:41:17 PM 4 3 7 6:34:17 PM 2 2 4
1:41:30 PM 3 2 5 6:34:42 PM 3 2 5
1:42:00 PM 3 3 6 6:35:01 PM 2 2 4
1:42:30 PM 2 3 5 6:35:19 PM 1 2 3
1:42:35 PM 3 4 7 6:35:29 PM 2 1 3
1:43:11 PM 2 4 6 6:35:43 PM 2 2 4
1:43:38 PM 3 3 6 6:35:55 PM 2 3 5
1:43:52 PM 2 3 5 6:36:28 PM 3 2 5
1:44:49 PM 3 2 5 6:36:42 PM 3 3 6
1:45:00 PM 3 3 6 6:36:54 PM 4 2 6
1:46:30 PM 3 4 7 6:37:23 PM 3 2 5
1:46:43 PM 2 4 6 6:38:08 PM 3 3 6
1:47:17 PM 1 4 5 6:38:36 PM 2 3 5
1:47:27 PM 2 3 5 6:38:51 PM 3 2 5
1:47:49 PM 2 4 6 6:39:09 PM 2 2 4
1:48:13 PM 1 5 6 6:39:24 PM 2 1 3
1:48:36 PM 2 4 6 6:39:53 PM 2 2 4
1:49:08 PM 1 5 6 6:40:04 PM 3 2 5
1:49:42 PM 2 4 6 6:40:20 PM 3 3 6
1:50:05 PM 2 4 6 6:40:32 PM 2 3 5
1:50:52 PM 2 4 6 6:40:50 PM 2 4 6
1:51:10 PM 3 4 7 6:40:58 PM 3 4 7
1:51:44 PM 3 5 8 6:41:21 PM 3 6 9
1:51:55 PM 3 3 6 6:41:40 PM 4 5 9
1:52:06 PM 2 5 7 6:42:42 PM 5 5 10
1:52:42 PM 3 5 8 6:43:08 PM 4 5 9
1:52:58 PM 2 5 7 6:43:26 PM 5 4 9
1:53:14 PM 3 4 7 6:43:57 PM 4 4 8
1:53:32 PM 2 5 7 6:44:14 PM 3 4 7
1:53:50 PM 1 5 6 6:44:31 PM 4 3 7

Saturday	Queue

ATTACHMENT K



Locations: 17-1215-001 Day: Saturday
City: Laguna Hills,CA Date:

Total
Behind Order

Board
Behind Order

Board

10/14/2017

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Total Arrival Time

Pick-up to
Order Board

1:54:05 PM 2 5 7 6:44:58 PM 3 4 7
1:54:28 PM 3 4 7 6:45:12 PM 4 3 7
1:54:59 PM 4 5 9 6:45:26 PM 3 3 6
1:55:13 PM 3 5 8 6:45:47 PM 4 2 6
1:56:03 PM 3 4 7 6:46:01 PM 3 2 5
1:56:18 PM 3 5 8 6:46:15 PM 4 1 5
1:56:31 PM 3 4 7 6:46:36 PM 4 2 6
1:57:05 PM 3 5 8 6:46:58 PM 3 2 5
1:57:37 PM 3 7 10 6:47:10 PM 3 3 6
1:57:56 PM 4 6 10 6:47:29 PM 2 3 5
1:58:31 PM 3 5 8 6:47:47 PM 2 4 6
1:59:01 PM 4 4 8 6:47:58 PM 3 4 7
1:59:25 PM 4 6 10 6:48:11 PM 3 5 8
1:59:46 PM 5 5 10 6:48:40 PM 4 4 8
2:00:00 PM 4 6 10 6:49:01 PM 3 4 7

6:49:16 PM 4 3 7
6:49:30 PM 3 3 6
6:49:43 PM 3 4 7
6:50:03 PM 4 3 7
6:50:26 PM 3 3 6
6:50:48 PM 3 2 5
6:51:49 PM 2 2 4
6:52:11 PM 3 1 4
6:52:39 PM 4 0 4
6:53:33 PM 4 1 5
6:53:44 PM 3 1 4
6:54:01 PM 4 0 4
6:54:29 PM 4 1 5
6:54:43 PM 3 1 4
6:54:59 PM 3 2 5
6:55:10 PM 4 1 5
6:55:39 PM 3 1 4
6:55:51 PM 3 2 5
6:56:04 PM 2 2 4
6:56:29 PM 2 1 3
6:56:42 PM 2 2 4
6:56:56 PM 3 1 4
6:57:09 PM 2 1 3
6:57:20 PM 3 0 3
6:57:46 PM 2 0 2
6:58:02 PM 1 0 1
6:58:39 PM 1 1 2
6:59:02 PM 0 1 1
6:59:17 PM 0 2 2
6:59:29 PM 1 1 2
7:00:00 PM 1 1 2

Saturday	Queue

ATTACHMENT K



Project: Date:
City: Day:

12:00:00 PM 1 2 3 7:01:36 PM 4 10 14
12:01:05 PM 1 3 4 7:01:49 PM 2 10 12
12:01:10 PM 2 2 4 7:02:39 PM 2 10 12
12:01:35 PM 1 3 4 7:03:06 PM 2 10 12
12:01:50 PM 2 3 5 7:03:20 PM 2 9 11
12:02:07 PM 2 3 5 7:03:31 PM 1 9 10
12:02:49 PM 2 5 7 7:03:48 PM 2 9 11
12:03:38 PM 3 4 7 7:03:55 PM 2 9 11
12:04:03 PM 2 3 5 7:04:28 PM 2 9 11
12:04:16 PM 1 5 6 7:04:48 PM 2 8 10
12:04:34 PM 2 5 7 7:05:15 PM 1 7 8
12:04:48 PM 2 4 6 7:05:23 PM 2 7 9
12:05:08 PM 2 3 5 7:05:59 PM 3 8 11
12:05:33 PM 2 3 5 7:06:31 PM 2 7 9

12:05:46 PM 3 2 5 7:06:59 PM 1 7 8

12:06:10 PM 2 2 4 7:07:13 PM 2 7 9
12:06:30 PM 1 2 3 7:07:45 PM 3 8 11
12:06:45 PM 2 1 3 7:08:17 PM 4 8 12
12:06:53 PM 2 2 4 7:08:30 PM 3 9 12
12:07:01 PM 2 3 5 7:08:55 PM 4 8 12
12:07:14 PM 3 3 6 7:09:18 PM 4 9 13
12:07:47 PM 3 2 5 7:09:56 PM 5 8 13
12:08:01 PM 3 2 5 7:10:33 PM 5 9 14
12:08:23 PM 4 1 5 7:10:56 PM 4 8 12
12:08:38 PM 3 1 4 7:11:19 PM 4 8 12
12:08:53 PM 2 1 3 7:11:34 PM 3 8 11
12:09:14 PM 2 2 4 7:12:18 PM 3 8 11
12:09:28 PM 3 1 4 7:13:07 PM 4 8 12
12:09:33 PM 3 2 5 7:13:10 PM 3 6 9
12:09:50 PM 3 2 5 7:13:31 PM 2 6 8
12:10:05 PM 2 2 4 7:13:56 PM 3 8 11
12:10:12 PM 3 1 4 7:14:07 PM 2 9 11
12:10:21 PM 2 1 3 7:14:57 PM 3 9 12
12:10:44 PM 2 2 4 7:15:03 PM 2 9 11
12:10:49 PM 2 3 5 7:15:44 PM 2 9 11
12:10:50 PM 2 3 5 7:16:07 PM 3 8 11
12:11:07 PM 3 2 5 7:16:44 PM 4 9 13
12:11:23 PM 3 3 6 7:17:17 PM 3 9 12
12:11:37 PM 3 4 7 7:17:38 PM 2 9 11
12:11:50 PM 4 3 7 7:17:51 PM 2 9 11
12:12:01 PM 4 4 8 7:18:01 PM 3 8 11
12:13:16 PM 4 3 7 7:18:31 PM 4 9 13
12:13:21 PM 4 7 11 7:19:15 PM 5 8 13
12:13:31 PM 4 8 12 7:19:25 PM 4 10 14
12:13:43 PM 4 9 13 7:20:05 PM 3 10 13
12:14:25 PM 4 10 14 7:20:21 PM 3 10 13
12:15:39 PM 4 8 12 7:20:37 PM 2 10 12

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

Queue Study
Prepared by National Data & Surveying Services

8/22/2018
Wednesday

18-1161
Orange

12:00 PM - 2:30 PM 7:00PM - 9:30 PM

Total TotalArrival Time
Behind Order

Board
Pick-up to

Order Board
Arrival Time

Wednesday Queue
Orange Raising Cane's

ATTACHMENT K



Project: Date:
City: Day:

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

8/22/2018
Wednesday

18-1161
Orange

12:00 PM - 2:30 PM 7:00PM - 9:30 PM

Total TotalArrival Time
Behind Order

Board
Pick-up to

Order Board
Arrival Time

12:15:50 PM 5 8 13 7:20:55 PM 4 10 14
12:16:18 PM 5 7 12 7:21:22 PM 4 9 13
12:16:41 PM 4 5 9 7:21:41 PM 3 10 13
12:17:01 PM 3 5 8 7:21:53 PM 4 8 12
12:17:22 PM 4 5 9 7:22:21 PM 5 9 14
12:17:34 PM 3 3 6 7:22:35 PM 3 9 12
12:17:55 PM 2 3 5 7:22:54 PM 2 9 11
12:18:01 PM 2 3 5 7:23:09 PM 4 9 13
12:18:34 PM 1 3 4 7:23:19 PM 3 9 12
12:18:53 PM 1 3 4 7:23:34 PM 2 9 11
12:19:21 PM 1 4 5 7:23:48 PM 2 9 11
12:19:29 PM 2 5 7 7:24:05 PM 2 9 11
12:19:49 PM 2 5 7 7:24:10 PM 3 9 12
12:20:18 PM 3 3 6 7:24:44 PM 2 8 10
12:20:31 PM 2 4 6 7:24:55 PM 3 8 11
12:20:45 PM 2 4 6 7:25:03 PM 2 9 11
12:20:59 PM 2 5 7 7:25:15 PM 3 8 11
12:21:05 PM 2 6 8 7:25:28 PM 2 8 10
12:21:27 PM 3 4 7 7:25:44 PM 2 9 11
12:21:44 PM 2 4 6 7:25:58 PM 3 8 11
12:21:54 PM 3 4 7 7:26:11 PM 2 9 11
12:22:05 PM 2 4 6 7:26:35 PM 3 8 11
12:22:12 PM 3 3 6 7:26:54 PM 4 7 11
12:22:28 PM 2 3 5 7:27:07 PM 3 6 9
12:22:43 PM 2 3 5 7:27:33 PM 3 6 9
12:22:49 PM 3 2 5 7:27:47 PM 3 6 9
12:22:57 PM 3 3 6 7:28:10 PM 3 7 10
12:23:06 PM 2 3 5 7:29:10 PM 4 7 11
12:23:23 PM 2 3 5 7:29:35 PM 5 7 12
12:23:30 PM 0 3 3 7:29:47 PM 4 8 12
12:24:02 PM 2 3 5 7:30:18 PM 5 7 12
12:24:19 PM 2 4 6 7:30:42 PM 3 7 10
12:24:30 PM 1 4 5 7:31:16 PM 4 7 11
12:25:06 PM 1 3 4 7:31:42 PM 4 7 11
12:25:25 PM 1 4 5 7:31:52 PM 5 6 11
12:25:32 PM 1 4 5 7:32:04 PM 4 6 10
12:26:00 PM 2 3 5 7:32:24 PM 3 6 9
12:26:17 PM 2 4 6 7:32:36 PM 4 7 11
12:26:35 PM 2 4 6 7:32:46 PM 3 7 10
12:26:47 PM 1 4 5 7:33:05 PM 4 6 10
12:27:45 PM 2 4 6 7:33:27 PM 3 7 10
12:27:44 PM 3 3 6 7:33:40 PM 4 6 10
12:27:58 PM 3 4 7 7:34:21 PM 4 5 9
12:28:15 PM 3 5 8 7:34:52 PM 3 5 8
12:28:37 PM 4 7 11 7:35:08 PM 3 5 8
12:28:55 PM 4 7 11 7:36:07 PM 3 6 9
12:29:27 PM 3 5 8 7:36:16 PM 3 5 8
12:29:54 PM 2 5 7 7:36:36 PM 4 4 8
12:30:12 PM 3 3 6 7:37:19 PM 5 3 8
12:30:31 PM 2 3 5 7:37:43 PM 4 3 7
12:30:50 PM 3 4 7 7:37:55 PM 5 2 7

Wednesday Queue
Orange Raising Cane's

ATTACHMENT K



Project: Date:
City: Day:

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

8/22/2018
Wednesday

18-1161
Orange

12:00 PM - 2:30 PM 7:00PM - 9:30 PM

Total TotalArrival Time
Behind Order

Board
Pick-up to

Order Board
Arrival Time

12:31:40 PM 4 3 7 7:38:10 PM 5 3 8
12:31:59 PM 4 3 7 7:38:37 PM 4 4 8
12:32:25 PM 4 4 8 7:38:58 PM 3 4 7
12:32:46 PM 3 4 7 7:39:14 PM 4 3 7
12:33:06 PM 2 4 6 7:39:19 PM 4 3 7
12:33:11 PM 2 3 5 7:40:02 PM 5 2 7
12:33:26 PM 2 4 6 7:40:41 PM 5 3 8
12:33:43 PM 1 4 5 7:41:36 PM 5 4 9
12:33:55 PM 2 3 5 7:41:49 PM 5 4 9
12:34:08 PM 2 4 6 7:42:06 PM 4 4 8
12:34:15 PM 2 5 7 7:42:19 PM 4 4 8
12:34:32 PM 2 5 7 7:42:41 PM 5 3 8
12:34:50 PM 2 6 8 7:42:49 PM 4 3 7
12:35:10 PM 3 6 9 7:43:01 PM 4 3 7
12:35:22 PM 3 6 9 7:43:12 PM 4 4 8
12:35:45 PM 3 4 7 7:43:30 PM 4 3 7
12:36:17 PM 3 4 7 7:43:50 PM 4 4 8
12:36:38 PM 3 4 7 7:44:09 PM 5 3 8
12:36:54 PM 3 3 6 7:45:10 PM 5 4 9
12:37:25 PM 3 6 9 7:45:39 PM 4 4 8
12:38:05 PM 5 5 10 7:45:56 PM 5 3 8
12:40:02 PM 5 4 9 7:46:04 PM 4 3 7
12:40:39 PM 2 4 6 7:46:21 PM 4 4 8
12:40:42 PM 3 3 6 7:46:30 PM 4 4 8
12:41:08 PM 2 3 5 7:47:12 PM 3 4 7
12:41:25 PM 2 4 6 7:47:46 PM 2 4 6
12:41:39 PM 1 4 5 7:48:05 PM 3 4 7
12:41:05 PM 2 6 8 7:48:10 PM 2 4 6
12:42:28 PM 2 7 9 7:48:45 PM 2 4 6
12:42:38 PM 3 6 9 7:49:02 PM 1 4 5
12:43:34 PM 2 5 7 7:49:10 PM 2 5 7
12:44:09 PM 2 6 8 7:49:37 PM 3 4 7
12:44:46 PM 2 5 7 7:50:12 PM 4 3 7
12:45:04 PM 2 5 7 7:50:21 PM 3 3 6
12:45:30 PM 3 4 7 7:50:43 PM 4 3 7
12:45:45 PM 2 4 6 7:51:02 PM 3 3 6
12:46:01 PM 3 4 7 7:51:29 PM 3 3 6
12:46:24 PM 4 5 9 7:51:42 PM 3 3 6
12:47:00 PM 5 4 9 7:51:50 PM 3 4 7
12:47:36 PM 4 4 8 7:52:00 PM 4 3 7
12:47:54 PM 5 4 9 7:52:11 PM 4 4 8
12:48:21 PM 4 4 8 7:53:04 PM 4 3 7
12:48:49 PM 4 3 7 7:53:36 PM 5 6 11
12:48:57 PM 4 3 7 7:54:08 PM 4 6 10
12:49:23 PM 3 3 6 7:54:28 PM 5 7 12
12:49:44 PM 5 2 7 7:54:42 PM 4 6 10
12:49:59 PM 4 2 6 7:55:12 PM 3 6 9
12:50:31 PM 3 3 6 7:55:33 PM 3 6 9
12:50:47 PM 4 3 7 7:55:40 PM 2 6 8
12:51:10 PM 3 6 9 7:55:49 PM 3 6 9
12:51:38 PM 4 5 9 7:56:12 PM 3 6 9

Wednesday Queue
Orange Raising Cane's

ATTACHMENT K



Project: Date:
City: Day:

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

8/22/2018
Wednesday

18-1161
Orange

12:00 PM - 2:30 PM 7:00PM - 9:30 PM

Total TotalArrival Time
Behind Order

Board
Pick-up to

Order Board
Arrival Time

12:51:59 PM 3 5 8 7:56:24 PM 4 6 10
12:52:39 PM 3 5 8 7:57:00 PM 5 6 11
12:52:58 PM 4 4 8 7:57:11 PM 4 6 10
12:53:21 PM 4 6 10 7:57:34 PM 5 7 12
12:53:30 PM 4 8 12 7:57:59 PM 4 8 12
12:53:49 PM 5 11 16 7:58:30 PM 3 7 10
12:54:21 PM 3 11 14 7:58:48 PM 4 6 10
12:55:06 PM 4 10 14 7:59:11 PM 5 6 11
12:55:36 PM 4 9 13 8:00:34 PM 5 7 12
12:56:19 PM 3 9 12 8:01:21 PM 5 6 11
12:56:35 PM 4 8 12 8:01:53 PM 4 6 10
12:56:54 PM 4 8 12 8:02:21 PM 4 5 9
12:57:25 PM 4 10 14 8:02:31 PM 4 6 10
12:58:02 PM 5 8 13 8:02:50 PM 3 6 9
12:59:14 PM 4 9 13 8:02:59 PM 2 6 8
12:59:24 PM 4 9 13 8:03:22 PM 3 5 8
12:59:57 PM 5 8 13 8:03:34 PM 2 6 8
1:00:12 PM 4 9 13 8:03:46 PM 3 6 9
1:00:32 PM 4 9 13 8:04:04 PM 2 7 9
1:00:46 PM 4 7 11 8:04:30 PM 2 7 9
1:00:59 PM 3 7 10 8:04:45 PM 2 7 9
1:01:36 PM 4 6 10 8:05:17 PM 3 6 9
1:01:49 PM 3 7 10 8:05:39 PM 2 9 11
1:02:05 PM 4 6 10 8:05:51 PM 3 6 9
1:02:26 PM 3 6 9 8:06:10 PM 2 6 8
1:02:48 PM 2 8 10 8:06:37 PM 2 7 9
1:03:01 PM 3 9 12 8:06:49 PM 3 7 10
1:03:24 PM 2 9 11 8:07:03 PM 2 8 10
1:03:40 PM 3 8 11 8:07:14 PM 1 8 9
1:03:48 PM 3 8 11 8:07:41 PM 1 7 8
1:04:13 PM 1 7 8 8:07:56 PM 2 6 8
1:04:29 PM 2 8 10 8:08:30 PM 3 6 9
1:05:06 PM 4 8 12 8:08:52 PM 3 5 8
1:05:22 PM 3 7 10 8:09:11 PM 3 6 9
1:05:45 PM 4 7 11 8:09:25 PM 2 6 8
1:06:01 PM 2 7 9 8:09:41 PM 2 6 8
1:06:39 PM 4 6 10 8:09:52 PM 3 6 9
1:07:19 PM 2 6 8 8:10:41 PM 3 7 10
1:07:34 PM 4 5 9 8:11:18 PM 3 7 10
1:07:48 PM 4 5 9 8:11:41 PM 2 6 8
1:07:58 PM 2 5 7 8:11:52 PM 3 7 10
1:08:06 PM 4 7 11 8:12:16 PM 3 6 9
1:08:34 PM 4 5 9 8:12:48 PM 3 7 10
1:09:03 PM 5 4 9 8:12:59 PM 4 7 11
1:09:36 PM 4 6 10 8:13:39 PM 4 8 12
1:09:59 PM 5 6 11 8:14:19 PM 5 8 13
1:10:09 PM 4 4 8 8:14:41 PM 4 8 12
1:10:36 PM 3 4 7 8:15:02 PM 3 8 11
1:10:53 PM 3 3 6 8:15:21 PM 4 8 12
1:11:26 PM 3 2 5 8:15:59 PM 4 7 11
1:12:01 PM 4 2 6 8:16:12 PM 4 7 11

Wednesday Queue
Orange Raising Cane's

ATTACHMENT K



Project: Date:
City: Day:

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

8/22/2018
Wednesday

18-1161
Orange

12:00 PM - 2:30 PM 7:00PM - 9:30 PM

Total TotalArrival Time
Behind Order

Board
Pick-up to

Order Board
Arrival Time

1:12:30 PM 3 3 6 8:16:31 PM 3 7 10
1:12:57 PM 3 3 6 8:16:54 PM 4 7 11
1:13:05 PM 4 2 6 8:17:32 PM 5 7 12
1:13:17 PM 3 2 5 8:17:53 PM 4 6 10
1:13:28 PM 3 2 5 8:18:34 PM 4 6 10
1:13:45 PM 3 3 6 8:18:47 PM 5 6 11
1:13:58 PM 3 5 8 8:19:07 PM 3 7 10
1:14:19 PM 3 6 9 8:19:34 PM 3 8 11
1:14:52 PM 4 6 10 8:19:57 PM 3 7 10
1:15:11 PM 4 5 9 8:20:23 PM 2 7 9
1:15:26 PM 5 5 10 8:20:51 PM 3 7 10
1:16:09 PM 5 5 10 8:21:08 PM 2 6 8
1:16:37 PM 3 5 8 8:21:47 PM 2 6 8
1:17:15 PM 3 6 9 8:21:55 PM 3 5 8
1:17:38 PM 4 5 9 8:22:12 PM 2 5 7
1:18:46 PM 4 4 8 8:22:34 PM 3 6 9
1:18:58 PM 5 6 11 8:23:02 PM 3 6 9
1:19:42 PM 4 6 10 8:23:09 PM 2 6 8
1:20:30 PM 3 7 10 8:23:33 PM 2 6 8
1:21:01 PM 2 7 9 8:23:54 PM 1 6 7
1:21:09 PM 2 7 9 8:24:21 PM 1 5 6
1:21:20 PM 2 6 8 8:24:56 PM 2 4 6
1:21:42 PM 1 6 7 8:25:19 PM 2 4 6
1:22:12 PM 0 6 6 8:25:28 PM 3 5 8
1:22:34 PM 1 6 7 8:25:53 PM 3 5 8
1:22:55 PM 2 5 7 8:26:06 PM 4 6 10
1:23:33 PM 3 4 7 8:26:48 PM 5 6 11
1:23:41 PM 2 4 6 8:27:02 PM 4 6 10
1:23:49 PM 3 3 6 8:27:11 PM 5 5 10
1:24:10 PM 2 3 5 8:27:40 PM 4 5 9
1:24:12 PM 3 2 5 8:27:53 PM 4 4 8
1:24:45 PM 3 3 6 8:28:14 PM 5 4 9
1:24:57 PM 3 3 6 8:28:30 PM 3 2 5
1:25:14 PM 3 4 7 8:28:46 PM 2 3 5
1:25:42 PM 3 3 6 8:28:59 PM 2 4 6
1:25:51 PM 2 3 5 8:29:00 PM 1 4 5
1:26:03 PM 3 3 6 8:29:13 PM 2 3 5
1:26:14 PM 2 3 5 8:29:39 PM 1 3 4
1:26:20 PM 2 3 5 8:29:55 PM 2 2 4
1:26:28 PM 3 2 5 8:30:01 PM 2 2 4
1:26:47 PM 2 2 4 8:30:38 PM 3 1 4
1:27:07 PM 3 1 4 8:30:43 PM 3 2 5
1:27:25 PM 2 2 4 8:30:50 PM 2 2 4
1:27:42 PM 2 3 5 8:30:59 PM 2 3 5
1:27:53 PM 3 2 5 8:31:11 PM 2 3 5
1:28:07 PM 2 2 4 8:31:48 PM 1 4 5
1:28:23 PM 3 2 5 8:32:23 PM 2 4 6
1:28:43 PM 3 3 6 8:32:31 PM 1 4 5
1:28:42 PM 2 3 5 8:32:49 PM 2 4 6
1:29:09 PM 1 3 4 8:32:59 PM 2 4 6
1:29:42 PM 2 2 4 8:33:10 PM 2 5 7

Wednesday Queue
Orange Raising Cane's

ATTACHMENT K



Project: Date:
City: Day:

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

8/22/2018
Wednesday

18-1161
Orange

12:00 PM - 2:30 PM 7:00PM - 9:30 PM

Total TotalArrival Time
Behind Order

Board
Pick-up to

Order Board
Arrival Time

1:29:54 PM 3 2 5 8:33:26 PM 2 5 7
1:30:06 PM 2 2 4 8:33:48 PM 2 6 8
1:30:30 PM 1 2 3 8:33:58 PM 1 6 7
1:30:30 PM 1 2 3 8:34:13 PM 2 5 7
1:30:57 PM 1 1 2 8:34:20 PM 1 5 6
1:31:27 PM 2 0 2 8:35:02 PM 2 5 7
1:31:33 PM 2 0 2 8:35:21 PM 2 6 8
1:32:29 PM 2 0 2 8:35:48 PM 3 5 8
1:33:28 PM 2 1 3 8:36:07 PM 4 5 9
1:33:40 PM 2 2 4 8:36:40 PM 5 4 9
1:33:42 PM 2 3 5 8:36:54 PM 5 4 9
1:33:51 PM 1 3 4 8:37:06 PM 5 5 10
1:34:06 PM 0 3 3 8:37:20 PM 5 5 10
1:34:19 PM 1 2 3 8:37:41 PM 4 5 9
1:34:39 PM 2 1 3 8:38:13 PM 3 5 8
1:35:10 PM 3 0 3 8:38:34 PM 4 5 9
1:35:28 PM 3 1 4 8:39:00 PM 5 5 10
1:35:56 PM 4 1 5 8:39:23 PM 4 5 9
1:36:08 PM 5 2 7 8:39:51 PM 3 5 8
1:36:56 PM 3 2 5 8:40:19 PM 3 3 6
1:37:09 PM 3 1 4 8:40:43 PM 2 4 6
1:37:22 PM 3 2 5 8:41:05 PM 3 3 6
1:37:39 PM 3 2 5 8:41:18 PM 2 3 5
1:38:04 PM 2 2 4 8:41:26 PM 3 2 5
1:38:34 PM 2 1 3 8:41:55 PM 2 2 4
1:39:13 PM 3 0 3 8:42:09 PM 3 1 4
1:39:19 PM 3 1 4 8:42:19 PM 2 1 3
1:39:25 PM 3 1 4 8:42:25 PM 2 2 4
1:39:40 PM 2 1 3 8:42:37 PM 1 3 4
1:40:01 PM 2 1 3 8:42:49 PM 2 3 5
1:40:24 PM 2 1 3 8:43:17 PM 2 3 5
1:40:45 PM 1 2 3 8:43:32 PM 3 2 5
1:41:11 PM 2 2 4 8:43:42 PM 3 3 6
1:41:32 PM 2 1 3 8:43:56 PM 4 2 6
1:41:45 PM 2 2 4 8:44:09 PM 4 3 7
1:41:53 PM 3 2 5 8:44:17 PM 3 3 6
1:42:21 PM 3 3 6 8:44:29 PM 4 3 7
1:43:17 PM 4 2 6 8:44:46 PM 4 3 7
1:43:29 PM 3 3 6 8:45:24 PM 5 2 7
1:43:42 PM 3 2 5 8:45:32 PM 4 3 7
1:44:18 PM 3 1 4 8:45:50 PM 3 3 6
1:44:59 PM 4 0 4 8:46:04 PM 3 4 7
1:45:10 PM 3 0 3 8:46:22 PM 3 3 6
1:45:27 PM 2 0 2 8:46:47 PM 3 3 6
1:45:36 PM 2 0 2 8:46:58 PM 4 2 6
1:46:06 PM 2 0 2 8:47:07 PM 3 2 5
1:46:53 PM 1 0 1 8:47:37 PM 4 1 5
1:48:15 PM 0 1 1 8:48:04 PM 3 1 4
1:49:02 PM 0 2 2 8:48:30 PM 3 0 3
1:49:40 PM 1 2 3 8:49:06 PM 2 0 2
1:50:28 PM 2 3 5 8:49:17 PM 2 0 2

Wednesday Queue
Orange Raising Cane's

ATTACHMENT K



Project: Date:
City: Day:

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

8/22/2018
Wednesday

18-1161
Orange

12:00 PM - 2:30 PM 7:00PM - 9:30 PM

Total TotalArrival Time
Behind Order

Board
Pick-up to

Order Board
Arrival Time

1:50:57 PM 3 3 6 8:49:28 PM 2 1 3
1:51:12 PM 3 2 5 8:49:45 PM 1 1 2
1:51:33 PM 3 2 5 8:50:12 PM 2 0 2
1:51:44 PM 4 1 5 8:50:24 PM 2 1 3
1:51:50 PM 4 2 6 8:50:28 PM 2 2 4
1:52:02 PM 4 2 6 8:50:59 PM 2 2 4
1:52:07 PM 3 2 5 8:51:09 PM 1 2 3
1:52:23 PM 2 2 4 8:51:44 PM 0 2 2
1:52:32 PM 2 2 4 8:51:55 PM 0 3 3
1:52:41 PM 3 1 4 8:52:29 PM 1 2 3
1:52:44 PM 3 2 5 8:52:44 PM 1 3 4
1:52:54 PM 3 2 5 8:52:52 PM 1 4 5
1:53:10 PM 2 2 4 8:53:34 PM 1 5 6
1:53:31 PM 2 3 5 8:53:42 PM 1 5 6
1:53:51 PM 3 2 5 8:53:56 PM 2 5 7
1:54:03 PM 2 3 5 8:54:19 PM 2 4 6
1:54:21 PM 2 2 4 8:54:58 PM 3 3 6
1:54:30 PM 2 2 4 8:55:21 PM 3 3 6
1:54:36 PM 3 1 4 8:55:32 PM 3 4 7
1:54:57 PM 2 1 3 8:55:51 PM 3 4 7
1:55:10 PM 3 0 3 8:56:05 PM 2 4 6
1:55:14 PM 2 2 4 8:56:15 PM 2 5 7
1:55:25 PM 2 2 4 8:56:29 PM 3 4 7
1:55:43 PM 1 2 3 8:56:53 PM 3 5 8
1:55:50 PM 2 1 3 8:57:04 PM 2 5 7
1:55:57 PM 2 1 3 8:57:29 PM 2 4 6
1:56:23 PM 3 0 3 8:57:49 PM 2 4 6
1:56:31 PM 3 0 3 8:58:10 PM 3 3 6
1:56:44 PM 2 0 2 8:58:39 PM 3 4 7
1:56:55 PM 2 1 3 8:59:01 PM 2 4 6
1:57:07 PM 1 1 2 8:59:19 PM 3 4 7
1:57:54 PM 1 2 3 9:00:11 PM 4 4 8
1:57:59 PM 0 2 2 9:00:22 PM 4 5 9
1:58:18 PM 1 2 3 9:00:31 PM 5 4 9
1:58:35 PM 1 3 4 9:00:48 PM 5 5 10
1:58:49 PM 2 2 4 9:01:12 PM 4 5 9
1:58:57 PM 2 2 4 9:01:46 PM 5 5 10
1:59:21 PM 1 2 3 9:02:37 PM 4 5 9
1:59:32 PM 1 2 3 9:02:48 PM 5 4 9
1:59:41 PM 2 1 3 9:03:45 PM 4 4 8
1:59:49 PM 2 2 4 9:04:01 PM 3 4 7
1:59:55 PM 2 3 5 9:04:15 PM 4 3 7
2:00:03 PM 1 3 4 9:04:20 PM 4 4 8
2:00:14 PM 2 2 4 9:04:25 PM 3 4 7
2:00:21 PM 2 3 5 9:04:34 PM 4 4 8
2:00:38 PM 3 2 5 9:04:45 PM 3 3 6
2:00:47 PM 2 2 4 9:05:12 PM 4 2 6
2:01:05 PM 2 3 5 9:05:18 PM 3 2 5
2:01:22 PM 2 3 5 9:05:34 PM 3 3 6
2:01:32 PM 2 2 4 9:05:46 PM 4 2 6
2:01:49 PM 1 3 4 9:05:57 PM 3 3 6

Wednesday Queue
Orange Raising Cane's

ATTACHMENT K



Project: Date:
City: Day:

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

8/22/2018
Wednesday

18-1161
Orange

12:00 PM - 2:30 PM 7:00PM - 9:30 PM

Total TotalArrival Time
Behind Order

Board
Pick-up to

Order Board
Arrival Time

2:02:12 PM 1 3 4 9:06:26 PM 3 2 5
2:02:22 PM 2 2 4 9:06:39 PM 3 2 5
2:02:56 PM 3 1 4 9:06:52 PM 2 3 5
2:03:05 PM 3 1 4 9:07:19 PM 3 2 5
2:03:10 PM 4 0 4 9:07:50 PM 3 2 5
2:03:23 PM 3 1 4 9:08:15 PM 3 2 5
2:03:39 PM 2 1 3 9:08:23 PM 3 3 6
2:04:05 PM 2 2 4 9:08:28 PM 2 3 5
2:04:10 PM 1 2 3 9:08:45 PM 3 2 5
2:04:17 PM 2 1 3 9:08:51 PM 2 2 4
2:04:39 PM 2 1 3 9:09:00 PM 2 3 5
2:04:52 PM 3 2 5 9:09:19 PM 2 2 4
2:05:01 PM 2 2 4 9:09:51 PM 1 2 3
2:05:30 PM 2 2 4 9:09:57 PM 1 2 3
2:05:42 PM 2 1 3 9:10:35 PM 2 3 5
2:06:02 PM 1 2 3 9:10:55 PM 1 3 4
2:06:22 PM 2 1 3 9:11:24 PM 2 3 5
2:06:27 PM 2 2 4 9:11:41 PM 2 5 7
2:00:35 PM 2 3 5 9:11:50 PM 2 6 8
2:06:43 PM 3 2 5 9:12:14 PM 2 6 8
2:07:27 PM 2 2 4 9:12:34 PM 2 6 8
2:07:35 PM 3 2 5 9:13:02 PM 2 5 7
2:07:55 PM 2 2 4 9:13:44 PM 2 4 6
2:08:09 PM 3 1 4 9:13:51 PM 2 5 7
2:08:24 PM 3 2 5 9:14:11 PM 1 5 6
2:08:34 PM 2 2 4 9:14:39 PM 1 5 6
2:08:54 PM 3 2 5 9:14:52 PM 2 5 7
2:09:03 PM 3 2 5 9:15:24 PM 2 6 8
2:09:10 PM 2 2 4 9:15:45 PM 3 5 8
2:09:17 PM 3 1 4 9:16:20 PM 4 5 9
2:09:46 PM 4 0 4 9:17:06 PM 4 6 10
2:09:51 PM 3 0 3 9:17:52 PM 3 6 9
2:10:37 PM 2 1 3 9:18:01 PM 2 6 8
2:10:59 PM 2 1 3 9:18:11 PM 3 5 8
2:11:17 PM 3 0 3 9:18:22 PM 2 5 7
2:11:26 PM 2 0 2 9:18:50 PM 3 4 7
2:11:46 PM 1 0 1 9:19:13 PM 4 4 8
2:11:52 PM 1 0 1 9:19:37 PM 3 5 8
2:11:56 PM 1 1 2 9:19:54 PM 4 4 8
2:12:22 PM 2 1 3 9:20:21 PM 4 4 8
2:12:46 PM 2 2 4 9:20:41 PM 5 4 9
2:13:01 PM 3 1 4 9:21:35 PM 4 6 10
2:13:11 PM 2 1 3 9:22:31 PM 5 5 10
2:13:22 PM 3 0 3 9:22:50 PM 5 6 11
2:13:49 PM 2 0 2 9:23:46 PM 4 6 10
2:14:15 PM 1 1 2 9:23:55 PM 5 7 12
2:14:36 PM 2 0 2 9:24:21 PM 3 6 9
2:14:54 PM 2 1 3 9:24:51 PM 3 6 9
2:15:08 PM 1 1 2 9:25:21 PM 3 4 7
2:15:17 PM 2 0 2 9:25:36 PM 3 5 8
2:15:36 PM 1 0 1 9:26:14 PM 3 4 7

Wednesday Queue
Orange Raising Cane's

ATTACHMENT K



Project: Date:
City: Day:

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

8/22/2018
Wednesday

18-1161
Orange

12:00 PM - 2:30 PM 7:00PM - 9:30 PM

Total TotalArrival Time
Behind Order

Board
Pick-up to

Order Board
Arrival Time

2:15:54 PM 1 0 1 9:26:42 PM 4 3 7
2:16:32 PM 1 1 2 9:27:03 PM 4 3 7
2:17:21 PM 1 2 3 9:27:27 PM 3 2 5
2:17:31 PM 2 1 3 9:27:43 PM 3 3 6
2:17:50 PM 3 0 3 9:27:57 PM 2 3 5
2:18:04 PM 3 0 3 9:28:21 PM 3 3 6
2:18:27 PM 2 0 2 9:28:32 PM 3 4 7
2:19:06 PM 1 0 1 9:28:41 PM 2 4 6
2:19:34 PM 0 1 1 9:28:49 PM 2 4 6
2:19:55 PM 1 1 2 9:29:09 PM 2 4 6
2:20:05 PM 1 3 4 9:29:09 PM 2 3 5
2:20:37 PM 1 4 5 9:29:32 PM 2 3 5
2:20:45 PM 1 4 5 9:29:41 PM 3 2 5
2:21:28 PM 2 3 5 9:29:59 PM 2 3 5
2:21:52 PM 3 2 5 9:30:05 PM 2 3 5
2:22:05 PM 3 3 6
2:22:27 PM 4 2 6
2:22:47 PM 4 2 6
2:22:56 PM 3 2 5
2:23:21 PM 3 2 5
2:23:33 PM 4 1 5
2:23:42 PM 3 1 4
2:23:51 PM 4 0 4
2:23:53 PM 3 0 3
2:24:25 PM 2 0 2
2:24:50 PM 2 1 3
2:25:31 PM 1 1 2
2:25:52 PM 0 1 1
2:26:02 PM 1 0 1
2:26:13 PM 1 1 2
2:26:49 PM 2 1 3
2:27:04 PM 2 1 3
2:27:20 PM 1 1 2
2:27:27 PM 1 1 2
2:27:50 PM 0 1 1
2:27:57 PM 1 0 1
2:28:36 PM 1 0 1
2:28:42 PM 1 1 2
2:29:31 PM 1 1 2
2:29:37 PM 1 2 3
2:29:53 PM 2 1 3

Wednesday Queue
Orange Raising Cane's

ATTACHMENT K



Project: Date:
City: Day:

12:02:39 PM 0 1 1 7:01:58 PM 1 8 9
12:03:46 PM 2 1 3 7:03:12 PM 0 8 8
12:04:53 PM 1 1 2 7:03:33 PM 1 7 8
12:05:49 PM 2 1 3 7:04:10 PM 2 7 9
12:06:12 PM 2 2 4 7:04:21 PM 2 7 9
12:06:34 PM 1 2 3 7:04:40 PM 3 7 10
12:06:44 PM 2 1 3 7:04:53 PM 4 6 10
12:06:53 PM 2 2 4 7:05:10 PM 3 6 9
12:07:00 PM 2 3 5 7:05:17 PM 2 5 7
12:07:15 PM 2 2 4 7:05:29 PM 2 7 9
12:07:37 PM 2 2 4 7:06:15 PM 0 7 7
12:08:04 PM 3 2 5 7:06:57 PM 2 6 8
12:08:23 PM 2 2 4 7:07:21 PM 2 8 10
12:08:38 PM 2 2 4 7:07:46 PM 3 10 13
12:08:57 PM 1 2 3 7:08:36 PM 3 9 12
12:09:05 PM 2 3 5 7:08:56 PM 2 9 11
12:09:22 PM 2 4 6 7:09:28 PM 4 8 12
12:09:43 PM 3 3 6 7:09:52 PM 3 7 10
12:09:17 PM 2 4 6 7:10:11 PM 2 8 10
12:10:02 PM 2 4 6 7:10:42 PM 3 8 11
12:10:18 PM 3 4 7 7:11:01 PM 1 8 9
12:10:32 PM 3 4 7 7:11:20 PM 3 7 10
12:10:53 PM 4 4 8 7:11:31 PM 2 7 9
12:11:26 PM 5 3 8 7:11:51 PM 2 7 9
12:11:38 PM 5 4 9 7:12:07 PM 1 7 8
12:12:03 PM 4 5 9 7:12:38 PM 0 7 7
12:12:19 PM 3 5 8 7:12:46 PM 1 6 7
12:12:36 PM 4 4 8 7:13:28 PM 2 7 9
12:13:04 PM 3 5 8 7:13:50 PM 3 6 9
12:13:14 PM 3 4 7 7:14:19 PM 4 5 9
12:13:38 PM 4 4 8 7:14:43 PM 3 5 8
12:13:56 PM 3 4 7 7:15:49 PM 3 6 9
12:14:12 PM 2 4 6 7:16:08 PM 2 6 8
12:14:47 PM 2 4 6 7:16:29 PM 1 6 7
12:14:58 PM 1 4 5 7:16:50 PM 0 8 8
12:15:05 PM 1 4 5 7:17:03 PM 1 9 10
12:16:10 PM 2 3 5 7:17:38 PM 2 9 11
12:16:28 PM 2 4 6 7:18:06 PM 2 10 12
12:16:43 PM 1 4 5 7:18:13 PM 3 10 13
12:16:50 PM 1 4 5 7:18:40 PM 4 9 13
12:17:05 PM 2 3 5 7:19:36 PM 5 8 13
12:17:22 PM 1 4 5 7:20:07 PM 5 7 12
12:17:41 PM 2 3 5 7:20:27 PM 4 7 11
12:17:53 PM 2 3 5 7:20:48 PM 3 9 12
12:18:16 PM 3 3 6 7:21:28 PM 2 10 12
12:18:29 PM 3 4 7 7:21:41 PM 2 11 13
12:18:57 PM 3 4 7 7:22:00 PM 1 11 12

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

Queue Study
Prepared by National Data & Surveying Services

8/18/2018
Saturday

18-1161
Orange

12:00 PM - 2:30 PM 7:00PM - 9:30 PM

Total TotalArrival Time
Behind Order

Board
Pick-up to

Order Board
Arrival Time

Saturday Queue
Orange Raising Cane's

ATTACHMENT K



Project: Date:
City: Day:

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

8/18/2018
Saturday

18-1161
Orange

12:00 PM - 2:30 PM 7:00PM - 9:30 PM

Total TotalArrival Time
Behind Order

Board
Pick-up to

Order Board
Arrival Time

12:19:20 PM 2 4 6 7:22:27 PM 0 11 11
12:19:35 PM 3 4 7 7:22:55 PM 1 11 12
12:19:58 PM 4 4 8 7:23:30 PM 2 10 12
12:20:10 PM 3 4 7 7:23:58 PM 2 10 12
12:20:46 PM 3 4 7 7:24:24 PM 3 9 12
12:21:05 PM 2 4 6 7:24:40 PM 3 9 12
12:21:15 PM 2 3 5 7:24:52 PM 2 9 11
12:21:31 PM 1 3 4 7:25:03 PM 3 9 12
12:21:38 PM 2 3 5 7:25:21 PM 3 9 12
12:21:49 PM 2 4 6 7:25:59 PM 4 9 13
12:22:21 PM 2 4 6 7:26:19 PM 4 9 13
12:22:48 PM 1 4 5 7:26:48 PM 3 9 12
12:22:59 PM 2 5 7 7:27:01 PM 2 10 12
12:23:01 PM 2 5 7 7:27:33 PM 3 10 13
12:23:32 PM 1 6 7 7:27:57 PM 4 9 13
12:23:53 PM 1 6 7 7:29:43 PM 4 9 13
12:24:24 PM 0 6 6 7:30:04 PM 3 9 12
12:24:32 PM 1 5 6 7:30:17 PM 4 11 15
12:25:00 PM 2 6 8 7:31:07 PM 4 10 14
12:25:46 PM 3 5 8 7:31:17 PM 3 10 13
12:26:27 PM 4 5 9 7:31:44 PM 3 10 13
12:26:42 PM 3 5 8 7:31:59 PM 4 9 13
12:27:06 PM 3 6 9 7:32:06 PM 3 9 12
12:27:37 PM 3 5 8 7:32:16 PM 4 12 16
12:27:52 PM 3 6 9 7:32:37 PM 2 11 13
12:28:06 PM 3 7 10 7:32:57 PM 3 11 14
12:28:31 PM 2 8 10 7:33:12 PM 3 10 13
12:28:52 PM 2 8 10 7:33:57 PM 4 9 13
12:29:03 PM 3 7 10 7:34:09 PM 3 9 12
12:29:29 PM 2 6 8 7:34:41 PM 3 10 13
12:29:57 PM 3 5 8 7:35:11 PM 4 10 14
12:30:20 PM 2 5 7 7:35:21 PM 3 10 13
12:30:32 PM 2 5 7 7:35:31 PM 2 10 12
12:30:47 PM 2 6 8 7:35:50 PM 1 9 10
12:31:11 PM 2 6 8 7:37:00 PM 2 10 12
12:31:24 PM 2 6 8 7:37:15 PM 1 10 11
12:31:57 PM 3 5 8 7:37:47 PM 2 9 11
12:32:07 PM 2 5 7 7:38:05 PM 3 8 11
12:32:21 PM 2 5 7 7:38:55 PM 3 8 11
12:32:40 PM 3 4 7 7:39:16 PM 4 7 11
12:32:58 PM 2 4 6 7:39:35 PM 3 7 10
12:33:08 PM 3 3 6 7:39:57 PM 3 6 9
12:33:19 PM 2 3 5 7:40:10 PM 2 6 8
12:33:36 PM 3 2 5 7:40:49 PM 3 5 8
12:33:56 PM 3 2 5 7:41:19 PM 2 5 7
12:34:06 PM 4 1 5 7:41:41 PM 3 4 7
12:34:16 PM 4 2 6 7:41:52 PM 2 6 8
12:34:25 PM 3 3 6 7:42:14 PM 1 6 7
12:34:39 PM 2 3 5 7:42:22 PM 2 5 7
12:34:53 PM 2 3 5 7:42:31 PM 2 6 8
12:35:03 PM 3 3 6 7:42:56 PM 4 5 9

Saturday Queue
Orange Raising Cane's

ATTACHMENT K



Project: Date:
City: Day:

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

8/18/2018
Saturday

18-1161
Orange

12:00 PM - 2:30 PM 7:00PM - 9:30 PM

Total TotalArrival Time
Behind Order

Board
Pick-up to

Order Board
Arrival Time

12:35:19 PM 3 3 6 7:43:07 PM 3 5 8
12:35:25 PM 2 3 5 7:43:16 PM 3 6 9
12:35:45 PM 1 3 4 7:43:33 PM 4 5 9
12:35:52 PM 1 3 4 7:43:49 PM 3 5 8
12:36:11 PM 2 2 4 7:43:55 PM 3 6 9
12:36:19 PM 2 3 5 7:44:54 PM 4 5 9
12:36:27 PM 2 4 6 7:45:14 PM 3 4 7
12:36:44 PM 1 4 5 7:45:25 PM 4 3 7
12:36:55 PM 2 3 5 7:45:40 PM 3 3 6
12:37:04 PM 2 3 5 7:45:57 PM 3 2 5
12:37:39 PM 2 3 5 7:46:16 PM 2 2 4
12:38:05 PM 1 4 5 7:46:32 PM 2 3 5
12:38:28 PM 0 4 4 7:46:42 PM 2 3 5
12:39:12 PM 0 5 5 7:47:06 PM 3 2 5
12:39:29 PM 1 4 5 7:47:40 PM 3 3 6
12:39:59 PM 2 3 5 7:48:00 PM 3 2 5
12:40:29 PM 3 3 6 7:48:24 PM 4 7 11
12:40:50 PM 2 2 4 7:49:03 PM 4 2 6
12:41:09 PM 3 2 5 7:49:09 PM 5 1 6
12:41:21 PM 2 2 4 7:50:23 PM 5 2 7
12:41:35 PM 2 3 5 7:51:21 PM 5 2 7
12:42:15 PM 2 4 6 7:51:49 PM 4 2 6
12:43:01 PM 3 4 7 7:52:07 PM 5 1 6
12:43:40 PM 3 3 6 7:52:34 PM 4 1 5
12:44:07 PM 3 5 8 7:52:47 PM 3 1 4
12:44:24 PM 3 6 9 7:53:12 PM 3 1 4
12:44:42 PM 2 6 8 7:53:40 PM 4 0 4
12:45:20 PM 3 6 9 7:54:20 PM 3 0 3
12:45:39 PM 2 6 8 7:54:18 PM 2 0 2
12:45:56 PM 3 5 8 7:54:26 PM 1 0 1
12:46:37 PM 2 6 8 7:55:35 PM 1 1 2
12:47:00 PM 2 5 7 7:55:47 PM 1 2 3
12:47:30 PM 3 5 8 7:56:08 PM 0 2 2
12:47:52 PM 2 6 8 7:56:35 PM 1 1 2
12:48:30 PM 2 6 8 7:57:02 PM 2 0 2
12:49:23 PM 1 8 9 7:57:11 PM 2 0 2
12:49:35 PM 2 6 8 7:57:38 PM 1 0 1
12:49:51 PM 2 4 6 7:57:52 PM 1 1 2
12:50:50 PM 2 5 7 7:58:14 PM 0 1 1
12:51:10 PM 1 5 6 7:58:33 PM 0 2 2
12:51:26 PM 2 6 8 7:58:45 PM 0 3 3
12:51:44 PM 3 6 9 7:58:51 PM 1 2 3
12:52:00 PM 2 6 8 7:59:00 PM 1 3 4
12:52:19 PM 2 5 7 7:59:12 PM 2 2 4
12:52:37 PM 2 5 7 7:59:38 PM 2 3 5
12:52:53 PM 2 5 7 8:00:21 PM 2 3 5
12:53:24 PM 3 5 8 8:00:30 PM 1 3 4
12:53:37 PM 3 3 6 8:00:58 PM 1 2 3
12:53:59 PM 3 4 7 8:01:28 PM 1 3 4
12:54:30 PM 3 4 7 8:02:33 PM 1 2 3
12:54:44 PM 3 4 7 8:02:49 PM 1 3 4

Saturday Queue
Orange Raising Cane's

ATTACHMENT K



Project: Date:
City: Day:

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

8/18/2018
Saturday

18-1161
Orange

12:00 PM - 2:30 PM 7:00PM - 9:30 PM

Total TotalArrival Time
Behind Order

Board
Pick-up to

Order Board
Arrival Time

12:54:58 PM 2 4 6 8:03:07 PM 2 2 4
12:55:14 PM 3 3 6 8:03:22 PM 2 3 5
12:55:40 PM 1 4 5 8:03:35 PM 3 2 5
12:56:06 PM 0 4 4 8:03:45 PM 2 3 5
12:56:27 PM 0 5 5 8:04:03 PM 3 2 5
12:56:55 PM 1 6 7 8:04:28 PM 2 2 4
12:57:18 PM 2 5 7 8:04:42 PM 2 2 4
12:57:41 PM 1 5 6 8:05:06 PM 3 1 4
12:58:10 PM 2 4 6 8:05:23 PM 3 2 5
12:58:38 PM 3 3 6 8:05:41 PM 3 1 4
12:58:50 PM 4 2 6 8:06:00 PM 3 2 5
12:58:59 PM 3 1 4 8:06:10 PM 2 2 4
12:59:10 PM 2 2 4 8:06:19 PM 2 3 5
12:59:30 PM 3 3 6 8:06:32 PM 1 4 5
12:59:45 PM 3 5 8 8:06:49 PM 2 3 5
1:01:00 PM 2 5 7 8:07:08 PM 2 4 6
1:01:38 PM 3 8 11 8:07:17 PM 2 4 6
1:02:04 PM 4 7 11 8:07:38 PM 2 3 5
1:02:20 PM 4 4 8 8:08:05 PM 2 3 5
1:03:06 PM 3 8 11 8:08:45 PM 1 3 4
1:04:10 PM 3 9 12 8:08:55 PM 1 4 5
1:04:27 PM 3 5 8 8:09:07 PM 0 4 4
1:04:56 PM 3 6 9 8:09:41 PM 1 3 4
1:05:20 PM 4 6 10 8:10:40 PM 1 3 4
1:05:53 PM 4 6 10 8:11:09 PM 2 2 4
1:06:45 PM 4 6 10 8:11:17 PM 2 3 5
1:07:27 PM 4 8 12 8:11:36 PM 2 4 6
1:08:30 PM 3 9 12 8:11:45 PM 2 4 6
1:09:18 PM 4 9 13 8:11:58 PM 2 5 7
1:09:36 PM 4 9 13 8:12:09 PM 2 4 6
1:09:54 PM 3 5 8 8:12:23 PM 3 5 8
1:10:09 PM 3 9 12 8:12:39 PM 3 6 9
1:10:25 PM 2 10 12 8:13:11 PM 3 6 9
1:10:39 PM 3 10 13 8:13:19 PM 4 6 10
1:11:04 PM 3 8 11 8:13:34 PM 3 6 9
1:11:25 PM 3 9 12 8:13:53 PM 4 5 9
1:11:32 PM 4 8 12 8:14:11 PM 3 5 8
1:11:49 PM 3 9 12 8:14:36 PM 4 4 8
1:12:05 PM 2 9 11 8:15:13 PM 4 4 8
1:12:35 PM 2 7 9 8:15:24 PM 4 5 9
1:13:13 PM 1 5 6 8:15:42 PM 3 6 9
1:13:24 PM 1 5 6 8:16:09 PM 4 6 10
1:13:34 PM 2 6 8 8:16:34 PM 4 5 9
1:14:16 PM 2 9 11 8:16:51 PM 4 6 10
1:14:24 PM 1 9 10 8:16:59 PM 3 6 9
1:14:41 PM 1 11 12 8:17:14 PM 4 7 11
1:14:42 PM 2 9 11 8:17:52 PM 5 6 11
1:15:06 PM 1 9 10 8:18:29 PM 5 6 11
1:15:25 PM 2 10 12 8:18:53 PM 4 8 12
1:15:51 PM 3 9 12 8:19:10 PM 5 7 12
1:16:25 PM 2 9 11 8:19:22 PM 4 6 10

Saturday Queue
Orange Raising Cane's

ATTACHMENT K



Project: Date:
City: Day:

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

8/18/2018
Saturday

18-1161
Orange

12:00 PM - 2:30 PM 7:00PM - 9:30 PM

Total TotalArrival Time
Behind Order

Board
Pick-up to

Order Board
Arrival Time

1:16:40 PM 3 9 12 8:19:49 PM 5 7 12
1:17:07 PM 2 8 10 8:20:20 PM 3 7 10
1:17:33 PM 2 8 10 8:21:21 PM 3 7 10
1:17:56 PM 2 10 12 8:21:34 PM 3 8 11
1:18:38 PM 2 11 13 8:21:48 PM 3 8 11
1:18:53 PM 1 11 12 8:22:41 PM 3 8 11
1:19:47 PM 0 11 11 8:23:52 PM 1 6 7
1:19:54 PM 1 9 10 8:23:52 PM 2 7 9
1:20:49 PM 2 9 11 8:24:25 PM 2 5 7
1:21:18 PM 3 8 11 8:24:54 PM 2 5 7
1:21:44 PM 3 8 11 8:25:20 PM 2 4 6
1:22:15 PM 4 9 13 8:25:36 PM 3 3 6
1:22:37 PM 5 8 13 8:16:04 PM 2 4 6
1:23:05 PM 4 8 12 8:16:18 PM 2 5 7
1:23:25 PM 4 7 11 8:16:52 PM 2 4 6
1:23:49 PM 3 7 10 8:27:29 PM 1 6 7
1:24:00 PM 2 7 9 8:28:13 PM 1 6 7
1:24:20 PM 2 7 9 8:28:51 PM 2 6 8
1:24:36 PM 2 7 9 8:29:07 PM 3 6 9
1:24:55 PM 2 5 7 8:29:53 PM 3 4 7
1:25:32 PM 3 4 7 8:30:19 PM 1 7 8
1:26:01 PM 3 4 7 8:30:34 PM 3 6 9
1:26:20 PM 3 5 8 8:31:10 PM 3 4 7
1:26:39 PM 4 4 8 8:31:42 PM 2 4 6
1:27:36 PM 2 4 6 8:32:18 PM 3 2 5
1:27:45 PM 3 3 6 8:32:36 PM 4 1 5
1:28:01 PM 2 4 6 8:33:10 PM 3 2 5
1:28:13 PM 2 4 6 8:33:29 PM 2 3 5
1:28:45 PM 2 4 6 8:34:03 PM 1 6 7
1:28:54 PM 3 4 7 8:34:16 PM 0 6 6
1:29:04 PM 3 4 7 8:34:37 PM 1 5 6
1:29:08 PM 2 4 6 8:35:12 PM 1 6 7
1:29:15 PM 3 4 7 8:35:21 PM 1 6 7
1:29:17 PM 3 6 9 8:35:40 PM 2 7 9
1:29:31 PM 2 6 8 8:35:57 PM 1 7 8
1:29:55 PM 3 7 10 8:36:37 PM 2 6 8
1:30:17 PM 2 7 9 8:37:00 PM 2 6 8
1:30:30 PM 2 6 8 8:37:30 PM 3 6 9
1:30:56 PM 3 5 8 8:37:50 PM 3 7 10
1:31:42 PM 4 5 9 8:38:15 PM 3 6 9
1:32:03 PM 3 6 9 8:38:33 PM 2 6 8
1:32:30 PM 2 7 9 8:38:47 PM 2 6 8
1:32:42 PM 2 8 10 8:39:17 PM 2 9 11
1:32:50 PM 3 8 11 8:39:35 PM 1 9 10
1:33:23 PM 4 8 12 8:40:25 PM 2 8 10
1:33:55 PM 3 8 11 8:40:46 PM 3 7 10
1:34:08 PM 4 9 13 8:41:08 PM 2 7 9
1:34:30 PM 3 8 11 8:41:16 PM 3 9 12
1:34:58 PM 3 7 10 8:41:30 PM 3 9 12
1:35:13 PM 3 7 10 8:41:43 PM 4 6 10
1:35:33 PM 2 8 10 8:42:27 PM 5 6 11

Saturday Queue
Orange Raising Cane's

ATTACHMENT K



Project: Date:
City: Day:

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

8/18/2018
Saturday

18-1161
Orange

12:00 PM - 2:30 PM 7:00PM - 9:30 PM

Total TotalArrival Time
Behind Order

Board
Pick-up to

Order Board
Arrival Time

1:35:50 PM 3 9 12 8:42:37 PM 4 8 12
1:36:08 PM 2 9 11 8:42:59 PM 3 8 11
1:36:22 PM 3 7 10 8:43:27 PM 4 9 13
1:37:02 PM 3 5 8 8:43:54 PM 2 9 11
1:37:51 PM 2 5 7 8:44:28 PM 1 9 10
1:38:05 PM 3 4 7 8:44:39 PM 2 9 11
1:38:30 PM 2 4 6 8:44:53 PM 3 8 11
1:39:01 PM 3 3 6 8:45:10 PM 2 10 12
1:39:24 PM 3 2 5 8:45:20 PM 2 10 12
1:39:43 PM 3 4 7 8:45:49 PM 3 12 15
1:40:07 PM 3 6 9 8:46:10 PM 2 11 13
1:40:20 PM 3 6 9 8:46:33 PM 2 12 14
1:40:32 PM 4 5 9 8:47:09 PM 3 12 15
1:41:19 PM 3 5 8 8:47:33 PM 3 13 16
1:41:34 PM 4 5 9 8:47:45 PM 4 13 17
1:42:04 PM 3 4 7 8:48:53 PM 5 12 17
1:42:24 PM 4 4 8 8:49:03 PM 4 11 15
1:42:38 PM 4 5 9 8:49:33 PM 3 12 15
1:42:53 PM 3 5 8 8:49:49 PM 4 12 16
1:43:16 PM 2 5 7 8:50:08 PM 3 11 14
1:43:32 PM 2 5 7 8:50:44 PM 4 12 16
1:43:45 PM 3 4 7 8:51:43 PM 4 10 14
1:43:58 PM 2 4 6 8:51:55 PM 5 10 15
1:44:21 PM 2 4 6 8:52:46 PM 5 11 16
1:44:39 PM 3 3 6 8:53:47 PM 5 10 15
1:44:59 PM 3 2 5 8:54:38 PM 5 12 17
1:45:17 PM 3 3 6 8:55:06 PM 4 12 16
1:45:31 PM 3 3 6 8:55:25 PM 4 9 13
1:45:46 PM 3 3 6 8:55:41 PM 4 9 13
1:46:11 PM 4 2 6 8:56:23 PM 4 9 13
1:46:47 PM 4 2 6 8:57:59 PM 5 11 16
1:47:00 PM 3 2 5 8:58:16 PM 5 12 17
1:47:15 PM 3 2 5 8:58:46 PM 5 12 17
1:47:26 PM 4 1 5 8:59:22 PM 5 11 16
1:47:37 PM 4 2 6 8:59:48 PM 5 10 15
1:47:54 PM 3 3 6 9:00:45 PM 4 12 16
1:48:06 PM 4 2 6 9:01:28 PM 5 11 16
1:48:29 PM 3 2 5 9:02:19 PM 5 12 17
1:48:52 PM 2 2 4 9:02:49 PM 5 11 16
1:49:10 PM 2 2 4 9:03:36 PM 5 11 16
1:49:24 PM 3 1 4 9:04:05 PM 5 10 15
1:49:39 PM 2 2 4 9:04:45 PM 4 11 15
1:49:48 PM 3 1 4 9:05:02 PM 4 10 14
1:50:18 PM 3 0 3 9:05:42 PM 3 10 13
1:50:42 PM 2 0 2 9:05:53 PM 3 10 13
1:50:51 PM 2 2 4 9:06:02 PM 4 10 14
1:51:14 PM 1 2 3 9:06:13 PM 3 10 13
1:51:31 PM 1 2 3 9:06:22 PM 3 13 16
1:52:40 PM 2 1 3 9:06:38 PM 3 12 15
1:51:54 PM 1 2 3 9:06:53 PM 3 12 15
1:52:02 PM 3 0 3 9:07:20 PM 3 11 14

Saturday Queue
Orange Raising Cane's

ATTACHMENT K



Project: Date:
City: Day:

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

8/18/2018
Saturday

18-1161
Orange

12:00 PM - 2:30 PM 7:00PM - 9:30 PM

Total TotalArrival Time
Behind Order

Board
Pick-up to

Order Board
Arrival Time

1:52:28 PM 1 0 1 9:07:49 PM 3 10 13
1:52:38 PM 2 1 3 9:08:16 PM 2 9 11
1:53:10 PM 3 2 5 9:08:49 PM 3 8 11
1:53:23 PM 2 2 4 9:08:59 PM 2 7 9
1:53:49 PM 2 2 4 9:09:20 PM 2 7 9
1:53:58 PM 3 2 5 9:10:01 PM 3 8 11
1:54:29 PM 3 1 4 9:10:18 PM 2 8 10
1:54:42 PM 3 0 3 9:10:40 PM 2 7 9
1:54:59 PM 3 2 5 9:11:12 PM 2 7 9
1:55:22 PM 2 2 4 9:11:28 PM 3 7 10
1:55:30 PM 1 2 3 9:12:47 PM 3 6 9
1:55:43 PM 2 1 3 9:13:26 PM 2 6 8
1:56:19 PM 3 0 3 9:13:51 PM 3 5 8
1:56:27 PM 2 0 2 9:14:40 PM 3 4 7
1:57:08 PM 2 0 2 9:15:01 PM 2 5 7
1:57:26 PM 2 1 3 9:15:24 PM 3 6 9
1:57:35 PM 1 1 2 9:16:04 PM 2 6 8
1:57:41 PM 1 2 3 9:16:33 PM 1 8 9
1:57:48 PM 1 3 4 9:17:09 PM 0 8 8
1:57:53 PM 0 3 3 9:17:45 PM 1 7 8
1:58:02 PM 1 2 3 9:18:33 PM 1 6 7
1:58:11 PM 1 3 4 9:19:02 PM 2 5 7
1:58:42 PM 2 2 4 9:19:20 PM 1 5 6
1:59:00 PM 2 2 4 9:20:01 PM 2 5 7
1:59:11 PM 3 1 4 9:20:29 PM 3 4 7
1:59:42 PM 2 0 2 9:21:21 PM 3 5 8
1:59:55 PM 2 2 4 9:21:29 PM 2 5 7
2:00:00 PM 1 2 3 9:21:38 PM 2 6 8
2:00:59 PM 1 2 3 9:21:48 PM 1 7 8
2:01:27 PM 2 1 3 9:22:40 PM 2 8 10
2:01:57 PM 3 2 5 9:23:36 PM 1 8 9
2:02:06 PM 3 3 6 9:23:50 PM 2 7 9
2:02:24 PM 4 2 6 9:24:04 PM 2 7 9
2:02:51 PM 3 2 5 9:24:22 PM 2 8 10
2:03:20 PM 3 2 5 9:24:41 PM 3 9 12
2:03:41 PM 2 1 3 9:25:08 PM 3 11 14
2:04:00 PM 3 0 3 9:25:17 PM 3 12 15
2:04:25 PM 3 0 3 9:25:29 PM 2 11 13
2:05:00 PM 3 2 5 9:25:47 PM 2 10 12
2:06:05 PM 3 2 5 9:26:06 PM 1 9 10
2:06:43 PM 2 2 4 9:26:44 PM 0 10 10
2:07:16 PM 2 1 3 9:26:58 PM 2 9 11
2:07:50 PM 2 0 2 9:27:43 PM 2 8 10
2:08:25 PM 2 2 4 9:28:28 PM 2 7 9
2:08:50 PM 3 2 5 9:29:10 PM 2 8 10
2:09:46 PM 4 1 5 9:30:44 PM 2 8 10
2:10:10 PM 4 3 7
2:10:36 PM 5 3 8
2:10:48 PM 4 3 7
2:11:05 PM 4 4 8
2:12:04 PM 3 4 7

Saturday Queue
Orange Raising Cane's

ATTACHMENT K



Project: Date:
City: Day:

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

8/18/2018
Saturday

18-1161
Orange

12:00 PM - 2:30 PM 7:00PM - 9:30 PM

Total TotalArrival Time
Behind Order

Board
Pick-up to

Order Board
Arrival Time

2:13:30 PM 4 4 8
2:13:55 PM 2 4 6
2:14:21 PM 2 4 6
2:14:51 PM 1 4 5
2:15:18 PM 2 4 6
2:15:50 PM 1 5 6
2:16:05 PM 2 4 6
2:16:19 PM 3 3 6
2:16:44 PM 2 3 5
2:16:56 PM 3 3 6
2:17:07 PM 2 4 6
2:17:16 PM 2 4 6
2:17:26 PM 1 4 5
2:17:37 PM 2 3 5
2:18:17 PM 3 2 5
2:18:42 PM 2 2 4
2:18:54 PM 2 3 5
2:19:04 PM 3 2 5
2:19:30 PM 4 2 6
2:19:56 PM 4 2 6
2:19:59 PM 4 3 7
2:20:50 PM 4 4 8
2:21:10 PM 3 2 5
2:21:26 PM 3 2 5
2:21:34 PM 3 1 4
2:21:41 PM 3 1 4
2:22:26 PM 4 0 4
2:22:44 PM 4 1 5
2:22:56 PM 4 2 6
2:23:43 PM 4 3 7
2:24:49 PM 5 3 8
2:25:11 PM 4 5 9
2:25:40 PM 4 4 8
2:26:03 PM 3 4 7
2:26:18 PM 3 6 9
2:26:33 PM 2 6 8
2:26:45 PM 3 5 8
2:27:44 PM 4 6 10
2:27:52 PM 3 6 9
2:28:09 PM 2 6 8
2:28:21 PM 3 6 9
2:28:49 PM 3 5 8
2:29:19 PM 3 4 7
2:29:48 PM 3 3 6

Saturday Queue
Orange Raising Cane's

ATTACHMENT K



Project: 11066 Magnolia Ave Riverside Date: 3/27/2019
City: Riverside,CA Day: Wednesday

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Behind Order

Board
Total

Time:
(by min)

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

Total

11:00 AM 0 0 0 4:00 PM 1 2 3
11:01 AM 0 0 0 4:01 PM 1 1 2
11:02 AM 0 0 0 4:02 PM 3 2 5
11:03 AM 0 0 0 4:03 PM 3 3 6
11:04 AM 0 0 0 4:04 PM 4 2 6
11:05 AM 0 1 1 4:05 PM 3 1 4
11:06 AM 0 1 1 4:06 PM 2 2 4
11:07 AM 1 2 3 4:07 PM 4 1 5
11:08 AM 1 3 4 4:08 PM 3 0 3
11:09 AM 2 1 3 4:09 PM 1 0 1
11:10 AM 3 1 4 4:10 PM 1 2 3
11:11 AM 3 0 3 4:11 PM 2 2 4
11:12 AM 2 0 2 4:12 PM 2 1 3
11:13 AM 1 1 2 4:13 PM 2 0 2
11:14 AM 0 3 3 4:14 PM 1 1 2
11:15 AM 1 4 5 4:15 PM 1 0 1
11:16 AM 2 2 4 4:16 PM 0 0 0
11:17 AM 3 0 3 4:17 PM 0 0 0
11:18 AM 2 0 2 4:18 PM 0 4 4
11:19 AM 0 0 0 4:19 PM 1 3 4
11:20 AM 0 2 2 4:20 PM 1 2 3
11:21 AM 1 1 2 4:21 PM 2 0 2
11:22 AM 1 2 3 4:22 PM 1 0 1
11:23 AM 4 1 5 4:23 PM 1 1 2
11:24 AM 4 2 6 4:24 PM 2 1 3
11:25 AM 4 1 5 4:25 PM 2 1 3
11:26 AM 2 1 3 4:26 PM 2 1 3
11:27 AM 1 2 3 4:27 PM 1 1 2
11:28 AM 1 1 2 4:28 PM 1 0 1
11:29 AM 1 0 1 4:29 PM 0 1 1
11:30 AM 1 1 2 4:30 PM 1 1 2
11:31 AM 1 0 1 4:31 PM 0 3 3
11:32 AM 0 0 0 4:32 PM 2 1 3
11:33 AM 1 0 1 4:33 PM 2 1 3
11:34 AM 1 0 1 4:34 PM 1 1 2
11:35 AM 1 1 2 4:35 PM 1 0 1
11:36 AM 2 0 2 4:36 PM 1 0 1
11:37 AM 0 1 1 4:37 PM 0 3 3
11:38 AM 1 0 1 4:38 PM 1 6 7
11:39 AM 1 1 2 4:39 PM 2 5 7
11:40 AM 0 0 0 4:40 PM 1 4 5
11:41 AM 0 0 0 4:41 PM 2 4 6
11:42 AM 0 1 1 4:42 PM 2 4 6
11:43 AM 0 1 1 4:43 PM 1 3 4
11:44 AM 1 0 1 4:44 PM 3 1 4
11:45 AM 1 1 2 4:45 PM 3 1 4
11:46 AM 1 2 3 4:46 PM 3 2 5
11:47 AM 2 1 3 4:47 PM 4 2 6
11:48 AM 3 0 3 4:48 PM 6 3 9
11:49 AM 2 0 2 4:49 PM 6 2 8
11:50 AM 1 1 2 4:50 PM 6 3 9
11:51 AM 1 1 2 4:51 PM 6 4 10
11:52 AM 1 3 4 4:52 PM 6 3 9
11:53 AM 3 1 4 4:53 PM 5 3 8
11:54 AM 3 2 5 4:54 PM 5 2 7
11:55 AM 3 0 3 4:55 PM 3 2 5
11:56 AM 2 1 3 4:56 PM 2 1 3
11:57 AM 1 0 1 4:57 PM 3 0 3
11:58 AM 1 3 4 4:58 PM 2 1 3
11:59 AM 1 3 4 4:59 PM 3 1 4
12:00 PM 1 3 4 5:00 PM 4 2 6
12:01 PM 2 1 3 5:01 PM 4 1 5
12:02 PM 1 6 7 5:02 PM 4 1 5
12:03 PM 3 5 8 5:03 PM 2 0 2
12:04 PM 3 4 7 5:04 PM 1 1 2
12:05 PM 4 3 7 5:05 PM 1 0 1

Prepared by National Data & Surveying Services

Queue Study

Wednesday Queue

ATTACHMENT K



Project: 11066 Magnolia Ave Riverside Date: 3/27/2019
City: Riverside,CA Day: Wednesday

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Behind Order

Board
Total

Time:
(by min)

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

Total

12:06 PM 6 1 7 5:06 PM 1 0 1
12:07 PM 4 3 7 5:07 PM 0 0 0
12:08 PM 6 1 7 5:08 PM 0 0 0
12:09 PM 4 0 4 5:09 PM 0 0 0
12:10 PM 2 1 3 5:10 PM 0 1 1
12:11 PM 1 4 5 5:11 PM 1 0 1
12:12 PM 2 2 4 5:12 PM 1 1 2
12:13 PM 2 1 3 5:13 PM 1 3 4
12:14 PM 2 3 5 5:14 PM 3 0 3
12:15 PM 2 3 5 5:15 PM 2 0 2
12:16 PM 2 2 4 5:16 PM 2 1 3
12:17 PM 2 2 4 5:17 PM 2 0 2
12:18 PM 2 2 4 5:18 PM 1 0 1
12:19 PM 1 3 4 5:19 PM 0 1 1
12:20 PM 2 1 3 5:20 PM 0 2 2
12:21 PM 2 1 3 5:21 PM 2 1 3
12:22 PM 1 1 2 5:22 PM 2 2 4
12:23 PM 1 2 3 5:23 PM 2 1 3
12:24 PM 1 3 4 5:24 PM 2 1 3
12:25 PM 1 5 6 5:25 PM 2 4 6
12:26 PM 1 7 8 5:26 PM 2 2 4
12:27 PM 2 6 8 5:27 PM 1 5 6
12:28 PM 3 6 9 5:28 PM 3 5 8
12:29 PM 2 5 7 5:29 PM 1 5 6
12:30 PM 0 6 6 5:30 PM 1 5 6
12:31 PM 2 6 8 5:31 PM 2 6 8
12:32 PM 3 4 7 5:32 PM 4 5 9
12:33 PM 3 4 7 5:33 PM 5 4 9
12:34 PM 3 3 6 5:34 PM 5 5 10
12:35 PM 2 3 5 5:35 PM 5 3 8
12:36 PM 2 3 5 5:36 PM 3 3 6
12:37 PM 1 5 6 5:37 PM 2 3 5
12:38 PM 1 8 9 5:38 PM 1 3 4
12:39 PM 2 5 7 5:39 PM 2 3 5
12:40 PM 3 9 12 5:40 PM 2 1 3
12:41 PM 5 6 11 5:41 PM 2 1 3
12:42 PM 4 5 9 5:42 PM 1 1 2
12:43 PM 5 4 9 5:43 PM 1 0 1
12:44 PM 5 5 10 5:44 PM 0 0 0
12:45 PM 3 3 6 5:45 PM 0 1 1
12:46 PM 4 3 7 5:46 PM 1 0 1
12:47 PM 3 3 6 5:47 PM 0 1 1
12:48 PM 3 4 7 5:48 PM 0 1 1
12:49 PM 3 4 7 5:49 PM 1 3 4
12:50 PM 3 3 6 5:50 PM 3 1 4
12:51 PM 1 4 5 5:51 PM 1 2 3
12:52 PM 2 3 5 5:52 PM 2 0 2
12:53 PM 2 3 5 5:53 PM 1 1 2
12:54 PM 2 4 6 5:54 PM 2 2 4
12:55 PM 1 4 5 5:55 PM 2 1 3
12:56 PM 2 3 5 5:56 PM 2 0 2
12:57 PM 4 1 5 5:57 PM 2 2 4
12:58 PM 2 3 5 5:58 PM 4 2 6
12:59 PM 3 1 4 5:59 PM 1 2 3
1:00 PM 1 2 3 6:00 PM 0 2 2
1:01 PM 1 2 3 6:01 PM 2 3 5
1:02 PM 1 5 6 6:02 PM 2 4 6
1:03 PM 2 4 6 6:03 PM 2 3 5
1:04 PM 3 2 5 6:04 PM 2 3 5
1:05 PM 2 3 5 6:05 PM 2 2 4
1:06 PM 2 2 4 6:06 PM 2 4 6
1:07 PM 4 0 4 6:07 PM 3 5 8
1:08 PM 1 1 2 6:08 PM 2 5 7
1:09 PM 1 3 4 6:09 PM 2 5 7
1:10 PM 2 5 7 6:10 PM 3 6 9
1:11 PM 3 5 8 6:11 PM 3 6 9
1:12 PM 3 4 7 6:12 PM 4 7 11
1:13 PM 3 4 7 6:13 PM 3 6 9
1:14 PM 2 5 7 6:14 PM 2 6 8
1:15 PM 2 4 6 6:15 PM 4 5 9

Wednesday Queue

ATTACHMENT K



Project: 11066 Magnolia Ave Riverside Date: 3/27/2019
City: Riverside,CA Day: Wednesday

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Behind Order

Board
Total

Time:
(by min)

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

Total

1:16 PM 2 4 6 6:16 PM 2 5 7
1:17 PM 3 2 5 6:17 PM 3 5 8
1:18 PM 4 1 5 6:18 PM 4 5 9
1:19 PM 3 0 3 6:19 PM 3 4 7
1:20 PM 2 3 5 6:20 PM 3 4 7
1:21 PM 1 4 5 6:21 PM 2 5 7
1:22 PM 1 4 5 6:22 PM 4 3 7
1:23 PM 2 5 7 6:23 PM 4 1 5
1:24 PM 3 7 10 6:24 PM 3 1 4
1:25 PM 4 5 9 6:25 PM 3 1 4
1:26 PM 3 6 9 6:26 PM 1 3 4
1:27 PM 4 6 10 6:27 PM 2 2 4
1:28 PM 1 5 6 6:28 PM 2 3 5
1:29 PM 3 5 8 6:29 PM 1 6 7
1:30 PM 3 6 9 6:30 PM 2 5 7
1:31 PM 2 5 7 6:31 PM 3 5 8
1:32 PM 3 4 7 6:32 PM 3 4 7
1:33 PM 4 3 7 6:33 PM 3 3 6
1:34 PM 4 2 6 6:34 PM 2 3 5
1:35 PM 4 3 7 6:35 PM 1 2 3
1:36 PM 4 2 6 6:36 PM 2 1 3
1:37 PM 4 1 5 6:37 PM 2 0 2
1:38 PM 4 1 5 6:38 PM 1 1 2
1:39 PM 1 1 2 6:39 PM 1 0 1
1:40 PM 1 0 1 6:40 PM 1 2 3
1:41 PM 0 0 0 6:41 PM 1 4 5
1:42 PM 0 0 0 6:42 PM 1 3 4
1:43 PM 0 3 3 6:43 PM 3 3 6
1:44 PM 2 1 3 6:44 PM 2 3 5
1:45 PM 1 2 3 6:45 PM 3 1 4
1:46 PM 2 3 5 6:46 PM 2 1 3
1:47 PM 0 3 3 6:47 PM 2 0 2
1:48 PM 0 5 5 6:48 PM 1 0 1
1:49 PM 1 6 7 6:49 PM 0 1 1
1:50 PM 2 3 5 6:50 PM 1 1 2
1:51 PM 2 3 5 6:51 PM 1 1 2
1:52 PM 1 3 4 6:52 PM 2 2 4
1:53 PM 1 3 4 6:53 PM 2 3 5
1:54 PM 1 4 5 6:54 PM 1 3 4
1:55 PM 2 4 6 6:55 PM 1 2 3
1:56 PM 2 4 6 6:56 PM 2 1 3
1:57 PM 4 2 6 6:57 PM 1 3 4
1:58 PM 3 3 6 6:58 PM 1 3 4
1:59 PM 2 3 5 6:59 PM 2 2 4

Wednesday Queue

ATTACHMENT K



Project: 11066 Magnolia Ave Riverside Date: 3/30/2019
City: Riverside,CA Day: Saturday

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Behind Order

Board
Total Arrival Time

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

Total

11:00 AM 0 0 0 4:00 PM 1 1 2
11:01 AM 1 0 1 4:01 PM 2 1 3
11:02 AM 1 0 1 4:02 PM 1 0 1
11:03 AM 1 0 1 4:03 PM 2 0 2
11:04 AM 0 0 0 4:04 PM 3 0 3
11:05 AM 0 0 0 4:05 PM 3 0 3
11:06 AM 1 1 2 4:06 PM 5 1 6
11:07 AM 2 0 2 4:07 PM 5 3 8
11:08 AM 1 0 1 4:08 PM 5 5 10
11:09 AM 1 0 1 4:09 PM 5 4 9
11:10 AM 1 3 4 4:10 PM 4 3 7
11:11 AM 3 1 4 4:11 PM 5 3 8
11:12 AM 3 3 6 4:12 PM 6 3 9
11:13 AM 3 3 6 4:13 PM 5 3 8
11:14 AM 4 2 6 4:14 PM 4 4 8
11:15 AM 5 1 6 4:15 PM 3 4 7
11:16 AM 5 1 6 4:16 PM 5 2 7
11:17 AM 5 1 6 4:17 PM 6 1 7
11:18 AM 4 0 4 4:18 PM 5 2 7
11:19 AM 4 0 4 4:19 PM 5 0 5
11:20 AM 3 0 3 4:20 PM 4 1 5
11:21 AM 2 0 2 4:21 PM 2 3 5
11:22 AM 0 0 0 4:22 PM 3 4 7
11:23 AM 1 0 1 4:23 PM 5 6 11
11:24 AM 1 0 1 4:24 PM 6 3 9
11:25 AM 0 0 0 4:25 PM 5 4 9
11:26 AM 0 0 0 4:26 PM 6 2 8
11:27 AM 0 0 0 4:27 PM 5 3 8
11:28 AM 1 0 1 4:28 PM 4 2 6
11:29 AM 1 0 1 4:29 PM 2 4 6
11:30 AM 1 1 2 4:30 PM 3 1 4
11:31 AM 2 1 3 4:31 PM 4 1 5
11:32 AM 2 2 4 4:32 PM 4 0 4
11:33 AM 4 0 4 4:33 PM 3 0 3
11:34 AM 3 0 3 4:34 PM 4 0 4
11:35 AM 4 1 5 4:35 PM 3 2 5
11:36 AM 5 1 6 4:36 PM 4 2 6
11:37 AM 5 1 6 4:37 PM 5 4 9
11:38 AM 6 3 9 4:38 PM 3 2 5
11:39 AM 7 2 9 4:39 PM 5 2 7
11:40 AM 6 0 6 4:40 PM 3 1 4
11:41 AM 6 0 6 4:41 PM 5 0 5
11:42 AM 5 1 6 4:42 PM 5 1 6
11:43 AM 3 0 3 4:43 PM 3 1 4
11:44 AM 1 0 1 4:44 PM 2 0 2
11:45 AM 2 0 2 4:45 PM 3 1 4
11:46 AM 0 0 0 4:46 PM 2 0 2
11:47 AM 0 0 0 4:47 PM 2 0 2
11:48 AM 1 1 2 4:48 PM 2 0 2
11:49 AM 1 0 1 4:49 PM 1 1 2
11:50 AM 1 0 1 4:50 PM 1 2 3
11:51 AM 1 0 1 4:51 PM 2 0 2
11:52 AM 0 0 0 4:52 PM 1 2 3
11:53 AM 1 0 1 4:53 PM 2 1 3
11:54 AM 3 0 3 4:54 PM 3 3 6
11:55 AM 4 0 4 4:55 PM 4 1 5
11:56 AM 3 0 3 4:56 PM 3 3 6
11:57 AM 2 0 2 4:57 PM 4 3 7
11:58 AM 3 1 4 4:58 PM 4 1 5
11:59 AM 3 2 5 4:59 PM 4 2 6
12:00 PM 3 2 5 5:00 PM 6 0 6
12:01 PM 5 1 6 5:01 PM 7 1 8
12:02 PM 5 1 6 5:02 PM 6 1 7
12:03 PM 4 3 7 5:03 PM 5 2 7
12:04 PM 4 2 6 5:04 PM 6 1 7
12:05 PM 5 1 6 5:05 PM 5 1 6
12:06 PM 7 3 10 5:06 PM 4 1 5
12:07 PM 8 3 11 5:07 PM 4 1 5

Queue Study
Prepared by National Data & Surveying Services

Saturday Queue

ATTACHMENT K



Project: 11066 Magnolia Ave Riverside Date: 3/30/2019
City: Riverside,CA Day: Saturday

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Behind Order

Board
Total Arrival Time

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

Total

12:08 PM 6 3 9 5:08 PM 3 0 3
12:09 PM 7 1 8 5:09 PM 3 0 3
12:10 PM 7 2 9 5:10 PM 2 0 2
12:11 PM 7 3 10 5:11 PM 2 0 2
12:12 PM 6 4 10 5:12 PM 1 2 3
12:13 PM 6 4 10 5:13 PM 2 1 3
12:14 PM 4 3 7 5:14 PM 3 1 4
12:15 PM 6 2 8 5:15 PM 3 3 6
12:16 PM 4 2 6 5:16 PM 4 2 6
12:17 PM 3 4 7 5:17 PM 3 2 5
12:18 PM 3 2 5 5:18 PM 3 1 4
12:19 PM 4 2 6 5:19 PM 4 1 5
12:20 PM 4 3 7 5:20 PM 3 1 4
12:21 PM 3 3 6 5:21 PM 4 0 4
12:22 PM 4 2 6 5:22 PM 4 0 4
12:23 PM 4 2 6 5:23 PM 4 0 4
12:24 PM 5 0 5 5:24 PM 2 0 2
12:25 PM 1 0 1 5:25 PM 3 0 3
12:26 PM 1 0 1 5:26 PM 3 1 4
12:27 PM 0 0 0 5:27 PM 3 0 3
12:28 PM 3 2 5 5:28 PM 2 2 4
12:29 PM 3 1 4 5:29 PM 4 1 5
12:30 PM 2 2 4 5:30 PM 5 1 6
12:31 PM 3 2 5 5:31 PM 4 1 5
12:32 PM 5 1 6 5:32 PM 4 0 4
12:33 PM 4 3 7 5:33 PM 4 0 4
12:34 PM 4 3 7 5:34 PM 3 0 3
12:35 PM 4 3 7 5:35 PM 1 0 1
12:36 PM 4 3 7 5:36 PM 0 0 0
12:37 PM 5 2 7 5:37 PM 2 0 2
12:38 PM 6 2 8 5:38 PM 3 1 4
12:39 PM 6 1 7 5:39 PM 4 0 4
12:40 PM 5 1 6 5:40 PM 3 2 5
12:41 PM 5 1 6 5:41 PM 3 2 5
12:42 PM 4 1 5 5:42 PM 3 0 3
12:43 PM 7 2 9 5:43 PM 5 0 5
12:44 PM 7 2 9 5:44 PM 4 0 4
12:45 PM 6 2 8 5:45 PM 2 0 2
12:46 PM 5 1 6 5:46 PM 1 0 1
12:47 PM 6 1 7 5:47 PM 1 0 1
12:48 PM 6 2 8 5:48 PM 2 1 3
12:49 PM 6 1 7 5:49 PM 3 0 3
12:50 PM 4 1 5 5:50 PM 2 2 4
12:51 PM 4 4 8 5:51 PM 2 0 2
12:52 PM 4 3 7 5:52 PM 2 0 2
12:53 PM 5 2 7 5:53 PM 1 0 1
12:54 PM 6 2 8 5:54 PM 2 1 3
12:55 PM 5 2 7 5:55 PM 3 1 4
12:56 PM 6 3 9 5:56 PM 3 0 3
12:57 PM 4 5 9 5:57 PM 2 0 2
12:58 PM 6 6 12 5:58 PM 0 0 0
12:59 PM 5 6 11 5:59 PM 1 0 1
1:00 PM 3 7 10 6:00 PM 1 0 1
1:01 PM 5 5 10 6:01 PM 0 0 0
1:02 PM 3 6 9 6:02 PM 1 0 1
1:03 PM 3 4 7 6:03 PM 0 1 1
1:04 PM 6 5 11 6:04 PM 0 1 1
1:05 PM 4 5 9 6:05 PM 2 0 2
1:06 PM 5 3 8 6:06 PM 1 0 1
1:07 PM 6 3 9 6:07 PM 1 0 1
1:08 PM 5 3 8 6:08 PM 2 0 2
1:09 PM 4 5 9 6:09 PM 4 0 4
1:10 PM 5 3 8 6:10 PM 5 0 5
1:11 PM 5 2 7 6:11 PM 6 0 6
1:12 PM 6 2 8 6:12 PM 7 0 7
1:13 PM 4 4 8 6:13 PM 6 0 6
1:14 PM 6 2 8 6:14 PM 6 0 6
1:15 PM 6 3 9 6:15 PM 5 1 6
1:16 PM 6 3 9 6:16 PM 5 0 5
1:17 PM 6 2 8 6:17 PM 5 0 5
1:18 PM 6 2 8 6:18 PM 3 0 3
1:19 PM 4 2 6 6:19 PM 2 0 2

Saturday Queue

ATTACHMENT K



Project: 11066 Magnolia Ave Riverside Date: 3/30/2019
City: Riverside,CA Day: Saturday

Arrival Time
Pick-up to

Order Board
Behind Order

Board
Total Arrival Time

Pick-up to
Order Board

Behind Order
Board

Total

1:20 PM 5 7 12 6:20 PM 3 0 3
1:21 PM 5 6 11 6:21 PM 1 0 1
1:22 PM 5 5 10 6:22 PM 2 0 2
1:23 PM 5 3 8 6:23 PM 2 0 2
1:24 PM 3 4 7 6:24 PM 3 0 3
1:25 PM 2 4 6 6:25 PM 3 0 3
1:26 PM 4 2 6 6:26 PM 2 0 2
1:27 PM 6 2 8 6:27 PM 2 0 2
1:28 PM 5 1 6 6:28 PM 1 0 1
1:29 PM 4 4 8 6:29 PM 2 0 2
1:30 PM 7 3 10 6:30 PM 3 1 4
1:31 PM 6 4 10 6:31 PM 4 2 6
1:32 PM 5 3 8 6:32 PM 3 5 8
1:33 PM 4 5 9 6:33 PM 4 4 8
1:34 PM 5 3 8 6:34 PM 4 5 9
1:35 PM 4 6 10 6:35 PM 3 3 6
1:36 PM 3 6 9 6:36 PM 4 2 6
1:37 PM 4 8 12 6:37 PM 4 0 4
1:38 PM 4 6 10 6:38 PM 2 4 6
1:39 PM 6 5 11 6:39 PM 5 4 9
1:40 PM 4 6 10 6:40 PM 4 3 7
1:41 PM 4 5 9 6:41 PM 5 3 8
1:42 PM 5 5 10 6:42 PM 5 4 9
1:43 PM 5 4 9 6:43 PM 3 5 8
1:44 PM 5 3 8 6:44 PM 4 6 10
1:45 PM 6 2 8 6:45 PM 3 5 8
1:46 PM 7 3 10 6:46 PM 4 4 8
1:47 PM 5 3 8 6:47 PM 4 7 11
1:48 PM 5 2 7 6:48 PM 4 3 7
1:49 PM 5 3 8 6:49 PM 3 6 9
1:50 PM 3 5 8 6:50 PM 5 4 9
1:51 PM 4 6 10 6:51 PM 5 3 8
1:52 PM 6 3 9 6:52 PM 5 5 10
1:53 PM 6 1 7 6:53 PM 3 3 6
1:54 PM 6 1 7 6:54 PM 3 5 8
1:55 PM 5 1 6 6:55 PM 3 4 7
1:56 PM 6 2 8 6:56 PM 4 2 6
1:57 PM 7 2 9 6:57 PM 4 1 5
1:58 PM 6 2 8 6:58 PM 3 5 8
1:59 PM 5 2 7 6:59 PM 4 3 7

Saturday Queue

ATTACHMENT K



APPENDIX F

QUEUING ANALYSIS SUMMARY TABLES

ATTACHMENT K



Laguna	Hills Orange Riverside Laguna	Hills Orange Riverside Laguna	Hills Orange Riverside

Lunch

11:00-11:15 AM 1.5 1.7 2.7 3.0 3 4

11:15-11:30 AM 1.7 3.1 2.0 5.0 3 6

11:30-11:45 AM 2.6 1.1 4.0 2.0 5 2

11:45-12:00 PM 4.1 3.0 7.2 4.0 11 5

12:00-12:15 PM 3.9 5.6 5.4 7.0 7.0 7.0 9 14 8

12:15-12:30 PM 9.0 6.6 4.9 13.0 8.0 7.9 15 13 9

12:30-12:45 PM 10.6 7.0 7.8 12.8 9.0 9.9 13 10 12

12:45-1:00 PM 7.0 9.7 5.6 9.0 13.0 6.9 9 16 7

1:00-1:15 PM 5.2 9.0 5.2 7.0 11.0 7.0 8 13 8

1:15-1:30 PM 5.8 6.6 6.6 8.0 9.0 9.0 10 11 10

1:30-1:45 PM 2.8 3.9 4.5 5.0 5.0 7.0 6 7 9

1:45-2:00 PM 3.5 3.6 5.0 4.5 5.0 6.0 6 6 7

2:00-2:15 PM 3.6 5.0 5

2:15-2:30 PM 2.9 5.0 6

Highest Value 10.6 9.7 7.8 13.0 13.0 9.9 15 16 12

Dinner

4:00-4:15 PM 5.6 3.5 7.0 5.0 8 6

4:15-4:30 PM 6.2 2.0 8.0 3.0 9 4

4:30-4:45 PM 5.9 3.8 7.0 6.0 9 7

4:45-5:00 PM 5.5 6.2 7.0 9.0 9 10

5:00-5:15 PM 5.4 2.2 7.0 4.9 8 6

5:15-5:30 PM 5.8 3.6 7.0 6.0 9 8

5:30-5:45 PM 7.1 5.3 8.0 8.9 10 10

5:45-6:00 PM 10.9 2.7 12.0 4.0 13 6

6:00-6:15 PM 8.6 6.7 10.4 9.0 11 11

6:15-6:30 PM 10.8 6.3 12.0 7.9 13 9

6:30-6:45 PM 11.1 4.5 12.5 6.9 14 8

6:45-7:00 PM 12.8 3.1 14.0 4.0 14 5

7:00-7:15 PM 11.0 12.0 14

7:15-7:30 PM 11.5 13.0 14

7:30-7:45 PM 8.6 10.0 12

7:45-8:00 PM 8.3 10.0 12

8:00-8:15 PM 9.4 11.0 13

8:15-8:30 PM 8.5 11.0 12

8:30-8:45 PM 6.4 9.0 10

8:45-9:00 PM 5.2 7.0 8

9:00-9:15 PM 6.4 8.1 10

9:15-9:30 PM 7.5 9.3 12

Highest Value 12.8 11.5 6.7 14.0 13.0 9.0 14 14 11

Notes:  ¹ 85th percentile = The queue will be less than the queue shown 85% of the time.

TABLE	1

SUMMARY	OF	DRIVE-THROUGH	QUEUING	DATA	COLLECTION
RAISING	CANE'S	-	TYPICAL	WEEKDAY

AVERAGE,	85TH	PERCENTILE,	AND	PEAK	QUEUES

Number	of	Drive-through	Vehicles	in	the	Queue

Peak	QueueTime	Period Average	Queue 85th	%-ile	¹	Queue

Brea Raising Cane's
Queuing Analysis

Kimley-Horn and Asociates, Inc.

ATTACHMENT K



Laguna	Hills Orange Riverside Laguna	Hills Orange Riverside Laguna	Hills Orange Riverside

Lunch

11:00-11:15 AM 3.0 2.3 4.3 5.8 5 6

11:15-11:30 AM 1.8 2.3 3.0 5.8 4 6

11:30-11:45 AM 5.3 4.9 8.0 6.0 12 9

11:45-12:00 PM 7.5 1.9 10.0 3.9 12 5

12:00-12:15 PM 4.7 5.5 8.0 5.0 8.0 10.0 6 9 11

12:15-12:30 PM 4.1 6.8 4.9 5.0 8.7 6.9 6 10 8

12:30-12:45 PM 8.2 5.8 6.7 12.0 7.1 7.9 13 9 9

12:45-1:00 PM 9.3 6.8 7.9 11.0 8.0 9.0 12 9 12

1:00-1:15 PM 7.2 10.4 8.6 9.0 12.0 9.9 14 13 11

1:15-1:30 PM 7.3 9.4 8.1 9.0 12.0 9.9 10 13 12

1:30-1:45 PM 6.9 8.5 9.5 9.0 11.0 10.0 10 13 12

1:45-2:00 PM 7.3 3.9 8.0 8.8 5.4 9.0 10 6 10

2:00-2:15 PM 5.0 7.0 8

2:15-2:30 PM 6.4 8.0 10

Highest Value 9.3 10.4 9.5 12.0 12.0 10.0 14 13 12

Dinner

4:00-4:15 PM 6.2 5.8 8.5 8.9 11 10

4:15-4:30 PM 4.5 7.1 5.1 8.9 6 11

4:30-4:45 PM 2.0 4.9 3.0 6.0 4 9

4:45-5:00 PM 5.2 3.9 6.0 6.0 8 7

5:00-5:15 PM 5.6 4.7 7.0 7.0 9 8

5:15-5:30 PM 10.0 4.2 12.0 5.0 12 6

5:30-5:45 PM 6.1 3.7 7.3 5.0 11 6

5:45-6:00 PM 7.3 2.1 11.3 3.0 13 4

6:00-6:15 PM 8.7 2.9 11.0 6.0 12 7

6:15-6:30 PM 8.6 2.8 11.0 4.8 13 6

6:30-6:45 PM 6.0 7.2 7.3 9.0 10 10

6:45-7:00 PM 4.7 7.8 7.0 9.0 8 11

7:00-7:15 PM 9.2 10.5 13

7:15-7:30 PM 11.6 13.0 13

7:30-7:45 PM 10.8 13.0 16

7:45-8:00 PM 4.2 6.0 11

8:00-8:15 PM 5.4 8.0 10

8:15-8:30 PM 8.9 11.0 12

8:30-8:45 PM 8.8 11.0 13

8:45-9:00 PM 15.0 17.0 17

9:00-9:15 PM 12.4 16.0 17

9:15-9:30 PM 9.3 11.4 15

Highest Value 10.0 15.0 7.8 12.0 17.0 9.0 13 17 11

Notes:  ¹ 85th percentile = The queue will be less than the queue shown 85% of the time.

TABLE	2

SUMMARY	OF	DRIVE-THROUGH	QUEUING	DATA	COLLECTION
RAISING	CANE'S	-	SATURDAY

AVERAGE,	85TH	PERCENTILE,	AND	PEAK	QUEUES

Number	of	Drive-through	Vehicles	in	the	Queue

Peak	QueueTime	Period Average	Queue 85th	%-ile	¹	Queue

Brea Raising Cane's
Queuing Analysis

Kimley-Horn and Asociates, Inc.

ATTACHMENT K



DRIVE-THROUGH	QUEUING	ANALYSIS

Project: Raising Cane's Restaurant
Location: 255 Imperial Highway, Brea, CA

INPUT	VALUES

Variable Description Value
A = average number of vehicle arrivals per hour 1 79
S = service rate, number of vehicles per hour2 87
I = traffic intensity, utilization factor = A/S 0.91
Q =  queue capacity (vehicles) 20

FORMULAS

Average Length of Queue
Avg Q = A 2 / S(S-A)  =  I 2 / 1-I 8.97

Probability of Q Number of Vehicles in Queue
P(Q) = (I) Q (1-I) 1.34%

Probability of Queue Exceeding Q Vehicles (20 Vehicles)
13.19%

1  For a worst-case analysis, the peak arrival rate observed at the Orange Raising
Cane's site is used here.

2 Service rate conservatively assumes 150 seconds of lost time for the first vehicle of
the hour to move forward from the order board to the service window, while the
remainder of the vehicles are assumed to be processed at a rate of 40 sec/veh

Source:  Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE)
Transportation Planning Handbook, 3rd Edition

P (Q > a) = 1 -∑ ( )

Brea Raising Cane's
Queuing Analysis

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
December 2020

ATTACHMENT K



APPENDIX G

PARKING ANALYSIS RESOURCES

ATTACHMENT K



ATTACHMENT K



ATTACHMENT K



ATTACHMENT K



ATTACHMENT K



ATTACHMENT K



ATTACHMENT K



ATTACHMENT K



Copyright © 2020 All rights reserved. The Urban Land Institute, International Council of Shopping Centers, and National Parking Association.

Project: Gaslight Square
Description: Shopping Center

Quantity Unit 1 PM May 12 PM May

Fast Casual/Fast Food 4,047 sf GLA 12.40 100% 93% 11.50 ksf GLA 12.70 100% 97% 12.33 ksf GLA 100% 99% 47 100% 99% 50
Employee 2.00 100% 100% 2.00 2.00 100% 100% 2.00 100% 100% 9 100% 100% 9

Office <25 ksf 3,448 sf GFA 0.30 100% 100% 0.30 ksf GFA 0.03 100% 100% 0.03 ksf GFA 45% 100% 1 90% 100% 1
Reserved empl 0.00 100% 100% 0.00 0.00 100% 100% 0.00 100% 100% - 100% 100% -

  Employee 3.50 100% 100% 3.50 0.35 100% 100% 0.35 85% 100% 11 90% 100% 2
Medical/Dental Office 5,427 sf GFA 3.00 100% 100% 2.99 ksf GFA 0.00 100% 100% 0.00 ksf GFA 90% 100% 15 30% 100% -
  Employee 1.60 100% 100% 1.60 0.16 100% 100% 0.16 100% 100% 9 100% 100% 1

63 51
29 12

- -
92 63

9% 3%

Weekend

Shared Parking Demand Summary
Peak Month:  MAY  --  Peak Period:  1 PM, WEEKDAY

WeekdayWeekendWeekday
Project Data

Land Use
Peak Mo

AdjUnit For
Ratio

Estimated
Parking

Demand

Peak Hr
Adj

Peak Mo
Adj

Office

Base
Ratio

Unit For
Ratio

Estimated
Parking

Demand

Retail

Non-
Captive

Ratio

Project
Ratio

Non-
Captive

Ratio

Project
Ratio

Driving
Adj

Entertainment and Institutions
Hotel and Residential

Food and Beverage

Base
Ratio

Driving
Adj

Peak Hr
Adj

Additional Land Uses

Shared Parking
Reduction

Total
Reserved

Employee/Resident
CustomerCustomer/Visitor

Employee/Resident

Total
Reserved

Brea Raising Cane's
Shared Parking Analysis

APPENDIX G Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
December 2020

ATTACHMENT K



TECHNICAL BACKGROUND 

Case No: PLN-2020-00010 

Property Location: 

Parcel Size: 

Building Size: 

255 E. Imperial Blvd. 

82,000 square feet (1.88 acres) 

Proposed Demolished: 9,588 SF / Proposed New: 3,267 SF 

Applicant: Mr. Javier Sola, rep. for Raising Cane’s Restaurant 
6767 Perkins Road, Suite 200 
Baton Rouge, LA 70808 

General Plan Designation: Office/Financial Commercial 

Zoning Designation: Commercial-Professional (C-P) Precise Development (P-D) 

Adjacent Zoning 

North: Multi-Family (R-3) 

South: C-G, General Commercial

West: MU-I, Mixed- Use I 

East: Public Facilities (PF) 

Site and Neighborhood 
Characteristics: 

The project site is located north of Imperial Highway, between 
Orange Avenue and Flower Avenue. The project site is 
surrounded by multi-family residential uses to the north, 
commercial uses to the west and south, and an elementary 
school to the east.  

Public Hearing Notices and 
Outreach: 

Legal Notice was published in the Brea Star Progress on 
November 26, 2020, and approximately 45 notices were sent 
to all property owners within a 500-foot radius of the project.  

ATTACHMENT L



ATTACHMENT M



December 3, 2020 

Brea Planning Commission 
1 Civic Center Circle 
Brea, CA 92821 

RE: Public hearing for proposed project at 255 E. Imperial 

To Whom it may concern: 

I am unable to attend the hearing but feel compelled to express concerns regarding this project. 
The increased traffic of the Cane's drive thru affects the existing homes on Flower, Gaslight businesses 
and puts Laurel School parents, children and pedestrians at risk. 

Having worked in this area for over 20 years,  I assure you that the traffic along Flower Avenue during 
"non-covid" time can be challenging. The ingress/egress pattern for this proposed project is certainly 
not ideal. 

1)Evening traffic westbound along Imperial is very busy and often backed up beyond Flower awaiting
the light at Brea Blvd/Imperial.

2) Laurel School drop off and pick up times. Parents park in the Gaslight Square or walk their children
to/from school by short-cutting thru the parking lot, then jaywalk across the street at the Flower Ave.
driveway leading into the Gaslight. This has been problematic despite efforts by the school
administrative staff to discourage. The additional traffic in the parking lot will create further risk for
parents and children especially during the afternoon pick up.

3) Parking in the Gaslight for customers of existing businesses will be negatively affected, especially the
Dental office at 235 Flower. This office has a large geriatric patient base. I am anticipating they will have
a difficult time parking-both during demolition and construction as well as when the project is
completed. Furthermore, the front door of this office is at the SE corner. This is the direction that exiting
cars from the drive thru head... directly toward the front door.  Again a concern for safety.

4) I am told that the alley directly to the north of the drive thru will be altered to disallow thru traffic
to/from Birch Street. Cars will enter from either Orange or Flower Ave. Should there be an "over flow"
number of cars beyond the 22 cars currently shown in the schematic drawing, where will these cars
"wait" their turn to enter? Traffic at the La Habra Cane's sometimes backs up along Beach Blvd.  I
anticipate congestion between the Flower driveway and the entrance to the double drive...
a concern for cars already parked there.

5) Flower Avenue is a narrow street when cars are parked along the curb. Should this project move
forward, parking on either side of the street should be prohibited from Imperial north to the first home
on the west side of the street. Egress from the Gaslight parking lot is visually difficult if a car is parked
near the driveway-you can't see vehicles traveling south.

Thank you for your consideration. 

ATTACHMENT N



From: Gina Ross
To: Planning
Subject: Planning Commission Resolution No. 88-56
Date: Thursday, December 3, 2020 2:49:03 PM

December 3, 2020
 
To Whom It May Concern,
 
I am a long-time employee of Brea Dentistry (20 yrs) which is located at 235 S. Flower Ave in Brea, and is
adjacent to the proposed site of Raising Cane’s fast food restaurant.  I am very concerned about the
impact that such a business will have on my place of employment.  The popularity of the restaurant chain
has drawn crowds of cars to other locations in the past that would cause a nightmare situation in this
already congested area. 
 
First of all, Imperial Hwy is a very busy street that not only has traffic consisting of cars and trucks, but of
semi-trucks as well.  All of them are traveling at a fair amount of speed as we often have motorcycle cops
posted on our corner monitoring the speed of the traffic. 
 
Secondly, directly across the street from our office is Laurel Elementary School which generates a lot of
traffic issues during the morning drop-off, after school pick-up, and school functions.  We have had issues
with parents parking in our parking lot and dangerously jay-walking their small children across the street. 
I’ve witnessed traffic lines backing up around the corner and onto Imperial Hwy, and at one point, traffic
cones were installed to keep the school traffic to one side of the street. 
 
Thirdly, and probably the most important, our patient base consists of mainly the elderly and the
medically-compromised population.  These patients often require assistance in and out of their vehicles
and require a fair amount of space in order to do so.  I am concerned that the traffic from a fast food
establishment that runs directly through our parking lot, the crowding and congestion, the inability to find a
parking space, will negatively affect the ability of this population to have access to much needed dental
care and they will be more inclined to stay home than deal with the hassle.
 
Please take these thoughts into consideration before allowing such a business to operate in this
immediate area.  I’m sure a Raising Cane’s would be a lovely addition to the Brea restaurant scene, just
not in this immediate vicinity.  Thank you for your time.
 
Sincerely,
 
Gina Ross
1630 Ano Nuevo Dr
Diamond Bar, CA 91765

mailto:gthigp@aol.com
mailto:Planning@ci.brea.ca.us


December 3, 2020 
 
Brea Planning Commission 
1 Civic Center Circle 
Brea, Ca 92821 
 
Regarding: The Public Hearing for the project site at 255 East Imperial Highway 
 
My name is Dr Brooks Larson and I am a General Dentist at 235 South Flower Avenue in Brea. I am 
directly adjacent to the proposed site for this project. I have been a practicing Dentist at this location for 
over a decade. I spend most of my day working and observing activity in the Gaslight area. I have several 
concerns and valuable insight to this project that I feel are important to the decision of the Planning 
Commission. 
 

1) Laurel Elementary School is directly across the street from the proposed project. Traffic at peak 
times has always been a challenge for my office. I have had numerous discussions with staff at 
Laurel Elementary to make this a safer environment. Despite repeated emails from the school 
regarding parking, parents continue to use the Gaslight parking as a secondary parking lot for 
drop off and pickup. At times this has been hectic and unsafe. There have been Accidents, Hit 
and Runs involving Senior patients of mine, and injuries in our parking lot. I have been forced to 
make parking signs to place in the Gaslight daily, and install security cameras around the 
perimeter of our building to make it safer.  

2) I have spoken to City Traffic Engineer Farhad Iranitalab several times regarding traffic at the 
Gaslight. I have also had Brea PD post a motorcycle officer on my sidewalk multiple times to 
monitor traffic flow and show a Police presence. During the Lagos De Moreno Laurel Elementary 
Magnet School project, and also the construction of the new Brea Parking garage I observed 
firsthand, how congested it can get on Flower Avenue and on Orange as well.  

3) If public access to the Gaslight is denied due to traffic for a fast food restaurant, where will this 
traffic go? It will be forced out onto Imperial Highway where School traffic already backs up in 
an unsafe manner at times, only now it will be much worse. I have already witnessed an 
accident on Imperial Highway due to this. Imagine cars with families and children sitting at a 
dead stop on Imperial Highway with a speed limit of 40 miles per hour, where cars are regularly 
speeding. This could be a recipe for disaster.  

4) Earlier in the year traffic monitoring equipment was installed on Flower Avenue. I believe this 
was done in error due to the COVID19 crisis and does not give the full picture of the traffic.  
Laurel Elementary School was closed during this time and most businesses were on a very light 
schedule. Even if past years were used as a barometer I don’t believe this gives a clear picture of 
the problem. The frantic pace of parents dropping off and picking children up is my concern. As 
a father with two daughters I understand how distracting a car with children inside can be. Add 
to this, the traffic from a popular drive through restaurant and the problem will be 
compounded. 

5) We are a High Quality Family Dental office that has been in business since the 1950’s. I have 
patients under my care over 90 years old, that have been in our practice since they were 
teenagers. We have a large patient base of Seniors that are Residents of Morningside, Capriana, 



Emerald Court, and other Senior communities. These patients rely on ride service drop off and 
pick up. These ride sharing vehicles include cars and small buses. We also have a lot of Seniors 
that still drive themselves. I am very concerned about access to our office for our Senior 
patients. A Senior with limited mobility, may find this to be a difficult environment to navigate.  

6) I am also concerned about the changes for the Gaslight and our practice. In our office we 
perform a variety of procedures and surgeries, some under IV sedation. The proposed exit for 
Raising Cane’s is approximately 35 feet from our front door. Any patient, especially one that has 
just undergone a significant surgery with IV sedation, should not have to battle exit traffic from 
a fast food restaurant. With no direct exit for traffic, cars will have to circle our building to leave. 
This is a very popular restaurant chain and I expect it to do a healthy business.  

7) Parking will be an issue. We have 12 employees in our office and I assume the Raising Cane’s will 
have a significant number as well. Combine these two factors, along with school traffic, our 
patients of any age will have difficulty parking. I also have concerns about access for emergency 
vehicles should the need arise.  

8) We are a high end office, not a clinic. We have patients that travel long distance to see us 
because we are the best at what we do. These patients will be intolerant of traffic issues, 
parking, and a fast food restaurant as they enter our front door. I believe that this project will 
negatively affect our business.  

 
 

I hope that some of the points I have made can help the Planning Commission in their decision. I 
appreciate the opportunity to express my views and insight, and have them considered.  
 
 
 
Sincerely,  

 
Brooks Larson D.D.S.  
 
 

 



From: Rick Kincer
To: Planning
Subject: Dwights attempt to overturn restaurant ban at Gaslamp development concerns
Date: Thursday, December 3, 2020 3:09:16 PM

It came to my attention today Dwight is trying to overturn a longstanding ban on restaurants in the
Gaslamp development at Laurel/Imperial. Not sure what he is thinking will happen with traffic when us
grandparents and parents are picking up our children up from Laurel School the traffic is already a
disaster and allowing Cane's to reside at this location will make a bad situation much more dangerous for
our children. I would imagine he had the traffic studies done at the optimum time when Covid shut down
our schools and community. This idea must not be accepted by the planning department.

Rick Kincer
Sunland Building Services
714 529 6254 office
714 322 9559 cell
Rkincer@sbcglobal.net

mailto:rkincer@sbcglobal.net
mailto:Planning@ci.brea.ca.us


From: DANNETTE KINCER
To: Planning
Subject: Gaslamp Development Concerns
Date: Thursday, December 3, 2020 3:35:41 PM

As a long time Brea resident, I am hoping to see that the planning
department does not accept that a restaurant be opened in the Gaslamp
Development.  The traffic in that area is already ridiculous. There is not
enough parking in that parking lot. The kids walking to & from school and
the parents dropping off and picking up their kids from Laurel with a fast
food restaurant right there would just be insane. It would be way too
dangerous for the children. There are plenty of other vacant properties in the
downtown area that could be used, which is where the restaurants are. They
shouldn't be right there with dentist offices. It doesn't sound like a very good
idea and also very unsafe for the Laurel children & parents.

Please do not accept this overturning of the ban against restaurants in
Gaslamp.

Thank you,

Dannette Kincer

mailto:dmkincer@sbcglobal.net
mailto:Planning@ci.brea.ca.us


Agenda Item   7. 
City of Brea

PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION

TO: Honorable Chair and Planning Commission

DATE: 12/08/2020

SUBJECT: Conditional Use Permit No. CUP 20-11 & Plan Review No. PR 20-08, A Request to Modify
the Off-Street Parking Requirement and Allow Exterior Modifications for an Office Use
Located At 735 South Brea Blvd, In the MU-III (Mixed Use) Zone. 
 

REQUEST
The Applicant, TNG Real Estate Consultants, is requesting a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) and Plan
Review (PR) to establish a professional office by modifying the minimum off-street parking
requirement. The request also includes minor exterior modifications to the existing commercial
building located at 735 South Brea Boulevard, in the MU-III (Mixed-Use) zone. 

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission take the following actions:
 

1. Find the project exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) – Class 1:
Existing Facilities (Section 15301); and,
 
2. Approve Conditional Use Permit No. 20-11 to modify the minimum off-street parking
requirement for an existing commercial building located at 735 South Brea Boulevard, subject to
the recommended conditions of approval (Attachment B) and based on the findings in the
Resolution No. 20-XX (Attachment A).
 
3. Approve Plan Review No. 20-08 to approve exterior modifications to an existing commercial
building located 735 South Brea Boulevard, subject to the recommended conditions of approval
(Attachment B) and based on the findings in the Resolution No. 20-XX (Attachment A).

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION
BACKGROUND

Veteran’s Club
On February 20, 1990, the City Council approved a 4,900 square-foot commercial building to be used
as an assembly use by the Veteran’s Club (Attachment C). The approved assembly use required a
minimum of 73 parking spaces, as required by the adopted Zoning Ordinance at that time. However,
ten parking spaces were provided on site. In combination with the parking spaces provided on-site, an
off-site parking agreement that supplied 63 parking spaces located at 770 S. Brea Boulevard was also
approved. This parking agreement was maintained for the life of the Veteran’s Club occupancy of the
building, most recently allowing the American Legion Post 181 to occupy the building. This parking
agreement is nontransferable; thus, a new use within the existing building would be required to
address parking. The applicant is proposing a professional office and requesting parking modifications
through this CUP application.

Wireless Telecommunications Facility



On June 22, 2010, a T-Mobile Wireless Telecommunications Facility was approved on the subject site
(Attachment D). The wireless facility, disguised as a flag pole, is located along the eastern property
line along Brea Boulevard and includes an above-ground equipment area; this facility would remain on
site.

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

The applicant is requesting to occupy the existing building at 735 South Brea Boulevard for a
professional office use, specifically for real estate. The proposed project also includes minor exterior
modifications to upgrade the building. These improvements include new windows and the removal of
the existing steel architectural feature at the main entrance to the building. The interior space of the
building is proposed to be demised into 12 offices, four restrooms, a copy room, storage areas, and a
conference room. The existing vehicular access to the site would be maintained from Brea Boulevard;
the project does not propose any additional building square footage. The proposed office would
accommodate seven employees and would be open during typical business hours of Monday through
Friday from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.

DISCUSSION

Conditional Use Permit: Off-Street Parking
Brea Municipal Code (BMC) Section 20.258.010 (Table 2-2) identifies offices as a permitted use in the
MU-III (Mixed-Use) zone. BMC Section 20.08.040 identifies the off-street parking requirements for
land uses within the City. The parking requirement for the office uses is calculated at one parking
space for every 250 square feet. For the existing 4,900 square-foot building to be used as an office, a
minimum of 20 parking spaces would be required. The site provides ten parking spaces on-site; thus,
with the strict application of the BMC (Table 1), there is a shortage of ten parking spaces. The
previously approved off-site parking agreement between the Veteran’s Club and the property at 770
South Brea Boulevard is non-transferable and therefore, no longer supplies off-site parking spaces for
the project site’s use. Since the new use cannot utilize the off-site parking agreement to satisfy the
off-street parking requirements, the applicant has submitted a CUP to reduce the required number of
parking spaces for the building to ten parking spaces. BMC Section 20.08.040.F. provides provisions
to allow exceptions or modifications to off-street parking requirements through the approval of a CUP.



Table 1 (Summary of Parking Requirements)
Veteran’s Club Real Estate Office

Required Off-Street Parking
Office Space
(1 space / 250 square feet)
Lodge Hall
(1 space / 75 square feet)

4,900 sf /67 sf = 73 4,900 sf / 250 sf = 20 spaces

Provided Off-Street Parking 10 + 63 (parking agreement) = 73 10
Surplus/Deficiency 0 -10

Although the site would be deficient by ten parking spaces, Staff is supportive of the reduction given
the following reasons:

1) The building is proposed to be demised into 12 individual office spaces, with an identified
staffing of seven employees. A portion of the building is reserved for other ancillary office uses
that are generally occupied by persons already in the office. In subtracting the ancillary areas to
derive a net square footage used strictly for office would result in approximately 1,155 square
feet. Applying the office off-street parking ratio to the net square footage would result in a need
of five parking spaces.
2) The nature of a real estate professional is to meet with clients on an appointment-only basis,
and typically away from the office environment, either at open houses, individual showings, or at
listed properties. Although there is a potential for up to seven employees, the likelihood that all
employees are present on-site, given the uniqueness of real estate duties, is unlikely. Therefore,
the reduction to the ten off-street parking spaces would be sufficient for the proposed office
operation and would not result in any impacts to the surrounding area. The proposed parking
modification would not preclude future professional offices from occupying the site.

Plan Review - Exterior Improvements
The project proposes minor exterior improvements to the existing building. BMC Section 20.258.010
(Table 2-2) requires a Plan Review to be submitted when façade improvements are visible from the
public right-of-way, subject to the approval of the Community Development Director (Director). Since
this project includes a CUP request as well as the Plan Review, the Director is deferring her review
authority to the Planning Commission. The proposed exterior modifications include the addition of
windows and the removal of an existing steel architectural feature at the main entrance to the building.
These modifications would complement the building and would not result in any impacts to the
surrounding area. As part of the Plan Review, staff is recommending a condition of approval that the
existing plague, honoring veterans and located on the exterior of the building facing South Brea
Boulevard, remain (Condition C).

PUBLIC NOTICE AND COMMENTS
This project was noticed in accordance with the City’s public noticing requirements, which involved
mailed notices and publication in the local paper. This public hearing notice for this project is provided
as Attachment G. As of writing of this report, staff has not received any public comment.

CONCLUSION
Staff concludes, based on the information provided in the application and through the analysis
presented in this report, that the project should be approved. The project, as designed and conditioned
in Attachment B, is suitable for the site and would not present any adverse impacts to the City as
further outlined in the draft resolution (Attachment A). Therefore, staff recommends approval of the
project.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT



This project has been assessed in accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)
guidelines, and the environmental regulations of the City. Upon review, the proposed project qualifies
for a Class 1 Categorical Exemption (Existing Facilities) in accordance with the requirements of
Section 15301 of the state CEQA guidelines. This exemption is applicable to the operation, repair,
maintenance, permitting, leasing, licensing, or minor alteration of existing public or private structures,
facilities, involving negligible or no expansion of existing or former use. The existing building proposes
minor modifications, and is not proposed to be expanded.
 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED
Jason Killebrew, City Planner
Prepared by: Monica Martin, Associate Planner
 

Attachments
A. Draft Resolution 
B. Conditions of Approval Summary 
C. City Council Resolution No. CC 90-24 
D. Wireless Facilities Resolution No. PC 10-14 
E. Technical Background 
F. Vicinity Map 
G. Public Hearing Notice 
H. Site Plans 



RESOLUTION NO. PC 2020-xx 

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 20-11 & PLAN REVIEW NO. 20-08, A 
REQUEST TO MODIFY THE OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENT 
AND ALLOW EXTERIOR MODIFICATIONS FOR AN OFFICE USE 
LOCATED AT 735 SOUTH BREA BLVD, IN THE MU-III (MIXED USE) 
ZONE. 

A. RECITALS:

(i) The Planning Commission of the City of Brea has heretofore held a duly noticed

public hearing, as required by law, on Conditional Use Permit No. 20-11 (CUP 20-11). The CUP 

will modify the off-street parking requirement from 20 parking spaces to 10 parking spaces for a 

professional office within an existing 4,900 square-foot commercial building in the MU-III (Mixed 

Use) zone. 

(ii) The subject property is located at 735 South Brea Boulevard and further legally

described as a portion of 284, page 15, block 3, parcel 21, as shown in the latest records of the 

County of Orange Assessor’s Office.  

(iii) The project Applicant is TNG Real Estate Consultants, 521 E. Union Place, Brea,

CA 92821. 

(iv) The property is zoned MU-III, Mixed Use, and designated as Mixed Use III in the

General Plan Land Use element. 

(v) All legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Resolution have occurred.

(vi) To the fullest extent permitted by law, the applicant shall indemnify, defend and

hold the City, its elected officials, officers, contractors serving as City officers, agents, and 

employees (“Indemnitees”) free and harmless from: (i) any and all claims, liabilities and losses 

whatsoever occurring or resulting to any and all persons, firms, entities, or corporations 

furnishing or supplying work, services, materials, or supplies in connection with, or related to, 

the performance of work or the exercise of rights authorized by this approval; and (ii) any and all 

claims, lawsuits, liabilities, and/or actions arising out of, or related to the approval of this permit 

ATTACHMENT A



Resolution No. 2020-XX 
Page 2 
Applicant:  TNG Real Estate Consultants 
CUP 20-11; PR 20-08 
 
 
and/or the granting or exercise of the rights authorized by said approval; and (iii) from any and 

all claims, liabilities and losses occurring or resulting to any person, firm, entity, corporation for 

property damage, personal injury, or death, arising out of or related to the approval of, or 

exercise of rights granted by, this permit.  Applicant's obligation to indemnify, defend, and hold 

the Indemnitees free and harmless as required hereinabove shall include, but is not limited to, 

paying all fees and costs incurred by legal counsel of the Indemnitees’ choice in representing 

the Indemnitees in connection with any such claims, losses, lawsuits, or actions, and any award 

of damages, judgments, verdicts, court costs or attorneys' fees in any such lawsuit or action. 

 
B.  RESOLUTION: 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FOUND, DETERMINED AND RESOLVED by the 

Planning Commission of the City of Brea, as follows: 

1. In all respects as set forth in Recitals, Part A, of this Resolution. 

2. The Project identified above in this Resolution has been assessed in accordance 

with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines, and the environmental 

regulations of the City. Upon review, the Project qualifies for a Class 1 Categorical Exemption 

(Existing Facilities) in accordance with the requirements of Section 15301 of the CEQA 

Guidelines. This exemption is applicable to the operation, repair, maintenance, permitting, 

leasing, licensing, or minor alteration of existing public or private structures, facilities, involving 

negligible or no expansion of existing or former use. The existing building proposes minor 

modifications, and is not proposed to be expanded. Therefore, the Planning Commission finds 

the Project exempt from the environmental review requirements of CEQA. 

3. The Commission further finds in consideration of CUP No. 20-11 as follows:   

a.      Finding: That the use applied for at the location set forth in the 

application is one for which a CUP is authorized by this title. 

ATTACHMENT A



Resolution No. 2020-XX 
Page 3 
Applicant:  TNG Real Estate Consultants 
CUP 20-11; PR 20-08 
 
 

Fact:     The proposed site is zoned MU-III, Mixed Use. The 

proposed professional office use is a permitted use within this zone. However, requests 

to modify off-street parking requirements are subject to the approval of a Conditional 

Use Permit, pursuant to Code Section 20.080.040.F.  

b. Finding:   The project, with conditions as imposed, is desirable for 

the development of the community, in harmony with the various elements or objectives 

of the General Plan, and not detrimental to existing uses or uses permitted in the zone.  

Fact:     The project site was previously used by the Veteran’s Club 

as an assembly use. This use had an off-street parking requirement of 73 parking 

spaces, thus requiring the execution of an off-site parking agreement for no less than 63 

parking spaces. The use of the site as a professional office is a less intense use with a 

lower parking requirement of 20 parking spaces and is a less impactful, and a more 

harmonious use. This use is also supported by General Plan Policy CD-23.2 in that it 

encourages opportunities for mixed-use, office, manufacturing, and retail development 

that respond to market and community needs in terms of size, location, and cost. The 

conversion of this space to an office is an appropriate use of the existing building.  

 c. Finding:   The site is adequate in size and shape to accommodate 

the proposed development and to accommodate the proposed use.   

Fact:     The professional office use will be located within an 

existing 4,900 square-foot commercial building, on a lot zoned MU-III, where 

professional office uses are permitted by right. The site currently provides 10 parking 

spaces. Per the Applicant’s operational plan, the real estate office will have a maximum 

of seven employees and will conduct most meetings off site. Due to the unique nature of 

the real estate use, the site will have low vehicular traffic and no impacts on the parking 

ATTACHMENT A



Resolution No. 2020-XX 
Page 4 
Applicant:  TNG Real Estate Consultants 
CUP 20-11; PR 20-08 
 
 

area. Therefore, the existing building and lot are adequate in shape and size for the 

professional office use with the parking modification. 

           d.     Finding:    The proposed site relates to streets and highways which 

are properly designed and improved to carry the type of quantity of traffic generated. 

           Fact:           Vehicular access to the site will continue to be from South 

Brea Boulevard, which is a four-lane, arterial boulevard. The professional office use on 

the site will not generate significant traffic or vehicular queuing along South Brea 

Boulevard as the site provides adequate parking for all employees.  

           e.    Finding:    That with the conditions stated in the permit, the uses will 

not adversely affect the public, health, safety, or general welfare. 

                  Fact:            The real estate office use, as a form of a professional 

office, will function similarly to other offices throughout the City. All operations will be 

held within the existing building. The office use does not propose activities or operations 

that will be harmful to the public health, safety, and welfare of the City. The project is 

required to meet all Building and Fire codes and standards, thereby assuring the public 

health, safety, and welfare.   

 

4.  Conditional Use Permit No. CUP 20-11 is hereby approved, subject to the 

conditions attached to this resolution.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. The Secretary of this Commission shall certify to the adoption of this Resolution. 

 

ATTACHMENT A



Resolution No. 2020-XX 
Page 5 
Applicant:  TNG Real Estate Consultants 
CUP 20-11; PR 20-08 
 
 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 8th day of December 2020. 
 
 
 

Chairman, Planning Commission 
 
 

I, Jason Killebrew, Secretary to the Planning Commission of the City of Brea, do hereby certify 

that the foregoing Resolution was introduced at a regular meeting of the Planning Commission 

of the City of Brea held on the 8th day of December 2020 and was finally passed at a regular 

meeting of the Planning Commission of the City of Brea, held on the 8th day of December 2020, 

by the following votes: 

 
AYES:  COMMISSIONERS:  
   
NOES:             COMMISSIONERS:  
  
ABSENT: COMMISSIONERS:  
  
ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS:   
 

       ATTEST:     ___________________________ 
                 Secretary, Planning Commission 

ATTACHMENT A



CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 2020-11 & PLAN REVIEW NO. 20-08, A 
REQUEST TO MODIFY THE OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENT AND 
ALLOW EXTERIOR MODIFICATIONS FOR AN OFFICE USE LOCATED AT 
735 SOUTH BREA BLVD, IN THE MU-III (MIXED USE) ZONE. 

Conditions of Approval 

a. Business operations shall occur in substantial conformance with the plans dates
October 23, 2019 and the project description dated November 9, 2020 and
submitted to the Planning Commission, on-file in the Planning Division, the
conditions contained herein, and all applicable Federal, State and City
regulations.

b. The Applicant shall submit a photometric plan for any new lighting proposed in
the parking lot to ensure that all exterior lighting is the equivalent of one (1) foot
candle of illumination on average throughout the parking area.

c. The existing plaque, honoring fallen veterans within the City of Brea, shall not be
removed and shall remain on the building, in its current location, in perpetuity,
unless otherwise directed by the Director of Community Development.

d. Landscaping shall be installed on the property, facing South Brea Boulevard, to
enhance the existing landscape and to screen the existing mechanical
equipment. Proposed landscaping shall be review and approved by the City
Planner.

e. No materials or wastes, including but not limited to, gray or black water, shall be
deposited upon the lot in any way.

f. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Applicant shall indemnify, defend and
hold the City, its elected officials, officers, contractors serving as City officers,
agents, and employees (“Indemnitees”) free and harmless from: (i) any and all
claims, liabilities and losses whatsoever occurring or resulting to any and all
persons, firms, entities, or corporations furnishing or supplying work, services,
materials, or supplies in connection with, or related to, the performance of work
or the exercise of rights authorized by this approval; and (ii) any and all claims,
lawsuits, liabilities, and/or actions arising out of, or related to the approval of this
permit and/or the granting or exercise of the rights authorized by said approval;
and (iii) from any and all claims, liabilities and losses occurring or resulting to any
person, firm, entity, corporation for property damage, personal injury, or death,
arising out of or related to the approval of, or exercise of rights granted by, this
permit.  Applicant's obligation to indemnify, defend, and hold the Indemnitees
free and harmless as required hereinabove shall include, but is not limited to,
paying all fees and costs incurred by legal counsel of the Indemnitees’ choice in
representing the Indemnitees in connection with any such claims, losses,
lawsuits, or actions, and any award of damages, judgments, verdicts, court costs
or attorneys' fees in any such lawsuit or action.

ATTACHMENT B



ATTACHMENT C



ATTACHMENT C



ATTACHMENT C



ATTACHMENT C



ATTACHMENT C



ATTACHMENT C



ATTACHMENT C



ATTACHMENT D



ATTACHMENT D



ATTACHMENT D



ATTACHMENT D



ATTACHMENT D



ATTACHMENT D



ATTACHMENT D



ATTACHMENT D



ATTACHMENT D



ATTACHMENT D



ATTACHMENT D



ATTACHMENT D



ATTACHMENT E 

TECHNICAL BACKGROUND 

Case No: Conditional Use Permit No. 20-11 (CUP 20-11) 

Property Location: 

Parcel Size: 

Building Size: 

735 South Brea Boulevard 

12,880 square feet (0.30 acres) 

4,900 SF 

Applicant: Craig Martin 
521 E Union Place 
Brea, CA 92821 

General Plan Designation: Mixed Use III 

Zoning Designation: MU-III, Mixed- Use 

Adjacent Zoning 

North: MU-III, Mixed Use 

South: MU-III, Mixed Use 

West: R-3, Multiple Family Residential

East: MU-III, Mixed Use 

Site and Neighborhood 
Characteristics: 

The project site is located on the west side of South Brea 
Boulevard, between East Fir Street and West Juniper 
Street. The site is surrounded by motels to the north, 
various commercial uses to the south, retail and office 
space to the east, and residential to the west.  

Public Hearing Notices and 
Outreach: 

Legal Notice was published in the Brea Star Progress on 
November 26, 2020, and approximately 79 notices were 
sent to all property owners within a 500-foot radius of the 
project. 



ATTACHMENT F 

SUBJECT PROPERTY AND VICINITY MAP 
DATE:  December 8, 2020 

CASE NO:  
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. CUP 20-11 

PLAN REVIEW NO. PR 20-08 

N 



ATTACHMENT G



69'-0" 8'-0" 57'-4"

2'
-8

"
26

'-0
"

11
'-0

"

5'-6"

6'-0"

8'
-0

"

B
R

EA
 B

LV
D

.

℄

140' P.L.

140' P.L.

92'-1" P.L.92
'-1

" 
P.

L.

12'-0" 38'-0"

VAN

(E) T-MOBILE POLE

(E) LIGHT POLE (E) LIGHT POLE (E) LIGHT POLE

6'
-0

"
21

'-3
"

19
'-0

"

(E) ELECTRICAL

(E) A-2 OCCUPANCY RESTAURANT/BAR.
T.I./OCCUPANCY CHANGE TO B REAL ESTATE OFFICE

(E) TRASH
ENCLOSURE

5'-0" 10'-0" 8'-0" 10'-0" 7'-0" 9'-0"± EA
3 SPACES TYP.

(E) 9'-0"±
TYP. U.N.O.

T-MOBILE

(E) DISABLED ACCESS PARKING SIGNAGE

(E) (E)
M.C.

(E) CONC.

(E
)L

O
A

D
IN

G

(E) LANDSCAPE

(E) AC PAVING

(E) 6" CURB

(E) LANDSCAPE

(E) CMU LOW WALL

(E
)P

U
B

LI
C

 W
A

LK
W

A
Y

(E) LANDSCAPE

(E) CONC. LANDING & STEPS

(E) 6" CURB

sh
ee

t i
nd

ex
pr

oj
ec

t t
itl

e
de

si
gn

er
:

Si
gn

at
ur

e:

revisions by

I.
St

in
ch

co
m

b 
P.

E.
 In

c.
55

25
 G

os
s 

R
oa

d
Ph

el
an

, C
al

ifo
rn

ia
 9

23
71

76
0.

86
8.

17
46

w
w

w
.s

tin
ch

co
m

be
ng

in
ee

rin
g.

co
m

drawn: EEH

checked: ISS

date: 10/23/2019

scale: As Noted

job no.

of          0 sheets

G
en

er
al

 P
ro

je
ct

 D
at

a,
G

en
er

al
 N

ot
es

, S
ite

Pl
an

, &
 V

ic
in

ity
 M

ap

A1.0

A

1

Structural Grid Reference

Elevation Datum

+ 12'-0"

Abbreviations

& and
@ at
AB anchor bolt
ARCH'L           architectural
BLD'G             building
BLK'G             blocking
BM beam
BN boundary nail
CIP cast in place
CJ ceiling joist
CMU concrete masonry unit
CONT.             continuous
CTR center
C.L. center line
d penny
DBL double
DIA. diameter
DIAG. diagonal
Do ditto
EA. each
E.F. each face
E.N. edge nail
EQ equal
ES each side
EW each way
EWB each way bottom
EXP expansion
EXT exterior
(E) existing
F.F. finished floor
FLR floor
F.N. field nai
F.O.S.              face of stud
FT feet
FTG. footing
GA. gauge
GLB glued laminated beam
H.D. hold dlown
HDR header
HGR hanger
HORIZ.            horizontal
HSB high strength bolt
IN. inch
INFO. information
INT. interior

JST. joist
L angle
LG long
LLH long leg horizontal
LLV long leg vertical
MAX.             maximum
MLB.             microlam beam
MTL metal
M.B.              machine bolt
MECH.          mechanical
MIN.              minimum
NTS.              not to scale
N.I.C.             not in contract
O.C. on center
OH. overhang
P.L. property line
PLY.              plywood
PSF pounds per square foot
PSI pounds per square inch
P.T. pressure treated
REINF.           reinforced
R.S. rough sawn
Re. S.            re-sawn
Sched.          schedule
Sht. sheet
Sim. similar
SQ. square
Stagg.           staggered
STD standard
Stiff.              stiffener
STL steel
STR structural
T & B             top and bottom
T & G             tougue and groove
Thk. thickness
T.S. structural tube
T.O.P.            top of plate
T.O.S.            top of sheathing
TYP.              typical
U.n.o.            unless noted otherwise
V vertical
W steel wide flange
W/ with
W/O without
WD wood
W.P.              waterproof
W.W.F.          welded wire fabric

Sheet Index

Site Info / Project Data

Project Location:
735 South Brea Blvd.
Brea, Ca. 92821
APN: 284-153-21

Occupancy:
 B office
Type of construction V-B

Project Description:
Tenant improvement to existing building. Existing veteran
hall(A-2 occupancy) to receive an occupancy change to a real
estate office(B occupancy) with (N) interior partition walls and
restroom improvements. (N) storefront glazing to be installed
in (E) CMU exterior wall(parking lot side) with structural steel
frames added to interior face of (E) CMU wall to accommodate
(N) window openings.

Applicable Codes and Regulations:
2019 California Building Code (CBC)
2019 California Residential Code
2019 California Electrical, Mechanical
and Plumbing Codes
2019 California Energy Code
California Green Building Standards

Owner:
Craig Martin
TNG Real Estate
Cell: (714) 270-1890 Ofc.: (714) 987-3310 ext. 104
craig@tngrealestate.com
www.tngrealestate.com

General Contractor:
James Bailey
536 N. First St. Suite A
Covina, Ca 91723
(626) 332-6760
(626) 339-2671 - fax

Engineer of Record:
Ingrid Stinchcomb
I. Stinchcomb P.E. Inc.
5525 Goss Road
Phelan, California 92371
760.868.1746 ofc.
760.220.7004 cell

Vicinity Map no scale

General Notes

A1.0 General Project Data, General Notes, Site 
Plan, and Vicinity Map

AB.1 As-Built Floor Plan
A2.0 Proposed Tenant Improvement
A3.0 Exterior Elevation

Site Plan scale:1/8" = 1'-0" Abbreviations

N
orth

Te
na

nt
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

t
73

5 
So

ut
h 

B
re

a 
B

lv
d.

B
re

a,
 C

a.
 9

28
21

CL

Center Line

A
#

Section Indicator

Plan Sheet Number

Building Section Reference

#
#

Detail Number

Plan Sheet Number

Detail Reference

Revision Delta

Revision NumberR#

Window Symbol

W# Window number in
corresponding schedule

D#
Window number in
corresponding schedule

Door Symbol

#
number to corresponding
note in key note schedule

Key Note Reference

1
Interior view #

4 #

3

Interior Elevation Reference

2

Interior view plan
sheet number

elevation detail
number or letter

elev.

#
# exterior view plan

sheet number

Exterior Elevation Reference

# " Offset or
Step down

Offset Reference

P.L. 101.01'

Property Line

Symbols

All work, material, methods, etc. shall conform to all governing building codes, regulations
and agencies.

The general contractor and/or sub-contractors shall be responsible for verifying all
dimensions and conditions prior to commencing work. Report any discrepancies and
or potential to the designer and/or engineer prior to proceeding.

Governing codes and Fire Department Field Inspector shall dictate size, type, quantity and locations
of both temporary and permanent portable fire extinguishers.

All communications between sub-contractors and Designer and/or Engineer shall be through
General contractor to Designer and/or Engineer.

Exit signs where noted or required shall be worded "EXIT" in letters at least 6" high and shall
conform to codes and/or applicable regulations.

The General Contractor shall provide all necessary ceiling or wall access panels (or access doors)
as required by governing agencies for air conditioning, plumbing, fire sprinkler and electrical system.
Provide approved assemblies with self-closing devices in fire rated construction.

All penetrations of fire resistive construction shall be protected with approved fire assemblies.

Provide pedestrian protection barricades and/or canopies as required by the local authorities or
as necessary for pedestrian safety during construction.

Every exit door shall be openable from the inside without the use of a key or any special
knowledge or effort. Special locking devices shall be of an approved type . Flush bolts or
surface bolts are prohibited.

Exit doors must open over a landing not more than 1/2" below the threshold.

Contractor shall provide a complete job connected, approved, tested, and ready for proper
operation. No exclusions unless noted specifically.

Wood framing and/or furring shall be provided to conceal evidence of structural connections
where finishes occur.

The General Contractor shall provide and install address numbers per city requirements at
transoms of storefront entrance door 6" high helvetica medium vinyl applied u.n.o.

All exposed electrical and/or mechanical equipment shall be painted to match adjacent surfaces.

All exterior signs shall be under a separate permit.

All building materials shall be "IBC Standard" per IBC and /or products and materials that have
been designated as code-compliant in current ICC ES and LA RR evaluation reports for their
intended use.

All plans are preliminary and not for construction untill approved by the appropriate regulatory
government agencies, stamped and signed by the engineer of record, and authorized by the
owner.

Electronic information and copies of plans (C.A.D.D.) are provided for convenience only. The
controlling version of the plans is the stamped and signed hard copy.

Design / Build - indicates contractor shall provide engineering, plans and submittals for approval
of government agencies. Contractor shall obtain required permits.

Glazing shall be tempered in the following locations. Swinging and/or sliding glass doors.
Glazing in fixed or operable panels adjacent to a door where the nearest exposed edge
of the glass is within a 24" arc of either vertical edge of the door in a closed position and
where the bottom exposed edge of the glass is less than 60" above the walking surface.
Glazing located in any portion of a wall located within a tub and/or shower area where
the bottom edge is less than 60" above the standing surface and drain inlet.
Glazing in fixed or operable panels other than those locations described above that meet
all the following conditions:

1. Exposed area of individual pane exceeds 9 s.f.
2. Exposed bottom edge less than 18" a.f.f.
3. Exposed top edge greater than 36" a.f.f.
4. One or more walking surfaces within 36" horizontally of the plane of the glass.

Tempered glass panels shall be permanently identified by the manufacturer.

Street addresses shall be installed on the building with numbers that are a min. of 4" in
ht. and w/ a 1/2" stroke and shall be of a contrasting background. The address shall be visable and
legible from the street. During hours of darkness, the numbers shall be internally illuminated w/ a
low-voltage power sourse. Where the building exceeds 50 feet or more from the roadway, additional
4" h. numbers shall be displayed at the property access entrances

NPDES / COA - No temporary stockpiles, equipment, wash down or construction
related run-off permitted on street or sidewalk.

FOR PLANNING DEPT. SUBMITTAL

NORTH
PARKING REQUIREMENTS
· 6 SPACES FOR OFFICE AND CONFERENCE ROOMS
· 1 SPACE FOR WAITING AND RECEPTION
· 2 SPACES FOR STORAGE 448 S.F.

TOTAL: 9 SPACES

ATTACHMENT H



122'-10"

2'
-8

"
26

'-0
"

11
'-0

"

5'-6"

18
'-6

"

30 70

30 70

30 70

30 70

4070

4070

39
'-8

"
6'

-0
"

9'-0"

69'-0" 8'-0" 57'-4"

30 70

SA

SA
3070

30 70

30 70

30 70

3070

30 70

(E) AIR HANDLER UNIT SUSPENDED FROM
ROOF STRUCTURE. TYPICAL OF (2)

(E) ROOF ACCESS HATCH

sh
ee

t i
nd

ex
pr

oj
ec

t t
itl

e
de

si
gn

er
:

Si
gn

at
ur

e:

revisions by

I.
St

in
ch

co
m

b 
P.

E.
 In

c.
55

25
 G

os
s 

R
oa

d
Ph

el
an

, C
al

ifo
rn

ia
 9

23
71

76
0.

86
8.

17
46

w
w

w
.s

tin
ch

co
m

be
ng

in
ee

rin
g.

co
m

drawn: EEH

checked: ISS

date: 10/23/2019

scale: As Noted

job no.

of          0 sheet

Te
na

nt
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

t
A

s-
B

ui
lt 

Fl
oo

r P
la

n
73

5 
So

ut
h 

B
re

a 
B

lv
d.

B
re

a,
 C

a.
 9

28
21

AB.1

AS-BUILT FLOOR PLAN
Scale: 316" = 1'-0"

FOR PLANNING DEPT. SUBMITTAL

NORTH

ATTACHMENT H



122'-10"

2'
-8

"
26

'-0
"

11
'-0

"

5'-6"

30 70

30 70

30 70

30 70

4070

4070

39
'-8

"
6'

-0
"

9'-0"

69'-0" 8'-0" 57'-4"

30 70

SA

SA
3070

30 70

30 70

30 70

3070

1'-6"

7'-0" 17'-3"

7'
-8

1 2"
7'

-8
1 2"

8'-6"8'-6"8'-6"8'-6"

11
'-6

"

14'-0"

8'-6"

10'-6" 9'-0"

10
'-6

"

9'-9" 14'-81
4"

30 70

30 70

30 70

30 70

30 70

11
'-6

"

30 70

30 70

30 70

30 70

30 70

30 70

30 70

30 70

30 70

30 70

3070

Ø
5'

-0
"

ELECTRICAL PANEL A

ELECTRICAL PANEL B

PHOTOS

COPY ROOM

STORAGE

HALL

2'
-0

"

40 40

2'
-0

"
40 40

2'
-0

"
40 40

STOREFRONT GLASS TYP.

3070

glass door

RECEPTION

5440

8'-8"

SOLID FRAMED WALL

2'-8"8'-8" 8'-8"2'-8" 8'-8"

544054405440

8'-8"

5440 5440 5440
3'-4"

2'-31
4" 2'-31

4" 2'-31
4" 2'-31

4" 2'-31
4" 2'-31

4" 2'-31
4" 2'-31

4"

3'-41
4" 3'-4" 3'-41

4" 3'-31
4" 3'-31

4"

4'-
2"

2'-81
4" 2'-103

4" 2'-103
4"

2'-71
2" 2'-7" 2'-71

2"

2'-31
4"2'-31

4"2'-31
4" 2'-31

4"2'-31
4" 2'-31

4"
2'-31

4" 2'-31
4"

EXIT

EXIT

EX
IT

(E) ROOF ACCESS HATCH

(E) AHU
ABOVE

(E) AHU
ABOVE

"SAW CUT" (E) CMU FOR (N) STOREFRONT GLASS UNITS. TYPICAL OF (7)

UNISEX
RESTROOM

UNISEX
RESTROOM

SUPPLY STORAGE

(N) ACCESS
LADDER

PRIVATE CONFERENCE
88 s.f.

OFFICE
97.5 s.f.

OFFICE
83 s.f.

REF.

BREAK AREA

OFFICE
82 s.f.

OFFICE
110 s.f.

CLIENT CONFERENCE
147 s.f.

WAITING
AREA

OFFICEOFFICEOFFICEOFFICE

OFFICEOFFICEOFFICEOFFICE

ELEC. ROOM/DATA

UNISEX
RESTROOM

UNISEX
RESTROOM

CLOSET

W.H.
SERVICE

sh
ee

t i
nd

ex
pr

oj
ec

t t
itl

e
de

si
gn

er
:

Si
gn

at
ur

e:

revisions by

I. 
St

in
ch

co
m

b 
P.

E.
 In

c.
55

25
 G

os
s 

R
oa

d
Ph

el
an

, C
al

ifo
rn

ia
 9

23
71

76
0.

86
8.

17
46

w
w

w
.s

tin
ch

co
m

be
ng

in
ee

rin
g.

co
m

drawn: EEH

checked: ISS

date: 10/23/2019

scale: As Noted

job no.

of          0 sheet

Te
na

nt
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

t
Pr

op
os

ed
 T

en
an

t
Im

pr
ov

em
en

t
73

5 
So

ut
h 

B
re

a 
B

lv
d.

B
re

a,
 C

a.
 9

28
21

A2.0

PROPOSED TENANT IMPROVEMENT
Scale: 316" = 1'-0"

FOR PLANNING DEPT. SUBMITTAL

NORTH

AREA BREAKDOWN
TOTAL BLDG AREA 4722 s.f.

OFFICE & CONFERENCE ROOMS 1390 s.f.
RECEPTION/WAITING ROOM 216 s.f.

RESTROOMS
WEST BATHROOM 288 s.f.
EAST BATHROOM 256 s.f.

AUX. SPACES
COPY ROOM 130 s.f.
PHOTO ROOM 130 s.f.
ELEC./DATA 105 s.f.
BREAK ROOM 306 s.f.
HALLS & CIRCULATION AREA 1453 s.f.

ATTACHMENT H



(E) PRECISION CMU(E) CMU SPLIT FACE

(E) ELECTRICAL

(E) 35' FLAG POLE &
T-MOBILE ANTENNA

15
'-8

"

(E) GRADE

T.O. PARAPET

ALTERED SOUTH ELEVATION
Scale: 316"=1'-0"

(E) STEEL ARCHITECTURAL FEATURE TO BE REMOVED.

7'
-2

"

(E) METAL 3070 DOOR TO BE REPLACED w/ (N)
3070 GLASS UNIT TO MATCH (N) ENTRY DOOR

SAW-CUT (E) CMU WALL FOR (N) MILL FINISH STOREFRONT FRAMES
WITH DUAL PANE LOW-E GLAZING IE. SOLARBAN 60 (2) SOLEXIA +

CLEAR (LIGHT GREEN TINT) BY VITRO ARCHITECTURAL GLASS VLT
61 S.H.G.C. 0.32. DOOR AND WINDOW GLAZING TO MATCH TYP.

(E) RECESSED MANUF.
ROOF ASPHALT SHINGLE

15
'-8

"

(E) GRADE

T.O. PARAPET(E) CMU BUILDING

(E) 35' FLAG POLE &
T-MOBILE ANTENNA

(E) CMU WALL BEYOND

EXISTING EAST ELEVATION
Scale: 316"=1'-0"

(E) STEEL ARCHITECTURAL FEATURE TO BE REMOVED.

(E) PAIR OF SOLID CORE ENTRY DOORS TO BE REMOVED FOR (N) PAIR
OF 3070 GLASS DOORS TO MATCH (N) STOREFRONT GLAZING UNITS

(E) T-MOBILE VAULT ACCESS

REPLACE (E) METAL EXIT DOOR w/ (N)
STOREFRONT GLASS DOOR

(E) EXIT DOOR sh
ee

t i
nd

ex
pr

oj
ec

t t
itl

e
de

si
gn

er
:

Si
gn

at
ur

e:

revisions by

I.
St

in
ch

co
m

b 
P.

E.
 In

c.
55

25
 G

os
s 

R
oa

d
Ph

el
an

, C
al

ifo
rn

ia
 9

23
71

76
0.

86
8.

17
46

w
w

w
.s

tin
ch

co
m

be
ng

in
ee

rin
g.

co
m

drawn: EEH

checked: ISS

date: 10/23/2019

scale: As Noted

job no.

of          0 sheet

Te
na

nt
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

t
Ex

te
rio

r E
le

va
tio

ns
73

5 
So

ut
h 

B
re

a 
B

lv
d.

B
re

a,
 C

a.
 9

28
21

A3.0
FOR PLANNING DEPT. SUBMITTAL

ATTACHMENT H



Agenda Item   8. 
City of Brea

PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION

TO: Honorable Chair and Planning Commission

DATE: 12/08/2020

SUBJECT: Conditional Use Permit No. CUP 20-14, an Amendment to Conditional Use
Permit No. CUP 00-16 To Allow an Expansion to an Existing Restaurant with
Alcoholic Beverage Sales at 330 West Birch Street, in the MU-I (Mixed Use)
Zone. 

REQUEST
The Applicant, Douglas Vincent, is requesting a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to amend
CUP No. 00-16 to allow a 644 square-foot indoor speakeasy and outdoor dining patio
expansion to an existing restaurant with alcohol sales at 330 West Birch Street, in the MU-I
(Mixed-Use) zone.

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission take the following actions:
  

1. Find the project exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)
pursuant to CEQA guidelines Section 15301 (Class 1, Existing Facilities); and,

   
2. Approve CUP No. 20-14 subject to the recommended conditions of approval
(Attachment B) and based on the findings and conclusions in the attached resolution
(Attachment A). For tracking purposes, a new CUP No. was issued.

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION
BACKGROUND
In December 2000, the Planning Commission approved a CUP No. 00-16 to allow the on-site
sales of alcoholic beverages in conjunction with a restaurant. The current restaurant,
Macallans Public House, offers a wide range of food and beverage items from its menu. 
Macallans Public House is an approximately 4,900 square-feet and has an existing 560
square foot outdoor dining patio. In 2002, the business obtained an Encroachment License
Agreement for a 560-square-foot outdoor dining patio area within the public-right-of-way.
Macallans Public House obtained approval of an Entertainment Permit on November 6, 2019,
that was valid for a one-year period. Due to limitations of indoor dining and prohibition of any
entertainment set by the COVID-19 Industry Guidance for Dine-In Restaurants, the applicant
elected to not renew their Entertainment Permit. At a future date, the applicant will reapply for
an Entertainment Permit when the COVID-19 Industry Guidance allows entertainment. The
hours of operation for Macallans Public House are Monday thru Thursday from 3:00 P.M. to
11:00 P.M., Friday from 11:00 A.M. to 2:00 A.M., Saturday from 11:00 A.M. to 2:00 A.M. and
Sunday from 9:30 A.M. to 11:00 P.M.
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION



PROJECT DESCRIPTION
The project site is located at 330 West Birch Street, directly south of the intersection of Birch
Street and Madrona Avenue, within Downtown Brea. Downtown Brea is located within the
Mixed-Use Zone and offers a wide range of uses includes, but not limited to restaurants,
specialty retail and professional office uses. Macallans Public House is proposing to expand
their business by incorporating the vacant 644 square foot tenant space next door for a
speakeasy and a 337 square foot outdoor dining patio expansion (Attachment D). Exhibit 1
below provides an illustration of the proposed improvements.

The proposed 644 square-foot interior expansion will function as a private ‘speakeasy’
(Attachment B). Historically speakeasy’s were illicit establishments that came into
prominence in the United State during the prohibition area in the 1920’s. During that time the
sale, manufacturing and distribution of alcoholic beverages was illegal throughout the
country. Currently, the term is used to described retro style bars that operate as secret
locations and provide for a unique customer experience. Customers can continue to enjoy
existing items from Macallans Public House food and drink menu, along with cigars within the
proposed speakeasy. The speakeasy will require a membership and will not be accessible to
the general public.
 
DISCUSSION
Pursuant to the Brea Municipal Code (BMC) Section 20.258.010.F, restaurants with alcohol
sales are allowed in the MU-I Zone subject to Planning Commission approval of a CUP. The
proposed project involves an expansion into an adjacent vacant tenant space, and will not
extend beyond the existing building foot print. A new secret doorway will operate as the
entrance to the speakeasy from the existing dining area. Within the speakeasy, the Applicant
is proposed new flooring, wall paper and paint, lounge furniture, and a portable bar.
Additionally, a commercial grade humidor for the storage of the cigars and a self-contained
air cleaning system for the cigar smoke will be installed (Attachment E).
 
In addition, the outdoor dining patio expansion will be in two different sections, one new
portion on the west (patio expansion A) of approximately 177 square-feet, and a second
expansion portion on the east (patio expansion B) of approximately 160 square-feet



(reference Exhibit 1). Additional exterior improvements include a new awning to be installed
over the outdoor patio expansions to provide consistency between existing building façade. 
The outdoor patios would be enclosed by a metal railing that would match the existing
decorative wrought iron railing. There are no architectural changes to the existing building
façade and no signage is proposed for the speakeasy. The Applicant is not proposing any
modifications to the existing hours of operations for the restaurant. The proposal outdoor
patio expansion will be contiguous to the existing outdoor patio. Within the vicinity, there are
numerous restaurants with outdoor dining patios and the proposal is consistent with the
existing elements in the neighborhood.
 
Downtown Brea is a pedestrian oriented area, and the proposed project will continue to
provide a dining experience compatible with surrounding by uses that include restaurants
with service of alcohol beverages, retail, personal and professional services. The restaurant
is located within the downtown parking district that has several parking structures made
available to patrons visiting Downtown Brea.  Staff has included a condition of approval
(Attachment B) that requires the regular service of the air cleaning system to prevent any
smoke from spilling out into the public right of way. Additionally, the smoking of cigars is
limited to the interior speakeasy only and is not permitted in any outdoor dining patio area.
No entertainment is proposed at this time and any entertainment will require review and
approval of an Entertainment Permit Application by the Planning Division.
 
With the draft conditions of approval, the expansion of the existing restaurant would not be
detrimental to the surrounding uses in Downtown Brea, and would provide a unique
customer dining experience. The proposed project would be consistent with the goals and
policies of the Downtown Brea Focus Areas of the General Plan. Based on the proposed
operations in relation to the expansion of the existing restaurant with alcohol service, staff
does not anticipate any negative impacts to adjacent properties.
 
PUBLIC NOTICE AND COMMENTS
This project was noticed in accordance with the City’s public noticing requirements, which
involved mailed notices and publication in the local paper.  The public hearing notice for this
project is provided as Attachment G.  As of the writing of this report staff has received an
email in opposition from a resident that lives north of Macallans Public House (Attachment I).

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
This project has been assessed in accordance with the CEQA guidelines, and the
environmental regulations of the City. Upon review, the proposed project qualifies for a Class
1 Categorical Exemption (Existing Facilities) in accordance with the requirements of Section
15301 of the state CEQA guidelines. This exemption is applicable to the operation, repair,
maintenance, permitting, leasing, licensing, or minor alteration of existing public or private
structures, facilities, involving negligible or no expansion of existing or former use.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED
Jason Killebrew, City Planner
Prepared by: Jose Barriga, Associate Planner

Attachments
A. Draft Resolution 



B. Conditions of Approval Summary 
C. Resolution No. PC 00-41 
D. Appliaction 
E. Plans 
F. Technical Background 
G. Vicinity Map 
H. Public Hearing Notice 
I. Public Comment 



 RESOLUTION NO. 2020-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF BREA 
APPROVING AN AMENDMENT TO CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. CUP 00-
16 TO ALLOW AN EXPANSION TO AN EXISTING RESTAURANT WITH 
ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE SALES AT 330 WEST BIRCH STREET, IN THE MU-
I (MIXED USE) ZONE.  (TRACKING NO. CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 
CUP 20-14) 

A. RECITALS:

(i) The Planning Commission of the City of Brea has heretofore held a duly

noticed public hearing, as required by law, on Conditional Use Permit No. 20-14 (CUP 

20-14).  This resolution amends CUP NO. 00-16, and allows the existing restaurant to

expand into an adjacent 644 square-foot tenant space; to create a new 177 square-foot 

outdoor dining area adjacent to the proposed expansion (patio expansion A); to expand 

the existing outdoor dining area adjacent to the restaurant by 160 square-feet (patio 

expansion B) (Project).  

(ii) The subject property is located at 330 West Birch Street and further legally

described as Assessor Parcel No. 296-376-16, as shown in the latest records of the 

County of Orange Assessor’s Office.  

(iii) The Project applicant is Douglas Vincent, 2420 East McKittrick Place, Brea,

CA 92821. 

(iv) The property is zoned MU-I, Mixed Use, and designated as Mixed Use I in

the General Plan Land Use element. 

(v) All legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Resolution have occurred.

(vi) To the fullest extent permitted by law, the applicant shall indemnify, defend

and hold the City, its elected officials, officers, contractors serving as City officers, 

agents, and employees (“Indemnitees”) free and harmless from: (i) any and all claims, 

ATTACHMENT A



Resolution No. 2020-xx 
Page 2 
Applicant:  Douglas Vincent 
CUP 20-14 
 
 
liabilities and losses whatsoever occurring or resulting to any and all persons, firms, 

entities, or corporations furnishing or supplying work, services, materials, or supplies in 

connection with, or related to, the performance of work or the exercise of rights 

authorized by approval of this amendment to Conditional Use Permit No. CUP 00-16 

(Conditional Use Permit No. 20-14); and (ii) any and all claims, lawsuits, liabilities, 

and/or actions arising out of, or related to the approval of this Conditional Use Permit 

and/or the granting or exercise of the rights authorized by said approval; and (iii) from 

any and all claims, liabilities and losses occurring or resulting to any person, firm, entity, 

corporation for property damage, personal injury, or death, arising out of or related to 

the approval of, or exercise of rights granted by, this Conditional Use Permit.  

Applicant's obligation to indemnify, defend, and hold the Indemnitees free and harmless 

as required hereinabove shall include, but is not limited to, paying all fees and costs 

incurred by legal counsel of the Indemnitees’ choice in representing the Indemnitees in 

connection with any such claims, losses, lawsuits, or actions, and any award of 

damages, judgments, verdicts, court costs or attorneys' fees in any such lawsuit or 

action. 

 
B.  RESOLUTION: 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FOUND, DETERMINED AND RESOLVED by 

the Planning Commission of the City of Brea, as follows: 

1. In all respects as set forth in Recitals, Part A, of this Resolution. 

2. The Project identified above in this Resolution has been assessed in 

accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines, and the 

ATTACHMENT A



Resolution No. 2020-xx 
Page 3 
Applicant:  Douglas Vincent 
CUP 20-14 
 
 
environmental regulations of the City.  Upon review, the Project qualifies for a Class 1 

Categorical Exemption (Existing Facilities) in accordance with the requirements of 

Section 15301 of the CEQA Guidelines.  This exemption is applicable to the operation, 

repair, maintenance, permitting, leasing, licensing, or minor alteration of existing public 

or private structures, facilities, involving negligible or no expansion of existing or former 

use.  Therefore, the Planning Commission finds the Project exempt from the 

environmental review requirements of CEQA. 

3. The Commission further finds in consideration of CUP No. 20-14 as 

follows:   

a.      Finding: That the use applied for at the location set forth in the 

application is one for which a CUP is authorized by this title. 

Fact:     The Project site is zoned MU-I, Mixed Use. Pursuant 

to Code Section 20.258.010.F, restaurants with alcohol sales are permitted uses 

subject to the review and approval of a CUP. The restaurant will maintain a valid 

“Type 48” on-sale general license from the State Department of Alcoholic 

Beverage Control (ABC) for the on-site sales of general alcohol beverages and 

shall operate within all applicable State, County, and City regulations governing 

the sale and consumption of alcoholic beverages.  

b. Finding:   The proposed Project, with conditions as imposed, is 

desirable for the development of the community, in harmony with the various 

elements or objectives of the General Plan, and not detrimental to existing uses 

or uses permitted in the zone.  

ATTACHMENT A



Resolution No. 2020-xx 
Page 4 
Applicant:  Douglas Vincent 
CUP 20-14 
 
 

Fact:     The Project is located within an existing mixed-use 

pedestrian oriented environment that offers opportunities for people to live, work, 

shop and recreate. Furthermore, the use of the site as a restaurant with alcohol 

sales is supported by General Plan Policy CD-4.1 in that it encourages 

exploration in economic and employment opportunities to diversify the business 

mix in Downtown Brea. The expansion of this space is an appropriate use of the 

existing building. 

 c. Finding:   The site is adequate in size and shape to 

accommodate the proposed development and to accommodate the proposed 

use.   

Fact:     The Project will be located within an existing tenant 

space and is zoned MU-I, where restaurant uses are permitted by right. No 

expansion to the existing building is proposed, therefore the site will remain 

adequate in size and shape for the Project.  Additionally, the Project is located 

within the Downtown Brea parking district that will accommodate the parking 

demand for the proposed and existing uses. 

           d.     Finding:    The proposed site relates to streets and highways 

which are properly designed and improved to carry the type of quantity of traffic 

generated. 

           Fact:           Vehicular access to the site will continue to be from 

South Brea Boulevard and Imperial Highway, both of which are arterial streets. 

The Project is not anticipated to result in any traffic impacts to the adjacent uses 

because the expansion is limited in capacity and there is sufficient parking to 

ATTACHMENT A



Resolution No. 2020-xx 
Page 5 
Applicant:  Douglas Vincent 
CUP 20-14 
 
 

accommodate the expansion. The street system in Downtown Brea has been 

designed to carry the quantity of traffic to the designated parking areas and 

structures.  

           e.    Finding:    That with the conditions stated in the permit, the use 

will not adversely affect the public, health, safety, or general welfare. 

                  Fact:            The Project involves a 644 square-foot expansion to 

an existing restaurant with alcohol sales, and will function similarly to other 

restaurants in the mixed-use zone. The Project’s outdoor areas will operate 

similarly to other existing restaurants with outdoor dining areas, and does not 

propose operations that will be harmful to the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the city.  The Project does not include any entertainment as part of this request 

and the business is subject to compliance with the City’s Noise Ordinance. The 

project is required to meet all Fire codes and standards, thereby assuring the 

public health, safety, and welfare.   

4.  CUP No. CUP 20-14 is hereby approved, subject to conditions as set forth 

in Attachment B (Conditions of Approval). 

5. The Secretary of this Commission shall certify to the adoption of this 

Resolution. 

 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 8th day of December 2020. 
 
 

Chairman, Planning Commission 
 

 

 

ATTACHMENT A



Resolution No. 2020-xx 
Page 6 
Applicant:  Douglas Vincent 
CUP 20-14 
 
 
I, Jason Killebrew, Secretary to the Planning Commission of the City of Brea, do hereby 

certify that the foregoing Resolution was introduced at a regular meeting of the Planning 

Commission of the City of Brea held on the 8th day of December 2020 and was finally 

passed at a regular meeting of the Planning Commission of the City of Brea, held on the 

8th day of December 2020, by the following votes: 

 
AYES:  COMMISSIONERS:  
   
NOES: COMMISSIONERS:  
  
ABSENT: COMMISSIONERS:  
  
ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS:   
 

       ATTEST:     ___________________________ 
                 Secretary, Planning Commission 

ATTACHMENT A



AMENDMENT TO CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 00-16 

(CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. CUP 20-14) 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

Conditional Use Permit No. CUP 20-14 is hereby approved, subject to conditions 

as set forth herein: 

a. The Applicant shall maintain a valid “Type 48” on-sale general license
from the State Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control (ABC) for the
on-site sales of general alcohol beverages and shall operate within all
applicable State, County, and City regulations governing the sale and
consumption of alcoholic beverages.

b. The Project shall comply with the conditions contained herein and all
applicable Federal, State and City regulations.

c. Any violation of the regulations of ABC, as they pertain to the Project
location and the sale and consumption of alcoholic beverages or any
conditions of approval as contained in this resolution, may result in the
revocation of this CUP, as provided for in Section 20.412.020 of the Brea
Municipal Code.

d. Service of alcoholic beverages shall not be allowed outside of the bar
area, specifically, no alcohol shall be allowed in the ‘game area’ until
10:00 p.m. “No alcohol permitted beyond this point” signs shall be
posted at the exits.

e. A separate entry for minors into the game area shall be used until 10:00
p.m. at which time it will be closed and used only as an emergency exit.

f. The Applicant shall hire private security guards to ensure that the
patrons of the establishment, specifically the bar area, are of the legal
drinking age and that no minors enter the bar area from the designated
‘game area’.

g. No one under the age of 21 shall be allowed in the area of the bar after
10:00 p.m. No person under the age of 21 shall be allows in speakeasy
area.

h. The Applicant shall comply with the City’s Noise Ordinance.

ATTACHMENT B



i. Business operations shall occur in substantial conformance with the 
plans and project description as approved by the Planning Commission 
on December 8, 2020, on-file in the Planning Division.  

 
j. At all times when the premise is open for business, the premise shall be 

maintained as a bona fide restaurant and shall provide a menu 
containing an assortment of foods normally offered in such restaurant 

 
k. There shall be no exterior advertising or sign of any kind or type, 

including advertising directed to the exterior from within, promoting or 
indicating the availability of alcoholic beverages and cigars. 

 
l. All exterior signage shall comply with the Signage Design Criteria for 

Downtown Brea on file with the City of Brea Planning Division.  
 

m. There shall be no entertainment, amplified music or dancing permitted 
on the premise at any time unless the proper permits have been 
obtained from the City of Brea. 

 
n. Smoking shall be limited only to the approved interior designated 

speakeasy area and shall be prohibited in any outdoor patio area. 
 

o. The smoke ventilation system shall be regularly serviced and 
maintained to prevent any smoke from spilling out into the public right of 
way. 

 
p. Plans shall be submitted to Building & Safety and permit shall be 

obtained prior to occupancy. 
 

q. Proposed occupancy increase shall comply with exit, disabled access 
and restroom fixtures per the CA Code adopted at time of permit 
review/issuance.  

 
r. If the proposed awning is 4 feet wide or greater, then fire sprinklers will 

be required.  The addition or relocation of any fire sprinklers will require 
plans to be submitted by a licensed fire protection contractor (C-16) to 
the Brea Fire Department for review and approval. 

 
s. Any tenant improvement that impacts the fire alarm system shall be 

submitted to the Brea Fire Department for review and approval.     
 

t. Additional requirements may be imposed when the project is submitted 
for fire department plan check review and approval. 

 
u. CUP No. 20-14 shall supersede all previously approved conditions of 

approval by CUP No. 00-16. 

ATTACHMENT B



 
v. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the applicant shall indemnify, 

defend and hold the City, its elected officials, officers, contractors 
serving as City officers, agents, and employees (“Indemnitees”) free 
and harmless from: (i) any and all claims, liabilities and losses 
whatsoever occurring or resulting to any and all persons, firms, 
entities, or corporations furnishing or supplying work, services, 
materials, or supplies in connection with, or related to, the performance 
of work or the exercise of rights authorized by approval of this 
amendment to Conditional Use Permit No. CUP 00-16 (Conditional 
Use Permit No. 20-14); and (ii) any and all claims, lawsuits, liabilities, 
and/or actions arising out of, or related to the approval of this 
Conditional Use Permit and/or the granting or exercise of the rights 
authorized by said approval; and (iii) from any and all claims, liabilities 
and losses occurring or resulting to any person, firm, entity, corporation 
for property damage, personal injury, or death, arising out of or related 
to the approval of, or exercise of rights granted by, this Conditional Use 
Permit.  Applicant's obligation to indemnify, defend, and hold the 
Indemnitees free and harmless as required hereinabove shall include, 
but is not limited to, paying all fees and costs incurred by legal counsel 
of the Indemnitees’ choice in representing the Indemnitees in 
connection with any such claims, losses, lawsuits, or actions, and any 
award of damages, judgments, verdicts, court costs or attorneys' fees 
in any such lawsuit or action. 
 

ATTACHMENT B



ATTACHMENT C



ATTACHMENT C



ATTACHMENT C



ATTACHMENT C



」uly之9,20ZO

Attn: Planning Division / RE: Conceptual Plan

We are interested in a portion of the vacant space directly adjacent to our current business, the exact

portion and size to be confirmed’Current-y measured to be 644 SF. Our intention for use ofthis space is

to expand our current operations, and access such through a sm訓hidden doorwaytofunction as a

private dining room attimes fo「 private reservations′ but aiso as a ,‘speak easy′′ set up othertimes. We

would iiketo shade ortint the windows in thefrontto minimizeexteriorvisibility, Which wiIi cont「ibute

tothe overail vibe. We intend to onIy permit access to private memberships, and VIPguests of

Mac訓ans Public House′ Creating a vibe of exciusivity′ and perhaps as a private area permitting cigar

smoking and higher end whiskey pai「ings, The doorway to be created is across from our existing

bathrooms, Which theguests ofthis space w用have fu= accessto・ Per pending draft oflease

amendment the Iandiord w冊be responsible to do the construction necessa「y to provide the space in

van用a condition, and we w用add the d6cor言ncIuding floor, Wa= and ceiIing covering, a POrtabIe bar, a

commerciaI grade humidor, and fumiture for comfortabIe lounge type seating areas. We wili aiso

insta冊igh end ′′air eaters’’approximateiy every 150 to 200 SF of the space to ensure proper air

ventilation for cigar smoke. Cigarettes w川not be permitted. Food service wiIi be provided from our

existing kitchen.

As part of ou「 overa= strategy, and to remain competitive and comp=ant in an environment with state

and federal restrictions imposed resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, We also plan to add a useabie

Patio area adjacentto our current patio area which w紺extend to be in front ofthe adjacent space

exterior doorway, Which w紺enable us to a=ow for appropriate social distancing whiie s帥

accommodating our reliabIe and regular customer base. We are cognizant of the importance of exterior

appeal, and it is our expectation to improve overa= exterior appeai. As such, the new patio area is not

expected to interfere with street views, and w帖nciude ABC compIiant ra= to surround this patio area

which w紺be with p「eferred fencing covered with shrubbe「y, aS We feeI the aesthetic ofthis style barrier

would enhancethe exterio「 appeal ofthe pub′ aS We= as enhancethe downtown waikvisual. We w紺

aiso insta= mood lights in effort to b「ing more attention and appeaI to this ′street end’of downtown.

The pubIic sidewaIk dearance requirements w川be met.

丁his expansion w川be a critical component in rebu潮ng our success and volume priorto COVID-19,

a=owing us adequate spacing required for sociai distancing wh=e gradua=y increasing capacity.

Addition訓y, the interior expansion offers a uniqueIy desirable space that shouid bring in a new

CuStOmer COmPOnent WhiIe enhancing the needs of manv existing customers・

Respectfu=y,

Douglas Vincent

ATTACHMENT D



P 一 a 「 - S す 「 > d d 五 〇 ⊃ a 二 つ 有 ユ O 「 S p a 露 a つ d P a 巾 i O 巾 × p a ⊇ き つ

〇 二 三 富 a ニ a ⊃ S P u b ニ ∩ エ O u S ①

刀 巾 S O 「 U ± O Z Z 〇 . P ○ ○ ? 中 書

巾 × ≡ 聖 書 > - 口

巾 × エ 三 豊 十 巾

巾 × ≡ 空 音 [

巾 × ≡ 聖 」 G

巾 × ≡ 空 「 工

面 × エ ニ ど 十 一

S 一 十 巾 P 「 > 之 ¥ [ 「 ○ ○ 君 主 ≡

S 一 G 之 > ( 請

S n O P 巾 ○ [ ≦ ○ 刃 K

晋 一 刀 六 三 G > S S 巾 S S M 巾 之 書

く 巾 之 ヨ モ ギ 一 〇 之

巾 之 G 一 N 嵩 R ≡ G 里 < 一 S 一 〇 三 二 口 巾 . 琴 一 「

ATTACHMENT E



田
 �

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
汗

∴
 ?

 ●
ヅ

 
重
/
 

二
　

二
　

∴
三

言
 

埠
　

　
　

団
 
�

�
�

�
l
 
�

 
�

�
�

馬
 
　

♂
 
�

�
�

′
震

 

吾 
�青

-1I
● 

韓 
�i

け-
◆●

 事
 乃

P =
i r

 鴎
 粥

 �
�害

 1 
� 

��
�「

輔 
��

�鷲
 �

l 輝
 」

 l 
輔 

雷 
・冨

・ 
ー◆

、 
●●

 詰
ま 

喜
喜

 
�

�
�

雪
さ

さ
 
、

 

号
 
�

智
 
�

�
�

作
急

 
患

 
(
 
�

�
�

�
 
�

�
●

●
●

　
●

 
二

三
子

 �
�

、
・

圭
、

 

i 
甘

_か
　

め
一

㌢
 �

�
.●

 �
�

I繭
欝

諌
‡

 

ヽ
⊃

 
�

�
�

�
�

、
“

欝
磐

笑
 
�

�
�

�
�

圭
 
ヽ

∴
ヽ

 
ヽ

 

稜
 
�

�
�

�
�

霊
’

燐
 
�

�
�

�
 
�

′
ヽ

 
ヽ

ヽ
 
i
ヽ

 

さ
こ
:
’
 
�
�
�
�
�
�
う
・
-
・
・
●
.
.
、
 
�
�
二
‥
’
’
ゞ
∴
言
霊
÷
 
�
�
�
¥
’
 

単
 �

�
�

�
�

�
 �

�
、

玉
 ヽ

 ヽ
 謡

 �
予

報
 �

ヾ
 ヽ

 減
 �

ヽ
 

●
○

○
こ

 �
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

、
r 

き
 ‡

 i
 雷

 ∴
}∴

!さ
 も

 !
 申

 す
 ヽ

 ヽ
, 

薄
茶

 �
8 

龍
 罷

 議
・

 脅
 ●

一
●

◆
-■

一
 ・

鶉
 

忠 　
義 〇

㌔-一
一一一

一一一
一一-

----一
一‾ヤ

 ��
���

�雪予
蝿、’

 .、→
-、し

て・ナ
 

∵・くす・享
 講 ����

� 

●
、

I
し

、
 
¥
」

ヽ
ヽ

、
 
�

、
●

●
.
-
、

-
 
　

●
ヽ

●
●

 

薫:
:ぎ

‥ 
��

��
 �

 
●・

ヽ、
「"

し.
　臆

 �
� 

��
潤胆

 
ヽ
.　

主
、
 �

�
÷
三
笠
こ
〔
 �

 

〕
諒
恕
、
、
 �

�
、
・
.・

:了
 　

ヾ
青
 �

�
喜
雪
子
 �

 
書
手
:∵

.・
・
 ●

●
‾
-ふ

●
　
′
 �

�
∴
.’

・
・
・
.、

・
 �

�
●
ヽ
1′

、
■
‾
~・

 ・
∴
∴
: 
�
 

・
、

,’
●

∴
●

 ∴
,∴

1 
�

千
言

 ●
ノ

 

ヽ
.
●

　
●

,
 
●

-
.
　

-
　

●
 
�

�
●

-
●

←
◆

●
.
 
・

了
・

・
・

÷
 
�

�
 

ATTACHMENT E



ATTACHMENT E



ATTACHMENT E



ユ′
 ・

」 
レ¥

 ヽ
音 

�犠
∴$

 　
　こ

● 
ぐ
、
 .
卓
 よ

 い
 �

ミ
　
　
　
∴
ミ
 

許 
虹

二
認

 

烏
 
�

1
1
●

　
　

　
　

　
　

　
i
 

軽 
重 
!
 
章
 
二
 

l 
○
○
「
-ざ

 

輸
-
"
i
一
-
-
一
一
一
-
●
-
-
 

曹
 

も
　

や
∴

謀
 

、 し∧
 

来
 

二三子
三 善

書 

ATTACHMENT E



時
山

一
警

手
‾

‾
’

辞
 

謂
 �

�
 �

 �
�
J 

†
 

竃 書
 曇 軍

 手 �
「●∴

 ��
 

日 日 □ 
� � □ � 
� 

言詳
 1ゝ

 �宣
 言 

‡ �
 � 

韓茸
 ��

 ��
 

鞘
 �

●
-r
 

重 了 〇 ・ と

P ○ ○ P O S ① d

謀 議 繋 製 薬 繋 遼 寧

導 等 を 唆 す 寸 言 さ を 毒 … 薫 き 主 i 恥 、

ネ コ さ 畢 十 研 叩 之 「 細 田 易

田 鶴 関 坤 鞠 龍 飛 下 …

圏 的 訪 問 撃 託 萄 . 壬 。

調 X i s 〔 i ⊃ g 巾 ⊃ o 「 O a O ブ ヨ の ⊃ 〔

巾 ⊃ ♀ O a C ブ ヨ ① 三

P ○ ○ P O S ① d 巾 ⊃ O 「 O a O ブ ヨ の ⊃ 〔

圏 悶 隅 田 町 田 晴 間 ∴ ∴ 　 　 　 土

重 り ● ○ ○ 〇 番 一 つ 〇 〇 〇 〇 さ さ 員 〇 〇

〃 9 - 葵 士 ○ ○ 筆 書 青 . ブ . 録 置 場 重 富 〇 一 〇

{ 章 一 戸
団 董日 誌 駐 韓 ぎ 詳 琵 揮 笥

圏 開 門 講 壇 寛 押 印 つ 難 問

- i - 1 - i 言 い 与 + 〉 ! - 〕 ・ = し ∴ ・ イ ・ ノ ー 。 { l 、 小 ▲ ′ , 「 、 〉

裏 書 t ’ す

謹 書○ ○ ’ , 〔 書 電 器 ○ ○ 事 O 喜 ’

ー ー l l t l
開 聞 聞

ATTACHMENT E



ATTACHMENT E



娩
c
a
脇

n
工

事

P
u
b
毒

c
 
H
む

α
S
e

3
3
0
 
W
e
s
t
 
B
i
r
c
h
 
S
t
r
e
e
t

B
「
e
a
,
 
C
a
l
i
f
o
m
i
a
 
9
2
8
2
1

害 玉 手 ミ 風 雪 、 恥 、

輝
S ○ ○ m 漢 書 漢 書 〇 〇 〇 事 案 書

ATTACHMENT E



ATTACHMENT E



ATTACHMENT E



ATTACHMENT E



ATTACHMENT E



ATTACHMENT E



ATTACHMENT E



Sorensen Air

847 Carlson Dr

Brea, CA 9Z82i-2208

Lic # 585274

Name / Add「ess

Macalla¶S Pub宜c円ouse

330WBirch St
Brea, CA 92821

巨-ma= I　　　　　i 

so「eれSeれ轟l“@att. n et

Estimate

Description

To涌st分ll 680 CFM in」ine exhaust似n Ve11t CXhausted ai]. OutSide and add fresh air relie手Potentially use

existing HVAC fo一・ SOurCe Of outside ail・・

TeHnS:

1. Payment due upon job completion'

2. Proposa=s good t証30 days.

3. aty Pemits and Licenses if‘rcquhed al.e nOt iT'Cluded in above pl・jce alld w川be provided orl a tjme &

matchal basjs.

圏圏圏図四四四

ATTACHMENT E



sMOKEMASTER⑱ C-12 - Se!f-Contained Ai「 Cleaning System

国l順‖回出国』旧Ⅳ

Whether yo両add「essing ai「 qua=ty

in a labo「atory, light manufacturing

env汗onment, 0「 a Cigar bar: yOu n粥d a

solution that d巳=ve「s highly efficient air

cleaning, Rather than an expensive exhaust

SyStem, the Smokemaste「 C-1 2

is a low cost, m面mal maintena[Ce

Clean air soIution.

The Smokemaster C-12 deliver§

e鵬ien寄y, SaVings, and minimal

main置enan耽cos書t山o岬h:

. Rugged st粥l construction

fo川n旧OngeVity

● Durable indust「iaI-grade

elecl「〇両c ce嶋

● Coanda A8「Odynamic PrincipIe’s

unique 4-Way method of air

recirculation optimizes the manner

in which air circuIates wi帥n a room,

thus maximizing the amount of dirty

air cleaned.

. Pe「ma鵬ntiy washab!e electronic ce=s

that a「8 mOre enVironmentally friendIy.

The Smokemaster C"12

air c看eane白s THE air c!eaning

SOlution for indoo「 air叩al叩y!

Air O胴時Engine8ring, (o聞dnd in 1973言S P「O刷o ofler a con血ed, S〕Per10「

Ievel oI Bxpe「ienc8一n man∪la臨画nきCOmPIete a両用tra面0n Syst8mS tha巾rovide

the h厄hest per廟ma鴫誰庇冊y, and c坤acf申0「 the money. 0]r SaIes and

国同@ll同国国圃l同種　認諾盤認諾蕊嵩墨書岩盤告器盤

▲
　
　
　
　
雷

、
▲
i
て
こ
∴
∴
一
さ
き
’

ATTACHMENT E



Design Features

3 Ftemovable Pre珊ers and Griile

Washa【症al胴inum mesh prg冊ers catch

larg巳r particIes beto「e ent8ring the eIect「0[ic

Ce=s.

4 system lndica青or Lamp

Mo硝ors the ele柄caI ou‘p]t autOmatica=y,

indica冊g any system ma肌用C栂n.

5 Three-Speed Contl-OI
Low……‥..800CFM

Medium … …105OCFM

Hlgh … … …1250CFM

Ene「gy-e輔ci8nt mOtOr

㊨日ectronic Cells

Manufactu「ed by Air QIIa映y Engineering,

the two heavy-duty eIBct「Onic c巳=s are

P「Oduced with ceramic insu lators, heavy-

duty coi16CtOr Piates, and s両dy fjn sJPPOrtS

to p「ovid8飾‘“industriaトgrade’i ce= d8Sign

for comm8「CiaI appiicatio[S. So冊-stat8,

duaトVO随ge smart ci「cllうt provides mor8

efficient air cI開ning with compact副s that

「8mOV6秘S時W佃s加dy g「巾雨間6S・

胃Hinged Access Door

A=ows eaey access to comPO脚tS

for p8「todic c訓and pr8f鵬r cIeaning"

Safdy intchock discomects power when

door is opened. Bu冊n test b]ttOn aSSU「巳S

CO=ector pefrormance・

Smokemaster’s key feature is the multidirectional air patte「n’

the Coanda Aerodynamic PrincipIe.

0u「 unique fouトWay method of air recircuiation maximizes the amount

三、葛∴豊島藍嵩隷書藍譜嵩豊能謹請嵩
(the cha「ging of pa嗣es to be co冊Cted wi帖he prima「y washable ce時

This provides hig圃Ciency ai「 cleaning a両duced over訓mainte脚c巳」一

¥しIiU U=uitタl=tl U-　rui`“UIVU `〉 “′U V〉l'〉U、〉〉 ’‥、●’ ‘‥〉　r,…‥‘‾’ノ“-‾‾‥‾‾’_∴、._‥I“

costs with a[ enVironmenta=y friendIy air cleaning soIution.

‾二二二遺‾ヘー
----一′一一一一

The Smokemaste「 e18CtrOnie air cleaner e輸ent-y removes ai「borne pa栂s -ike smoke, `‾●-.`〇・J-

dust, and dirt so smal冊a白t wou剛ake 7,000 0fthem to s咽Ch across this dot (.)"

副隈回出回』肝腎　器r器器骨盤器誓書嵩328_。787
匿肝耶竃=同国匿圃l同短　調A旧くo@a巾a時ng・COm瑚∬桐油棚岬-e岬削 2

・
・
~
~
-
⊥

ATTACHMENT E



Smokemaster C-12

1nstaIk虹ion

The Smokemaste「 ca両e eas=y mounted to航e岬0「 a Wa岨nd画gs into a 120V o囲" Opt刷POSlt剛ng

is nea「es=he sou「ce of contaminant. A quaItfied representative can assist you with s痢g a剛OCafron for

maximum effectiveness.

AIum血岬鵬rs a剛8 Smokemaster c栂「e quiek申emov巳d and eas即巳aned by soaking in

a conventional wash conta而er. Cleaning inte「vals a「e d印endent on the contaminant density in冊e a「ea

b6活g de補d.

Unit Part Numbers

OOOO6　　C-1 2 lvo「y

OOOO7　　C-12 Black

Optional Accessories
- 41067 - Heavy DIIty P「e冊er (2 r印ui「ed pe「 C12)

- 07094 - Odo「 Neutra"zer Kit (Retain8「 and 6 cartridg巳s)

岳1 Ga=on Con脚trate C釧Cleaning Detergent (45008)

由1 P諏C副Coat (45023)

岳Wash Co而aine「面th 」沌(30182)

- W狙Mo両面Kit (07006)

- 3-SPeed Wa”-Mount Switch 〈05007)

Specificati ons

Capacity (CFM)

Low Speed M8d. Speed　　輔gh Speed

800　　　　　　1 050 1250

臣Iectrica旧atings

VoItage and F「equ8nCy- 120V ac, 50/60 Hz o「 240V ac, 50/60 Hz

Current and Powe「 Consumption

Low Speed Med. Sp8ed High Speed

2.4A　　　　　　2.7A

200W　　　　　　230W

Dimensions

Length Wi dth

25-’　　　　　　25拘

Weight

Shipping lnstalIed

了5 Ibs.　　　　　64 1bs,

E冊ciency

囲印8nden=eb tested [o the most c胴時S冊gent standards

(O de=ver ove「 98.8% e軸ency on 3 micro叩a剛es at medium speed.

Power

3-P「Ong, 1 0-foot power cord plugs亜o standard grounded outIet.

丁輔s p「oduき白s [血av∂伽I8 (or saIe了隣∂Iさo「面sta脚〇両CaI細面

削除回出国』ll市営′　7140酬and DriveNo岬00岬ark,MN55428‾1520)USA鞘鍋巨. 763-53十9823中鞘763-53十9900膏鎚肝醗警: 1-800-328-0787

回国@=同国国隠‖同@　輔帥0@ai両町g・COm朝出庸一申-ty噂輔　　　3

絶
間
闇
聞
顎
博
で

ATTACHMENT E



TECHNICAL BACKGROUND 

Case No: Conditional Use Permit No. 20-14 (CUP 20-14) 

Property Location: 

Parcel Size: 

Building Size: 

330 West Birch Street 

12,880 square feet (0.30 acres) 

4,900 SF 

Applicant: Douglas Vincent 
2420 East McKittrick Place 
Brea, CA 92821 

General Plan Designation: Mixed Use I 

Zoning Designation: MU-I, Mixed- Use I 

Adjacent Zoning 

North: MU-I, Mixed- Use I 

South: C-G, General Commercial

West: MU-I, Mixed- Use I 

East: MU-I, Mixed- Use I 

Site and Neighborhood 
Characteristics: 

The project site is located on the south intersection of West 
Birch Street and South Madrona Avenue. The site is 
surrounded by various commercial uses with Downtown 
Brea.  

Public Hearing Notices and 
Outreach: 

Legal Notice was published in the Brea Star Progress on 
November 26, 2020, and approximately 71 notices were 
sent to all property owners within a 500-foot radius of the 
subject property. 

ATTACHMENT F



SUBJECT PROPERTY AND VICINITY MAP 
DATE:  December 8, 2020 

CASE NO:  
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. CUP 20-14 

N 

ATTACHMENT G



ATTACHMENT H



1

Barriga, Jose

From: JAMES K. BLAKELY <jameskblakely@gmail.com>
Sent: Monday, November 30, 2020 9:32 AM
To: Barriga, Jose
Cc: Killebrew, Jason
Subject: RE: 00-16 MacCallens
Attachments: 20201129_141341_resized.jpg; 20201129_141339_resized.jpg; 20201129_141349

_resized.jpg; 20201129_141410_resized.jpg

Good morning 

Here are a couple of pictures taken Sunday around 2pm  
Note the loose propane tanks stored on the side walk, narrowed passageways for anyone to pass throughout on the 
sidewalk and maintain a 6' safe distance.  Overcrowded table behind partition had a least 12 people back there 

All the best 

JB 

Sent from my Super Deluxe Galaxy S10 phone 

Please excuse my brevity  

-------- Original message -------- 
From: "Barriga, Jose" <joseb@ci.brea.ca.us>  
Date: 11/30/20 08:12 (GMT-08:00)  
To: "'James K. Blakely "JB"'" <jameskblakely@gmail.com> 
Cc: "Killebrew, Jason" <jasonk@ci.brea.ca.us>  
Subject: RE: 00-16 MacCallens  

Good morning Mr. Blakely, 

Thank you for contacting the Planning Division regarding the Conditional Use Permit Application for Macallans Public 
House. Staff will include your public comment in Planning Commission Agenda Packet for the December 8th meeting.  

Should you have any additional questions, please feel free to contact us. 

Sincerely, 
Jose 

ATTACHMENT I



2

  

Jose Barriga | Associate Planner 

Community Development Dept. | Planning Division 

1 Civic Center Circle, Brea CA 92821 

714.990.7674 

  

 

  

From: James K. Blakely "JB" <jameskblakely@gmail.com>  
Sent: Friday, November 27, 2020 5:34 PM 
To: Killebrew, Jason <jasonk@ci.brea.ca.us> 
Cc: Planning <Planning@ci.brea.ca.us> 
Subject: 00-16 MacCallens 

  

Good morning Mr. Killebrew, 

  

I am writing this in regards to the notice for a conditional use permit.  

I reside at 122 S. Madrona Ave. Brea, since July 1997.   

  

MacCallens during the last six months has exhibited no regard for the neighborhood, basic social distancing or 
adherence to their entertainment permits. 

Prior to the recent expansion onto Birch street with the closing to traffic on most nights you couldn’t walk down the 
sidewalk in the evening with out getting bumped in to by  patrons drinking out on the sidewalk where they setup 
additional tables and stools it was packed in elbow to elbow. The smoking by customers is overwhelming right outside 
their front doors and patio at times. 

  

Noise levels on their Karaoke nights and music nights has let to several phone calls to Maccallens requesting that it be 
turned down and the doors close per the terms of the permit . this was rebuffed.  

  

ATTACHMENT I



3

I tried to glve them grace during the covid situation but enough is enough. 

  

Respectfully, 

  

James K. Blakely 

  

  

  

Sent from Mail for Windows 10 

  

ATTACHMENT I



ATTACHMENT I



ATTACHMENT I



ATTACHMENT I



ATTACHMENT I



Agenda Item   9. 
City of Brea

PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION

TO: Honorable Chair and Planning Commission

DATE: 12/08/2020

SUBJECT: Zoning Text Amendment No. 20-01 (ZTA 20-01) To Amend Title 20 of The Brea
Municipal Code Regulating Accessory Dwelling Units and Junior Accessory
Dwelling Units Within The City Of Brea.

REQUEST
This is a City-initiated amendment to Title 20 (Zoning Code) of the Brea Municipal Code
(BMC) to amend regulations pertaining to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) and Junior
Accessory Dwelling Units (JADUs) in accordance with California legislation. 

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission recommend the City Council take the
following actions:  

1.    Find the project exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant
to Public Resources Code Section 21080.17 and CEQA Guidelines Section 15282(h); and    

2.    Approve Zoning Text Amendment No. 20-01, to amend sections of the BMC, regulating
ADUs and JADUs within the City of Brea (Attachment A). 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION
BACKGROUND
The State of California first adopted regulations for Second Dwelling Units (SDUs) in 1982. In
response, the City adopted Ordinance No. 760 in 1984 and has allowed SDUs in
single-family zones. Since that time, California adopted subsequent amendments to the
original law in 1986, 1990, and 1994. In 2002, the California legislature approved Assembly
Bill (AB) 1866, which prohibited municipalities from requiring a Conditional Use Permit for
SDUs. In response, and in accordance to AB 1866, the City Council amended the regulations
for SDUs to allow ministerial approval of SDUs through a Plan Review process.

In 2016, California passed three bills related to SDUs: Senate Bill (SB) 1069, AB 2299, and
AB 2406. This resulted in a terminology change from Second Dwelling Units to Accessory
Dwelling Units (ADUs). In response to these changes in State law, City Council adopted a
new ADU Ordinance in 2018 that implemented provisions from State law (Attachment D).

In an effort to help increase the State’s affordable housing supply, Governor Newsom signed
into law SB 13, AB 68 and AB 881 on October 9, 2019, which made further changes to
existing ADU and JADU regulations in California Government Code Sections 65852.2 and
65852.22. Below is a summary of the significant changes to State law: 



Allows ADUs and JADUs on lots with single-family homes.
Allows property owners to construct or establish ADUs in multiple-family residential
zones.
Modifies the way municipalities can assess impact fees, in part by prohibiting the
imposition of impact fees on ADUs less than 750 square feet in area. For any ADU
over 750 square feet, any assessed impact fees on the ADU must be in proportion to
the square footage of the primary main dwelling.
Prohibits local agencies from requiring replacement parking when parking is
demolished in conjunction with the construction of or conversion to of an ADU.
Eliminates minimum lot size requirements.
Prohibits setback requirements for an ADU that is located in the same location with the
same dimensions as an existing structure, whether the ADU is a conversion or a new
structure in the same location. The maximum rear yard and side setback for all other
ADUs is four feet.
Removes the authority to impose an owner-occupancy requirement for ADUs; JADUs
are still subject to the owner-occupancy requirement. 

Implementation of SB13, AB 68 and AB 881 became mandatory for municipalities as of
January 1, 2020. Under those bills, municipalities had the option to default to State law for
regulations regarding ADUs and JADUs or adopt an ordinance compliant with State law.
The City of Brea has initiated the adoption of a new ADU and JADU Ordinance to comply

with State law. 

DISCUSSION
An ADU, previously referred to as a granny flat, second dwelling unit, or in-law quarters, is
defined as “an attached or a detached residential dwelling unit that provides complete
independent living facilities for one or more persons and is located on a lot with a proposed
or existing primary residence. It shall include permanent provisions for living, sleeping,
eating, cooking, and sanitation on the same parcel as the single-family or multifamily
dwelling is or will be situated.”

The proposed zoning text amendment would modify the following chapters of the BMC:

20.00 (General Provisions)
20.200 (Single Family Residential – Hillside Zone)
20.206 (HR Hillside Residential Zone)
20.208 (R1 Single Family Residential Zone)
20.212 (R1 5,000 Single Family Residential Zone)
20.216 (R2 Multiple Family Residential Zone)
20.220 (R3 Multiple Family Residential Zone)
20.258 (Mixed-Use Zoning Districts)

The following is a summary of the provisions included in the attached ADU/JADU ordinance.

Junior Accessory Dwelling Units: The proposed zoning ordinance amendment establishes a
definition for a JADU and development standards, in accordance with state law. A JADU is
defined as “a unit that is no more than 500 square feet in size and contained entirely within a
single-family residence.” The JADU may include separate sanitation facilities or may share
sanitation facilities with the existing dwelling. A JADU would be created through the
conversion or repurposing of existing area within the primary single-family dwelling and does
not require any off-street parking. In accordance with state law, Staff has included a



requirement for the recordation of a covenant that requires owner occupancy for any
single-family dwelling with a JADU. With the introduction of JADU requirements,
single-family-zoned lots may be eligible to propose one ADU and one JADU, which would
result in a total of three (3) units on one lot (including the existing dwelling unit).

Size, Setbacks, and other Development Standards: State law modified existing regulations
and the City’s ability to regulate unit size, setbacks, and other development standards for
ADUs and JADUs. State law prohibits cities from requiring compliance with applicable
development standards of the underlying zone for an ADU that meets the following
standards: is equal to or less than 800 square feet, less than 16 feet in height, and maintains
a side and rear setback of four feet. ADUs that meet these standards are allowed through
the issuance of a building permit. ADUs over 800 square feet are subject to applicable
development standards of the underlying zone and specific standards for ADUs. Additionally,
cities may no longer impose a minimum lot size requirement for ADUs.

Review Process
Staff is proposing a tiered review process for ADUs based on the number of bedrooms and
size as noted in the following table (Table A):

Table A: Proposed ADU Tiered Review Process
City of Brea Proposed - 
Building Permit Only
Process

City of Brea 
Proposed - Certificate of
Compatibility 

Studio / 1-bedroom Up to 850 SF1 > 851 SF2
2-bedroom & more Up to 1,000 SF1 > 1,001 SF2
1. Subject to a 16-foot height limitation with a 4-foot side- and rear-yard setback requirement
if the applicable zoning development standards would prohibit the construction of an ADU
greater than 800 square feet. Otherwise, ADUs are subject to applicable development
standards of the underlying zone.
2.Subject to a Certificate of Compatibility per §20.408.050 of the Brea Municipal Code.

Additionally, staff is proposing a minimum building separation of ten (10) feet from the
external walls of the primary dwelling unit. The minimum building separation only applies to
new construction and is not required for an existing garage or other accessory structures that
are converted into an ADU.

Multi-Family Residential Zones: State law now allows properties developed with multi-family
units to construct an ADU. The City must allow for the conversion of non-livable spaces in
existing multifamily dwelling structures into ADUs. Such non-livable spaces include storage
rooms, boiler rooms, passageways, attics, basements, and garages. A local agency shall
allow at least one accessory dwelling unit within an existing multifamily dwelling and up to 25
percent of the existing multifamily dwelling units. For example, an 8-unit development with
attached parking garages could convert up to two (2) of the parking garages into ADUs (8 x
.25 = 2). State law does not require the property owner to replace the parking spaces
removed for the ADU nor require parking for the ADU. Separately, an existing multi-family
dwelling can request to build no more than two (2) detached ADUs on the property. The
detached ADU is subject to a 16-foot height limitation with a four-foot side- and rear-yard
setback requirement.

Parking: In general, an ADU is required to provide one (1) additional off-street parking space
in addition to the required parking for the primary unit. The additional parking space may be



in addition to the required parking for the primary unit. The additional parking space may be
covered or uncovered and subject to all parking space location, dimension and surface
requirements listed in Section 20.208.040.K of the BMC. There are exemptions for parking
for an ADU as noted in Section No. 9 of the Draft Ordinance. There are no parking
requirements for JADUs.

Architectural Compatibility: State law allows cities to impose design standards for an ADU.
Staff is proposing that each ADU be designed to match the existing dwelling, including, but
not limited to color, style, and materials.

The attached Summary of Development Standards (Attachment B) demonstrates the
applicable requirements based on the size and type of accessory unit.

SUMMARY
The proposed amendments are in response to compliance with updates to State law
pertaining to ADUs and JADUs. The new State law includes specific provisions that
municipalities must implement; however, the legislation gives the City some discretion to
establish standards in its ADU ordinance. Staff has proposed the requirements in the new
ADU ordinance to minimize impacts to surrounding and existing residential neighborhoods
while facilitating the ability to create ADUs and JADUs in compliance with State law. Staff
recommends that the Planning Commission, by motion, recommend approval of the
proposed Zoning Text Amendment to the City Council.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
The proposed project is exempt from the requirement of the California Environmental Quality
Act (CEQA) pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 21080.17 and CEQA Guidelines
Section 15282(h). This exemption is applicable for the adoption of an ordinance regarding
second units in a single-family or multifamily residential zone by a city or county to implement
provisions of Sections 65852.1 and 65852.2 of the Government Code, as set forth in Section
21080.17.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED
Jason Killebrew, City Planner
Prepared by: Jose Barriga, Associate Planner
 

Attachments
A. Draft ADU Ordinance 
B. Draft Summary of Development Standards 
C. Public Hearing Notice 
D. 2018 ADU Ordinance 



ORDINANCE NO. ___ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BREA REGARDING 
ACCESSORY DWELLING UNIT REGULATIONS, 
AMENDING THE BREA CITY CODE, AND FINDING THIS 
ACTION TO BE EXEMPT FROM THE CALIFORNIA 
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT 

A. Recitals. 

(i) Effective January 1, 2020, Senate Bill 13 (“SB 13”), Assembly Bill 68 (“AB 
68”), and Assembly Bill 881 (“AB 881”) amended Government Code 
Sections 65852.2 and 65852.22 to further limit the standards cities may 
impose on accessory dwelling units (“ADUs”) and junior accessory dwelling 
units (“JADUs”).   

(ii) This Ordinance updates the City’s local standards to comply with the 
revisions to state law. 

(iii) Adoption of this Ordinance is consistent with the City’s General Plan, as 
required by state law.  This Ordinance fulfills General Plan Housing 
Element Program 2.0 by assisting in the provision of adequate housing to 
meet the needs of the community, and establish a balanced approach to 
meeting housing needs, which includes the needs of both renter and owner 
households.  The Ordinance also fulfills General Plan Housing Element 
Programs 4.0 and 5.0 by mitigating any governmental constraints to 
housing production and affordability and by promoting equal opportunity for 
all residents to provide households with options for housing types. 

(iv) The City Council adopts this Ordinance under the authority provided in 
state law, and the requirements provided herein are directly related to the 
City’s purpose of protecting the health, safety, and welfare of its residents, 
businesses, and visitors. 

 
B.  Ordinance. 

 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BREA DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 Section 1.  The City Council finds that the facts set forth in the Recitals, Part A, of 
this Ordinance are true and correct.  

 Section 2.  Subsection “B” of Section 20.00.070 (Specific Definitions) of Chapter 
20.00 (General Provisions) of Division I (General Regulations) of Title 20 (Zoning Code) 
of Part II (Development Code) of the Brea City Code is hereby amended to update the 
definition of “Accessory Dwelling Unit” and to add the definition of “Junior Accessory 
Dwelling Unit” to the alphabetical listing of definitions and shall read as follows:   



 
 
 

-2- 
 
11222-0001\2393075v12.doc 

“ACCESSORY DWELLING UNIT. An attached or a detached residential dwelling 
unit that provides complete independent living facilities for one or more persons 
and is located on a lot with a proposed or existing primary residence. It shall include 
permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation on the 
same parcel as the single-family or multifamily dwelling is or will be situated.  

JUNIOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNIT. A unit that is no more than 500 square 
feet in size and contained entirely within a single-family residence. A junior 
accessory dwelling unit may include separate sanitation facilities, or may share 
sanitation facilities with the existing structure.”  

 Section 3:  Subsection “12” of Subsection “A” of Section 20.208.020 (Uses 
Permitted) of Chapter 20.208 (R-1 Single Family Residential Zone) of Division II (Specific 
Zone Regulations) of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of the Brea 
City Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 

“12.  A maximum of one (1) accessory dwelling unit per lot provided that:   

         a.  The lot contains one (1) existing or proposed primary dwelling unit. 

         b.  The accessory dwelling unit shall meet all development standards as set 
forth in § 20.208.040 of this chapter. 

         c.  The accessory dwelling unit shall not be constructed as to cause the 
existing dwelling to conflict with the minimum standards applicable to the single 
family zone on which it is located, including but not limited to, minimum dwelling 
area, except if the application of such standards would prohibit an 800-square foot 
accessory dwelling unit that is 16 feet in height and meets the 4-foot rear- and 
side-yard setback requirement.” 

 Section 4:  A new Subsection “13” is hereby added to Subsection “A” of Section 
20.208.020 (Uses Permitted) of Chapter 20.208 (R-1 Single Family Residential Zone) of 
Division II (Specific Zone Regulations) of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development 
Code) of the Brea City Code to read as follows: 

“13.  A maximum of one (1) junior accessory dwelling unit per lot provided that: 

        a.  The lot contains one (1) existing or proposed primary dwelling unit. 

        b.  The junior accessory dwelling unit shall meet all applicable development 
standards as set forth in § 20.208.040 of this chapter.”  

 Section 5:  Subsection “C” of Section 20.208.040 (Property Development 
Standards) of Chapter 20.208 (R-1 Single Family Residential Zone) of Division II (Specific 
Zone Regulations) of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of the Brea 
City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:  



 
 
 

-3- 
 
11222-0001\2393075v12.doc 

“C. Dwelling unit density.  Not more than one (1) dwelling unit shall be permitted 
to be on any lot in the R-1 (Single Family Residential) Zone except that an 
accessory dwelling unit and a junior accessory dwelling unit may be permitted in 
addition to the one (1) dwelling unit subject to the provisions set forth herein.”  

 Section 6:  Subsection “7” of Subsection “E” of Section 20.208.040 (Property 
Development Standards) of Chapter 20.208 (R-1 Single Family Residential Zone) of 
Division II (Specific Zone Regulations) of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development 
Code) of the Brea City Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 “7.   Location of accessory dwelling units. 

a.  An accessory dwelling unit that is detached or attached to the primary dwelling 
unit shall maintain a side and rear yard of not less than four (4) feet, unless 
otherwise permitted under subparagraph (b), (c), and (d) below, and conform to 
the development standards set forth herein.  

b.  An accessory dwelling unit constructed within existing square footage within the 
primary dwelling unit or within an existing accessory building on the property may 
be permitted ministerially, subject to the issuance of a building permit, if complying 
with building and safety codes, has independent exterior access from the existing 
residence and has sufficient side and rear setbacks for fire safety, in accordance 
with the provisions of section 20.208.040. 

c.  No additional building setback shall be required for an existing garage or an 
existing accessory building that is converted to an accessory dwelling unit or for a 
structure constructed in the same location and to the same dimensions as an 
existing structure.  

d.  A setback of no more than four (4) feet from the side and rear lot lines shall be 
required for an accessory dwelling unit that is constructed above or attached to a 
garage that is existing or proposed with the accessory dwelling unit.” 

 Section 7:  Subsection “2” of Subsection “H” of Section 20.208.040 (Property 
Development Standards) of Chapter 20.208 (R-1 Single Family Residential Zone) of 
Division II (Specific Zone Regulations) of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development 
Code) of the Brea City Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 

“2.   A detached accessory dwelling unit shall maintain a minimum separation of 
not less than ten (10) feet (regardless of openings in walls) from the external walls 
of the existing primary dwelling unit on the same lot. No additional distance shall 
be required for an existing garage or other accessory structure that is converted to 
an accessory dwelling unit.” 

 Section 8:  Subsection “2” of Subsection “I” of Section 20.208.040 (Property 
Development Standards) of Chapter 20.208 (R-1 Single Family Residential Zone) of 



 
 
 

-4- 
 
11222-0001\2393075v12.doc 

Division II (Specific Zone Regulations) of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development 
Code) of the Brea City Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 

“2.   Accessory dwelling units shall have a minimum floor area of not less than one 
hundred fifty (150) square feet.” 

 Section 9:  Subsection “K” of Section 20.208.040 (Property Development 
Standards) of Chapter 20.208 (R-1 Single Family Residential Zone) of Division II (Specific 
Zone Regulations) of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of the Brea 
City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:  

 “K.  Off-street parking. 

1.  There shall be not less than two (2) off-street parking spaces within a garage 
for the primary dwelling unit. An accessory dwelling unit shall provide one (1) 
additional off-street parking space in addition to the required parking for the 
existing primary dwelling unit. This additional parking space may be covered or 
uncovered and shall meet all parking space location, dimension, and surfacing 
requirements for this title. The additional parking space may be provided as 
tandem parking on an existing driveway. Parking standards for an accessory 
dwelling unit shall not apply in any of the following instances:  

a.  The accessory dwelling unit is located within one-half (1/2) mile of public transit, 
including, but not limited to, train stations and bus stations. The one-half (1/2) mile 
distance shall be measured on actual walking routes between the accessory 
dwelling unit and the public transit, rather than a straight line between points.  

b.  The accessory dwelling unit is located within an architecturally and historically 
significant district. 

c.  The accessory dwelling unit is part of a proposed or existing primary residence 
or an existing accessory structure. 

d.  When on-street parking permits are required but not offered to the occupant of 
the accessory dwelling unit. 

e.  When there is a car share vehicle located within one (1) block of the accessory 
dwelling unit. 

3.  When a garage, carport, or covered parking structure is demolished in 
conjunction with the construction of an accessory dwelling unit or converted to an 
accessory dwelling unit, the off-street parking spaces do not need to be replaced.”  

 Section 10:  Subsection “O” of Section 20.208.040 (Property Development 
Standards) of Chapter 20.208 (R-1 Single Family Residential Zone) of Division II (Specific 
Zone Regulations) of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of the Brea 
City Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 



 
 
 

-5- 
 
11222-0001\2393075v12.doc 

“O.   Accessory dwelling unit architecture.  Each accessory dwelling unit shall 
match the color, style, and materials of the existing dwelling unit.”  

 Section 11:  Subsection “P” of Section 20.208.040 (Property Development 
Standards) of Chapter 20.208 (R-1 Single Family Residential Zone) of Division II (Specific 
Zone Regulations) of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of the Brea 
City Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 

“P.   Accessory dwelling unit and junior accessory dwelling unit review. The City 
shall not approve an application for a new accessory dwelling unit or junior 
accessory dwelling unit, unless the ADU or JADU satisfies all of the applicable 
standards in this chapter or meets the requirements set forth in Subsection “1” 
below (Building Permit Only Process).  

1.  Processing.  Notwithstanding other provisions contained herein, an accessory 
dwelling unit, junior accessory dwelling unit, or both if required by state law, shall 
be allowed with only a building permit if the proposed unit(s) meet the requirements 
of both the California Building Standards Code, as adopted and/or amended by 
the City, and Government Code Section 65852.2(e)(1), as the same may be 
amended from time to time, which currently requires the City to ministerially 
approve a building permit within a residential or mixed-use zone to create any of 
the following:    

a.  One accessory dwelling unit and one junior accessory dwelling unit per lot with 
a proposed or existing single-family dwelling if all of the following apply:  

(1)  The accessory dwelling unit or junior accessory dwelling unit is within the 
proposed space of a single-family dwelling or existing space of either an existing 
single-family dwelling or existing accessory structure, and may include an 
expansion of not more than 150 square feet beyond the same physical dimensions 
as the existing accessory structure. 

(2)  The maximum size of an accessory dwelling unit shall comply with the 
following: 

 Building Permit  

Only Process 

Certificate of 
Compatibility  

Studio / 1-bedroom Up to 850 SF1 > 851 SF2 

2-bedroom & more Up to 1,000 SF1 > 1,001 SF2 

1 ADUs up to 800 SF are subject to a 16-foot height limitation with a 4-foot side- and 
rear-yard setback requirement if the applicable zoning development standards would 
prohibit the construction of an ADU greater than 800 square feet. Otherwise, ADUs 
are subject to applicable development standards of the underlying zone. 



 
 
 

-6- 
 
11222-0001\2393075v12.doc 

2Subject to a Certificate of Compatibility per §20.408.050 of the Brea Municipal Code. 

 

(3)  The space has exterior access from the proposed or existing single-family 
dwelling.  

(4)  The side and rear setbacks are sufficient for fire and safety.  

b.  One detached, new construction accessory dwelling unit that does not exceed 
800 square feet in size, 16 feet in height, and has at least four-foot side and rear 
yard setbacks on a lot with a proposed or existing single-family dwelling.  A new 
detached accessory dwelling unit in this subsection may be combined with a junior 
accessory dwelling unit described in paragraph “a” above.  

c.  One accessory dwelling unit within the portions of existing multifamily dwelling 
structures that are not used as livable space, including, but not limited to, storage 
rooms, boiler rooms, passageways, attics, basements, or garages, if each unit 
complies with state building standards for dwellings.  If requested, multiple 
accessory dwelling units shall be allowed, up to the number of accessory dwelling 
units that equals 25 percent of the existing multifamily dwelling units in the 
structure.  

d.  Not more than two detached accessory dwelling units located on a lot that has 
an existing multifamily dwelling, subject to a height limit of 16 feet and four-foot 
rear yard and side setbacks.      

2.  Junior accessory dwelling units approved under the building permit only 
process.  In accordance with the standards set forth in Government Code Section 
65852.22, junior accessory dwelling units approved under the building permit only 
process shall comply with the following requirements, unless state law is amended 
to set forth different standards in which case state law standards will govern:  

a.  A junior accessory dwelling unit shall be a maximum of 500 square feet of gross 
floor area.  The gross floor area of a shared sanitation facility shall not be included 
in the maximum gross floor area of a junior accessory dwelling unit.  

b.  A junior accessory dwelling unit must be contained entirely within the walls of 
the existing or proposed single-family dwelling.  

c.  A separate exterior entry from the main entrance to the single-family dwelling 
shall be provided to serve a junior accessory dwelling unit.  

d.  A junior accessory dwelling unit may include separate sanitation facilities, or 
may share sanitation facilities with the single-family dwelling in which case the 
junior accessory dwelling unit shall have an interior door to allow access to the 
facilities in the single-family dwelling.  



 
 
 

-7- 
 
11222-0001\2393075v12.doc 

e.  A junior accessory dwelling unit shall include an efficiency kitchen, which shall 
include all of the following:  

(1)  A cooking facility with appliances.  

(2)  A food preparation counter and storage cabinets that are of reasonable size in 
relation to the size of the junior accessory dwelling unit.  

f.  If the property contains a junior accessory dwelling unit, one of the residential 
dwellings on the lot shall be occupied as the primary residence of the owner of the 
lot and shall not be rented or leased as long as the junior accessory dwelling unit 
exists, unless state law is amended to prohibit owner occupancy requirements for 
junior accessory dwelling units.  

g.  No additional parking is required for a junior accessory dwelling unit.    

3.  Covenants.  The owner of record shall record a covenant in a form satisfactory 
to the City Attorney within 30 days following the issuance of a building permit for 
the accessory dwelling unit or junior accessory dwelling unit, which shall include 
the following requirements and any other provisions required by state law: (a) the 
accessory dwelling unit (or junior accessory dwelling unit) may not be sold, 
transferred, or assigned separately from the primary residence; (b) the accessory 
dwelling unit (or junior accessory dwelling unit) may not be rented for a period of 
less than 30 days; (c) if the property contains a junior accessory dwelling unit, the 
junior accessory dwelling unit shall be a legal unit and may be used as habitable 
space, only so long as either the main dwelling unit, or the junior accessory 
dwelling unit, is occupied by the owner of record of the property, unless state law 
is amended to prohibit local agencies from requiring owner-occupancy; and (d) 
such restrictions shall run with the land and be binding upon all future owners, and 
lack of compliance may result in legal action against the property owner to compel 
compliance with this Code.  The covenant shall be recorded in the official records 
of Orange County, and a copy of the covenant shall be filed with the office of the 
City Clerk.”  

 Section 12:  Subsection “Q” of Section 20.208.040 (Property Development 
Standards) of Chapter 20.208 (R-1 Single Family Residential Zone) of Division II (Specific 
Zone Regulations) of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of the Brea 
City Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 “Q.   Accessory dwelling unit size.  

1.  The maximum size of an accessory dwelling unit shall be subject to Section 
20.208.040.P. 

2. Notwithstanding paragraph (1), the maximum size of an attached accessory 
dwelling unit that is proposed to be constructed on a lot with a pre-existing primary 



 
 
 

-8- 
 
11222-0001\2393075v12.doc 

dwelling shall not exceed 50 percent of the primary dwelling, or the maximum sizes 
in paragraph 1, whichever is smaller.” 

 Section 13:  Subsection “10” of Subsection “A” of Section 20.200.020 (Uses 
Permitted) of Chapter 20.200 (Single Family Residential ‒ Hillside Zone) of Division II 
(Specific Zone Regulations) of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of 
the Brea City Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 

“10.   Accessory dwelling units and junior accessory dwelling units, subject to the 
regulations contained in §§ 20.208.020 and 20.208.040 of this title, and state law.” 

 Section 14:  Subsection “2” of Subsection “A” of Section 20.206.040 (Land Use 
Regulations) of Chapter 20.206 (HR Hillside Residential Zone) of Division II (Specific 
Zone Regulations) of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of the Brea 
City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:  

“2.   Accessory dwelling units and junior accessory dwelling units, subject to the 
regulations contained in §§ 20.208.020 and 20.208.040 of this title, and state law.” 

 Section 15: Subsection “J” of Section 20.206.050 (Application Filing 
Requirements) of Chapter 20.206 (HR Hillside Residential Zone) of Division II (Specific 
Zone Regulations) of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of the Brea 
City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:  

 “J.   For applications involving one (1) single-family dwelling unit residence on an 
existing lot, architectural and landscaping treatment materials shall be provided 
consistent with the requirements for a certificate of compatibility, as set forth in § 
20.408.050. Accessory dwelling units shall be subject to the regulations contained in §§ 
20.208.020 and 20.208.040 of this title, and state law.” 

 Section 16:  Subsection “11” of Subsection “A” of Section 20.212.020 (Uses 
Permitted) of Chapter 20.212 (R-1 (5,000) Single Family Residential Zone) of Division II 
(Specific Zone Regulations) of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of 
the Brea City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:  

 “11.   Accessory dwelling units and junior accessory dwelling units, subject to the 
regulations contained in §§ 20.208.020 and 20.208.040 of this title, and state law.” 

 Section 17:  Subsection “12” of Subsection “A” of Section 20.216.020 (Uses 
Permitted) of Chapter 20.216 (R-2 Multiple Family Residential Zone) of Division II 
(Specific Zone Regulations) of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of 
the Brea City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:   

“12.   Accessory dwelling units, subject to the regulations contained in §§ 
20.208.020 and 20.208.040 of this title, and state law.” 

 Section 18:  Subsection “13” of Subsection “A” of Section 20.220.020 (Uses 
Permitted) of Chapter 20.220 (R-3 Multiple Family Residential Zone) of Division II 



 
 
 

-9- 
 
11222-0001\2393075v12.doc 

(Specific Zone Regulations) of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of 
the Brea City Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 

“13.   Accessory dwelling units, subject to the regulations contained in §§ 
20.208.020 and 20.208.040 of this title, and state law.” 

Section 19:   Residential Land Use of Table 2-2 Subsection “F” of Section 20.258.010 
(Mixed-Use Zoning Districts) of Chapter 20.258 (Mixed-Use Zoning Districts) of Division 
II (Specific Zone Regulations) of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of 
the Brea City Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Accessory Dwelling Unit P P P 20.208.040 

Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit2 P P P 20.208.040 

2Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit only permitted on a lot with an existing 
single-family dwelling.  

 

Section 20. Subsection “5” of Subsection “B” of Section 20.400.030 (Types of 
Procedures) of Chapter 20.400 (Administration and Procedures – General) of Division III 
(Administration and Procedures” of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) 
of the Brea City Code is here by amended to read as follows: 

5.   Certificate of compatibility.  A procedure to consider the compatibility of 
residential structures, accessory dwelling units and mobile and/or manufactured 
housing to coordinate planning, architecture, aesthetics and economic 
cohesiveness within residentially zoned areas of the city. 

Section 21. Subsection “A” of Section 20.408.050 (Certificate of Compatibility) of Chapter 
20.408 (Administrative Procedures) of Division III (Administration and Procedures” of Title 
20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of the Brea City Code is here by 
amended to read as follows: 

A.   Intent and purpose.  The certificate of compatibility is applicable to all areas 
that permit single family dwellings and accessory dwelling units within the city.  The 
certificate of compatibility considers the compatibility of residential structures, 
accessory dwelling units, junior accessory dwelling units and mobile or 
manufactured homes to coordinate land planning, architecture, aesthetics and 
economic cohesiveness within residentially zoned properties in the city.  A 
certificate of compatibility shall be obtained prior to submittal of an application for 
a building permit for any single-family dwelling and accessory dwelling units.  

 



 
 
 

-10- 
 
11222-0001\2393075v12.doc 

Section 23. Subsection “C” of Section 20.408.050 (Certificate of Compatibility) of Chapter 
20.408 (Administrative Procedures) of Division III (Administration and Procedures” of Title 
20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of the Brea City Code to create a 
Planning Commission authority for accessory dwelling units that exceed the size 
limitations permitted by right is here by amended to read as follows: 

  C.   Planning Commission authority.  In issuing a certificate of compatibility for 
accessory dwelling units, the Planning Commission shall have the authority, as a 
discretionary act, subject to the provisions of this section, to require conditions of 
development in addition to those required by this title where it is determined that 
such conditions are necessary to further the objectives of the general plan and are 
in harmony with the intent, purpose and spirit of this title and/or where such 
additional requirements are deemed essential to protect the public safety and 
general welfare of the community.  

Section 24. Subsection “C” of Section 20.408.050 (Certificate of Compatibility) of Chapter 
20.408 (Administrative Procedures) of Division III (Administration and Procedures” of Title 
20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of the Brea City Code is here by 
amended to read as follows: 

 D.   Procedure. 
      1.   Application for a certificate of compatibility shall be made pursuant to 
§ 20.400.040, together with the requisite fee therefor, and shall be accompanied 
by the following materials: 
         a.   A detailed plot plan showing: 
            (1)   Dimensions and orientation of the parcel (to scale). 
            (2)   Location of buildings, structures and mobile homes, both existing 
and proposed. 
            (3)   Location of eave overhang and architectural features. 
         b.   All building and mobile home elevations. 
         c.   Indication of the types and colors of all exterior construction materials. 
         d.   Location of all walls and fences, their height and materials of 
construction. 
         e.   Any other architectural and engineering data as may be required to 
permit necessary findings that the provisions of this title are complied with. 
      2.   Staff investigation.  The Planning Division shall make an investigation of 
the facts bearing on the case to provide the information necessary for the action 
consistent with the intent of this title and the General Plan, and shall report the 
findings to the Director. 
      3.   Notice of hearings.  Notice of public hearing shall be given pursuant to 
§ 20.416.020.E.1. and shall otherwise comply with Chapter 20.416 as to form 
and content. 

 

Section 25. Subsection “D” of Section 20.408.050 (Certificate of Compatibility) of Chapter 
20.408 (Administrative Procedures) of Division III (Administration and Procedures” of Title 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/brea/latest/brea_ca/0-0-0-73856#JD_20.400.040
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/brea/latest/brea_ca/0-0-0-74179#JD_20.416.020
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/brea/latest/brea_ca/0-0-0-74167#JD_Chapter20.416


 
 
 

-11- 
 
11222-0001\2393075v12.doc 

20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of the Brea City Code is here by 
amended to read as follows: 

E.   Director findings.  The Director, in approving a certificate of compatibility, 
shall find as follows: 
      1.   That the proposed structure, mobile or manufactured home is properly 
designed and complies with the requirements of the zone in which it is proposed. 
      2.   That the proposed structure, mobile or manufactured home, with any 
conditions to be imposed, is in harmony with the various elements or objectives 
of the general plan and is not economically or aesthetically detrimental to existing 
or previously approved uses, structures or mobile homes within the surrounding 
area. 
      3.   That the proposed structure, mobile or manufactured home is 
aesthetically compatible with the other uses, structures, and mobile homes in the 
surrounding area. 

 

Section 26. Subsection “D” of Section 20.408.050 (Certificate of Compatibility) of Chapter 
20.408 (Administrative Procedures) of Division III (Administration and Procedures” of Title 
20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of the Brea City Code to create Planning 
Commission findings for Certificate of Compatibility is hereby created to read as follows: 

F.   Planning Commission findings.  The Planning Commission, in approving a 
certificate of compatibility, shall find as follows: 
      1.   That there are special circumstances applicable to the property, including 
size, shape, topography, location or surroundings, which do not apply to other 
property under identical zoning classification in the vicinity; 
      2. That, because of special circumstances shown in subsection 1, strict 
application of the Zoning Code deprives the property of privileges enjoyed by 
other property under identical zoning classification in the vicinity. 
 

Section 27. Subsection “E” of Section 20.408.050 (Certificate of Compatibility) of Chapter 
20.408 (Administrative Procedures) of Division III (Administration and Procedures” of Title 
20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of the Brea City Code to create Planning 
Commission findings for Certificate of Compatibility is here by amended to read as 
follows: 

  F.   Director's action and appeal procedures. 
      1.   The Development Services Director may approve, conditionally approve, 
or disapprove the application and shall announce and record the decision within 
twenty-one (21) days following the conclusion of the public hearing.  The decision 
shall set forth the findings, in writing, and shall be filed with the Planning 
Commission.  A copy of the decision shall be mailed to the applicant. 
      2.   The decision of the Director shall be final and shall become effective ten 
(10) days after issuance of the decision by the Director, subject to appeal 
pursuant to Chapter 20.424. 
 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/brea/latest/brea_ca/0-0-0-74235#JD_Chapter20.424


 
 
 

-12- 
 
11222-0001\2393075v12.doc 

 
Section 28. Subsection “E” of Section 20.408.050 (Certificate of Compatibility) of 
Chapter 20.408 (Administrative Procedures) of Division III (Administration and 
Procedures” of Title 20 (Zoning Code) of Part II (Development Code) of the Brea City 
Code to create Planning Commission action and appeal procedures for Certificate of 
Compatibility is hereby created to read as follows: 
 

 E.   Planning Commission’s action and appeal procedures. 
      1.   The Planning Commission may approve, conditionally approve, or 
disapprove the application and shall announce and record the decision within 
twenty-one (21) days following the conclusion of the public hearing.  The decision 
shall set forth the findings, in writing, and shall be filed with the Planning 
Division.  A copy of the decision shall be mailed to the applicant. 
      2.   The decision of the Planning Commission shall be final and shall become 
effective ten (10) days after issuance of the decision by the Planning 
Commission, subject to appeal pursuant to Chapter 20.424. 

 
 

Section 29. CEQA. The City Council finds and determines that this Ordinance is not 
subject to the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) because 
this zoning ordinance implements the provisions of Government Code Section 65852.2 
and is therefore exempt from CEQA pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 
21080.17 and California Code of Regulations Section 15282(h).  To the extent that any 
provisions of this ordinance are not exempt pursuant to Section 15282(h), the 
amendments are not subject to CEQA pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3), 
because it can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility that the activity in question 
may have a significant effect on the environment.    

 Section 30.  Severability.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase 
of this Ordinance is for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional by a decision of 
any court of any competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions of this Ordinance.  The City Council hereby declares that it would have 
passed this Ordinance, and each and every section, subsection, sentence, clause, or 
phrase not declared invalid or unconstitutional without regard to whether any portion of 
the Ordinance would be subsequently declared invalid or unconstitutional.  

 Section 31. The City Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this Ordinance. 
 
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED this ________ day of ______________, 2020. 
 

        
      
 Mayor 

 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/brea/latest/brea_ca/0-0-0-74235#JD_Chapter20.424


 
 
 

-13- 
 
11222-0001\2393075v12.doc 

ATTEST:_____________________________ 
               City Clerk 
 
I, Lillian Harris-Neal, City Clerk of the City of Brea, do hereby certify that the foregoing 

Ordinance was introduced at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Brea, 

held on the ___ day of _______________, 2020, and was finally passed at a regular 

meeting of the City Council of the City of Brea on the _____ day of _______________,             

2020, by the following vote: 

AYES:   COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
 
NOES:   COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
 
ABSENT:  COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
 
ABSTAINED:  COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
 
 Dated: ________________________ 

 
  
   
       City Clerk 

 



 
 Junior Accessory Dwelling 

Unit 
Accessory Dwelling Unit up to 
800 square feet 

Accessory Dwelling Unit 801 – 
850 square feet for one-
bedroom; and  
1,000 square feet for two-
bedroom 
 

Accessory Dwelling Unit  
>851+ square feet for one—
bedroom and; 
>1,001+ for two-bedroom 

Level of Review Permitted by Right Permitted by Right Permitted by Right Certificate of Compatibility1 
Minimum Unit 
Size Subject to State Law 150 square feet 150 square feet 150 square feet 

Maximum Unit 
Size 500 Square feet 800 square feet 

Attached 
50% of main dwelling unit2 

Or up to 850 square feet for 
one-bedroom and 1,000 square 

feet for two-bedroom 
 

Detached 
up to 850 square feet for one-

bedroom and 1,000 square feet 
for two-bedroom 

Determined through  
Certificate of Compatibility1 

Lot Coverage Not Applicable Not Applicable The standards of the underlying 
zone shall apply. 

The standards of the underlying 
zone shall apply. 

Structural 
Setbacks 

The standards of the 
underlying zone shall apply. 

Front: underlying zone 
Side: 4 feet 
Rear: 4 feet 

Front: underlying zone 
Side: 4 feet 
Rear: 4 feet 

Front: underlying zone 
Side: 4 feet 
Rear: 4 feet 

Structural Height The standards of the 
underlying zone shall apply. 16 feet The standards of the underlying 

zone shall apply. 
The standards of the underlying 

zone shall apply. 

Building 
Separation Not Applicable 

Minimum separation of 10 feet 
between the main dwelling unit 

and the detached Accessory 
Dwelling Unit. 

Minimum separation of 10 feet 
between the main dwelling unit 

and the detached Accessory 
Dwelling Unit. 

Minimum separation of 10 feet 
between the main dwelling unit 

and the detached Accessory 
Dwelling Unit. 

Minimum Kitchen 
Requirements Efficiency Kitchen Efficiency Kitchen Efficiency Kitchen Efficiency Kitchen 

Sanitation Facility 

May include separate 
sanitation facilities, or may 

share sanitation facilities with 
the existing structure 

Separate Sanitation Facility Separate Sanitation Facility Separate Sanitation Facility 

Parking Not Applicable One (1) off-street space3 One (1) off-street space3 One (1) off-street space3 



 
1Subject to a Certificate of Compatibility, per §20.408.050 of the Brea Municipal Code. 
2 Studio and one-bedroom units permitted up to 850 square feet. Two-bedroom units permitted up to 1,000 square feet. 
3Parking requirements may be waived for ADU per §20.208.040.K.1 of the Brea Municipal Code.  



 CITY OF BREA 
PLANNING COMMISSION NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING FOR A ZONING 
ORDINACNE AMENDMENT NO. ZOA 20-01  
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN by the City of Brea that a public hearing will be held at a Planning 
Commission Meeting on Tuesday, December 8, 2020 at 7:00 p.m., or as soon thereafter as the matter 
can be heard, in the Council Chambers of the City of Brea Civic & Cultural Center, 1 Civic Center Circle, 
Brea, California 92821, in accordance with State Law and the Brea City Code, to consider the following 
application:  
 

• Zoning Ordinance Amendment No. ZOA 20-01 – A proposal to amend Title 20, Chapter 20.00, 
20.200, 20.206, 20.208, 20.212, 20.216 and 20.220 of the Brea Municipal Code to update 
provisions pertaining to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU) and Junior Accessory Dwelling Units 
(JADU) in all residential zones Citywide in accordance with state legislation that amended 
Government Code Sections 65852.2 and 65852.22. 
 

The City of Brea, in accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), has determined 
that the proposed project is exempt from the requirement of the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) pursuant to Section 15061(b)(3) of Title 14, Chapter 3, Article 19 of the California Code of 
Regulations. 

Location:    Citywide 
 
Applicant:   City of Brea 
   1 Civic Center Circle 
   Brea, CA 92821 
 
ALL INTERESTED PERSONS are invited to attend said hearing and express opinions on the matters 
outlined above.  
 
PURSUANT TO THE LOCAL EMERGENCY CONCERNING THE COVID-19 VIRUS DECLARED BY 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BREA ON MARCH 19, 2020, AND EXECUTIVE ORDER N-29-
20 ISSUED BY GOVERNOR GAVIN NEWSOM ON MARCH 18, 2020, THE PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING MAY BE CONDUCTED IN WHOLE OR IN PART BY TELECONFERENCE. 
 
FURTHER INFORMATION MAY BE OBTAINED BY CALLING THE PLANNING DIVISION AT (714) 
990-7674 OR BY EMAILING planning@cityofbrea.net. ALL PERSONS WISHING TO PARTICIPATE 
BY TELECONFERENCE SHOULD CONTACT THE CITY NO LATER THAN NOON ON DECEMBER 
8, 2020.    
   
IF YOU CHALLENGE PROJECT AND RELATED ENVIRONMENTAL DETERMINATIONS IN 
COURT, YOU MAY BE LIMITED TO RAISING ONLY THOSE ISSUES YOU OR SOMEONE ELSE 
RAISED AT THE PUBLIC HEARING DESCRIBED IN THIS NOTICE, OR IN WRITTEN 
CORRESPONDENCE, DELIVERED TO THE COMMISSION AT, OR PRIOR TO, THE PUBLIC 
HEARING. 
                                       
Jason Killebrew 
City Planner 
Date: 11/18/20 Publish:  11/26/20 

mailto:planning@cityofbrea.net






















Agenda Item   11. 
City of Brea

PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION

TO: Honorable Chair and Planning Commission

DATE: 12/08/2020

SUBJECT: PLANNING DIVISION UPDATES

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED
Jason Killebrew, City Planner
 

Attachments
A. Planning Division Updates 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

CITY OF BREA 
Major Projects 
Summary  
 

December 8, 2020 
City of Brea Planning Division  
 
 



            LAST UPDATED: 12/1/2020 

 

 

 

2 
 

CONTENTS 
• DEVELOPMENT CONTACT REPORT 

• MAP OF PROJECTS 

• APPROVED/ENTITLED 

o 201 N BERRY STREET 
o CENTRAL PARK VILLAGE 
o BREA PLACE 
o BREA IMPERIAL CENTER 
o FATHER’S HOUSE  
o RECREATIONAL VEHICLE (RV) AND BOAT STORAGE 
o BREA IMPERIAL CENTER (FOGO DE CHAO) 

• IN PROCESS/REVIEW 

o 735 SOUTH BREA BOULEVARD 
o RAISING CANE’S 
o AERA ENERGY 
o BREA MALL MIXED USE PROJECT 
o 1160 NORTH PUENTE STREET 
o BREA IMPERIAL PLAZA 
o MACALLANS EXPANSION AND NEW SPEAKEASY 

• FUTURE 

 

  



            LAST UPDATED: 12/1/2020 

 

 

 

3 
 

 

Date of Contact Project Contact Location Project Description Status/Notes 
11/16/2020 Fire Wings 985 Birch Street New wing restaurant, Fire 

Wings.   
Certificate of Occupancy 
approved.  

11/25/2020 Cookie Crumble 955 Birch Street New Cookie retail store, 
Cookie Crumble  

Certificate of Occupancy in 
process. Tenant 
Improvements approved. 

11/19/2020 Herman Jack 275 W Birch Street  Façade improvements for 
Roll-Em-Up Taquitos.  

Plan Review in process.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Development Contact Report 



BREA DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS

0 0.7 1.40.35 mi

0 1 20.5 km

1:36,112

SCALE

City Boundary

sergioh
Oval

sergioh
Oval

sergioh
Oval

sergioh
Oval

sergioh
Oval

sergioh
Text Box
1

sergioh
Text Box
2

sergioh
Text Box
5

sergioh
Text Box
3, 9

sergioh
Text Box
4

sergioh
Oval

sergioh
Oval

sergioh
Oval

sergioh
Oval

sergioh
Oval

sergioh
Oval

sergioh
Oval

sergioh
Text Box
6

sergioh
Text Box
7

sergioh
Text Box
13

sergioh
Text Box
8

sergioh
Text Box
10

sergioh
Text Box
11

sergioh
Text Box
12

sergioh
Oval

sergioh
Text Box
14

sergioh
Rectangle

sergioh
Rectangle

sergioh
Text Box
Approved/Entitled

sergioh
Rectangle

sergioh
Line

sergioh
Text Box
In Process/Review



            LAST UPDATED: 12/1/2020 

 

 

 

5 
 

  

CENTRAL PARK VILLAGE (Map ID: 1)  

Project: • Precise Development Plan for residential units. RENDERING:  

 
CURRENT STATUS:   

• Project approved April 2, 2019 

Project No.: • PD 18-02 
Project 
Location: 

• Assessor’s Parcel Number:  
• 420 West Central Avenue  

 

Project 
Description: 

• The project approval includes 82 new townhomes ranging from 1 bedroom to 
5 bedrooms. 20 of the proposed new units will include affordable residential 
flats.  

 

Project 
Planner: 

• Juan Arauz, Senior Planner (juana@cityofbrea.net) 

Notes:  • The last phase of Central Park Village is being constructed which included 62 
attached townhomes and 20 affordable residential flats.  

• Model homes are currently open  
• Finalizing of the units is anticipated to begin end of this month  

Approved/Entitled  

mailto:juana@cityofbrea.net


            LAST UPDATED: 12/1/2020 

 

 

 

6 
 

 

 

BREA IMPERIAL CENTER (Map ID: 3)  

Project: • Amendment to Conditional Use Permit 18-06, Precise Development 17-03 
for new restaurant building, Conditional Use Permit for Type 47 Alcohol, 
Conditional Use Permit for Sign Program, Tentative Parcel Map for Subdivide  

PROJECT MAP: 

CURRENT STATUS:   
• Planning Division approved this project on 

 July 24, 2018. 

Project No.: • CUP 18-05, PD 17-03, CUP 18-07 (Sign Program), TPM 2017-01 
 

Project 
Location: 

• Assessor’s Parcel Number (APN): 029-331-22, -28 
• 311-391 South State College & 1130-1160 Imperial Highway 

 
 

Project 
Description: 

• The project includes the approval of the Precise Development and Conditional 
Use Permit with regards to façade improvements, demolition and 
reconstruction of a portion of the Brea Imperial Center and to consider 
parking modifications to the center with a new comprehensive sign program. 
In addition, a Tentative Parcel Map to subdivide the 4.1-acre site into two 
parcels.  

 
Project 
Planner: 

• Juan Arauz, Senior Planner (juana@cityofbrea.net) 

Notes:  • In-n-out permits are ready to issue and anticipated to be up by 2022.  

mailto:juana@cityofbrea.net


            LAST UPDATED: 12/1/2020 

 

 

 

7 
 

 

 

 

BREA PLACE (Map ID: 2)  

Project: • Development Agreement, Precise Development, Tentative Parcel Map, 
Conditional Use Permit for hotel and Conditional Use Permit for modified 
parking standards.  

RENDERING:  

 
 
CURRENT STATUS:   

• Planning Commission approved project on  
June 27, 2017.  

Project No.: • TPM No. 2016-178; PD No. 16-04; CUP No. 16-10 and CUP No. 16-11.  
Project 
Location: 

• Assessor’s Parcel Number (APN): 319-331-14, -15, -11, -12, -13, -14, -03, -04, 
319-332-10, -01, -02,  

• Northeast corner of Birch Street and State College Boulevard.  
 
 

Project 
Description: 

• The project approved construction of new buildings on vacant portions of the 
site to build out mixed use campus of office, residential, hotel and support 
commercial uses. Building A features 462 apartments in a five-story building 
and Building B features 285 apartments in a three to five story building. The 
units include a mix of studio, one bedroom and two bedrooms for rent. The 
project features 13,000 square feet of commercial space within the Birch 
Street frontage and across the street a four-story 150 room hotel is approved. 
  

Project 
Planner: 

• Jason Killebrew, City Planner (jasonk@cityofbrea.net) 

Notes:  • Brea Place is currently in its early stages of construction for Building A and 
Building B. 

• Phased occupancy approach for the residential units, leasing office and 
showrooms before the end of the year.  

• The hotel is currently in plan check phase with issuance anticipated by 
winter of 2020.  

mailto:jasonk@cityofbrea.net


            LAST UPDATED: 12/1/2020 

 

 

 

8 
 

 

 

201 NORTH BERRY STREET (MAP ID: 4)  

Project: • Precise Development  RENDERING: 

CURRENT STATUS:   
• Approved by Planning Commission on 

 April 28, 2020.  

Project No.: • PD 20-01 
Project 
Location: 

• Assessor’s Parcel Number (APN): 296-23-114  
• 201 North Berry Street  

Project 
Description: 

• The approved project includes the demolition of the existing buildings and 
construct a new 109,125 square foot warehouse building.  

 

Project 
Planner: 

• Cecilia Madrigal-Gonzalez, Planning Technician (ceciliamg@cityofbrea.net)  

Notes:  • Construction to begin before the end of the year.  
• Demolition began the week of the September 14th, 2020.  

mailto:ceciliamg@cityofbrea.net


            LAST UPDATED: 12/1/2020 

 

 

 

9 
 

 

 

FATHER’S HOUSE (MAP ID: 5)  

Project: • Conditional Use Permit for a Church Use  PROJECT MAP: 

CURRENT STATUS:  
• Approved by Planning Commission on  

October 27, 2020. 

Project No.: • CUP No. 20-13; ACCELA No. PLN 2020-00033 
Project 
Location: 

• Assessor’s Parcel Number (APN): 296-362-25 
• 245 West Birch Street (Downtown Brea)  

Project 
Description: 

• The applicant is requesting a Conditional Use Permit to allow a place of 
worship within the Mixed Use I zone in Downtown Brea. The applicant is 
proposing to occupy a portion of the existing theatre to allow Sunday 
Service, weekday worship, small group gatherings, staff office and a 
recording studio for videos for online church services.  

Project 
Planner: 

• Kimley-Horn, Sheri Vander Dussen (Consultant)  

Notes:  • Application submitted 8/12/2020.  
 
 
 



            LAST UPDATED: 12/1/2020 

 

 

 

10 
 

 

RECREATIONAL VEHICLE (RV) AND BOAT STORAGE (MAP ID: 7) 

Project: • Conditional Use Permit for RV and Boat Storage PROJECT MAP: 

 
 
CURRENT STATUS:  

• Approved by Planning Commission on 
November 24, 2020.  

Project No.: • CUP No. 20-15; ACCELA No. PLN 2020-00005 
Project 
Location: 

• Assessor’s Parcel Number (APN): 296-101-08 
• 285 South Berry Street  
• Northwest corner of Imperial Highway and Berry Street.  

Project 
Description: 

• The applicant is proposing a new RV and Boat Storage location formerly used 
for over-flow parking.  

Project 
Planner: 

• Cecilia Madrigal-Gonzalez, Planning Technician (ceciliamg@cityofbrea.net)  

Applicant: • Rob Camire 

Notes:  • Application submitted 9/1/2020.  
• This is the applicants (RCMC RV & Boat Storage) fifth location in Brea.  
• Conditions H, G, C, E were revised during Planning Commission.  

 
 
 

mailto:ceciliamg@cityofbrea.net


            LAST UPDATED: 12/1/2020 

 

 

 

11 
 

 

BREA IMPERIAL CENTER (FOGO DE CHAO) (MAP ID: 9)  

Project: • Amendment to Conditional Use Permit 18-06 and Precise 
Development 17-03 for new restaurant building, Conditional Use 
Permit for Type 47 Alcohol License  

RENDERING:  

 
 
CURRENT STATUS:  

• Approved by Planning Commission on 
 November 24, 2020.  

 

Project No.: • CUP 20-16, Modify PD 17-03; Modify CUP 18-06 
• ACCELA No. PLN 2020-00009  

Project 
Location: 

• Assessor’s Parcel Number (APN): 029-331-28 & 029-331-22 
• 391 & 351 South State College Boulevard  
• 1130 & 1160 East Imperial Highway  

 
Project 
Description: 

• The applicant is proposing to amend the existing CUP 18-06 for shared 
parking and allow for valet parking with an increase in compact 
parking stalls. In addition, amend the existing PD No. 17-03 to 
demolish the existing bank building and replace with a new 
restaurant, Fogo de Chao with Type 47 alcohol license.  

Project 
Planner: 

• Juan Arauz, Senior Planner (juana@cityofbrea.net) 

Applicant: • Donald D. Lamm  

Notes:  • Application submitted June 9, 2020 

mailto:juana@cityofbrea.net


            LAST UPDATED: 12/1/2020 

 

 

 

12 
 

 

735 SOUTH BREA BOULVEARD (MAP ID: 6) 

Project: • Conditional Use Permit for Parking Modification and Change of Use to Office  PROJECT MAP: 

CURRENT STATUS:  
• Scheduled for Planning Commission on 

December 8, 2020.  
 

Project No.: • CUP No. 20-11; ACCELA No. PLN 2020-00025 
Project 
Location: 

• Assessor’s Parcel Number (APN): 284-153-21 
 
 

Project 
Description: 

• The applicant is requesting a Conditional Use Permit for a parking 
modification for a proposed real estate office in the Mixed-Use III Zone. The 
property was formerly used as a Veteran’s Club and the project applicant is 
proposing a new use as the corporate office for TNG Real Estate.  

Project 
Planner: 

• Monica Martin, Associate Planner (monicam@cityofbrea.net)  

Applicant: • Craig Martin 

Notes:  • Application submitted on 7/20/2020.  
 
 
 
 

In-Process/Review 

mailto:monicam@cityofbrea.net


            LAST UPDATED: 12/1/2020 

 

 

 

13 
 

 

 

RAISING CANE’S (MAP ID: 8)  

Project: • Conditional Use Permit to amend Conditional Use Permit No. CUP 88-39; 
Precise Development for building design and site design, Conditional Use 
Permit to amend existing sign program.  

PROJECT MAP: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CURRENT STATUS:  

• Scheduled for Planning Commission on 
December 8, 2020. 
 

Project No.: • CUP 20-10; PD 20-04; ACCELA No. PLN 2020-00010 
Project 
Location: 

• Assessor’s Parcel Number (APN): 319-292-35  
• 255 East Imperial Highway  
• Northwest corner of Imperial Highway and Flower Avenue 

Project 
Description: 

• The applicant is proposing to demolish two existing retail buildings and 
replace with a new restaurant with dual drive-thru service.  

Project 
Planner: 

• Juan Arauz, Senior Planner (juana@cityofbrea.net) 

Applicant: • Javier Sola 

Notes:  • Application submitted 6/19/2020.  
 

 

A

mailto:juana@cityofbrea.net


            LAST UPDATED: 12/1/2020 

 

 

 

14 
 

 

 

AERA ENERGY / Brea 265 (MAP ID: 10) 

Project: • Specific Plan  PROJECT MAP: 

 
 
CURRENT STATUS:  

• No tentative hearing date at this time. 

Project No.: • ACCELA No. PLN 2020-00011 
Project 
Location: 

• North of Route 90 and East of State Route 57.  
 

Project 
Description: 

• The applicant is requesting a Specific Plan to address site plan/land use, 
parks and recreation, public works items, affordable housing, public safety 
and the environmental document. The project would include 1,100 
residential units with a mix of single family and multi-family.  

Project 
Planner: 

• Jason Killebrew, City Planner (jasonk@cityofbrea.net)  
• Monica Martin, Associate Planner (monicam@cityofbrea.net) 

Applicant: • AERA ENERGY 

Notes:   
 
 

mailto:jasonk@cityofbrea.net
mailto:monicam@cityofbrea.net


            LAST UPDATED: 12/1/2020 

 

 

 

15 
 

 

 

BREA MALL MIXED USE PROJECT (MAP ID: 11)  

Project: • General Plan Amendment, Zone Change from C-C to MU-1, Development 
Agreement, Conditional Use Permit 

PROJECT MAP: 

 
CURRENT STATUS:  

• No tentative hearing date at this time.  

Project No.: • GPA No. 20-01; ZC No. 20-01, DA No. 20-01, FEIR 20-01; ACCELA No. PLN 
2020-XXXXX 

Project 
Location: 

• 100 and 203 Brea Mall  
• Assessor’s Parcel Number (APN): 319-101-37, -64, -71, and -76  

 
 

Project 
Description: 

• The proposed project involves demolishing the former Sears department 
store and 12 acres of surface parking in order to allow a mix of uses—including 
retail, for-rent residential apartments, a resort-type fitness center, and a large 
“central green area” and plaza. The project would result in a net increase of 
149,625 square feet of retail use and 312 residential units. The proposal 
includes a master sign program, alcohol serving uses and modifications to the 
City’s parking standards.  

 
Project 
Planner: 

• Juan Arauz, Senior Planner(juana@cityofbrea.net) 

Applicant: • Simon  

Notes:   

mailto:juana@cityofbrea.net


            LAST UPDATED: 12/1/2020 

 

 

 

16 
 

 

 

1660 NORTH PUENTE STREET (MAP ID: 12)  

Project: • Tentative Parcel Map  PROJECT MAP: 

 
CURRENT STATUS:  

• Tentatively Schedule for Planning Commission 
for January 26, 2020 

Project No.: • TPM No. XXX-XX; ACCELA No. PLN 2020-00011 
Project 
Location: 

• Assessor’s Parcel Number (APN): 303-391-03 
 
 

Project 
Description: 

• Request to subdivide an existing 65,832 SF (1.5 AC) parcel, zoned R-1, into two 
parcels; Parcel 1 will have an area of 47,401 SF and Parcel 2 will have an area 
of 18,431 SF. The existing residence on Parcel 1 will remain in conformance 
with the standards of all Brea Codes and requirements. Construction is not 
proposed on Parcel 2 as a part of this request.  

 
Project 
Planner: 

• Monica Martin, Associate Planner (monicam@cityofbrea.net) 

Applicant: • James McGrade 

Notes:  • Application submitted September 30, 2020. 
• 1st comments letter was sent on October 26th, 2020. 

mailto:monicam@cityofbrea.net


            LAST UPDATED: 12/1/2020 

 

 

 

17 
 

 

 

 

BREA PLAZA (MAP ID: 13) 

Project: • General Plan Amendment, Zone Change from C-G to MU-II, Development 
Agreement,  

PROJECT MAP: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CURRENT STATUS:  

• No tentative hearing date at this time. 

Project No.: • GPA No. XX-; ZC No. XX-XX, DA No. XX-XX, ACCELA No. PLN 2020-00034 
Project 
Location: 

• 1639 East Imperial Highway  
• Assessor’s Parcel Number (APN): XXX-XX-XXX 

 
 

Project 
Description: 

• The proposed project would demolish 18,450 square feet of the Brea Plaza 5 
Cinemas, 7,500 square foot of Buca di Beppo and 149 surface parking spaces. 
The project would include a new 150 room hotel, 194 residential units, 198 
surface parking spaces and a reduction of 3,068 square feet of commercial 
footage.  

 
Project 
Planner: 

• Jason Killebrew, City Planner (jasonk@cityofbrea.net)  

Applicant: • Coreland Companies  

Notes:  • Scoping Meeting and Notice of Preparation of DEIR occurred on July 27, 
2020.  

mailto:jasonk@cityofbrea.net


            LAST UPDATED: 12/1/2020 

 

 

 

18 
 

 

 

 

MACALLANS EXPANSION AND NEW SPEAKEASY (MAP ID: 14)  

Project: • Conditional Use Permit   PROJECT MAP: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CURRENT STATUS:  
• Scheduled for Planning Commission on 

December 8, 2020.  

Project No.: • CUP 20-14, ACCELA No. PLN 2020-00004 
Project 
Location: 

• 330 West Birch Street  
• Assessor’s Parcel Number (APN): 296-376-18 

 
 

Project 
Description: 

• The proposed project will expand their existing patio area and expand into the 
adjacent space by 644 square feet.  

Project 
Planner: 

• Jose Barriga, Associate Planner (joseb@cityofbrea.net)  

Applicant: • Douglas Vincent   

Notes:  • Application received October 5, 2020.   

mailto:joseb@cityofbrea.net

	Agenda
	 Item 5 - _2945
	Att1_A. Planning Commission Meeting Calendar 2021
	 Item 6 - _2959
	Att1_A. Draft Resolution, CUP 20-10
	Att2_B. B._Draft Conditions of Approval, CUP 20-10
	Att3_C. Draft Resolution, PD 20-04
	Att4_D. Draft Conditions of Approval, PD 20-04
	Att5_E. Draft Resolution, CUP 20-18
	Att6_F. Project Application
	Att7_G. Project Architectural Plans
	Sheets and Views
	C2.0 - Site Utilization Map-Site Utilization Map


	Att8_H. Sign Program and Elevations
	Att9_I. Landscape Plans
	L0.1-Preliminary Plan
	1/L0.1
	2/L0.1

	L0.2-Preliminary Planting Images
	L0.3-Preliminary Irrigation Zone Plan
	1/L0.3


	Att10_J. Planning Commission Resolution No. 88-56
	Att11_K. Kimley-Horn and Associates Traffic and Parking Study, December 2020
	Att12_L. Technical Background
	Adjacent Zoning

	Att13_M. Public Hearing Notice
	Att14_N. Public Comment Letters
	 Item 7 - _2946
	Att1_A. Draft Resolution
	Att2_B. Conditions of Approval Summary
	Att3_C. City Council Resolution No. CC 90-24
	Att4_D. Wireless Facilities Resolution No. PC 10-14
	Att5_E. Technical Background
	Adjacent Zoning

	Att6_F. Vicinity Map
	Att7_G. Public Hearing Notice
	Att8_H. Site Plans
	 Item 8 - _2949
	Att1_A. Draft Resolution
	Att2_B. Conditions of Approval Summary
	Att3_C. Resolution No. PC 00-41
	Att4_D. Appliaction
	Application.pdf

	Att5_E. Plans
	E. Plans.pdf
	Plans.pdf
	5. Plans - Macallans CUP.pdf
	exhad.pdf
	Patio ExpEng.pdf

	Patio Expansion Elevation.pdf
	Patio Rail Elevation.pdf


	AirSystem.pdf

	Att6_F. Technical Background
	Adjacent Zoning

	Att7_G. Vicinity Map
	Att8_H. Public Hearing Notice
	Att9_I. Public Comment
	Blakely Comments.pdf
	20201129_141341_resized.pdf
	20201129_141349_resized.pdf
	20201129_141410_resized.pdf
	20201129_141339_resized.pdf

	 Item 9 - _2956
	Att1_A. Draft ADU Ordinance
	Att2_B. Draft Summary of Development Standards
	Att3_C. Public Hearing Notice
	PLANNING COMMISSION NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING FOR A ZONING ORDINACNE AMENDMENT NO. ZOA 20-01

	Att4_D. 2018 ADU Ordinance
	 Item 11 - _2955
	Att1_A. Planning Division Updates
	Option 1 (revised)
	PLANNING UPDATES 12.3.2020


